Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance



April 2020



Trends, Opportunities and Challenges for Lending, Equity, and Non-Investment Alternative Finance Models











The Global Alternative Finance Market Benchmarking Report

Trends, Opportunities and Challenges for Lending, Equity, and Non-Investment Alternative Finance Models

Table of Contents

Forewords	6
Research Team	
Acknowledgements	
Executive Summary	
Chapter 1: The Global Alternative Finance Ecosystem	
Introduction	
Methodology The Size and Growth of the Alternative Finance Market	
Market Dynamics	
Market developments	
Financial Inclusion	
Chapter 2: A Regional Discussion on Europe & the United Ki	ngdom 74
Total Regional Volume	
Top Countries by Model	
Market Dynamics Market developments	
Internationalisation	
Financial Inclusion	
Risk & Regulations	
Extent of being Regulated	
Regulatory Friendliness and Alternative Finance Volume per Capita	
Chapter 3: A Regional Discussion on Asia-Pacific Region	
Total Regional Volume	
Market Dynamics	
Market Developments Internationalisation	
Financial Inclusion	
Risk and Regulations	
Regulatory Friendliness and Alternative Finance Volume per Capita	
Chapter 4: A Discussion on China	132
Total Regional volume	
Market Dynamics	
Chapter 5: A Regional Discussion on The Americas	138
A discussion on the United States & Canada	
A discussion on Latin America & the Caribbean	
Market Dynamics	
Financial Inclusion	
Risk & Regulations in the US & Canada	
Risk & Regulations in LAC	
Chapter 6: A Regional Discussion on The Middle East	
Total Regional volume	
Institutionalisation	
Research and Development Initiatives	
Risks and Regulation	

Chapter 7: A Regional Discussion on Africa	
Total Regional Volume	
Key Countries	
Market Developments	
Internationalization	
Financial Inclusion	
Gender	
Risk & Regulations	
Extent of regulation	
Chapter 8: Country Fact Sheets	
Botswana	
Kenya	
South Africa	
Uganda	
Zambia	
Australia	
India	
Indonesia	
Japan	
Malaysia	
New Zealand	
Philippines	
Singapore	
South Korea	
Finland	
France	
Germany	
Italy	
Latvia	
Netherlands	
Poland	
Spain	
Sweden	
United Kingdom	
Argentina	
Brazil	
Canada	
Chile	
Colombia	
Mexico	
Peru	
USA	
Israel	
Jordan	
United Arab Emirates	
Endnotes	
Appendix	
Theorem	





Since 2015, the Centre for Alternative Finance has pursued a mission of addressing the considerable knowledge gap that has emerged alongside the rapidly developing alternative finance landscape. Among other things, this has meant striving to create a standardized lexicon and commonly acceptable taxonomies to address the quickly emerging and constantly evolving alternative finance instruments, channels and systems the world has come to observe. By dedicating our research towards the creation and transfer of knowledge, it is our hope that the research we have produced in this report will aid in the decision-making of market participants, regulators, and related stakeholders.

The research contained in the following pages serves as the very first attempt by the CCAF to produce a truly global assessment of the online alternative capital raising market. Together with our research partners, we have tracked and analysed the development of alternative finance industry globally; having produced a series of regional reports covering online alternative financing activities in more than 185 countries. For the first time, we have consolidated our annual regional reports to produce one global benchmarking report, with the intention of presenting world-wide online alternative finance market data and insights for 2018. This report brings together the data collected from financial technology firms operating Crowdfunding, P2P/Marketplace Lending and related online capital raising activities. Over 1,200 firms from over 180 countries and jurisdictions responded to our annual survey, with 47% of the surveyed firms operating in at least two jurisdictions. This benchmarking research therefore provides the most robust and globally comparative database currently available.

This global report sheds light on the evolving landscape and market dynamics of the online alternative finance industry which are now providing substantial sources of funding for consumers, start-ups, small and medium sized enterprises, and industrial verticals ranging from manufacturing sector to creative industries. In 2018, the global online alternative finance industry facilitated \$304.5 billion worth of funding. Although the Chinese alternative finance market has faced considerable hardships in 2018, it still accounted for 71% of global volumes (\$215.4 billion). Excluding China, online capital raising activities grew by 48% year-on-year to reach \$89 billion in 2018. The United States (\$61 billion) and the United Kingdom (\$10.4 billion) came in second and third respectively. In 2018, five additional countries surpassed the \$1 billion threshold of alternative finance market volume including the Netherlands (\$1.8 billion). Indonesia (\$1.45 billion), Germany (\$1.27 billion), Australia (\$1.16 billion) and Japan (\$1.07 billion). This report will provide further analysis in terms of regional market dynamics, institutionalization, market participation by gender as well as industry's perception of regulations.

I would like to particularly thank our European research partner for this study – Agder University, as well as our generous financial supporters Invesco, CME Group Foundation and the Inter-American Development Bank, who all made this study possible.

6

Dr Robert Wardrop

Director Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance



As the first decade of alternative finance research grows to a close, it is more important than ever to review the state of the industry, and its remarkable development. Answering the need for this information from regulators, industry players, as well as platform users, research plays an important role in both recording current state of the industry as well as influencing decision-making that is shaping its future.

The University of Agder's School of Business and Law is home to one of Europe's most active and productive research teams dedicated to crowdfunding research. In the past year, we have launched a crowdfunding research center playing an important role in local, national, regional and international levels in terms of research work, academic publications, as well as industry reach out and intensive support activities in both educational and advisory roles.

This year we continue our close cooperation with the University of Cambridge Center for Alternative Finance through the co-production of the first global alternative finance industry report. For the first time, this report allows stakeholders to review the global state of the industry in addition to regional analyses. Such perspective becomes more relevant every year with the intensification of cross-border activities and transactions.

The current report is an impressive read on the current dynamics and operations of alternative finance highlighting its growth trajectories, innovation directions, as well as scope and impact.

We continue our strong commitment to this important line of work and look forward to following its development through ever more ambitious research.

Dr. Kristin Wallevik

Dean School of Business and Law University of Agder



As Alternative Finance continues to change and evolve so too do the ways in which we measure and benchmark how companies are adopting new models of finance.

Invesco has had the opportunity to collaborate with the Cambridge Center for Alternative Finance (CCAF) over the past few years in support of the the multiple reports coming from academic research. Historically, the alternative finance reports have been focused on regional studies, so we acknowledge that it's quite an achievement to see the alternative finance studies being pulled together for 2018 in a way similar to the global blockchain benchmarking report.

Congratulations to the team for accomplishing this new feat. This survey sample represents the largest data set collected and analysed for online alternative finance industry benchmarking research conducted by the CCAF to date. Impressively the report includes approximately 1200 unique organizational views with over 2300 firm-level observations globally.

While the study provides an aggregate global view of alternative finance activities around the world, it also does a great job of breaking down findings by region to highlight regional nuances of where certain models are thriving. The report shows that while alternative finance activities (crowdfunding, peer-to-peer (P2P)/marketplace lending or related capital raising activities) slowed, mostly due to a decline in activities in China, the rest of the world including Asia Pacific (ex. China) saw growth. China experienced a sharp decline in activity, even though China still accounts for most of the alternative finance activity in the globe by volume with approximately \$215 billion in alternative finance models. The United States and the UK came in at a distant second and third place with \$61Billion and \$10 Billion respectively. To support the findings, the study found that just under half of the firms who took part in the study operating in two or more countries or jurisdictions, and there was an increase in cross-border activities across all models of alternative finance the study looked at.

Consistently, the largest online alternative finance model by market segmentation was P2P / Marketplace Consumer Lending. The digital nature of most P2P lending platforms can offer opportunities for decreased overhead for lenders and lower interest rates for borrowers, indicating that individuals with capital see P2P and Marketplace lending as a viable option for a return on investment, and borrowers are seeing access to capital previously more difficult to attain. Often the ability to more accurately determine credit risk default also owes it success to artificial intelligence and machine learning that is able to evaluate on newer, less-biased parameters from previous methods in traditional finance.

Invesco is committed to being a client-centric asset manager, and as investor demographics change in terms of age and client expectations on digital interfaces and access to capital, it is important to keep a pulse on the ways that the world is changing its position on traditional finance and how alternative finance is being adopted and evolved throughout the world. As such, we would like to thank the Cambridge Center for Alternative Finance and all of the individuals and teams involved in the creation of this report for their research efforts and supporting the evolution and measurement of financial models around the globe.

Dave Dowsett

Global Head of Technology Strategy, Emerging Technology & Intentional Innovation *Invesco*



This First Global Alternative Finance Market Benchmarking Report continues the success of three consecutive editions of "**The Americas Alternative Finance Benchmarking Report.**" This amplified research scales up the results of the Latin America and the Caribbean (LAC) fintech ecosystem to a world-level. In **Chapter 5: A Regional Discussion on the Americas,** the reader will understand the LAC Alternative Finance industry in the context of some other five geographies. The, now, Global Report, is an effort we will continue to reproduce with the University of Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance (CCAF), and other partners, for the rest of the regions around the world. Chapter 5 is a proven tool for platforms, investors, regulators, academia, and many other stakeholders, as the only comprehensive and objective set of data and analysis about the alternative finance ecosystem in the region. This year we included a total of 301 alternative finance firms across the region, which were active at the time of the survey.

The results for the year of 2018, are remarkable for Latin America and the Caribbean for five main reasons:

- First, annual originations surpassed the \$1 billion threshold, reaching a total volume of \$1.81 billion. Brazil leads the region in origination with more than a third of the regional ecosystem (Volume: \$666.85 million, Regional Share: 37%). Second place in size is Chile (\$289.26 million, 16%), followed by Mexico (\$233.39 million, 12.9%), Colombia (\$192.47, 10,6%), Peru (\$158.46, 8.7%), and, Argentina (\$129.2 million, 7%). When seen per model, P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending takes the higher share (Volume: \$432.75 million, share of total: 24%), explained mostly by Brazil (\$298.5m) and Mexico (\$53.7m).
- Second, LAC was the region to reach the steepest year-to-year growth amongst the six (6) geographical groups included in the analysis, with an annual growth rate of 173% against the previous year's volume (\$663 million). In fact, for the last six years, LAC origination had an average annual growth rate of 147%, consistent exponential growth.
- Third, the region maintains its focus in businesses with 60% of alternative finance market activity devoted to this specific niche. The region delivers 60% of its volume to businesses: invoice trading (\$398.4 million, 22% of total share) is the largest share of the alternative finance activity in Chile, Peru and Colombia. Marketplace/P2P Business Lending ranks second (\$274.8 million, 15%), followed by Balance-Sheet Business Lending (\$264.9 million, 15%). In the aggregate \$1.08 billion were directed to finance projects for 217,000 businesses across the region. More detail to come in a Deep-Dive to be published soon by IDB, IDB Invest and CCAF.
- Fourth, Alternative Finance works as a tool for financial Inclusion. Although 63% of fundraisers had an account in the financial system, all of them funded in the alternative finance platforms. On the other hand, and very remarkably, for the second year in a row, the study gathered numbers on gender, finding how fundraisers share increased from 31% to 34%, and funders increased from 19% to 22%.
- Fifth, regulatory risks rank as the highest risk perceived by platforms in the region. Only 44% of the debt-based platforms considered that the existing regulation was adequate and appropriate. Rregulatory landscape changed with regulations or rules issued for the Fintech ecosystem in Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, and other jurisdictions and financial supervision tools as innovations hubs (Colombia, Chile), regulatory sandboxes (Mexico, Guatemala) to mention some examples. IDB will publish a study on these advances in the forthcoming months.

Finally, this publication adds up to the efforts that IDB Group (Inter-American Development Bank, IDB Invest and IDB Lab) is fostering across LAC. To this particular extent, the Bank has coordinated **FintechLAC**, a public-private initiative with the participation of regulators, supervisors and Fintech Associations from across Latin America and the Caribbean. Through FintechLAC, we are creating a dialogue through: adoption of best practices, understanding of international regulations and public policies, knowledge sharing, among others. On the other hand, both IDB Invest and IDB Lab are financing many other initiatives in the Fintech sector that include collaboration with entrepreneurs, investing in Fintech companies, among other activities.

We hope that the reader uses this study as an instrument to understand further the current status of alternative finance in the region and within the context of the Americas. As it shows, crowdfunding is growing up at a significant pace, and its impact is beginning to appear material for some jurisdictions financial markets, but most importantly, financial consumers.

Juan Antonio Ketterer

Connectivity, Markets, and Finance Division Chief Inter-American Development Bank

Research Team

EDITORS & AUTHORS

TANIA ZIEGLER

Tania is the Head of Global Benchmarking at the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance and manages the Centre's alternative finance benchmarking program. This programme tracks the growth and development of capital raising alternative finance activities spanning Europe, North, Central and South America, Asia and the Pacific, and the Middle East and Africa. She has authored over 20 industry reports since joining the CCAF. Tania is an expert on SME finance and also leads the Centre's work on 'SME Access to Finance in LATAM'. Tania completed an MSc at the London School of Economics, and a BA at Loyola College Maryland. Tania is a 2010 Fulbright Scholar.

ROTEM SHNEOR

Dr. Shneor is an associate professor at the University of Agder's School of Business and Law and serves as the academic director of the university's Centre of Entrepreneurship, as well as the founder and head of the university's Crowdfunding Research Centre. He holds a PhD in International Management from UiA and a master's degree from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH). He established the Nordic Crowdfunding Alliance of platforms, co-founded and currently serves on the board of the Norwegian Crowdfunding Association. In addition, he is serving as an affiliate researcher at the Cambridge University Centre for Alternative Finance and is a co-author to its annual reports. His research covers crowdfunding success, behaviour and motivations, internet marketing, and cognitive aspects of entrepreneurship. He has a record of fifteen years in teaching, researching and supporting entrepreneurship. Moreover, he has published in academic journals (including JBR, ERD, IJEM, CCM, BJM, JPBM, and JPM), trade magazines, as well as contributed several chapters to research-focused edited books and textbooks. Most recently, he has served as lead editor of an edited book volume on "Advances in Crowdfunding: Research and Practice", as well as guest editor of a special journal issue on this theme.

CO-AUTHORS & RESEARCH TEAM

KARSTEN WENZLAFF

Karsten Wenzlaff is an Alternative Finance Researcher and Lecturer at the University of Hamburg at the Chair for Digital Markets. His research interests are Civic Crowdfunding for Public Goods, Corporate Crowdfunding, Self-Regulation in Fintech-Markets and Regulatory Competitiveness in Crowdfunding Ecosystems, especially in Central and Eastern Europe through the project Crowdfundport and Ceresponsible. Karsten has published reports on the European German Crowdfunding Ecosystems since 2010. He is a member of the European Crowdfunding Stakeholder Forum of the European Commission. He founded the German Crowdfunding Network and is Secretary-General of the German Crowdfunding Association. Karsten has an MPhil form the University of Cambridge in International Relations. He is an associated researcher with the European Alternative Finance Center at the University of Utrecht and Tutor in the Cambridge FinTech and Regulatory Innovation programme.

WANXIN BRITNEY WANG

Britney is a PhD candidate at Imperial College Business School. She received her MSc in Economics and Strategy for Business from Imperial College Business School, and received her BBA in Accounting and Finance with Minor in Mathematics from Faculty of Business and Economics, the University of Hong Kong. She also studied at School of Economics and Management in Tsinghua University and worked as summer research assistant in Department of Finance. Wanxin's research interests include modelling investor behaviour in alternative finance (equity crowdfunding) sector and consumer behaviour in online and offline retail context.

JAESIK KIM

Jaesik has been a research assistant of CCAF from August 2019 and currently planning to pursue a PhD program. Before joining the CCAF, he pursued the Master of Finance (MFIN) program at Cambridge Judge Business School, UK. He also has worked as a full-time investigation planner at Financial Supervisory Service, Korea's financial regulator. His work ranged from research on corporate governance, supervision on Fintech companies, regulatory cooperation with foreign financial regulatory authorities. His interest lies in Fintech, and how it will impact the financial sector. He hopes to utilize the institutional knowledge learnt from the centre to potential academic research in alternative finance space.

ANA ODOROVIĆ

Ana is a PhD candidate at the Graduate school in law and economics at the University of Hamburg supported by the German Research Foundation (DFG). Her thesis deals with the question of overcoming asymmetric information in the crowdfunding market from a law and economics perspective. In 2018, she was a visiting researcher the University of Oxford and had an opportunity to present her research on the regulation of crowdfunding in a number of academic conferences in the field of law and economics and financial regulation. She holds an LL.M. degree in business law from the Panthéon-Assas University (Paris 2) and a master's degree in economics from the University of Belgrade, where she also teaches economics at the Law school.

FELIPE FERRI DE CAMARGO PAES

Felipe is a research administrator of P2P and Crowdfunding at the Cambridge Judge and Business School, Centre for Alternative Finance. He did his master's degree in management at the school of economics at the University of Coimbra, with focus on the sharing economy. His research interests include financial inclusion and the use of technology to improve the economy in Latin America.

KRISHNAMURTHY SURESH

Krish is an academic associate at the Indian Institute of Management Bangalore (IIMB), India. His research interests lie in the areas of small and medium enterprise (SME) financing, new and alternative financing models for startups and SMEs, as well as regulatory frameworks. He is currently pursuing his Ph.D. and was a visiting fellow (Pavate) at the Cambridge Judge Business School.

BRYAN ZHENG ZHANG

Bryan is the Executive Director and a Co-Founder of the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance. He has co-authored more than 35 alternative finance industry and regulatory reports.

DANIEL JOHANSON

Daniel is a Research Associate at the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance, with a focus on capital raising alternative finance activities in the United States. He completed his PhD in International Relations and Chinese Studies at King's College, London in 2018. Prior to this, he received his MA in Intelligence and International Security. Since joining the CCAF, Daniel has contributed to and co-authored several of the Centre's alternative finance global benchmarking reports, including regional reports focused on the Middle East, Africa and the Americas.

CECILIA LOPEZ

Cecilia completed her undergraduate degree in Business Administration at the Universidad Paraguayo Alemana (UPA) in 2018 and plans on pursuing a Master's degree in Financial Technology. Her interest in Alternative Finance was awakened during her undergraduate studies and her other research interests include Fintech and financial accessibility. She currently works as Research Assistant at UPA and aspires to continue learning about Alternative Finance and the positive impact it can have on financial inclusion in developing countries, such as Paraguay.

LEYLA MAMMADOVA

Leyla is a final year PhD student at Loughborough University, School of Business and Economics. She has a strong interest in debtbased crowdfunding, specifically internet-based intermediation for households and small businesses. Leyla's PhD research focuses on "Peer-to-Peer (P2P) Lending: default, default dependency and industry potential".

NICOLA ADAMS

Nicola is a research associate at CCAF, where her work has mainly focused on regulatory innovation. She is currently on secondment from the UK Financial Conduct Authority, where she worked in a number of policy and supervisory roles, including FCA Innovate. She holds a BA in Oriental Studies from the University of Oxford.

DAN LUO

Dan is currently a PhD student at the School of Management, Zhejiang University. She is also currently a director of the AIF Marketplace Lending Lab. She specialises in internet finance.

RESEARCH TEAM AND CONTRIBUTORS:

MONKGOGI BUZWANI

Monkgogi is completing an MPhil at Cambridge Judge Business School(CJBS) and holds an undergraduate degree in mathematics. He has completed various internships in finance and consulting and has most recently served as an Asset Allocation Analyst in Cambridge University's Relative Return Fund where he covered healthcare and financial institutions. Monkgogi is also part of the team representing CJBS in the 2020 Global Case Competition at Harvard in which he will study and analyse a complex M&A transaction. He joined the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance in 2019 as part of the Global Internship Program.

WANXIANG CAI

Wanxiang is a PhD candidate in Utrecht University School of Economics (Entrepreneurship Section) and a visiting researcher at Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance in the University of Cambridge. He holds a master's degree from Chongqing University in China. His research focuses on crowdfunding, particularly how do social capital and legal institutions affect investors' decision-making in financial crowdfunding. He has presented his papers at several entrepreneurship and innovation conferences.

HANNAH FORBES

Hannah is a Research Associate on the Global Benchmarking Team as part of the Global Internship Programme at the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance. She works as both a consultant and researcher in the alternative finance space, tracking and understanding the industry within academia and transferring this knowledge to support founders in participating in alternative finance models. Alongside research at the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance, she is a PhD Candidate at The University of Liverpool focusing on crowdfunding and crowdsourcing in an Engineering Design context.

ERIKA SOKI

Erika holds a Masters degree from the Brazilian National School of Public Administration, where she developed research on SME financial inclusion and the perspectives of fintech players entering the Brazilian SME credit market. She has served as a civil servant at the Brazilian public sector for over a decade, where, prior to dedicating to research on financial inclusion, Erika worked extensively in international affairs, as advisor to the Central Bank Governor, and as officer for cooperation projects in central banking and financial regulation issues. She has also acted at local government level as head strategic management advisor, prior to joining the Central Bank staff.

RUIHAO

Dr. Hao is currently working with Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance as a Research Associate and Data Scientist. She focuses on big data analysis, machine learning, database design, statistical modelling and all technology driven projects. She has co-authored several alternative finance industry reports. She holds a PhD from the Engineering Department at the University of Cambridge.

ROBERT (BOB) WARDROP

Bob is the Director and a Co-Founder of the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance. He is also a Faculty Reader (Associate Professor) in Management Practice at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School.

RAGHAVENDRA RAU

Raghu is the Academic Director and a Co-Founder of the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance. He is also currently the Sir Evelyn de Rothschild Professor of Finance at Cambridge Judge Business School. A past president of the European Finance Association, Raghu is Co-Editor of *Financial Management* and an Associate Editor of the *Journal of Banking and Finance*, the *International Review of Finance* and the *Quarterly Journal of Finance*.

PAWEE JENWEERANON

Pawee is a lecturer in law at the Faculty of Law, Thammasat University and a Research Affiliate of Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance. His research concerns the regulatory framework for the development of Financial Technology to enhance financial inclusion, with particular reference to ASEAN countries.

NIKOS YEROLEMOU

Nikos works on levered debt and structured finance transactions. He is currently a Research Affiliate at the CCAF and graduated with a first-class honors degree in History with Management from the University of Cambridge.

JOSEPH BENNETT

Joseph is a Research assistant at the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance. Joseph is presently studying for his Master of Data Science at the University of Sydney (Graduating in November 2020). Joseph has a particular interest in financial technology surrounding Crowdfunding and information signalling within equities markets. Most recently Joseph has worked at AWS, focusing on the development of Machine Learning tools to drive Commercial Growth in a more efficient and effective process.

SAYAKA SHIBA

Sayaka is a Research Associate at the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance, with a focus on capital raising alternative finance activities. She is the senior student of Bachelor of Business Administration with a concentration in finance at ESSEC Business School, Singapore and France. Since joining the CCAF in 2019, Sayaka has contributed the research of alternative finance in Asia-Pacific region, especially Japanese markets for Centre's alternative finance global benchmarking report.

Acknowledgements

We would like to extend our utmost gratitude to our research partners from across the globe. Without the help of these organizations, our survey dissemination would not have been possible.

Our partners in Europe were Anacofi, Bundesverband Crowdfunding, Wirtschaftskammer Österreich Fachverband Finanzdienstleister, CrowdFundPort Interreg Central Europe, Crowdstream Interreg Danube Transnational Program, The European Centre for Alternative Finance (ECAF) University of Utretch, University of Hamburg, University of Bologna, Arc Romania, Italian Equity Crowdfunding Association, Brodoto, Centrum Gospodarki Społecznościowej, Interreg Central Europe, Interreg Danube Transnational Programme, Crowdfunding Hub, Lithuanian P2P Lending and Crowdfunding Association, Politecnico di Milano School of Management, Douw&Koren, Norwegian Crowdfunding Association, Fintech Spain, Finance Estonia, Financement Participatif France, UNDP AltFinLab, Czech Fundraising Center, E-zavod, the Swiss Crowdfunding Association, and Crowdfunding Cloud. In the United Kingdom, we would like to extend our gratitude to the UKCFA, the former P2PFA and to Brismo.

In particular, we would like to thank the following individuals for their support and guidance throughout this research program. They are Bruce Davies (Abundance Generation), Rupert Taylor (Brismo), Ronald Kleverlaan (ECAF), Friedemann Polzin (ECAF), Gianluca Quaranta (Crowdfunding Cloud), Dr. Vytautas Šenavičius (the Lithuanian P2P Lending Association) and Nora Szeles and Agnieszka Płoska.

We also would like to extend our gratitude to our research partners in the Asia Pacific region and China from the following organisations: The Asian Development Bank Institute (ADBI), The Crowd Funding Institute of Australia, Crowdfund Vibe, Crowdfunding Asia Association, Crowdsource Week, FinTechSpace Taiwan, the FinTech Association of Hong Kong, The Singapore FinTech Association, The Cambodia FinTech Association, The Thai FinTech Association, The Indonesia FinTech Association, The FinTech Alliance Philippines, The China Crowdfunding Society, the Hong Kong Crowdfunding Association, the Korea Crowdfunding Platforms (KCFPS), the Korea Fintech Forum, The Japan Crowdfunding Council, The New Zealand Crowdfunding Association, The Asia Pacific Premier Investment Financial Services (APPI FS), Asia Capital Markets Institute (ACMI) and WangDaiZhiJia.com.

In particular, we would like to thank the following individuals for their support and assistance in disseminating our survey: Paul Shi (WangDaiZhiJia), Hungyi Chen (CCAF), Miguel Soriano, Shan Luo (FintechSpace), Davinia Cogan, Peter Morgan and Long Q. Trinh (ADBI), Eddie Lee (Singapore FinTech Association), and Richa Valeccha (Indonesia FinTech Association).

Outreach and data collection across the United States, Canada and Latin America and the Caribbean would not have been possible without the help and engagement from of the following organizations: IDB Invest, FinTechLAC, Alianza Fintech Iberoamericana, AFICO, Camara Argentina de Fintech, CFIRA, CFPA, the Canadian Lenders Association, Colombia Fintech, CrowdfundInsider, Ellenoff Grossman & Schole LLP, Fintech Centro America y Caribe, Finnovista, Fintech Chile, Fintech Mexico, Fintech Brasil, Fintech Peru, Lend Academy, LendIt, Camara Uruguaya de Fintech, the Marketplace Lending Association, and the National Canadian Fintech Association.

In particular, we would like to thank Diego Herrera (IDB), Peter Renton (Lendit), Andrew Dix (Crowdfundinsider), Paulo Deitos Filho (Alianza Fintech Iberoamericana) and Prof. Dr. Stijn van der Krogt (Universidad Paraguayo Alemana) for providing insight into the region and assistance in survey dissemination.

In addition, we would like to thank the following organisations for their assistance in data collection across the Middle East and Africa. They are FSD Africa, the African Crowdfunding Association, the African Fintech Network and Allied Crowds. We would like to thank Joe Huxley (FSD Africa) and Elizabeth Howard and Kevin Allen (African Crowdfunding Association) for providing additional support. We greatly appreciate the help of Andrew Dix of Crowdfundinsider and Peter Renton and his team of LendAcademy/ LendIt Fintech for their assistance in disseminating our survey and study across the globe. We are grateful to Andrew Dix for providing support and counsel in sense-checking overarching trends and key themes discussed in this report.

We would like to thank Raghavendra Rau, Robert Wardrop, Philip Rowan and Emmanuel Schizas for their counsel and guidance, Louise Smith for all her hard work on designing the publication, and Charles Goldsmith, Kate Belger, and Philippa Coney for their continued support in producing and publishing this report.

Finally, we would like to thank Invesco, the CME Group Foundation and the Inter-American Development Bank for their financial support of this study. We wish also to specifically thank Kassie Davis of CME Group Foundation, Bradley Bel of Invesco, and Juan Ketterer of the Inter-American Development Bank for making this research possible.

We would like to thank our industry research partners from organizations across the globe who kindly disseminated the survey and provided much appreciated assistance to our study:



We thank the following alternative finance platforms for participating and contributing to this study:

1%club	2 MAR GOV	Sircle funding	8PERCENT	99 _{funken}
100% PROJECT	121 BUSINESS FINANCE		TAUSEND MAL TAUSEND	c55
a.	ACCION	acordo certo		
$\underline{\wedge}$	ΛΟΙΛΝΤΛ	MADRI fund	🕅 aescuvest	afløre
eridio humano	AFRIKWITY	AGRAPP	Akseleran	<mark>a</mark> akulaku
ALAPAR		AlternativeCircle	AMARBANK	🎎 amartha
Amber	American Homeowner Preservation	ANAXAGO	ANTECIPA	
Fapontoque		P2P Business Lending	arıkovanı	Λ R O U N D
artistShare	AsiaKredit ⁷		assetz capital	P atoplus
\wedge		auxmoney	EXANA CAPITAL PESEVICIO VEATIA CUBATIGO GOVERTA.	ΑνΔΝΤ
	Fin Pack Fast and Easy France Francing for SMEs	backabuddy	BC Baltis Capital	ВЛМ
	\$ banjo	Basement	BASSITA	윰 bcredi
	BEEDOO	Sconnecting for growth	beesfund	B beeyodo
benevolent	benfeitoria	BERGFÜRST	© betterplace.org	bettervest nuckbultig- efficient - renabel
bidra.no	Billy	birchal	bit₀property	Biz2Credit ®
မ်းဒွ	THE BUSINESSLENDING NETWORK	blender Lours Between People	Bondora Jut tokes e minute is beet your took	Borrowell



	donate-ñg	donate-rig		DOPPLA Pagar merce y gara mali
<u>心</u> 逗派 doughpack	Downing	dream equity	DreamShake	
DURIAN		DYNA/II/C CREDIT	LEND	ecoligo .investments
ecozins		Ĩ	🏠 enerfip	🕼 EnergyFunders
ENGEL&VÖLKERS CAPITAL	🥑 enova.	ENVESTORS	eqseed	EQUITISE
Peragano	촉 espresso	ethex make morely do pood	💮 ЕТНІЗ	eureeca.com
EMF Development of the second	Evolocity FINANCIAL GROUP	Excel Credit	-xitValley	
EXPORO	Facturedo	fairplaid	farmcr@wdy	FELLOW FINANCE
	Ferratum ⁻	Fina		Fi
finanzarel		FINCO	finex	FINHOME.COM
♣ Finnest	fi nple	FinScore	fin≵y	⊜Firgun
First Digital Finance	FIXURA 🗙	🗧 flexfunding	FOLK 2 FOLK	Folkeinvest.no
FONDEADORA		Fosburit	Founderlist	FRACSN
Front Fundr	ftcash	FUNDTHATFLIP	help	GOTEO
FUNDATION	fundaztic	FundedHere	Funder Nation	FUNDERS
Fund fina	fundímmo	Funding Circle	funding societies	FUNDING PARTNER
REFundingSecure	FUNDKISS keep it smart & simple	afundky	🐼 fundlang	<mark>∦</mark> fundlift





📀 modalku	Monaco Crowdfunding		Money Club	8 ^{Money} Co.
MONEYTHING	S Moneywecan	monific	(Monner	M∞lahSense
Morakot		M MOUDA	MOULA	
	# Mutual			MyDilse
ту е еп.сот	mymoneyhelp.fr	mÿstartr	MytripleA	Nadační fond pomoci Karla Janeika
NamasteDirect	NEO Finance	NEXODS	Prextseed	NE≋U
neyber		noverde	NOVICAP	NOVO BANCO ⁵ CROWDFUNDING
🐓 october	Smart Financing	omni _{BNK}	The and Experiment Korn (percent	oneplanetcrowd
O PENTAP	OPPORTUNITYFINANCE	💠 OurCrowd		WinersBook
OXYLOANS Lot Bone Inve	P2B investor	pag!	Pango FINANCIAL	patasente
	Paynexus	PayPal Working Capital	🛟 PeerPower	252128
PERX FOLKEFINANSIERING	PINJAM WIN/WIN	P	play 🜔 business	Pocket Funding
PolakPomaga.pl grupa polak	Polak ^{otrafi,pl}	PONTO EDUCA	Pozible	PPL
	PRESTACAP	Prestadero	*pretup	S prezzta
PrimaryBid	Prodigy Finance	PROFITSHARE PARTNERS	PROFITUS	progressa
PROJEKTU BANKA.LV	Property Moose	S Property Partner	PROPERTYSHARES	Proplend
	prospa	PROSPER.	QBERA	QUEREMOS!

quero Financiar. <mark>com</mark>		Q QUICKRAIZ * RainFin		Rang De
Credito cuando lo necesitas!	Rapido	RateSetter	ReaCapital	REALTY <mark>R</mark> AFRICA [™]
.rebanking	rebuildingsociety.com	recaudia	RedCapital	REF erencia
Regional <mark>junding</mark>	RElendex	Republic	Respekt. net	INVESTMENT ROBOT
√ roger	Pöntgen.	root capital	Royalti	
RupeeCircle	△ SalaryFits	Samen <mark>In</mark> Geld	Sancus straightforward financing	Satangdee.com
SAVELEND	S 📐 V Y	Social Lending	Seed	SEED & SPARK
	seedinvest	SEEDMATCH	SEEDRS	semp!
	.Sharein	Harden to the New Person	SheEO	SiB
(n) Silver Bullion		simplygiving.com		Small Change
Give a little, change a lot	smartbiz	SMARTINE	SME CAPITAL	LSMU
SOCIO CLADDER GLOBAL UNITY FOR HUMAN EQUITY	Sofi.la	SoFi	SGISY	SOUP
(sowefund	Spaceklurs	Spark <mark>Up</mark>	SPLEIS	SPONS <mark>ORT</mark>
Spotcap	Squirrel Money	start (!) engine	Startskudd	StartSomeGood
starttime	swissp <mark>eo</mark> rs	· SYNDICATE ROOM		TYCE NATZARA WINTER Retwork
& taralite	•••• TARYA	TERAFUNDING	O TESSIN	housecrowd
City wealth club Finance	CO SNOWBALL EFFECT	The Tiny Seed	THINCATS	Thinking Capital

\% Thundafund	🙏 TiendaPago	Vay trong ngày		P TÖKEPORTÁL
Version Providing Pres Medical & Stargical Care	O TRINE	Triodos 🕲 Bank	TruePillars	FUGENDE Drive to dwn
tumblbug		TWINO	UANGTEMAN	VuConecte
Udenom Banken	ulule	unite!	Unternehmer <i>ich</i>	upbuilds.com
UpEffect	Ô	Uprise <u>.</u> ∧frica	A Upstart	URBE. <mark>ME</mark>
	V vakinha		VAURAUS	.velotrade
\$	VENTURE FOUNDERS	verkami	Vested	VIELE SCHAFFEN
🔆 VillageCapital	vision bakery	// viventor	Volksbank eG Wümme-Wieste	voordekunst
VR-Bank Rottal-Inn eG	vurke	wadiz	W walliance	
WEDOGOOD 🖝	WEALTH CRE 8	III WeCan.Fund	make Ticon	wenance
WIR BEWEGEN. SH 💥 🖡 Die 18.3H Apendenplatform für Schlensig-Holstein	W WISEED	WISHBERRY	wwisr	Here P
worldcoo Co-funding cooperation	oworthy 🅜	www		Copro
YALBER	YIELD STREET			zest finance
Zzeste	ZIG WAY	zine euro	Tinobe	ZINSLAND
ZISSMO	ZLTY MELON	(P) ZONKY	zcomaal	ΖΟΡΑ
🐠 fundlang	低 使 權 商 城	⑤ 商借町		

Executive Summary

Over the past five years, the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance (CCAF) at the University of Cambridge Judge Business School, together with its research partners, has tracked and analysed the development of alternative finance industry globally; having produced a series of regional reports covering online alternative financing activities in more than 185 countries. For the first time, the CCAF has consolidated its annual regional reports to produce one global benchmarking report, with the intention of presenting world-wide online alternative finance data for 2018.

This report presents the key findings from the CCAF annual global survey of online alternative finance. In all, 1,227 unique firms contributed to this study, providing 2,322 firm-level observations globally. Investigating in crowdfunding, P2P/marketplace lending or related capital raising activities, the study shows that 47% of the firms were operating in two or more countries or jurisdictions. Given the increasingly international nature of this industry, we sought to understand not only how firms function within their headquarter country, but also how they operate when entering new markets. Accordingly, when firms operate in more than one country, each entry per country is regarded as a separate firm-level observation.

Breaking the survey sample down by key markets, this study captured 632 firm-level observations in Europe, 87 in the United Kingdom, 438 in China, 334 in the Asia-Pacific, 270 in Latin America and the Caribbean, 237 in the Middle East & Africa, and 143 in the United States and Canada. This survey sample represents the largest data set collected and analysed for online alternative finance industry benchmarking research conducted by the CCAF to date.

Some of the key findings include:

Key Findings from the Global Alternative Finance Market Highlighted:

- In 2018, the global alternative finance industry facilitated USD \$304.5 billion in transaction volume. This global alternative finance volume is representative of funds that were raised via an online alternative finance platform for consumers, business and other fundraisers. This volume represents a 27% annual decline against the \$419 billion recorded in 2017. However, this drop in global volume stems primarily from a sharp decline in alternative finance activities in China. Excluding the Chinese market, the global alternative finance market volume actually grew by 48% year-on-year, from the \$60 billion in 2017 to \$89 billion In 2018.
- In terms of individual markets, China still had the largest alternative finance volume by country and generated a total of \$215.37 billion in transaction volume in 2018, predominantly from debt-based alternative finance models. The United States (\$61 billion) and the United Kingdom (\$10.4 billion) came in second and third respectively. In 2018, five additional countries surpassed the \$1 billion threshold. These included the Netherlands (\$1.8 billion), Indonesia (\$1.45 billion), Germany (\$1.27 billion), Australia (\$1.16 billion) and Japan (\$1.07 billion).
- On a per capita basis, the United States, the United Kingdom, Latvia, Estonia and the Netherlands were the top-five ranked countries. It is notable that Latvia and Estonia reached 3rd and 4th ranked positions from relatively low bases (ranked 24th and 29th in terms of total volume). This demonstrates that countries with smaller overall online alternative finance volumes may still have greater market penetration, higher adoption and usage of these models. Most countries with relatively high volumes in per capita terms are predominantly European. Non-European strong performers include Singapore, New Zealand, Australia, Israel and Canada.

- In 2018, the largest online alternative finance model by market segmentation was P2P / Marketplace Consumer Lending, accounting for \$195.29 billion – or 64% of total global volume. P2P / Marketplace Business Lending was the second largest market segment, having generated \$50.3 billion in market volume in 2018.
- China was the largest market for P2P/Marketplace Consumer and Business Lending, whilst the United States registered the highest volumes for Balance Sheet Business, Property and Consumer Lending. European-based platforms reported the highest volumes for Debt-based Securities, Invoice Trading, and P2P/Marketplace Property Lending in a global context.
- In 2018, alternative finance volumes directed at business funding accounted for \$82 billion, which fell by almost half from the high of \$153 billion recorded in 2017. Similar to global total market volume, this significant reduction in alternative business funding was largely due to the sharp decline in business-focused funding activity in China in 2018. Excluding China, the global business funding raised through alternative channels actually increased from the \$21 billion in 2017 to \$31 billion in 2018. As with previous years, the leading markets for alternative business finance were China, the United States, and the UK, with \$49.56 billion, \$16.81 billion and \$5.96 billion recorded respectively.
- Approximately \$162 billion of alternative finance volumes directly stem from funding provided by institutional investors such as banks, pension funds, mutual funds and family offices. With the involvement of institutional investors on the rise, most regions were fairly equally split, with roughly 50% of funding coming from the institutions and rest provided by retail investors. The outliers here were the United States with 85% of funding provided by institutions, and Middle East and Africa with 12% and 17% of funds respectively supplied by institutions. Increased institutionalisation was most evident in the Balance Sheet Lending Models, for instance, 93% of the funding for Balance Sheet Consumer Lending was provided by institutional investors.
- This study also sought to understand prevailing payment mechanisms utilized by alternative finance firms. Most alternative finance firms use credit transfers as their predominant payment method. Firms that have Reward– and Donation-based models, however, had more frequent usage of Debit Card and Credit Card payments for instance, 35% of the firms in Reward-based Crowdfunding have utilised debit cards and 40% have used credit cards for payments. With the exception of Africa, for all other regions, over 50% of all payment service providers were Commercial Banks. In Africa, while 44% of platforms utilized some form of Banks 22% utilized Mobile Payment services, thanks to the popularity of this payment channel across the Continent.
- Internationalisation is on the rise. Not only is there a notable increase in the number of firms that operate in multiple jurisdictions, there is also an increasing amount of cross-border activities across regions in almost all models. Some models tend to have a higher level of cross border transactions, with P2P Consumer Lending reporting 49% cross border inflows and 48% cross border outflows. Other models with high levels of cross-border activity included Debt-based Securities (38% inflow and 54% outflow), Invoice Trading (34% inflow and 28% outflow) and Balance Sheet Business Lending (22% level inflow and 36% of outflow). The region with the highest cross-border inflows is Africa, with an 83% inflow, which reflects the fact that many of the platforms reporting activities in the region are international platforms bringing inflow of funds to African countries.

Regional Alternative Finance Market Highlights

Europe

- The European alternative finance market (including the UK) grew from \$11.9 billion in 2017 to \$18 billion in 2018 a 52% year-on-year increase.
- As with previous years, the UK was the largest contributor by volume representing 57% of the overall European market and accounting for \$10.4 billion in 2018. However, the relative share of the UK market in European volumes has declined from 68% in 2017
- Excluding the UK the volume generated by platforms across Europe grew by 103% year-on-year from the \$3.8 billion in 2017 to \$7.7 billion in 2018.
- After the United Kingdom, the Netherlands has leap-frogged Germany and France to claim the spot of top-ranked European country in terms of market volume with \$1.8 billion recorded in 2018. Germany (\$1.27 billion) and France (\$933 million) are placed in second and third places respectively. The Nordic region accounted for \$825 million in 2018.
- The leading alternative finance models in mainland Europe include P2P Marketplace Consumer lending (\$2.9 Billion), Balance Sheet Property Lending (\$1.4 Billion), and P2P Marketplace Business lending (\$997 million) accounting for 38%, 18%, and 13% of overall regional volumes respectively.

The Asia Pacific

- Between 2017 and 2018, market volumes in APAC grew 69% from \$3.64 billion to \$5.90 billion, excluding China.
- Interestingly, compared with the 2017 market volume, the South East Asia sub-region grew 574% yearon-year in 2018 to reach \$2.19 billion– accounted for 35.5% of the overall market volume generated in the APAC region. Oceania reported a market volume of \$1.41 billion and, South and Central Asia had a market volume of \$647.2M in 2018.
- Leading national markets in APAC include Indonesia (\$1.4 Billion), Australia (\$1.1 Billion), Japan (\$1 billion), and South Korea (\$753 million), accounting for 25%, 18%, 17%, and 13% of overall regional volumes respectively.
- The leading alternative finance models in the APAC region include P2P/Marketplace Business lending (\$1.8 Billion), P2P Marketplace Consumer lending (\$982 million), and Balance Sheet Business Lending (\$917 million), and accounting for 30%, 17%, and 15% of overall regional volumes respectively.

China

- While the Chinese market had experienced significant growth since 2013 most recently growing 47% between 2016-2017 the sector fell 39.8% in 2018. Even with this significant reduction, in 2018 the Chinese market represented 71% of overall global volume.
- The two largest models in the Chinese alternative finance market were P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending and P2P/Marketplace Business Lending which combined together accounted for 95% of the overall market volume in 2018.

Americas

• Throughout the Americas, the overall market volume grew by 44% - increasing from \$44.3 billion in 2017 to \$63.9 billion in 2018. Whilst the United States was still dominating the landscape in the Americas with 96% of the market share, the rest of the region is growing quickly.

- Canada accounted for \$908 million in volume in 2018, a modest 5% growth against the previous year.
- The Latin America and the Caribbean region grew by 173% from the \$663 million in 2017 to reach \$1.81 billion in 2018. This is the first time that the region has passed the \$1 billion threshold. Activity in the region has been driven largely by Brazil (37% of the over-all LAC market), Chile (16%), Mexico (13%), Colombia (11%), Peru (11%) and Argentina (7%).
- P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending was the largest model in the Americas, growing by 73% to \$25.85 billion.

Middle East

- The total market volume in the Middle East has increased steadily, growing 131% year-on-year from the \$346.5 million in 2017 to \$800.5 million in 2018. P2P/Marketplace Property Lending was the largest model in the region grew by 827% from the \$60m in 2017 to \$556.46m in 2018.
- Israel continued to be the largest alternative finance market in the Middle East, accounting for accounting for 90% of the regional volumes, followed by the UAE which accounts for 6%.

Africa

- Online alternative finance in Africa grew by 102%, raising from the \$103.8 million in 2017 to \$209.1 million in 2018. Overall, P2P/Marketplace Consumer lending accounted for 58%, and P2P/Marketplace Business lending accounted for 9% of regional volumes, in addition, Balance Sheet Business lending accounted for 22% regional volumes.
- Though foreign firms channeled nearly 80% of transaction volume for African fundraisers, domestic firms saw a substantial increase in their reach in 2018. African firms' share of the market has increased from 21% in 2017 to 24% in 2018- to reach almost a quarter of the market, and doubled their 12% market share in 2016.
- Unlike other regions, Africa is not dominated by a single national market. Leading national markets in Africa include Zambia (\$40.7 million), Kenya (\$35 million), South Africa (\$27.4 million), and Uganda (\$16.7 million), accounting for 19%, 17%, 13%, and 8% of overall African volumes respectively.

1. The Global Alternative Finance Ecosystem

Chapter 1: The Global Alternative Finance Ecosystem

Introduction

Research rationale and Objectives

This report marks our most comprehensive study on the global alternative finance ecosystem. It examines the growth and development of the alternative finance market both globally and regionally. As alternative finance fundamentally changes capital raising practices for both funders and fundraisers, this report examines developments in platform operability; the business models employed; the innovation directions taken; and the internationalization strategies adopted towards continued growth and success.

Since 2015, the Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance (CCAF), together with its research partners, has tracked the development of the alternative finance landscape. Having produced separate regional reports throughout the years, it had become clear that discussions related to the evolution of this industry can no longer be segregated geographically. Increasingly, alternative finance firms and the stakeholders they serve are engaging at an international level, and meaningful lessons can be learnt when this industry is observed from a global perspective.

As a result, this year a global alternative finance report will be published for the first time. This report will combine regional analysis with a discussion of global trends, highlighting how some developments are universal while others are specific to a certain context.

The regions covered in this report include the Asia-Pacific region and China; the US and Canada; Latin America and the Caribbean; continental Europe; the UK; and the Middle East and Africa . The data covered by this report is inclusive of the 2018 calendar year, with data collection and analysis occurring throughout 2019. The data was collected from alternative finance actors in 171 countries or territories between March 2019 through September 2019. This report aims to provide regulators, market participants and key stakeholders with a comprehensive and holistic view of how this industry is developing, as well as its characteristics, potential opportunities and risks. It serves as a starting point or base for more significant globally comparative analysis in the future.

Terminology

This report focuses narrowly on alternative finance models as they relate to capital raising activities. Though a somewhat amorphous term, at its core 'alternative finance' includes activities that have emerged outside of the incumbent banking systems and traditional capital markets. In particular, the capital raising alternative finance ecosystem comprises various lending, investment and non-investment models that enable individuals, businesses and other entities to raise funds via an online marketplace. Typically, these fundraisers satisfy their funding needs through pooled monies from a 'crowd' or network of retail and/ or professional investors. As the ecosystem has evolved, clear model types have emerged and become more delineated and sophisticated. As such, the CCAF has adopted a taxonomy of 14 models that can be broadly divided into Debt models, Equity models or Non-investment models.

Debt-models, commonly associated with P2P/ Marketplace Lending activities, include nondeposit taking platforms that facilitate online credit to individuals, businesses or other borrowerentities from individual lenders or institutional investors. This debt can be in the form of a secured or unsecured loan, a bond or another type of debtor-note. The below models are included in this category:

Category	Business Model	Stakeholders			
	Consumer Lending	Individuals and/or institutional funders provide a loan to a consumer borrower.			
P2P/Marketplace	Business Lending	Individuals and/or institutional funders provide a loan to a business borrower.			
Lending ¹	Property Lending	Individuals and/or institutional funders provide a loan, secured against a property, to a consumer or business borrower.			
	Consumer Lending	The platform entity provides a loan directly to a consumer borrower.			
Balance Sheet	Business Lending	Lending The platform entity provides a loan directly to the business borrower.			
Lending ²	Property Lending The platform entity provides a loan, secured against a property, directly to a consume business borrower.				
Invoice Trading ³	Invoice Trading Individuals or institutional funders purchase invoices or receivables from a business a discount.				
	Debt Based Securities	Individuals or institutional funders purchase debt-based securities, typically a bond or debenture, at a fixed interest rate.			
Securities	Mini Bonds ⁴	Individuals or institutions purchase securities from companies in the form of an unsecured bond which is 'mini' because the issue size is much smaller than the minimum issue amount needed for a bond issued in institutional capital markets.			

These are the debt-activities that are currently specifically segmented by our taxonomy. Other, currently emerging, debt-based activities are captured in our report as 'other'. Continuous refining of our taxonomy is inevitable, as innovations in the fintech credit activities constantly emerge and evolve.

Equity-models, including Equity Crowdfunding, relate to activities where individuals or institutions invest in unlisted shares or securities issued by a business, typically an SME. As equity-based models have advanced, subsets of the model like Real Estate and Property-based crowdfunding have flourished, with investors able to acquire ownership of a property asset via the purchase of property shares.

Finally, Non-investment-based models, including Reward and Donation Crowdfunding, are arguably the iterations of crowdfunding most recognized by the public. In the case of these two models, individuals provide funding to a project, an individual or a business without any obligation from the fundraiser to provide a monetary return for the funds raised.

Category	Business Model	Stakeholders
	Equity-based Crowdfunding	Individuals or institutional funders purchase equity issued by a company.
Investment-based	Real Estate Crowdfunding	Individuals or institutional funders provide equity or subordinated-debt financing for real estate.
	Profit Sharing	Individuals or institutions purchase securities from a company, such as shares, and share in the profits or royalties of the business.
Non Investment-	Reward-based Crowdfunding	Backers provide funding to individuals, projects or companies in exchange for non-monetary rewards or products.
based	Donation-based Crowdfunding	Donors provide funding to individuals, projects or companies based on philanthropic or civic motiva-tions with no expectation of monetary or material
Other		The research team recorded volumes raised through other alternative finance models, including Community Shares, Pension-led Funding, crowd-led-microfinance and other model's which fall outside of the existing taxonomy.

Methodology

The following section outlines key aspects and considerations relating to the methodological choices in the current study, including data sources, data collection procedures, data handling and qualitycontrol.

Data Sources:

The primary data reported in the following pages comes from the Alternative Finance Industry Benchmarking Survey, which is distributed annually by the CCAF. This survey captured data from active alternative finance platforms that fell within the above outlined taxonomy. The list of platforms was compiled based upon the following sources:

- Previous participants from existing database
- List of platforms provided by research partners
- List of additional platforms compile through desk-based research, to include new platforms not identified in the previous sources

Overall, 1,227 unique firms responded to this study, providing 2,322 firm-level observations globally⁵. 47% of firms participating in this study were operating within more than one country or jurisdiction, and provided country-level data in two or more jurisdictions. Each observation was therefore defined as a platform-country observation. This allowed us to better capture volumes from domestic and international platforms operating in each country. This study captured 632 firm-level observations in Europe, 438 in China, 334 in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), 270 in Latin America and the Caribbean, 237 in the Middle East and Africa, 143 in the US and Canada, and 87 platforms in the UK. This is the largest data set collected for this benchmarking activity to date.

In addition to the firms that responded to the Global Alternative Finance Benchmark Survey, webscraping was also used to get the most up-to-date transaction volumes for a limited number of key platforms. This was carried out within the research centre using widely available Python webscraping libraries, and translated to an additional 192 country-level entries.

Considerable care was placed to ensure that the same panel of participating firms from each region was captured in the 2018 dataset. For the most part, this occurred. However, there were a handful of firms that participated in the previous year's survey but chose not to do so this year. In a few cases where platform non-participation led to a significant impact on reported volumes, these were reported and clearly indicated under the relevant regional review sections. There were 67 operational firms that chose not to participate in 2018, most of which based in Europe and the US, and often assumed to represent relatively limited scale of operations.

Over the past five years, the CCAF has maintained a global database of active firms and contacts to facilitate our research. We have also kept track of platforms that have ceased operations, transitioned or pivoted into other fields/traditional finance, as well as the amount of employee turnover of our key platform contacts. This year the information was robust enough to report the overall status of firms over the duration of our research, as well as platform closure rates.

On a global level, an average of 21% of platforms that were operational in 2013 were not operating

in the same capacity by 2018. Between 2018 and 2019, this figure is 5%. Regionally, the Americas and Europe had similar rate of platform closure over the last five years, at 20% and 17%, respectively. In the last year, both regions had a 2% closure rate. The UK had the lowest overall rate for both the last 5 years (4%) and the last year (3%). The Middle East and Africa (MEA), as well as the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) had the highest rates of closure. During the last five years the closure rate was 33% in the MEA and 26% in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), and during the last year it was 7% in the MEA and 6% in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China). At 46% over the last year, China saw the most significant platform closure rate. This followed enforcement efforts by the authorities, in a market where relevant regulations were until recently largely unclear.

Regarding personnel turnover, data collected shows that the highest observed rate of employee turnover was in the US, with 231 platform-contacts now in roles at other firms. Overall, the US and Canada had the largest share of this at 83%. European firms had a lower amount of personnel turnover (95), with Spain taking the largest (15%) share. For the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), 41 contacts were no longer at their previous role, 22% of whom were from Australian platforms. Only three contacts were identified in the MEA that had shifted to new roles.

Data Collection

The Global Alternative Finance Benchmarking Survey consisted of 35 questions, including both single and multiple response questions, relating to platform operations and performance in 2018. This year's survey consisted of five parts covering: fundraisers; funders; platform structure and strategy; risks and regulations; and financial inclusion⁶. The structured nature of the survey allowed platforms to provide comprehensive, precise and cohesive self-reported data.

Many of the questions remained the same as those used in the previous year to ensure that longitudinal/time series analysis was possible, especially with respect to questions relating to total transaction volumes. Platforms were also presented with a series of non-compulsory questions that built on key research themes identified in last year's report. To more accurately attribute fundraiser volumes, platforms were able to report model activities and volumes on a per country basis. Subsequently firms could more accurately describe their operations, especially where activities occurred outside of their domestic market.

Invitations for survey participation were sent by members of the research team directly to platforms, were published on targeted social media groups, and were distributed via research partners through their own independent networks (such as industry associations, partner research institutions, etc.). Survey invitations were distributed in the form of personalized email communications, direct messages via social media and telephone calls to platform management. The research partners were instrumental in identifying appropriate alternative finance platforms across the region, promoting the survey and serving as advisors to the core research team. The survey was distributed in English, French, Spanish, Portuguese, German, Mandarin, Korean, Japanese, Bhasa Indonesia, Thai and Vietnamese.

The survey was hosted on a dedicated site, with submissions accessible only to the principal researchers involved in this project. Once the data set was collected, any discrepancies such as misattributed volumes and anomalous figures were cross-checked through direct contact with the platforms.

Quality Control and Data Handling:

Sanitation and verification were conducted between August 2019 and November 2019. In cases where the survey could not obtain primary data (or where there were discrepancies in reported data), the research team consulted secondary data sets to inform the research and asked for additional or clarifying data directly from the platform.

The research team anonymized and sanitized data prior to analysis. All personal data was stripped and securely removed from the database. As platforms reported figures in their local currency, the data analysis team converted all local currencies into USD for the 2018 year.⁷ This was done using the historical average rate for 2018. For all average data points, the team applied weightings by transaction volume per respondents and significant outliers were removed. Data was only reported if there were a minimum of 10 observations by country and model. At completion, the data was encrypted and stored for retrieval exclusively for the use of this project.

Throughout the analysis process, explanations are suggested for identified trends and survey results. Whenever necessary, abnormal deviations in identified trends vis-a-vis our previous report were principally explained by situations where specific platforms either contributed to last year's research but did not participate again this year, or participated this year but did not contribute in the previous year.

Throughout the report composition process, both analyses and write-up were subjected to repeated peer-reviewing within the research team. Whenever necessary, additional external reviews of certain sections were also conducted enabled to further ensure quality of reporting.

(곱

External Contributions of Practitioner Insight Texts

For further insights, deeper understanding and triangulation across sources, we also invited a selected number of external experts to provide short insight texts, which complement our independent analysis. Such texts reflect the contributing practitioner's own viewpoints about developments taking place in their respective countries, and serve only as supplementary material to the independent research work carried out by the core research team.

The Size and Growth of the Alternative Finance Market



Figure 1.1: Total Alternative Finance Volume (2015-2018), USD

Globally, the impact and role of alternative finance continues to grow, with alternative finance platforms having facilitated USD \$304.5 billion in 2018. This volume is representative of funds that were raised via an online, alternative finance platform and delivered to individuals, businesses and other fundraisers. This volume does not include platform or transaction fees and is representative of monies delivered successfully in 2018 to fundraisers.

Notably, global total volumes fell by 27%, from 2017's \$419 billion. This significant global drop stems from a sharp decline in alternative finance activity in China. Though China remained the

single largest volume contributor, over time the proportion of China's alternative finance market share of the global market is declining. For instance, in 2017 China's volume accounted for 86% of global volumes, while this year it shrank to 71%. This decline is mostly explained by regulatory enforcement efforts by Chinese authorities in a market in which, until recently, such regulations were largely unclearly specified.

However, when we exclude the substantial outlier of Chinese-based activity, alternative finance in the rest of the world grew by 48%, from \$60 billion in 2017 to \$89 billion In 2018.



Figure 1.2: Total Volume Change (excluding China) 2017 - 2018,



Total Volume by Region

Figure 1.3: Market Share of Alternative Finance Activity by Region

For a fifth year running, the top three volumegenerating countries were China, the US and the UK. China accounted for 71% of global volume, followed by the US (20%) and the UK (3%). When we look at this in terms of regional impact, Europe⁸ (excluding the UK) accounted for 3%, the Asia-Pacific region⁹ (excluding China) accounted for 2% and Latin America and the Caribbean¹⁰ (LAC) accounted for just over 1%. Africa¹¹, the Middle East¹² accounted for just under 1% of global volume.

The Geographic Distribution of Platforms and Market Volumes:

This year's study captured data from alternative finance platforms operating in 172 countries and territories. The below chart provides a breakdown of unique firm entries by region. The greatest response came from platforms in Europe (634 responses), China (438), and the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) (334). Overall, the number of responses per region surpassed previous year's numbers. Most platforms were re-surveyed, with a few exceptions. The main reasons why the research team was unable to capture repeat data were closure of a platform, a change in business model (either to another sector, or to more traditional financial activities) or a merger with another platform.

Critically, this year's report captured the growing scope of international flows of alternative finance

transactions. Accordingly, our analyses included data from both domestic firms and foreign firms operating within a given country. Appendix 1¹³ provides a breakdown as to the extent to which international activities are prevalent globally.

In countries with fairly developed alternative finance ecosystems, domestic firms make up the larger proportion of firms within a country. In 66 of the 172 countries, domestic firms were responsible for higher proportions of country-level volumes. In general, foreign-based platforms were most prevalent in emerging markets. In these instances, these foreign-based platforms drove countryvolume.





Unsurprisingly, alternative finance volumes generated in a country significantly correlated with number of platforms operating within it. The direction of causality is not clear- i.e. it is not clear whether market volumes indicate the potential triggering a proliferation of platforms, or whether more platforms are engaged in building up larger new markets for alternative finance. For instance, China having the largest overall number (429 local, 9 foreign, 438 in total) also had the highest countrylevel volume. The next highest concentrations of firms were seen in the US (84 local, 16 foreign, 100 in total), the UK (63 local, 27 foreign, 90 in total), Germany (41 local, 22 foreign, 63 in total), India (49 local, 9 foreign, 58 in total) and Brazil (44 local, 12 foreign, 56 in total). With respect to volume, China, the USA and the UK also account for the top three.

The next largest countries by volume were the Netherlands, Indonesia, Germany, Australia, Japan, France and Canada, respectively.





When distinguishing between domestic and international volumes and correlating these figures with numbers of platforms several interesting insights emerge. First, both international and domestic volumes are positively correlated with total number of platforms operating in country. This relationship is even stronger for domestic volumes.

Furthermore, both international and domestic volumes are positively correlated with the number of international platforms operating in country. This relationship is substantially stronger for international volumes and suggests that international platforms take a significant portion of domestic transactions, though most transactions they facilitate originate internationally.

On the other hand, international and domestic volumes are also positively correlated with the number of domestic platforms operating in each country. This relationship is substantially stronger for domestic volumes and suggests that domestic platforms do enjoy a significant portion of international transactions, though most transactions they facilitate originate domestically.

Overall, this suggests that regardless of whether a platform is domestic or internationally based, crowdfunding at national level, in most cases, has a substantial international share of transactions. This helps develop our understanding of crowdfunding from a locally based phenomenon into an international one, to an extent that was not evident in earlier reports.

When observing how firms operate within a given country or jurisdiction, we have distinguished between platforms that are viewed as domestic, (i.e those that are primarily headquartered within the country/jurisdiction) and those that are international (i.e. those with primary headquarters abroad). With an increasing amount of global activity, fintech firms are not only servicing their local markets, but those abroad. It is not unusual to find a firm operating in several countries in addition to its own home-market, as driven by both pressures to reach scale and technological firstmover advanatges.

When looking at the blend of firms within a given country, it is interesting to note the number of 'home-grown' firms, or firms that are native to the country, against the number of firms with their roots abroad. Countries with relatively advanced alternative finance marketplaces tend to have a concentration of domestic firms, while emerging markets will see larger proportions of international platforms with activity within their borders. To assess the value of these domestic versus international firms, we want to understand how important home-grown firms are to driving volumes within a given country or jurisdiction. The below figure allows us to review the proportion of volume that relates to firms that are native to their country (Domestic) and those that are not (International).

When distinguishing between domestic and international volumes and correlating these figures with numbers of platforms several interesting insights emerge. This graph shows that overall, volumes are positively associated with number of platforms operating in a country regardless of whether they are domestically or internationally based. Though the regressions are quite similar, there is slightly stronger correlation with international firms driving local volumes.

There are some extreme cases, where number of domestic platforms is more prominently associated

with volumes such as the case of the USA, UK, India, Brazil, Germany, France, Israel and Italy. Most of these markets are either characterized by a relatively large domestic economy or by an ability to attract both domestic and foreign backers to use their home-grown platforms. Indeed, some of the leading international platforms are based in these markets.

On the other hand, funds raised in some emerging African countries like Zambia and Nigeria are driven by international platforms, and a similar trend is also evident in certain transition economies in Eastern Europe such as Slovakia and Slovenia.

Regardless, the majority of countries are only served by international platforms, but at relatively low volumes that are mostly associated with less heavily regulated non-investment models.



Figure 1.6: Number of Platforms vs. Volumes in Country (Ln Value)- 2018



Figure 1.7: Comparative Market Volumes of Alternative Finance Transactions (2018)

Alternative Finance per Capita Volumes by Country Economic Development Level - Top 20 countries - 2018



High Income

OP	1 USA	\$186.88	6 Singapore	\$88.61	11 Lithuania	\$48.92	16 Canada	\$24.54
	2 UK	\$155.93	7 Israel	\$81.70	12 Australia	\$46.68	17 Slovenia	\$17.74
	3 Latvia	\$132.12	8 Finland	\$68.72	13 Monaco	\$40.61	18 France	\$16.81
	4 Estonia	\$120.77	9 New Zealand	\$56.54	14 Sweden	\$29.27	19 Chile	\$15.44
	5 Netherlands	\$104.83	10 Cyprus	\$53.32	15 Denmark	\$24.97	20 Germany	\$15.39



Upper-Middle Income

2	1 Armenia	\$62.35	6 Albania	\$6.25	11 Costa Rica	\$3.60	16 Nth Macedon	ia \$1.94
R	2 Georgia	\$51.73	7 Bulgaria	\$5.75	12 Brazil	\$3.21	17 Mexico	\$1.85
5	3 Samoa	\$8.94	8 Peru	\$4.95	13 Paraguay	\$3.15	18 Guatemala	\$1.64
1	4 Botswana	\$6.84	9 Kazakhstan	\$4.76	14 Argentina	\$2.90	19 Jordan	\$1.29
	5 Tonga	\$6.59	10 Colombia	\$3.88	15 Malaysia	\$1.96	20 Romania	\$1.06



Lower -Middle Income

1 Moldova	\$16.66	6 Philippines	\$1.09	1 1 Cambodia	\$0.61	16 Cameroon	\$0.40
2 Mongolia	\$11.91	7 Honduras	\$0.95	12 Ukraine	\$0.60	17 Bolivia	\$0.30
3 Indonesia	\$5.42	8 Timor-Leste	\$0.95	13 Solomon Isla	nds\$0.51	18 Kyrgyzstan	\$0.27
4 Nicaragua	\$2.53	9 El Salvador	\$0.73	14 Zimbabwe	\$0.43	19 Senegal	\$0.23
5 Zambia	\$2.35	10 Kenya	\$0.68	15 India	\$0.40	20 Vietnam	\$0.18



Low Income

1 Rwanda 2 Tajikistan 3 Uganda 4 Liberia	\$0.926 \$0.519 \$0.393 \$0.176	 6 Malawi 7 Togo 8 Haiti 9 Tanzania
5 Sierra Leone	\$0.176 \$0.176	9 Tanzania 10 Mali

Our analysis identifies a substantial gap between developed and developing countries in terms of alternative finance contributions per capita. This suggests that alternative finance has not yet \$0.126 **11** DRC \$0.056 16 Benin \$0.005 \$0.109 12 Burkina Faso \$0.038 17 Afghanistan \$0.005 \$0.099 \$0.033 \$0.004 13 Madagascar 18 Burundi \$0.099 14 Mozambique \$0.019 19 Gambia \$0.003 \$0.066 15 Nepal \$0.014 20 South Sudan \$0.002

delivered on the promise of democratizing finance and closing finance gaps in environments that need it the most.


Global Volume by Alternative Finance Models



Figure 1.8: Global Volume by Model in 2018, USD

The largest model globally in 2018, by a significant margin, was P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending – raising \$195.29 billion, equating to 64% of the overall volume of alternative finance lending. This was followed by P2P/Marketplace Business Lending (\$50.33 billion or 17%), Balance Sheet Business Lending (\$21.08 billion or 7%), Balance Sheet Property Lending (\$11.02 billion or 4%), Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (\$9.78 billion or 3%) P2P/Marketplace Property Lending (\$5.72 billion or 2%) and Invoice Trading (\$3.22 billion or 1%), respectively.

If we exclude China, the top models in the marketplace shift slightly and there is not as large a disparity between them in terms of overall volume. P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending is still the largest global model with 36% of volume or \$31.99 billion. Balance Sheet Business Lending is the next largest model, with 7% (\$14.95 billion) of global volume. Following those are: Balance Sheet Property Lending (12% or \$11.02 billion), Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (11% or \$9.40 billion), P2P/Marketplace Business Lending (9% or \$7.59 billion), P2P/Marketplace Property Lending (4% or \$3.88 billion).

	2018 Glo	obal Data E	xcl. China		2018 Glob	al Data Incl	. China	
Alternative Finance Model	Volume	Market Share	Model Ranking	Volume	Marketshare	2018 Ranking	2017 Ranking	Change in Ranking
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	\$32.0b	36%	1	\$195.3b	64%	1	1	
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	\$7.6b	9%	5	\$50.3b	17%	2	2	
Balance Sheet Business Lending	\$15.0b	17%	2	\$21.1b	7%	3	4	(+1)
Balance Sheet Property Lending	\$11.0b	12%	3	\$11.0b	4%	4	10	(+6)
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	\$9.4b	11%	4	\$9.8b	3%	5	3	(-2)
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	\$3.9b	4%	6	\$5.7b	2%	6	5	(-1)
Invoice Trading	\$2.5b	3%	8	\$3.2b	1%	7	6	(-1)
Real Estate Crowdfunding	\$2.9b	3%	7	\$3.0b	1%	8	7	(-1)
Equity Crowdfunding	\$1.5b	2%	9	\$1.5b	0%	9	8	(-1)
Reward-based Crowdfunding	\$871.1m	1%	10	\$876.8m	0%	10	12	(+2)
Debt-based Securities	\$844.4m	1%	11	\$851.5m	0%	11	14	(+3)
Donation-based Crowdfunding	\$639.3m	1%	12	\$639.4m	0%	12	13	(+1)
Other	\$414.3m	0%	13	\$414.3m	0%	13	9	(-4)
Revenue Sharing	\$397.7m	0%	14	\$397.7m	0%	14	11	(-3)
Mini-bonds	\$53.7m	0%	16	\$332.5m	0%	15	15	
Community Shares	\$94.7m	0%	15	\$94.7m	0%	16	16	

Table 1.1: Total Volume by Region and Model Categories (Incl China)

In comparison to 2017, the top two model types (P2P/Marketplace Consumer and Business Lending, respectively) retained their places, while the rest of the top five shifted. The greatest change was seen in Balance Sheet Property Lending which grew from tenth largest in 2017 to fourth largest in 2018. Balance Sheet Business Lending, fourth last year, grew to be the third largest model-type. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, on the other hand fell slightly from third largest in 2017, to fifth largest in 2018. P2P/Marketplace Property Lending also fell slightly, from fifth place in 2017 to sixth place this year.

Several models show a noticeable decrease against their 2017 volumes. This stems from dramatic changes in activity in the domestic Chinese market, as examined earlier. P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending, P2P/Marketplace Business Lending, Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, Marketplace/ P2P Property Lending, and Invoice Trading all experienced drops of 20%, 51%, 69%, 37% and 58%, respectively. Both P2P/Marketplace Consumer and business dropped by roughly \$50 billion – from \$243.8 billion to \$195.29 billion and \$103.59 billion to \$50.33 billion, respectively. Balance sheet Business Lending, on the other hand, grew by 32% from \$16.02 billion to \$21.08 billion. In contrast, when China is excluded from the data, nearly all the aforementioned models grew – with the exception of Balance Sheet Business Lending, which fell by 39%. The top model by volume, P2P/ Marketplace Consumer Lending grew from \$19.30 billion to \$31.99 billion – a growth of 66%. The second largest model, Balance Sheet Business Lending, grew 84% from \$8.14 billion to \$14.95 billion. The model that experienced the largest year-on-year growth was Balance Sheet Property Lending (both including and excluding China), increasing 827% from \$1.19 billion in 2017 to \$11.02 billion this year. P2P/Marketplace Business Lending also rose by 44% from \$5.27 billion to \$7.59 billion.

Total volume by region and model

When examined regionally and by model, Debtbased models by and large took the largest share of global activity in each region. Equity and Noninvestment models followed, but are far behind in Debt across all regions.

Overall, China had the largest volume by region, generating \$215.37 billion from Debt-based models, \$22.18 million from Equity-based models, and \$5.79 million from Non-investment models. The US was the second largest market in 2018, raising \$57.67 billion from Debt models, \$2.55 billion from Equity models, and \$696.50 million from Non-investment models – the highest regional volumes for both Equity and Non-investment models globally.

The UK was the third largest global region – raising \$9.31 billion, \$870.19 million, and \$76.60 million from Debt, Equity, and Non-investment models, respectively.

Europe and the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) were the third and fourth largest regions, respectively. In Europe, Debt models raised \$6.60 billion, Equity Models raised \$883.32 million, and Non-investment models raised \$237.75 million. For the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), Debt models generated \$5.34 billion, Equity raised \$504.84 million, and Non-investment \$277.28 million.

Table 1.2: Total Volume by Region and Model Categories (Incl China)

REGION	DEBT	EQUITY	NON-INVESTMENT
China	215.37 b	22.18 m	5.80 m
US	57.67 b	2.55 b	696.50 m
UK	9.31 b	870.19 m	76.60 m
Europe	6.60 b	883.32 m	237.75 m
APAC	5.34 b	504.84 m	277.28 m
LAC	1.70 b	45.61 m	39.05 m
Middle East	754.14 m	35.63 m	10.78 m
Canada	705.69 m	43.52 m	158.94 m
Africa	183.76 m	11.85 m	13.53 m

The following tables provide a breakdown of regional activity by overarching category and model-type.

Once again, the debt-models make up most of activity globally, so it is useful to see which models and subsequent regions contribute most to this category. Unsurprisingly, P2P Consumer lending activities account for 66% of debt, with China driving much of this activity. In fact, 76% of China's debt activity came from the P2P Consumer Lending model. Though Europe (excluding the UK) and the US also had significant debt volumes from this model (\$2.8b and \$2.5b respectively), the region that was most heavily impacted by the P2P Consumer lending model was Africa, with 61% of all of their debt-based activities stemming from this model. This model is also the largest debt model for Latin America and the Caribbean as well as the Middle East and Africa.

P2P Business Lending accounted for 17% of all debt activity. Again, China is the largest single contributor to this model, though this model is ranked second in the country. The UK (\$2.5 billion) followed, and it is this model that accounts for the largest single debt model in the country. This model is also the leading debt model in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) (44% of the region's debt activity). P2P Business Lending is second largest for Europe.

Closely linked to the P2P Business Lending model is the Balance Sheet Business Lending model. In most instances, firms that facilitate business lending are mixed model firms, operating both P2P and Balance Sheet facilities. In this model, the US is the leader, with \$12b derived from this model. This is approximately 60% of all Balance Sheet Business activity globally. This model is also quite significant in Canada (accounting for 55% of all debt activity), LAC (16%), Africa (25%) and the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) (17%).

Overall, the Americas are dominated by balance sheet models, heavily influenced by US practice, where regulations tend to constrain P2P lending activity and favour institutional investors that engage in Balance Sheet Lending. For the rest of the world, P2P lending dominates. This may be a result of a combination of weaker infrastructure and slower adaptation of non-American based institutional environments to alternative finance channels, which has also enabled more progressive practice and in some cases regulations in other regions. This is especially relevant as non-American based traditional credit providers tended to be more conservative and risk averse in some cases (e.g. Europe), or represent emerging economies where financial markets are still developing and state-owned entities have failed to provide sufficient access to finance (e.g. China, the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), Africa).

Geography	P2P/Marketplace	P2P/Marketplace	P2P/Marketplace	Balance Sheet	Balance Sheet	
	Consumer Lending	Business Lending	Property Lending	Consumer Lending	Business Lending	
Africa	\$111.8m	\$18.4m	\$0.3m	\$0.3m	\$46.6m	
of which market share	61%	10%	0%	0%	25%	
APAC	\$982.1m	\$1772.6m	\$658.9m	\$883.4m	\$917.7m	
of which market share	18%	33%	12%	17%	17%	
Canada	\$29.8m	\$50.8m	\$58.1m \$117.2m		\$391.4m	
of which market share	4%	7%	8% 17%		55%	
China	\$163302.7m	\$42741.2m	\$1845.7m	\$377.1m	\$6124.4m	
of which market share	76%	20%	1%	0%	3%	
Europe	\$2889.4m	\$996.8m	\$144.7m	\$99.8m	\$80.5m	
of which market share	44%	15%	2%	2%	1%	
LAC	\$432.8m	\$126.6m	\$49.1m	\$138.7m	\$265.0m	
of which market share	25%	7%	3%	8%	16%	
Middle East	\$97.1m	\$47.2m	\$556.5m	0%	\$8.9m	
of which market share	13%	6%	74%		1%	
UK of which market share	\$2057.4m	\$2541.9m	\$1759.2m	\$642.2m	\$855.2m	
	22%	27%	19%	7%	9%	
US	\$25388.3m	\$2033.0m	\$655.3m	\$7520.6m	\$12389.0m	
of which market share	44%	4%	1%	13%	21%	
TOTAL	\$195291.4m	\$50328.5m	\$5727.7m	\$9779.3m	\$21078.7m	
of which market share	66%	17%	2%	3%	7%	

Equity-based models account for just under \$5 billion of alternative finance volumes globally. Though much smaller than its debt counterparts, models encompassed in this category tend to receive the greatest attention from policymakers and regulators. In recent years, Real Estate Crowdfunding has dominated this category, accounting for 60% of all equity activities (or \$2.96 billion). The US leads in this model, amounting to \$1.79 billion in 2018. The model accounts for 70% of all US-based equity activity. Real Estate crowdfunding is the dominant equity model in most other regions as well, including the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), China, Europe and LAC.

Though real estate activities are increasing quickly, the Equity-based Crowdfunding model is arguably one of the more recognisable models. The US leads in this model globally, though it ranks second within the US after Real Estate Crowdfunding. The UK is the second largest marketplace for this model, with Equity-Crowdfunding accounting for just over 56% of all equity activity. Europe is third, with \$278m. Though much smaller, equity-based crowdfunding is a leading volume driving model in the Middle East, although most of it is associated with the outlier entrepreneurial powerhouse in Israel which has a history of attracting significant international investment. It accounts for \$34.3 million, (96% of the entire market).

Geography	Equity Crowdfunding	Real Estate Crowdfunding	Revenue Sharing	Community Shares	Total Equity Models
Africa of which market share	\$3.0m 25%	\$3.5m 30%	\$5.4m 46%		\$11.8m
APAC of which market share	\$162.1m 32%	\$258.1m 51%	\$9.9m 2%	\$74.8m 15%	\$504.8m
Canada of which market share	\$19.9m 46%	\$1.5m 3%	\$22.1m 51%		\$43.5m
China of which market share	\$5.7m 26%	\$16.4m 74%	0%		\$22.2m
Europe of which market share	\$278.1m 31%	\$600.1m 68%	\$3.5m 0%	\$1.6m 0%	\$883.3m
LAC of which market share	\$19.3m 42%	\$25.3m 56%	\$1.0m 2%	\$0.0m 0%	\$45.6m
Middle East of which market share	\$34.3m 96%	\$1.3m 4%			\$35.6m
UK of which market share	\$484.7m 56%	\$264.9m 30%	\$102.2m 12%	\$18.4m 2%	\$870.2m
US of which market share	\$507.9m 20%	\$1787.5m 70%	\$253.6m 10%		\$2.55b
TOTAL of which market share	1,514,913,486.27 31%	\$2,958,788,653.21 60%	\$397,697,842.01 8%	\$94,732,047.05 2%	\$4966.1m

Balance Sheet Property Lending	Invoice Trading	Mini Bonds	Debt-based Securities	Total Debt Models
0%	\$0.2m 0%	0%	\$6.1m 3%	\$183.8m
\$18.7m	\$94.0m	\$10.7m	\$3.0m	\$5341.1m
0%	2%	0%	0%	
\$5.4m 1%	\$53.0m 8%	0%	0%	\$705.7m
\$0.0m	\$691.3m	\$278.8m	\$7.1m	\$215368.4m
0%	0%	0%	0%	
\$1378.4m	\$803.0m	\$42.8m	\$167.8m	\$6603.2m
21%	12%	1%	3%	
\$11.4m 1%	\$548.0m 32%	0%	\$125.9m 7%	\$1697.4m
0%	\$44.5m 6%	0%	0%	\$754.1m
\$72.8m	\$854.5m	\$0.1m	\$529.8m	\$9312.9m
1%	9%	0%	6%	
\$9534.7m	\$135.5m	\$0.2m	\$11.8m	\$57668.4m
17%	0%	0%	0%	
\$11021.4m	\$3224.0m	\$332.5m	\$851.5m	\$297635.1m
4%	1%	0%	0%	

Revenue Sharing is a relatively new model, which we have only tracked for the last two years. The US and UK drive much of the volume related to this model, though the model's activity in Canada and Africa is quite noteworthy, as it makes up 51% and 46% of all equity activity from the two geographies respectively.

Finally, despite their relative prominence in public discussion, non-investment models make up the smallest over-all category. However the models included in this category are some of the most critical to the alternative finance ecosystem, especially in regions where alternative finance ecosystems are nascent or newly emerging, as they tend to precede the emergence of investment-model platforms.

Reward-based Crowdfunding, the model that the general public is most familiar with when discussing crowdfunding activities, accounts for \$876.8 million globally. The US accounts for the greatest proportion of reward-based activities(\$385m),

followed by the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) (\$201.5m) and Europe (175.4m). In terms of jurisdictions with a larger emphasis on this model, the UK's non-investment activity is dominated by Reward activities (84% of the market), though in nominal terms the volumes are much smaller.

Donation-based Crowdfunding is slightly smaller than the Reward-based Crowdfunding, though it plays a particularly important role in Africa (90% of Non-investment activity in the region), Canada (86%) and LAC (68%). In terms of volume drivers, the US (at \$311.4 million) and Canada (\$136 million) account for just shy of 70% of all Donation-based Crowdfunding volumes. Here, it is important to highlight that these figures may be significantly underestimating real volumes. This is mostly because reported figures here do not include independent donation collection initiatives which bypass platforms, which are very popular in the non-profit sector, as well as volumes of donations channelled via Facebook, which did not provide their figures to our team.

	Africa of which market share	APAC of which market share	Canada of which market share	China of which market share	Europe of which market share	LAC of which market share	Middle East of which market share	UK of which market share	US of which market share	Total Non- Investment Models
Reward-based	\$1.3m	\$201.5m	\$22.8m	\$5.7m	\$175.4m	\$12.4m	\$8.4m	\$64.1m	\$385.1m	\$876.8m
Crowdfunding	10%	73%	14%	98%	74%	32%	78%	84%	55%	58%
Donation-based	\$12.2m	\$75.8m	\$136.1m	\$0.1m	\$62.4m	\$26.6m	\$2.4m	\$12.5m	\$311.4m	\$639,409,984.59
Crowdfunding	90%	27%	86%	2%	26%	68%	22%	16%	45%	42%
Non-Investment	\$13.5m 1%	\$277.3m 18%	\$158.9m 10%	\$5.8m 0%	\$237.8m 16%	\$39.0m 3%	\$10.8m 1%	\$76.6m 5%	\$696.5m 46%	\$1.52b

Alternative Finance Volume Per Capita

While total volume provides valuable insights, it is also important to control for relative market size. When examining total alternative finance volumes per capita, we find that in addition to the US and the UK certain countries emerge as strong markets for alternative finance as well. Here, most countries with relatively high volumes in per capita terms are European based. These include the Netherlands, thanks to proactive industry players and reform-minded authorities, as well as Latvia, Estonia, and Lithuania, which have become home to some of the most proficient European-based international platforms in the P2P lending sphere. Some Baltic platforms do not only contribute to their own domestic markets but, together with others, have also supported the developments in the Caucasus region, contributing to the entry of both Georgia and Armenia as leading markets in

terms of volumes per capita. All of these represent markets where alternative finance has been catering to underserved publics by traditional financial institutions in such strongly reforming transition economies. Some of the other leading European countries include small states such as Cyprus and Monaco, where relative per capita volumes are inflated thanks to small populations. This also applies to some of the Nordic countries including Finland, Sweden, and Denmark, which are characterized by a unique combination of relatively rich societies, highly digitized economies, and high levels of social trust.

Strong performers outside Europe include Singapore in Asia, New Zealand and Australia in the Pacific, Israel in the Middle East, and Canada in the Americas. All these countries represent strong innovation-driven economies with liberal financial policies.



Figure 1.9: Alternative Financer Volumes per Capita - Top 20 Countries - 2018 USD

Furthermore, when correlating per capita alternative finance volumes with per capita GDP, we can identify a clear and significant relationship. This suggests that overall the more economically developed a country is, the higher the alternative finance volumes in that same country. While most alternative finance seems to benefit developed economies (e.g. US, Canada, Australia, New Zealand, Japan, South Korea, Israel, UK, European Union member states, etc.), strong reformers such as Georgia, Armenia, and Moldova also seem to develop significant alternative finance markets. Additionally, some emerging and developing economies seem to also benefit from relatively strong alternative finance markets. This can be seen in countries such as Mongolia and Indonesia in Asia; Botswana in Africa; Chile, Brazil, Colombia, and Paraguay in Latin America; and the Pacific island nations of Samoa and Tonga.

The least developed alternative finance markets with respect to their relative wealth include the Gulf states of Qatar, Kuwait, and Saudi Arabia, which can be explained by a combination of religious observation marginalizing interest-bearing lending and little domestic need for alternative finance. Indeed in Bahrain and Oman no alternative finance transactions were recorded in 2018 at all. An exception here is the UAE, which has been able to develop and record substantial volumes in both equity and lending models.

Other relatively underdeveloped alternative finance markets relative to their wealth include micro-state autonomies such as the US territories of Guam and the Northern Mariana Islands ('NMI'), which may be subjected to US regulation favouring institutional investors while lacking such strong institutions locally. The outlier of China's Macao may be a superficial result, where Chinese platforms report Macao-based volumes under total Chinese volumes rather than separately.



Figure 1.10: GDP per capita vs. Alternative Finance volumes per capita 2018 (Log scale)

This has led us to consider an additional market condition that may influence alternative finance markets, namely social trust. According to OECD measurements¹⁴, national levels of social trust are captured by the percentage of surveyed population in each country indicating that they believe that another person or institution will act consistently with their expectations of positive behaviour. We have correlated available figures of this measure for 41 countries with their respective per capita volumes. Our findings clearly indicate that the higher the levels of social trust among a country's population, the higher the per capita volumes.

45





Market Dynamics

The vitality of alternative finance business funding

Ensuring the growth and vitality of the SME sector is viewed as a key priority by governments and development partners worldwide. However, the development and growth of this sector has often been restricted due to a lack of access to entrepreneurial finance. Our data indicates that alternative finance provides an increasingly important source for SME financing. With this in mind, business-focused funding activities have been viewed as a key priority when considering the utility of alternative finance. Over the past few years, alternative finance has grown to become a viable funding source for entrepreneurs, start-ups and small and medium sized businesses (SMEs) globally.¹⁵

Overall Business finance by Year



Figure 1.12: Alternative Finance Volumes Attributed to Business Fundraisers, 2015-2018 USD



Based on 1531 (66%) of observations, which provided relevant information, we find that in 2018, just over \$80 billion was generated via alternative finance activities for business borrowers, issuers and fundraisers. Against the 2017 figure, this is a substantial 48% drop. In order to explain this decline, it is useful to separate Chinese driven business volumes from the rest of the world. As has been explored already, the Chinese alternative finance market has seen steep declines across all models in 2018. This has duly had a considerable impact on SME or Business driven volumes. When we observe global alternative finance activity excluding China, we note that the business-focused funding increased year-on-year. In 2018, global alternative finance for business accounted for \$31 billion, up 47% against 2017's \$21 billion. China, the USA and the UK have the highest rates of SME financing via alternative finance, with approximately \$16 billion and \$5.6 billion respectively in 2018. Europe and the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) have smaller volumes of dedicated businessfocused finance, there has been consistent growth over the last four years.



Figure 1.13: Alternative Finance Business Funding, Volumes By Region, USD

When excluding China, over 90% (\$27.9 billion) of business funding is derived from debt-based models such as P2P Business Lending. The US (56%), the UK (18%), the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) (11%) and Europe (8%) are the top geographies driving debt-focused business financing, though debt finance for SMEs is growing rapidly in LAC and Africa.

Equity-based model volumes accounted for just shy of \$2.5 billion globally. Chinese business volumes in this category account for less than 1% of global activity. The UK (\$852 million) and the US (\$842 million) had the most significant rates of equitybased activity for small businesses. In the case of the UK, this came from the Equity-based Crowdfunding model while the US was more focused on Real Estate Crowdfunding.





Onboarding rate and Successful Funding rate

This report has thus far shed light on key figures as they relate to volumes by model and country. We now turn to discuss the relationship that alternative finance platforms have with the stakeholders that utilize their platform. Namely, these are the fundraisers, being the individuals, businesses or project-owners who use alternative finance platforms to satisfy their funding needs, and funders (individuals, institutions, etc.) who invest, lend or provide finance to a fundraiser via a platform.

Potential fundraisers must first go through a series of checks and assessments to determine their suitability, before they can raise funds on an alternative finance platform. While the process varies from platform to platform, comparison of the relative rates of onboarding and successful funding provides some insight into how this first checkpoint impacts fundraiser success. The below graphs include the percentage of applicant firms that are considered qualified and are allowed to proceed with a fundraise (on-boarding rate), and then the percentage of these onboarded firms who go on to receive funding through the platform (successful funding). It includes figures on this for business models where there are at least 10 platforms operating in the region studied, which means that some types of business models are only analysed in a limited number of locations

Based on 1184 (51%) of observations, which provided relevant information, we find that different business models show a wide variation in their onboarding and successful funding rates, which also tend to vary significantly between regions. Platforms undertaking P2P Business Lending have one of the most significant variations in onboarding rates between regions, which ranges from 18% in Europe to 75% in Africa. Donationbased Crowdfunding also has a wide range of onboarding rates, with 56% of firms in Europe being accepted in comparison to 99% in the US. A possible explanation for this gap may be the relative popularity of health and education related donation campaigns in the US in comparison to Europe, where both services are more generously covered by state funds and schemes than in the US. The proportion of fundraisers successfully obtaining their funding can also vary widely between regions, with 83% of applications to LAC based Equitybased Crowdfunding platforms being successful in obtaining funding, compared to 44% of fundraisers on platforms based in the UK.

The relationship between onboarding rates and successful funding rates tends to vary between business models. The successful funding rate for P2P business lending platforms is similar across all Europe, Asia Pacific region (excluding China), and LAC, ranging from 89% to 92%. There are stark contrasts to regional differences in the onboarding rate, which range from 18% in the Europe to 45%

N: 630



Figure 1.15: Onboarding rate and successful funding rate Debt based model

48

in LAC. Comparing different debt-based models, borrowers using P2P platforms tend to be much more likely to be successful in their funding than borrowers using Invoice Trading or Balance Sheet Lending, although the onboarding rate is on average similar.

Platforms with equity-based business models, comprising Real-estate Crowdfunding and Equitybased Crowdfunding, tend to have a much lower onboarding rate than Non-investment models or debt-based models. This rate is consistently low across all the regions and models studied, ranging form 9% for European-based Equity Crowdfunding platforms to 38% of those in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China). By contrast, the rate of fundraisers successfully obtaining finance varies significantly. While it is consistently high for Real Estate Crowdfunding platforms, for Equity-based Crowdfunding platforms it ranges from 83% in LAC to 43% in the UK, despite the fact that these regions only have a 4% difference in their onboarding rate.



Non-investment models differ significantly depending on the business model. Rewardbased Crowdfunding platforms have similar rates of onboarding and successful financing across both the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) and Europe. By contrast, Donation-based Crowdfunding has a higher rate of onboarding and of successful financing in comparison but shows much greater regional variation. European firms had an onboarding rate of 56% and a successful financing rate of 65%, whereas for LAC these figures stood at 90% and 31% respectively.



Figure 1.17: Onboarding rate and Successful funding rate of Non-investment based models

N: 372

Repeat Rates

Good measurements of the adoption of alternative finance, and of its potential sustainability in the long term are the rates of repeat fundraisers and funders. The survey asked firms to identify the proportion of individuals, businesses or entities that have raised finance on their platform at least twice since joining the platform (repeat fundraisers), as well as investors who invested on their platform more than once in 2018 (repeat funders). The figures for repeat funders exclude individuals using auto-bid with automatic re-investment selected. Based on 942 (41%) of the observations, which provided relevant information, we find the following.



Figure 1.18: Repeat Fundraiser Rate by Model and Region, 2018

0

10%

20%

N: 942

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

30%

Invoice Trading had the highest rate of borrowers returning to fundraise again within a year, at 68% in LAC and 61% in Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) Europe. Donation-based crowdfunding similarly had a high rate of repeat usage, ranging from 57% in Middle East to 32% in Europe. P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending in UK had the lowest level of repeat use (8%).

Rates of repeat fundraisers tended to remain generally similar across different geographic areas, with the range not being much more than 10%. The main exception to this is P2P business lending, which has a wider gap between the highest

Figure 1.19: Repeat Funders Rate by Model and Region, 2018

recorded rate of 58% in LAC, and lowest rate of 8% in UK.

The rates of repeat funders tend to be higher than the rates of repeat fundraisers. The highest rate for repeat fundraisers is 68% (Invoice Trading , LAC), while for repeat funders it is 87% (also Invoice Trading,Europe).

Geographical disparity is most evident in P2P property-based models, where the rate of repeat funders ranges between 44% in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) and 83% in Europe. The only business models which showed broadly similar

N: 806



51

rates of repeat funders globally were P2P business lending and Equity crowdfunding.

This disparity between different regions makes it challenging to compare rates of repeat funding across different business models., High rates of repeat funders can be found in various models such as Invoice Trading, P2P property lending, P2P business lending, all exhibiting rates higher than 80%. On average, Balance Sheet Consumer Lending has the lowest rates of repeat funding, with an average rate of 17% across regions.

Auto-selection rate:

One of the mechanisms used by funders to facilitate their investment is auto-selection. The survey asked platforms to indicate the proportion of investors or lenders who used auto-bid or auto-selection mechanisms to make their investments. Auto-bid or auto-selection is a function whereby individual lenders or investors specify their investment amount, duration and risk appetite. The platform then allocates funds across available investment options based upon these pre-set preferences, effectively auto-diversifying against the available portfolio. Auto-selection is only widespread enough to properly measure amongst P2P consumer and P2P business platforms. Based on 27% of relevant observation, we find the following.

Globally, an average of 41% of users of P2P consumer platforms used auto-selection or autobidding when providing funds, where the variation between the regions were high. (the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China): 27%, Europe: 65%). Investors using P2P business platforms tended to be less likely to use auto-selection than investors using P2P consumer platforms, with an average rate of around 57% across the 3 regions for which we have data. However, this rate is skewed by the high use of auto-selection in the UK, where it was used by 92% of investors using P2P business platforms. By contrast, its use in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) and Europe was much lower-10% in Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) and 69% in Europe

		N: 263
Model	Region	Auto-selection rate
P2P/Marketplace	APAC	27%
Consumer Lending	Europe	68%
	APAC	10%
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	Europe	69%
Dusiness Lending	UK	92%

Institutionalisation:

Institutional investors are increasingly making use of alternative finance to support their own or their clients' investment strategies. Platforms were asked what percentage of their total 2018 funding volume was funded by institutional investors, i.e. including banks, trusts, brokerage firms, investment dealers, insurance companies and other non-financial institutions. Based on 63% of the observations, for which relevant information was provided, we find that in 2018, approximately \$162 billion of the alternative finance volumes was derived from institutional investors, which is just over 50% of the entire global volume.

There is a wide regional variation in the proportion of institutional-driven funding. The majority of areas had a fairly equal split between institutional and non-institutional funders, with about half of their funding coming from institutional investors, and half coming from individual investors. The exception to this was platforms based in the US, Africa and the Middle East. Platforms in Africa and the Middle East were dominated by non-institutional investors; only 19% (\$40m) of funding for African platforms and 8% (\$60m) of funding for those in the Middle East came from institutional investors. By contrast, institutional investors provided most funding (88% or \$54 billion) via platforms based in the US.

Besides regional variation, the amount of funding which platforms received from institutional investors varied considerably depending on their business model, ranging from 3% of the funding for Reward-based Crowdfunding to 93% of the funding of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending.

Balance Sheet Consumer Lending is followed by P2P Consumer platforms, which gained 83% of their funding from institutional investors. Platforms using other P2P models also received a significant proportion of their funding from institutional investors, at 57% for P2P Business and 44% for P2P Property platforms. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, Invoice Trading and Revenue Sharing platforms also derived well over half of their funding from institutional investors.

By contrast, 3% of Reward-based Crowdfunding was derived from institutional investors, followed by Real-estate Crowdfunding at 16%. Only 18% of funding for Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms and 23% of funding for Equity



Figure 1.20: Institutionalisation by region

Crowdfunding platforms came from institutional investors. Hence, while institutional investors account for a substantial proportion of lending activity, they tend to avoid higher risk equity

investments, as well as from models with no financial return where contributions are mostly associated with corporate social responsibility action rather than strategic investment.



053

Figure 1.21: Institutionalisation by model

Partnerships with Institutional Investors

Figure 1.22: Partnerships by model-2018



Other Collaborations with Institutional Partners

While institutional investment certainly is an important marker in understanding the synergies between traditional financial services and alternative finance platforms, it is also important to review the types of collaborative arrangements that exist between platforms and traditional financial institutions. To this end platforms were asked about the ways in which they collaborate with such partners. These included referral agreements, data exchange, agent banking, platform ownership and custodianship. Based on 51% of the observations, for which relevant information was provided, we find the following.

Real Estate Crowdfunding, Balance Sheet Business Lending, and Invoice Trading, had the highest proportion of platforms with referral agreements – at 49%, 35%, and 34%, respectively. With regard to data exchange, the highest proportion of platforms that utilized this were Balance Sheet models – including Balance Sheet Property Lending (37%), Balance sheet Business Lending (27%), and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (24%). For Agent Banking, 56% of Reward-based Crowdfunding platforms, 36% of P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending platforms, and 29% of Donation-based Crowdfunding. Partial institutional ownership was reported by 24% of Equity-based Platforms, 22% of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending platforms, and 21% of Debt-based Securities platforms. Finally, with regards to marketing agreements 29% of Debt-based Securities platforms, 29% of P2P/ Marketplace Property Lending, and 26% of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending reported institutional partnerships.

N: 1.177

Payment Infrastructure Utilised by Alternative Finance Platforms

With regards to how investments were made on platforms, participating firms were asked to identify the methods utilized by their customers when making a transaction on the online platform. This has been broken down into analyses by region and by model type. Based on 44% of the observations, for which related information was provided, we find the following.

Generally across all regions, payments by credit transfers or by credit card were the clear preferred method of payment. For African platforms, 58% of all payments were done by Credit (21%) or Debit (20%) payments or via Credit Transfers (18%). In the Asia-Pacific Region (excluding China), 59% of transactions were completed utilizing Credit Transfers (20%), Credit (20%) or Debit (19%) transfers. Platforms in Canada reported that 63% of payments were completed by Credit Card (24%), Direct Debit (19%) or Cheque (19%). Among



European Platforms (excluding the UK), 84% of payments were completed via Credit Transfers (29%), Credit payments (22%), Debit Payments (17%) or Direct Debit (17%). In Latin America and the Caribbean, 70% of Payments came from Credit Transfers (29%), Credit Card (16%), Direct Debit (13%) Debit Card (13%) payments. Overall, 63% of payments in the Middle East were split between

Credit Cards (25%), Debit Cards (22%) and Credit Transfers (16%). Platforms in the UK reported that 85% of payments came from Credit Transfers (31%), Debit card payments (25%), Credit Card Payments (15%) and Direct Debit (15%). Platforms in the US reported that 57% of their payments were by Credit Card (21%), Direct Debit (20%) and Debit Card (17%).

N: 1,012



By overarching model – with the clear exception of Reward- and Donation-based Crowdfunding – most model types utilized credit transfers as their predominant payment method. This may result from the fact that non-investment models are likely to involve substantially smaller financial transactions than those associated with investment behaviour. This was particularly evident with respect to P2P/Marketplace Property Lending and Invoice Trading, where 59% and 56% of platforms utilised this method. Over half (55%) of P2P/ Marketplace Consumer Lending utilized Credit Transfers (37%) or Direct Debits (18%). The largest share (63%) of P2P/Marketplace Business Lending

Figure 1.24: Payment instrument by model-2018

55

also used Credit Transfers (38%) or Direct Debits (25%). For Balance Sheet Consumer Lending the top three methods accounted for 60% of their payment instruments, being Credit Transfers (22%), Direct Debits (20%) Cheques (18%). A total of 66% of Balance Sheet Business Lending platforms also utilized Direct Debits (26%), Cheques (21%), and Credit Transfers (19%). In Balance Sheet Property Lending, 23% of payments were done through Credit Transfers, and an additional 23% were done via Debit Card Payments.

Just over half (51%) of Debt-based Securities payments came through Credit Transfers (37%) or Direct Debit (15%). While Equity-based Crowdfunding also had the largest share of payments coming from Credit transfers (26%), the second largest share was from Credit Card Payments (21%). Similarly, Revenue Sharing had 25% of payments from Credit Transfers, 21% from Credit Card payments, and 20% from Direct Debits. Real Estate Crowdfunding had 52% of its

payments split between Credit Transfers (32%) and Direct Debits (20%). Reward and Donation-based models, however, had a larger share of Debit and Credit Card payments - at 35% debit and 40% credit for Reward-based, and 22% debit and 23% credit for Donation-based.

Respondent platforms were also asked about the categorization of their payment service providers.

For all regions, with the exception of Africa, over 50% of all payment service providers were banks. For Africa, while 42% of platforms utilized a commercial bank and 2% utilized another bank. Notably, 22% utilized Mobile Payment services and 11% utilized Mobile network operators. Interestingly, the Asia-Pacific Region (excluding China), Canada and the Middle East also utilized a sizable portion of Mobile payment services (15%, 11 and 17% respectively). Additionally, the Middle East, Europe and Africa also utilized International Money Transfer Operators (22%, 19% and 17%, respectively).



Figure 1.25: Payment Clearance methods by region-2018

Similar to the response by region, when examining payment clearance by model type the largest source of payment clearance was through that of commercial banks - as reported by over 60% of P2P/Marketplace models platforms, 63% of Real Estate Crowdfunding platforms, and 78% of all Invoice Trading Platforms. When combined with 'banks other than commercial', these shares

become even higher. All model types reported that 50% or more of their constituent platforms utilized either soley a Commercial bank, or both a commercial bank and an 'other bank', with the exception of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, Revenue Sharing, Donation and Reward-based Crowdfunding.



Figure 1.26: Payment Clearance methods by model-2018

Donation-based Crowdfunding had the lowest amount of Commercial Banks (36%) and 'Other' banks (1%) that functioned as a clearance method - and the highest amount of International Money Transfer Operations (28%) and Mobile Payment Services (29%). Reward-based Crowdfunding similarly had 45% Commercial Bank involvement, and 1% 'Other bank'- and 14% International Money Transfer Operations, 13% Non-bank Financial Institutions, and 13% Mobile Payment Systems. Revenue sharing, on the other hand, had 38% or its payment clearance through Commercial Banks, 8% through 'Other banks', 21% through Non-bank Financial Institutions, and 15% through Mobile Payment services. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, had 40% of its payment clearance through Commercial banks, 6% through 'Other' banks, as well as 13% International Money Transfers, and 11% for both Local Money Transfer Operators and Non-bank Financial Institutions.

Market developments

Innovation

The alternative finance market is increasingly incorporating new technologies while opening new businesses lines aimed at supporting a rapid and efficient market. When analysing these advances, it is useful to understand how different segments of the alternative finance ecosystem are innovating. In the first instance, we asked firms to indicate if they made any changes to their business model within the last year, and, if so, to what degree. Based on the 43% of observations for which relevant information was provided, we find the following.

For most reporting P2P lending firms, no significant changes to their business models occured in 2018. This was particularly evident for P2P Property Lending, which saw 74% of firms saying that no changes occurred. In contrast, when looking at Balance Sheet Property Lending, over half of firms indicated some sort of change to their business model, with 58% of platforms saying that they had significantly altered their business model, and 17% only slightly so. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending also noted considerable business model changes, with 37% indicating significant change and 35% slight change. An emphasis on business model transformation was also prevalent from firms operating a Debt-based Securities model, with 33% significantly altering their model and 47% significantly altering their model.



Figure 1.27: Changes to business model by model-2018

N: 995

N: 995

We slightly altered our business model in 2018 We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018

In the case of equity-models, firms reported greater levels of business model change. For Equity-based Crowdfunding, 16% said that significant change to their business model occurred, while 51% noted slight changes. Similarly, 28% of Real Estate Crowdfunding and 20% of Revenue Sharing firms noted significant changes.

When considering Non-investment models, 85% of Donation-based Crowdfunding firms have noted no

significant changes, while 12% reported only slight changes. In Reward-based Crowdfunding, 51% of platforms indicated no change and 34% indicated only slight change. In this respect, model changes seem to correspond with regulatory influx, where most attention is focused on Investment rather than Non-investment models, and where resulting amendments require adjustments from Investment model platforms to a greater extent.



Figure 1.28: Changes in products and services by model- 2018

We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018

We slightly altered products and services in 2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

The products and services offered by platforms are diverse and constantly evolving in line with regulatory amendments, as well as technological development and market demand patterns. In the case of P2P Consumer Lending, a significant proportion of firms did indicate changes to their core products and services, with 23% introducing new products and services in 2018 and 42% making slight changes to their existing offerings. Similarly, 49% of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending firms noted slight changes as well. P2P Business Lending firms also noted significant introduction of new products or services (28%), while 49% of Balance Sheet Business Lending firms indicated slight changes. Interestingly, while firms from the Balance Sheet Property Lending model had previously indicated significant changes to their business model, a significant 92% did note incorporating changes to their existing product and service offerings. Firms operating a Debt-based Securities model also noted considerable changes to their product offerings, with 43% indicating the introduction of new products or services and 43% noting slight changes.

Overall, equity-based models indicated significant transformation, with 29% introducing new products or services, and 46% making changes to

their existing offering. In the case of Real Estate Crowdfunding, 39% of firms introduced products and services and 31% making changes.

Donation-based Crowdfunding remained mostly unchanged, with 79% of platforms responding they made no significant changes to their products or services and 15% of platforms slightly altering them. In contrast, 46% of Reward-based Crowdfunding, firms did not tend to change their existing product offerings, with fewer firms (15%) noting introduction of new products or services.

Internationalization

One of the advantages of conducting a global survey is the ability to more accurately track cross-border transactions. As the provision of finance is moving beyond transactions located solely within one jurisdiction, and as alternative finance activities become increasingly international, with firms setting up operations in multiple countries, it follows that their clients are also becoming increasingly international. As such, we wanted to understand the impact of cross-border transactions, looking specifically at the inflow of funds (i.e. funds from investors which came from abroad) and outflows (i.e. funds which went to fundraisers abroad). The following findings are



59

Figure 1.29: Inflow rate and Outflow rate by model-2018

based on 28% of total observations which provided information about international inflows and 20% of observations which provided information about international outflows, regardless of size (including no flows).

Cross-border transactions are more common to some models, with P2P Consumer Lending accounting for some of the highest proportions of cross border inflows (49%) and outflows (48%). Other models with high levels of cross-border activity included Debt-based Securities (38% inflows and 54% outflows), Invoice Trading (34% inflows and 28% outflows) and Balance Sheet Business Lending (22% inflows and 36% outflows). It is possible that certain models lend themselves better to such cross-border interactions. If we look, for instance, at the models which tend to be more geographically locked or domestically-orientated, models which require security against an asset (such as a property) tend to be more focused on domestic clients and stakeholders. This is certainly the case for both P2P Property Lending and Real Estate Crowdfunding. Similarly, Equity-based Crowdfunding is predominantly a local activity, and this may stem from a reliance on investor-issuer relationships, with a greater emphasis typically placed on 'knowing your investment', as well as need for regulatory compliance for investor protection in relatively high risk investments, which varies between countries.



60

It is also useful to note which regions tend to rely more on international funding, especially to support domestic ventures or fundraisers. Here, our reported findings are based on 31% of total observations which provided information about international inflows and 23% of observations which provided information about international outflows, regardless of size (including no flows).

The region with the highest cross-border inflows and outflows is Africa, which had an inflow rate of 83% and an outflow rate of 90%. This unique result reflects the fact that most platforms reporting activities in African countries are actually international platforms based outside of Africa. In such cases, inflows originate from a variety of countries globally, and the outflows go out to organizations either registered in Africa or elsewhere abroad (while operating in Africa). Furthermore, even the relatively few platforms based in Africa tend to attract support from African diaspora members and their extended networks outside of Africa. Indeed, African platforms considers diaspora a strategic segment of focus, while expecting slower and gradual uptake domestically.

It is followed by LAC, which had a 42% crossborder inflow rate. Substantial volumes of this are associated with US-based global platforms, as well as important share of contributions from diaspora funding. Europe accounts for a 37% inflow and 31% outflow rate (though much of this occurred within the European Union), and Canada a 20% inflow and 32% outflow rate. The UK shows a 20% inflow and 13% outflow rate, and the US a 16% inflow and 10% outflow. The lowest levels are observed in the Middle East, with a 10% inflow and 1% outflow. Here, a combination of politics limiting cross-border financing, limited trade between the regional heavyweight Israel and its neighbours, and relative wealth of key Middle Eastern countries lead to low levels of international transactions.

Financial Inclusion

Banked, Underbanked and Un-banked Status of Fundraisers

An important measure of financial inclusion is banking status. Respondents were asked to indicate the proportion of their customer base who were unbanked (not served by or without access to any traditional financial service), underbanked (with access to some basic financial services, but not a complete suite), and banked (users that have access to a full suite of financial services). Based on the 36% of observations for which relevant information was provided, we find the following.

Looking at respondents geographically, those based in Africa and the Asia-Pacific region (excluding

China) have the highest percentages of unbanked customers, at 18% in both regions. However, the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) platforms' lower levels of underbanked customers mean that overall 44% of platforms' customer base is banked, compared to 22% of African platforms' customers. While respondents from the USA and Canada reported minimal to no unbanked customers, they noted a significant level of underbanked customers. In the USA, 25% of customers were underbanked, while 38% were underbanked in Canada. These means that these countries' overall reported levels of banked customers are significantly lower than those in Europe, the Middle East and the UK, which all have similar levels of around 95% banked customers. We did not have sufficient data for China to analyse the banking status of customers at Chinese firms.

Overall, this indicates that alternative finance does contribute to improvement in access to finance, but these improvements do not correspond with the significant positive expectations that characterized the industry's earlier years. It remains to be seen whether this is a result of nascent platforms seeking legitimacy and scale on the way to improving wider access to finance, or whether this is a result of growing share of institutionalisation that may continue to discriminate such segments through new channels as well.



61

Figure 1.31: Banking Status by region

As well as the region in which they are based, the banking status of respondents' customers also varies depending on the firm's business model. Real-estate Crowdfunding and Equity-based Crowdfunding firms have the highest proportions of Banked customers, while Balance-Sheet Consumer Lending has the lowest proportion, at 47%.



Figure 1.32: Banking Status by model

The Income Status of Investors

Examining the income status of funders and investors lets us better understand the level of participation at different income levels, and indirectly to what extent do lower income level individuals in particular use crowdfunding as an investment channel. Respondents divided the income status of their funders into four categories-'bottom income', 'low income', 'middle income' and 'high income'.

Based on 22% of observations for which relevant information was provided, we find that for almost all types of firms, whatever region they are located, most of funders come from a middle or high-income bracket. Real-estate Crowdfunding, Invoice Trading and Donation-Based Crowdfunding firms have the highest proportion of high-income funders, a trend which is consistent through almost all regions. proportion of their investment from funders in lower income brackets. A notable example of this is Balance Sheet Property Lending, where 60% of the funders to Asia-Pacific Region (excluding China) firms, and 80% of the funders for LAC firms are classed as having the bottom or low level of income. This phenomenon is present globally and is not limited to Emerging Markets and Developing Countries. P2P consumer firms in Canada draw 50% of their investment from funders with a 'low' income status, and around 60% of Debt-based Securities firms in the UK draw investment from funders classed as having the bottom or a low level of income, as did 45% of European P2P Property firms. This could represent evidence that low income investors are brought into the fold and allowed to build up capital base via alternative finance. However, at the same time this may raise concerns that platforms need to ensure that such individuals understand the risks they are taking when engaging in such investment activities.



Figure 1.33: Income Status by Model and Region

However, a few types of firms draw a significant



	Africa	8%	22%		35%		35%	
					70%			18%
			38%			47%		8%
P2P/Marketplace	LAC	3% 6%		70	9%			22%
Property Lending	Middle East	8% 12%	δ .			80%		
	UK	5%		53%			42%	
	USA				100%			
	Africa		57%	6			42%	19
		4%				38%		19%
					70%			20%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending							39%	2%
			45%			450		8%
		5 70			100%			070
	UJA				100 /8			
	Africa	2%	30%			60%		7%
	APAC	2%			89%			9%
	Canada	25%				75%		
	Europe	5%			86%			9%
	LAC		49%			37%		13% 19
	UK	5%			90%			5%
	USA	<mark>2%</mark> 12%		42%			43%	
	4040			F00 /			00%/	
		8%		52%	_		32%	8%
Froperty Lending	LAC		45%			35%		20%
	Africa	8%	22%		35%		35%	
	APAC	12%	32%	b	14%		42%	
	Europe	10%			90%)		
Invoice Trading	LAC	16%	5%	25%			55%	
	Middle East		55%				45%	
					100%			
	Africa	5%			90%			5%
	APAC	8%		62%			31	%
	Canada	25%				75%		
Equity Crowdfunding	Europe	6% 15%	o -	37%			42%	
Equity of official and a	LAC	2%	37%			60%	6	
	Middle East				100%			
	UK	16%			8	4%		
	LISA	3% 9%			88			
	0.5/1					/o		
				52%		/o	38%	
	APAC	10%		52%		/o	38%	
	APAC Europe	10% 6% 14%		47			38% 34%	
Real Estate	APAC Europe 1% LAC	10% 6% 14%			%			24%
Real Estate Crowdfunding	APAC Europe 1% LAC Middle East	10% 6% 14%		47	% 100%			
Real Estate Crowdfunding	APAC Europe 1% LAC Middle East 1% UK	10% 6% 14%		47	% 100% 99%			
Real Estate Crowdfunding	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UK USA	10% 6% 14% 7%		47	% 100%			
Crowdfunding	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UK USA	10% 6% 14% 7%		47 74%	% 100% 99%		34%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UK USA	10% 6% 14% 7%		47 74% 69%	% 100% 99%		34%	
Crowdfunding Reward-based	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UK USA	10% 6% 14% 7%		47 74%	% 100% 99% 93%		34%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UK USA	10% 6% 14% 7%		47 74% 69%	% 100% 99%		34%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UX UX USA	10% 6% 14% 7%		47 74% 69%	% 100% 99% 93%		34%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based	APAC Europe LAC Middle East 1% USA LAC Europe LAC	10% 6% 14% 7% 7% 8% 8% 20%		47 74% 69% 45%	% 100% 99% 93% 100%		34% 2 40%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based	APAC Europe LAC Middle East 1% USA USA Europe LAC Europe LAC			47 74% 69% 45%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99%		34% 2 40%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based	APAC Europe LAC Middle East USA USA LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC	10% 6% 14% 6% 14% 7% 8% 8% 8% 20%		47 74% 69% 45% 30%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99%		34% 2 40% 50%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based	APAC Europe LAC Middle East USA USA LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC			47 74% 69% 45% 30% 50%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99%		34% 2 40%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based Crowdfunding	APAC Europe LAC Middle East USA USA USA USA Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC	10% 6% 14% 6% 14% 7% 8% 8% 20% 2% 10% 2% 8% 3%		47 74% 69% 45% 30%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99% 90%		34% 2 40% 50%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based Crowdfunding	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UK USA 1% Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC	10% 6% 14% 6% 14% 7% 8% 8% 20% 20% 2% 8% 3% 3%		47 74% 69% 45% 30% 50%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99% 90% 90%		34% 2 40% 50%	24% 8% 25%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based Crowdfunding	APAC Europe LAC Middle East UK USA 1% Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC	10% 6% 14% 6% 14% 7% 8% 8% 20% 20% 2% 8% 3% 3%		47 74% 69% 45% 30% 50%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99% 90%		34% 2 40% 50%	24%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based Crowdfunding	APAC Europe LAC Middle East 1% USA LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC	10% 6% 14% 7% 7% 8% 8% 20% 20% 10% 2% 8% 3% 3%		47 74% 69% 45% 30% 50% 72%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99% 90% 90%		34% 2 40% 50%	24% 8% 25%
Crowdfunding Reward-based Crowdfunding Donation-based Crowdfunding Revenue Sharing	APAC Europe LAC Middle East 1% USA LAC Europe LAC Europe LAC Africa APAC Europe LAC UK USA	10% 6% 14% 7% 7% 8% 8% 20% 20% 20% 2% 3% 3% 3% 3%		47 74% 69% 45% 30% 50% 72%	% 100% 99% 93% 100% 99% 90% 90% 94%		34% 2 40% 50%	24% 8% 25%
Property Lending 4740 20% 47% Big Source Sourc		34% 2 40% 50%	24% 8% 25% 3%					

Bottom Low Middle High

Gender

Gender is a key topic when discussing financial inclusion. Participating firms provided information on the gender of both their funders and their fundraisers. Based on the 34% of observations for which relevant information was provided, we find that both women and men are utilizing alternative finance. However, with a few notable exceptions, women tend to participate at a significantly lower rate than their male counterparts as both fundraisers and funders.

For almost all types of firms surveyed, female participation, whether as a fundraiser or a funder, is below 40%. Notable exceptions to this are certain types of crowdfunding associated with the noninvestment models; 47% of fundraisers, and 45% of funders to Reward-based Crowdfunding are female, as are 70% of fundraisers for Donationbased Crowdfunding- the only category which is majority female.

By contrast, only 11% of fundraisers and 18% of

funders of Real-estate Crowdfunding are female. Overall, in Investment models females only account for roughly 20-30% of funders in most cases, and 30-40% of fundraisers. Despite persistent gender gaps, these findings do indicate that overall, females take larger share of investment in alternative channels than in traditional ones, especially when considering relatively high risk-high return investments. At the same time, a larger share of funding raised via alternative channels reach women than in traditional channels. For example, a study by Pitchbook reported in Fortune Magazine¹⁶, indicated that all female founder teams received just 2.2% of VC investments in 2017.

Furthermore, the percentage gap between female fundraisers and female funders does not show a consistent pattern between different investment models. It is only 1% for Equity-based Crowdfunding, 3% for Debt-based securities and 4% for Invoice Trading- but 22% for Balance Sheet Business Lending, where 28% of fundraisers are female compared to 6% of funders.



64

Figure 1.34: Female fundraisers and funders rate by model

Risk and Regulations

Perception of risk by region and model

Respondents were asked about their perception of various risks that could potentially affect their platform. These risks were campaign fraud; notable increase in defaults; collapse due to malpractice;

Figure 1.35: Perceived risks of platforms by region-2018

cyber-security breach; change in regulation; competition with incumbents and new entries; and the emergence of TechFin firms. Based on the 39% of observations for which relevant information was provided, we find that although the perceived risks varied depending on the platform's location, there are several consistent similarities across regions.

	Campaign Fraud		48%			10%	23%		19%	6
	Notable Increase in Default		33%		14%	19%		29%		5%
da	Collapse due to Malpractice		41%			31%			24%	3%
Canada	Cyber-security Breach	3%	27%	7%	20%			43%		
0	Change in Regulation	17%	17%	ó		40%			23%	3%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	19%		33%				48%		
	Emergence of TechFin firms	18%		8%	2	7%		36%	6	
	Campaign Fraud	23%		21%		29%		19	%	8%
	Notable Increase in Default	19%		25%		31%			9%	6%
	Collapse due to Malpractice	25%	6		37%			31%		5% 2%
LAC	Cyber-security Breach	17%		33%		2	5%		3%	8%
ב	Change in Regulation	9%	16%	00 /0	36%	-	S //	29%	. / 0	10%
	Competition with incumbents	18%	10 /0	25%	00 / 0		41%	20 /0	12%	5%
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	20%		31%		19%		21%	1270	9%
				01/0	05%	107	·	2170	4.00/	
	Campaign Fraud	3% 11%			65%	0.40/			16%	5%
st	Notable Increase in Default	21%			050/	64%				14%
Еa	Collapse due to Malpractice	12%			65%			12		9% <mark>3%</mark>
Middle East	Cyber-security Breach	3%		7	1%			6%	20%	-
Σ	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	14%			57%			2	7%	3%
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	6%			869	70 74.0/				6% <mark>3%</mark>
	Einergence of TechFin firms	20%				/1%				<mark>3%</mark> 6%
	Campaign Fraud	22%		28%			32 %		13%	6%
	Notable Increase in Default	16%	20	%		38%			22%	4%
~	Collapse due to Malpractice	27	%			50%		1	2%	9% 19
USA	Cyber-security Breach	9%	28%			33%		18%		12%
	Change in Regulation	12%	17%			46%			23%	3%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	20%		30%			41%			10%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	20%		28%		2	7%		25%	
	Campaign Fraud	9%	15%			64%				4%
	Notable Increase in Default	4%		58%			4%	29%		4%
æ	Collapse due to Malpractice	15%			58%			20	%	5% <mark>2%</mark>
Africa	Cyber-security Breach	14%		48	%		14%		20%	4%
Ā	Change in Regulation	7%	17%			54%			19%	3%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	21%			47%			13%	16%	3%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	23%			48%			14%	12	% 3%
	Campaign Fraud	16%	17%			42%		1	3%	8%
	Notable Increase in Default	21%		29%			31%		15%	4%
	Collapse due to Malpractice	16%		34%			28%		19%	4%
APAC	Cyber-security Breach	10%	28%	0470		24%	20 /0	29%	1370	9%
AP	Change in Regulation				43%			29 %		9%
	Competition with incumbents	10%	/0	43%	40 /0		389			9% 19
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	19%		34%			25%	0	17%	5%
							2070			
	Campaign Fraud	25%	/o	21%		3	1%		19%	3%
	Notable Increase in Default	10%	24%		3:	2%		30%		4%
d)		17%		27%		30%			23%	3%
ğ	Collapse due to Malpractice									10%
:urope	Cyber-security Breach	8%		10%		24%		19%		
Europe	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation	8% 5% 14%			57%				19%	5%
Europe	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries	8% 5% 14% 17%			47%			29%		5% 6% 19
Europe	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	8% 5% 14%								5%
Europe	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries	8% 5% 14% 17%	6		47%			29% 23%		5% 6% 19
Europe	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	8% 5% 14% 17% 18%	6	40%	47% 46%	ó		29% 23%	19%	5% 6% 19 13%
	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud	8% 5% 14% 17% 18% 23%	6	16%	47% 46%	34% 8%		29% 23%	19%	5% 6% 19 13% 5%
UK Europe	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default	8% 5% 14% 17% 18% 23% 21% 16% 16%		16%	47% 46% 2 33%	34% 8%		29% 23% 25%	19%	5% 6% 19 13% 5% 11%
	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation	8% 14% 5% 14% 17% 18% 23% 21% 16% 8%	6 14%	16%	47% 46% 2 33%	6 34% 8%		29% 23% 25% 30%	19%	5% 6% 19 13% 5% 11% 6%
	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach	8% 14% 5% 14% 17% 18% 23% 21% 16% 8%	6 14% 26%	16% 15%	47% 46% 2 33%	6 <u>34%</u> 8%		29% 23% 25% 30%	19% 21%	5% 6% 19 13% 5% 11% 6% 8%

v Low

Medium High

Very High

Very Low

In every region except Canada, a change in regulation is perceived to pose the greatest potential threat to firms. Other threats which are consistently seen as significant across different regions are campaign fraud, and the possibility of a notable increase in defaults. All these indicate concerns with legitimacy; platforms invest much in building up their user base and project portfolios, and negative experiences in the market can easily spill over across platforms who share the burden of educating the market and achieving its legitimacy and acceptance. Furthermore, since regulation is

ce ing										
9.G	Campaign Fraud	21%		13%		22%		40%)	5%
σø	Notable Increase in Default	7% 13%			34%			42%		4%
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	Collapse due to Malpractice	23%		13%		349	%		28%	3%
ark	Cyber-security Breach	4%	35%			13%	24%	, 0	24%	
M/d	Change in Regulation	3% 6%				73%			12%	6%
Cor Cor	Competition with incumbents and new entries	25%				38%			30%	5%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	7%		51%				27%	13	% 3%
	Campaign Fraud	26%			24%		24%		21%	4%
ലംഗ	Notable Increase in Default	10%	23%		24 /0	399			25%	3%
plac	Collapse due to Malpractice	17%	23 /0	29%		39,	70 37 0/		21%	5%
'Ket	Cyber-security Breach	13%		29 % 39%	/		21 /0	/	14%	9%
Mar				397	0	49%	245	0		
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	16%		0	8%	49%		35%	16%	12% 11%
<u> </u>	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	19%		<u></u> ు				33%	100	
	Emergence of TechFin firms	19%			37%			23%	16%	o <u>3%</u>
	Campaign Fraud			55%			8%	19%	11%	8%
ace ing	Notable Increase in Default	28%	b		17%		36%		11%	8%
end	Collapse due to Malpractice	17%	11%		23%			43%		6%
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	Cyber-security Breach	11%		36%			21 %	13%	19	9%
P/M	Change in Regulation	13%				63%			21%	2%
P2 Prc	Competition with incumbents and new entries	4%		44%				40%		9% <mark>2</mark> %
	Emergence of TechFin firms	18%			45%	6		14%	18%	5%
	Campaign Fraud	25%		14%		18%		0%	24%	
ы В С	Notable Increase in Default	21%		19%		21%		21%		9%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	Collapse due to Malpractice	25%		10 /0		40%		23%		10% ^{2%}
e St	Cyber-security Breach	20%		18%		200	2/2	18%		16%
anc	Change in Regulation				40%	2.5	/0	40%		4%
Bal	Competition with incumbents		9%		10 /0	51	5%	707	12%	7%
Ő	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms		16%		00	0/	570	35%		7%
	Emergence of reem minimis		10 /0			70		337	0	1 /0
	Campaign Fraud	24%			24%		21%		24%	6%
et ling	Notable Increase in Default	20%		15%		359	%		27%	3%
She	Collapse due to Malpractice	29%	, D			46%	6		18%	5% <mark>2%</mark>
S S								23%		70/
Č 83	Cyber-security Breach	<mark>3%</mark> 19%			38%	o		20 /0		7%
sines	Change in Regulation	<mark>3% 19%</mark> 6% 17%	6		307	6 45%		23 /0	26%	6%
Busines	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries		% 20%		36%		59%	23 /0		
Balan Busines	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	6% 17%	6 20%	20%	387		59%			6%
Balan Busines	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	6% 17% 17%	% 20%	20% 58%	387		59%		26%	6% 9% ^{2%}
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud	6% 17% 17%	6 20%	58%				3	26% 5%	6% 9% ^{2%} 5%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default	6% 17% 17%	6 20%		%				26% 5% 25%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice	6% 179 11% 18%		58% 67° 67°	%			3 8% 17%	26% 5% 25% 25%	6% 9% ^{2%} 5%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach	6% 179 11% 18% 		58% 679	%	45% 22%		3	26% 5% 25% 25%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	6% 179 11% 18%		58% 67° 67°	% % 8%	45% 22% %		3 8% 17%	26% 5% 25% 25% 8%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 17% 8% 17%		58% 67° 67°	% % 8%	45% 22% % 91%	8%	3 8% 17%	26% 5% 25% 25% 8%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9%		58% 67' 67'	% % 8%	45% 22% % 91%		3 8% 17% 58%	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 9% 9% 9% 9% 22% 22%	1;	58% 67' 67' 7%	% % 8%	45% 22% % 91% ; 24%	8%	3 8% 17% 58% 22%	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 22%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractic Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 9% 9% 9% 9% 22% 17%	1;	58% 67' 7% 11% 19%	% % 8% 67	45% 22% % 91%	8%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 22%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 22% 17% 15% 15%	1;	58% 67' 7% 11% 19% 38	% % 8% 67	45% 22% % 91% ; 24%	8%	3 8% 17% 58% 22%	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 25% 20%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 2%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 22% 17% 15% 17%		58% 67' 7% 11% 19% 38 27%	% % 8% 67	45% 22% 91% 24% 30%	8% 73% 33%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 20% %	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 13% 2%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 22% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11%	1:	58% 67' 7% 11% 19% 38 27%	% % 8% 67	45% 22% 91% 24% 30%	8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 20% 20 %	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 13% 2% 6%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries	6% 179 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 9% 9% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11% 11%		58% 67' 7% 11% 19% 38 27%	% % 8% 67	45% 22% 91% 24% 30% 30%	8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 20% %	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 11% 2% 6% 9%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 22% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11%	1:	58% 67' 7% 11% 19% 38 27%	% % 8% 67	45% 22% 91% 24% 30%	8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 20% 20 %	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 13% 2% 6%
Invoice Trading Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	6% 179 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 9% 9% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11% 11%	1: 1: 24% 17%	58% 67' 7% 11% 19% 38 27%	% % 8% 67	45% 22% 91% 24% 30% 30%	8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 20% 20% 19% 19%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 11% 2% 6% 9%
Invoice Trading Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 9% 9% 17% 15% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11% 11% 11% 25%	1: 1: 24% 17%	58% 67' 7% 11% 19% 38 27%	% % 8% 67	45% 22% 91% 24% 30% 30% 33 47% 36%	8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 25% 20% 40% 19% 19% 21%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 11% 2% 6% 9%
Invoice Trading Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 17% 9% 9% 9% 9% 17% 15% 17% 15% 11% 11% 11% 25% 13% 25%	1: 1: 24% 17%	58% 674 674 7% 11% 19% 27% 5	% 8% 67 3%	45% 22% 91% 30% 30% 33% 47% 36% 41%	8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21' 34%	26% 5% 25% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 25% 20% 21% 19% 21% 21% 21% 34% 19%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 8% 9% 9% 13% 11% 2% 6% 9% 6%
Invoice Trading Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice	6% 17% 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 17% 9% 9% 9% 9% 17% 15% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11% 25% 13% 26%	1: 1: 24% 17%	58% 674 674 7% 11% 19% 27% 5	% 8% 67 3%	45% 22% 91% 24% 30% 30% 33 47% 36%	8% 8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21	26% 5% 25% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 25% 20% 21% 19% 21% 21% 21% 34% 19%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 11% 2% 6% 9% 6% 9% 3%
Invoice Trading Balance Sheet Property Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents Emergence of TechFin firms Competition with incumbents Emergence of TechFin firms Competition with incumbents Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach	6% 179 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 9% 9% 17% 15% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11% 11% 11% 25% 13% 26% 16% 16%	1: 24% 17% 23%	58% 67' 67' 7% 111% 19% 27% 29% 29%	% 8% 67 3%	45% 22% 91% 30% 30% 33% 47% 36% 41%	8% 8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21 34% 21 34% 28% 28%	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 25% 20% 21% 19% 21% 21% 19% 21% 19%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 11% 2% 6% 9% 9% 9% 6% 9% 16% 13%
Debt-based Securities Invoice Trading Balance Sheet Balance Sheet Property Lending Business Lending	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Competition with incumbents and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default Collapse due to Malpractice	6% 179 11% 18% 18% 18% 17% 8% 9% 9% 9% 9% 17% 15% 17% 15% 17% 11% 11% 11% 11% 25% 13% 26% 16% 16%	1: 1: 24% 17%	58% 67' 67' 7% 111% 19% 27% 29% 29%	% 8% 67 3%	45% 22% 91% 91% 30% 30% 41% 41% 41%	8% 8% 73% 33% 7%	3 8% 17% 58% 22% 21' 34% 21' 34% 22% 26% 2% 34	26% 5% 25% 25% 8% 25% 25% 25% 20% 21% 19% 21% 21% 19% 21% 19%	6% 9% 2% 5% 8% 9% 9% 9% 13% 11% 2% 6% 9% 6% 9% 3%

Figure 1.36: Perceived risks of platforms by model-2018

Low Medium High

66

Very Low

Very High

more likely to be concerned with limitations towards mitigation of risks, rather than enablement of new innovation, resource constrained platforms are naturally concerned about increasing compliance costs and resource requirements.

By contrast, in almost every region potential threats linked to the growth of the alternative finance space, namely 'competition with incumbents and new entries' and 'the emergence of TechFin firms', are consistently seen as posing the least threat. This indicates an industry still at the growth stage, where opportunities abound, and saturation is far from being achieved.

Amongst respondents, the perception of different risks, and their relative significance, also varies depending on the activity being carried out.

Similar to the findings in the above chart on perceived risks in different regions, the possibility of a change in regulation is perceived as one of the most significant risks across all business models. It is seen as slightly less significant amongst platforms carrying out Invoice Trading and Debt-based Securities- but even amongst these categories more than half of platforms surveyed consider regulatory changes to be a medium or high risk.

Comparison of their relative perceived risks reveals how different types of platform perceive their own risk, depending on their business model. Invoice Trading, Balance Sheet Business Lending and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending are those most sensitive to risks, which corresponds with their relative higher dependence in traditional institutional investors. In each of these areas, more than 50% of firms ranked 6 out of the 7 possible risks as being medium, high or very high.

This is significantly different from non-investment models like Donation-based Crowdfunding firms, where only two possible risks, 'campaign fraud' and 'change in regulation', were noted by more than 50% of firms as having a risk level of medium or above. The absence of tangible or monetary returns, means that platforms experience less pressure of campaign performance and are more concerned about costs and image management.

Perception towards existing regulation

Globally, regulation is still a key challenge for the alternative finance sector. As was seen above, firms see changes to regulation as being their most significant potential threat. This section analyses in greater detail platforms' perception of regulation in their jurisdiction, breaking down their responses by region and business model (divided between Debt, Equity and Non-investment models).

Based on the 81% of observations for which relevant information was provided, we find that in the majority of regions analysed-namely the USA, the UK, Europe, Canada and the Asia-Pacific Region (excluding China)- over half of platforms across all business models perceive regulation in their jurisdiction to be both adequate and appropriate. In the UK and the USA this rises to over 70% of platforms considering their regulation to be adequate and appropriate. It remains unclear whether this is a reflection of the efforts regulators have put in to developing an appropriate regulatory system for alternative finance, or is this just reflecting the fact that most platforms reporting this information are indeed those that meet regulatory requirements and are hence operational.

Interestingly, there are only few similarities when comparing similar business models' perception of regulation across multiple regions. In Africa, only 41% of equity-based models consider regulation to be adequate and appropriate, compared to 90% of equity-based models in the Middle East. For debt-based models, however, this are almost totally reversed- only 46% of debt-based platforms in the Middle East consider their regulation to be adequate and appropriate, compared to 74% of those in Africa.

One trend that can be seen across different regions is that equity-based models are relatively less satisfied with existing regulation. In the UK, LAC, Europe, the Asia-Pacific Region (excluding China) and Canada, equity-based models all had close to 30% of platforms reporting that regulation was either absent or inadequate.

Across all regions, only a small proportion of platforms indicated that there was a need for specific regulation in their area. Where relevant, platforms were far more likely to consider regulation as excessive and too strict, rather than express a demand for new regulation in their area.

	Debt-based Models		74%					<mark>3%</mark>	5% 5	5%	8%	5%
Africa	Equity-based Models	41%	, 0	6%	6%	12%	, 0 10/	18%			18%	
4	Non-investment based Models		68%				170	11%	3%	1	1%	5%
	Debt-based Models		53%					24%		4%	6%	6 49
APAC	Equity-based Models		66%				4%	12%	3%	7%	6	9%
4	Non-investment based Models		80)%					5%	1	0%	3%
ŋ	Debt-based Models		50%				27%			18%		5%
Canada	Equity-based Models		67%						339	%		
0	Non-investment based Models		75%							25%	6	
دە	Debt-based Models	ebt-based Models 62% 4%						16%		12%	6	6%
Europe	Equity-based Models		67%				3%	1	5%	3%	9%	3'
ш	Non-investment based Models		68%				1%	9%	1	5%		7%
	Debt-based Models	44	1%		11%		15%	8%		16%		5%
TAC	Equity-based Models		52%			10%	10%	8%	4%		17%	
	Non-investment based Models		60%				3%	21%		3%	6%	7%
ast	Debt-based Models	4	6%				38%				15%	0
Middle East	Equity-based Models			90%)							10%
Mid	Non-investment based Models		76%)				3	<mark>% 3%</mark>	9%		9%
	Debt-based Models		8	83%						8%	3%	5%
Ж	Equity-based Models			84%					3	3% 3%	6 <mark>3%</mark>	3% <mark>3</mark> %
	Non-investment based Models		75%							25%	6	
	Debt-based Models		76%	, D					9%		9%	5%
USA	Equity-based Models		72%						25	5%		39
	Non-investment based Models			83%						4%	13	3%

Figure 1.37: Perception towards existing regulation-2018

Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities Excessive and too strict for my platform activities

No Specific Regulation and needed 👘 📕 Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

Extent of being regulated

Platforms' opinions on regulation is partially shaped by their relationship with the regulator in their jurisdiction. As seen in the above chart, in some jurisdictions there is no specific regulation covering platforms' activities, a trend especially seen among equity-based models. To explore this further, respondents were asked about the legal basis under which they operate.

Based on the 81% of observations for which relevant information was provided, we find that in all regions studied and across all business models, a proportion of platforms surveyed report that they do not require regulatory authorization for their activities. This proportion generally falls between 20-30% of platforms, with some notable exceptions- 48% of debt-based platforms in Canada, and 50% of non-investment models in the UK report they do not require any sort of authorization. Looking regionally, the Middle East is the main outlying area in this regard; between all business models only about 5% of all platforms report not being required to obtain authorizations. On a global level, a platform's business model does not seem to give a direct sign as to whether or not it requires authorization; 48% of debt-based models in Canada report that they do not require authorization, compared to 15% in the UK and in Africa.

However, the majority of platforms have some sort of relationship, whether directly or tangentially, with the regulator in their jurisdiction, as opposed to not requiring authorization. This includes those which report that they are directly authorised, those which report that they are not authorised but have an 'interim permission' to operate, and those which report that they are not authorised but have a relationship with a licensed third-party institution that acts as an agent.

By a large margin, the most common of these relationships is for platforms to be authorised in their jurisdiction. Firms operating under interim permissions is the next most common, especially for non-investment models. Only a small proportion of firms are not authorised but have a relationship with an authorised institution that serves as their agent. Nevertheless, there are strong differences between the same business model across different regions. For example, 63% of non-investment platforms in LAC are authorised, compared to 33% in the UK.



Figure 1.38: The extent of existing regulation-2018

My platform is authorised in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has a relationship with another licensed institution

(ie Appointed Representative) that serves as our agent

Regulatory Authorization is not required for my business activities

Regulatory Friendliness

Regulation has been often recognized as an important pillar in either enabling or constraining industry growth. In our analysis of the relationship between perceived regulatory adequacy and volumes per capita, we have only included countries with annual volumes higher than \$20 million. Furthermore, we only include countries where at least four platforms answered related questions. Accordingly, perceived regulation adequacy represents the relative share of platforms in country indicating regulation is "adequate and appropriate for my platform activities".

Our findings show a positive effect, where the more adequate national regulation is perceived to be by platforms the higher the per capita volumes in the same country.





Figure 1.39: Perceived Regulation Adequacy vs. Volume per Capita 2018 (Log Scale) Global - All Platforms

On a global level, this relationship is stronger in the case of non-investment models, and less strong in the case of investment models. Here, while regulatory requirements concerning non-investment models may be clearer and uncontroversial, the same cannot be said about investment models. Hence, the weaker association evident with respect to investment models may reflect a more varied interpretation of what constitutes adequate regulation in different jurisdictions. Furthermore, it may also reflect differences whereby some investment models may be properly regulated, while others are not. For example, in Denmark business lending is considered to be properly regulated, while equity and consumer lending are considered to not be properly regulated.



Figure 1.40: Perceived Regulation Adequacy vs. Volume per Capita 2018 (Log Scale) Global - Investment Platforms





Share of platforms indicating adequate regulation in country

2. A Regional Discussion on Europe & the United Kingdom

Chapter 2: A Regional Discussion on Europe & the United Kingdom

Total Regional Volume

There are definite indications in the data that the alternative finance market in Europe grew to new strengths in 2018. The total alternative finance market volume in the region reached \$18 billion in 2018. By way of comparison, the average growth rate between 2013 and 2018 was 69%. Though there was an exponential growth of 152% between 2013-14, from 2014 onwards the rate of growth, though positive, has been declining year on year (41% in 2016, 40% in 2017). However, in 2018, the growth rate has surpassed the previous year, increasing to 52%. While recent growth rates are lower, they remain significantly higher than those

observed in most other industries, and, moreover, the absolute volumes added year on year are dramatically increasing.

In each region, one country is the origin for a substantial proportion of the volume. The UK remains the main contributor to the European alternative finance volume, but this imbalance is decreasing as the volume in other European countries continues to rise. In 2015, the UK volume was 81% of the total European market. This market share, however, has continuously decreased since this point, reaching 73% in 2016, 68% in 2017 and 57% in 2018.





74

The UK online alternative finance total market volume showed sustained overall growth since 2015. Online alternative platforms operating in the UK intermediated over \$30 billion in funding in the past years. The market grew by 30% year-on-year in 2018, reaching \$10.4 billion compared to the \$8 billion of the previous year.





The total European alternative finance volume excluding the UK more than doubled from 2017 to 2018, reaching \$7.7 billion, up from \$3.8billion in 2017 and \$2.2 billion in 2016. The 2018 growth rate of 103% was back at the growth rate of 2016 (102%). Although the UK remained a robust alternative finance market, the rest of Europe has been catching up.

Three trends may be the cause of this development: UK platforms are increasingly active on the continent as well and are keen to establish footholds outside the British market given growing concerns over Brexit. In 2018, UK regulation, especially as it relates to P2P Lending, was under revision, and the underlying macro-economic changes had a

considerable impact on the loan portfolio of lending-platforms. Finally, the continental alternative finance market in Europe is growing, partially due to revisions to existing regulatory frameworks, but also in anticipation of the

European Crowdfunding Service Provider Regime, which will create harmonised legal framework across the continent for cross-border crowdfunding.



2015

2016

Figure 2.3: European Online Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2013-2018 in USD (Excluding the UK)

Total volume by internal EU designations

0.4

2013

0

The previous European Benchmarking Reports have shown significant disparities across regions within Europe in terms of the volume and number of platforms, but also in the ratio of debt-based and equity-based activities to the overall alternative finance volume in the region.

2017

2018



Figure 2.4: Regional Alternative Finance Volumes 2016-2018 USD

2014

The UK has been and continues to be the most significant contributor to European alternative finance market volumes, with 91% of the UK volume (\$9.3 billion) derived from debt-based models, 8% from equity-based models (\$870 million) and the remainder from non-Investment models (\$76.6 million).

On continental Europe, the markets show considerable diversity. Due to especially strong growth of debt-based models in the Netherlands, the Benelux region (Belgium, Netherlands, Luxembourg) ranks second with \$1.86 billion market volume. 2017 saw volumes in the Benelux region at only \$419 million, placing the region
fourth in Europe and demonstrating an impressive growth rate of 343% from 2017 to 2018. The growth rate overwhelmingly (98%) results from the growth of debt-based models (\$1.8 billion), while equity-based (1%, \$26 million) and non-investment (1%, \$17 million) account for the remaining volume. This is the first time volume in the Netherlands has exceeded \$1 billion.

Germany has had growth rates in the high double digits. From 2016 to 2017, the German market grew from \$356 million to \$672 million at 85%. From 2017 to 2018, the German alternative finance market grew to \$1.28 billion, at a growth rate of 90%. This volume makes it the third-largest volume in Europe after the UK and Benelux, the same position it held after the UK and France in 2017. Unlike the UK and the Benelux countries, only 69% of the total volume in 2018 is a result of debt-based activities (\$882 million). \$351 million (28%) have been raised on platforms intermediating equity instruments, \$42 million (1%) on non-investment models.

This report finds a similar pattern in France. \$647 million (70%) have been raised through debtbased models, \$225 million (24%) came through equity instruments, \$55 million (6%) through non-investment instruments. After the UK, France has the second-largest alternative finance market for non-investment instruments, i.e. Reward- and Donation-based Crowdfunding. Looking at the total market, France, which was in the second position in the year 2017, experienced only moderate growth in 2018. Despite this slower growth, French alternative finance activity will likely surpass the \$1 billion mark in 2019. In 2018, the combined volume of France and Monaco was \$934 million, a growth of 25.1% from \$747 million in 2017. From 2016 to 2017, France exhibited a growth of 48%, with the 2016 volume being \$493 million.

The Nordic countries (Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden) exhibited the fifth-largest alternative finance market volume in 2018. Having displayed a volume of \$357 million in 2016, their volume grew by 39% to \$507 million in 2017, and finally reached \$824 million in 2018 (a growth rate of 62%). As in Germany and France, equity-based instruments are relatively more important than in the UK, Benelux or the Baltic States. Debtbased activities measured \$632 million (77%) in all Nordic countries in 2018, equity-based instruments measured at \$169 million (21%), and non-investment instruments at \$22 million (3%). The two strong engines for Nordic growth are Finland and Sweden, accounting for 46% and 36% of regional volumes respectively.

The Baltic States of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania have created favourable business and regulatory environments, and have an advanced IT infrastructure which allows firms to scale up relatively quickly and at considerably lower costs. These three countries combined produced a volume of \$539 million in 2018, making them sixth-largest in Europe. This was due to a growth rate of 103%, and is more than double their volume of \$265 million in 2017, which itself followed earlier growth of 72% from a volume of \$151 million in 2016. The structure of the market is more consistent with that of the Dutch or the British market. \$529 million (98%) of the alternative finance market in 2018 came through debt-based instruments, only \$9 million (2%) through equity-based instruments.

In 2018, Italy grew by 95% to \$532 million, ranking Italy and Malta on the seventh place in Europe. Italy and Malta combined in 2016 had a similar alternative finance volume to that of the Baltic states, at \$141 million, which grew to \$272 million (89%) in 2017. The Italian market has a strong debtbased sector, with a volume of \$495 million in 2018 (93%). Equity-based instruments only contributed \$23 million (4%), and non-investment instruments only \$13 million (3%).

From 2017, the Iberian region of Spain, Portugal and Andorra grew at 127% to \$435 million, making it the 9th largest alternative finance market in Europe. In 2016, this region raised \$150 million, more than Italy and more than the Baltic States, then growing at 25% to \$191 million in 2017. The Iberian alternative finance market is more in line with the German, French or Nordic alternative finance market, partially because equity-based platforms have sought to increase their presence in Spain and Portugal. Equity-based models contributed \$50 million (12%), debt-based models contributed \$362 million (83%) and non-investment models contributed \$22 million (5%).

In this benchmarking report, the countries of Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Hungary are labelled as Eastern Europe. In 2018 their alternative market volume reached \$414 million. These markets exhibited a growth rate of 104% from \$202 million from 2017, a reduction in the previous 153% growth rate from \$78 million in 2016. Eastern European countries traditionally have a dominance of Donation-based Crowdfunding, with non-investment models contributing \$23 million (6%) to the overall volume, whereas equity-based models are negligible with \$3 million (1%). Debt-based models contribute \$387 million (93%) to the market in Eastern Europe, a noteworthy development in countries which have hitherto lacked a robust equity-based sector. The regional engine here is Poland, accounting for 80% of regional volumes.

An even more impressive growth rate was exhibited by the so-called CIS (Commonwealth of

Independent States) countries (Russia, Belarus, Ukraine¹⁷, Moldova, Armenia). In 2018, these countries accumulated \$388 million in alternative finance. In 2016, the report only captured \$6 million of alternative finance volumes, and in 2017 only \$37 million. These growth rates of 465% from 2016 to 2017, and 949% from 2017 to 2018, place the CIS countries as the 12th largest region in Europe in alternative finance in 2018. The accumulated volume is a result of a robust debtbased model, with \$385 million (99%) market share for such models. The market volumes of equitybased models, at \$1 million (<1%), and non-financial models, at \$2 million (1%), are negligible. At a state



77



level, most dramatic growth is recorded in Armenia, accounting for 47% of regional volumes due to the rapid emergence of a new debt-based market.

Georgia, which left the CIS in 2008, is analysed separately. In 2016, the alternative finance market in Georgia was \$114 million, growing to \$196 million in 2017 at a rate of 68%. In 2018, the country only raised \$193 million, a reduction of 1.4%. Similar to the CIS-countries, the alternative finance volume stems almost entirely from debt-based instruments (\$193 million), with only \$0.04 million in platform volumes being the result of non-financial instruments (<1%).

The South-East European Countries of Romania, Bulgaria, Greece, Turkey, Slovenia, Croatia, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Serbia, Montenegro, Macedonia, Albania, Cyprus and Kosovo (grouped under 'Balkans' in this report) had a joint alternative finance volume of \$188 million in 2018, growing at a rate of 268% from \$51 million in 2017. In 2016, this report captured only a volume of \$11 million, resulting in a growth rate of 361% towards 2017. Despite the relatively low total volumes, the data shows the dominance of debt-based models at \$181 million (96%). Equity-based models play a very minor role in these countries, amounting to only \$0.7 million in volume (<1%), while non-investment models contribute \$6 million (3%). Regional volumes here are mostly driven by the rapid growth in Cyprus, Bulgaria, and Slovenia, which account for 34%, 21%, and 19% of regional volumes respectively. Greece, on the other hand, continues a decline, falling 63% from 2017 volumes, which were already 23% lower than those recorded in 2016.

Austria, Switzerland and Liechtenstein, labelled as Central Europe in this report, only account for \$123 million in 2018. It is important to note that Swiss-based lending activities are not sufficiently captured in this report, primarily due to industry players who have declined to participate in this study over the years. As we are not able to verify the full scope of activity in Switzerland, we can only publish the findings from firms that have chosen to report. That said, other relevant industry reports point to a volume of more than 374 million CHF¹⁸. In Austria, debt activities denoted as Lendingbased Crowdfunding are not permitted. In 2017, the Central European countries reported an alternative finance volume of \$124 million, which would result in a negative growth rate. In 2016, the Central European alternative finance volume was measured at \$57 million. The missing lendingbased sector is also evidenced by the fact that the Central European lending (i.e. Swiss Lending) is reported at \$71 million (58%), whereas Austrian and Swiss equity-based models account for \$22 million (18%). Non-investment models (i.e. Rewardand Donation-based Crowdfunding) make up \$29 million (24%), the highest ratio measured across Europe.

Irish Platforms reported noticeably less volume in 2018 – only \$19 million, down by 83.5% from \$121 million in 2017 and \$85 million in 2016. 95% came from debt-based models (\$18 million), 5% from non-investment models (0.9m).

Total volume by model Excluding UK (2016-2018)

	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	\$2889.4 m	\$1570.3 m	\$771.2 m	\$406.1 m	\$364.9 m	\$208.6 m
Balance Sheet Property Lending	\$1378.4 m	*	*	*	*	*
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	\$996.8 m	\$526.2 m	\$387.5 m	\$235.4 m	\$123.7 m	\$52.6 m
Invoice Trading	\$803.0 m	\$604.3 m	\$278.7 m	\$89.5 m	\$8.8 m	\$1.2 m
Real Estate Crowdfunding	\$600.1 m	\$291.8 m	\$121.1 m	\$29.9 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m
Equity-based Crowdfunding	\$278.1 m	\$237.9 m	\$242.0 m	\$176.9 m	\$109.8 m	\$63.1 m
Reward-based Crowdfunding	\$175.4 m	\$179.1 m	\$211.1 m	\$154.6 m	\$159.9 m	\$83.8 m
Debt-based Securities	\$167.8 m	\$84.8 m	\$25.3 m	\$11.9 m	\$4.8 m	\$2.3 m
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	\$144.7 m	\$75.1 m	\$105.3 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	\$99.8 m	\$3.4 m	\$18.5 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m
Balance Sheet Business Lending	\$80.5 m	\$24.4 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m
Donation-based Crowdfunding	\$62.4 m	\$107.0 m	\$65.4 m	\$2.6 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m
Minibonds	\$42.8 m	\$59.9 m	\$35.9 m	\$24.1 m	\$21.7 m	\$14.9 m
Other	\$6.3 m	\$32.8 m	\$11.2 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m
Revenue Sharing	\$3.5 m	\$1.8 m	\$9.3 m	\$0.6 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m
Community Shares	\$1.6 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m	\$0.0 m

Table 2.1: Alternative Finance Volume by Model in Europe (Excluding UK) 2013-2018 (\$USD)



Debt-based alternative finance activities, especially from P2P Lending models, dominate the alternative finance markets across the globe. Europe, including and excluding the UK, is no exception to this phenomenon.

P2P consumer lending remains the top model in terms of volume, raising \$2.8 billion in Europe (excluding the UK). This volume has continuously seen substantial annual growth, having grown by 89% from 2017. In 2017, P2P Consumer Lending contributed \$1.5 billion to the total volume, while 2016 saw a volume of \$771 million. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, which barely raised \$3 million in 2017, grew to \$144 million in 2018, having started in 2016 with \$18 million.

The second-largest model in the European market excluding the UK, came from Balance Sheet Property Lending, which \$1.3 billion in 2018. This magnitude of volume was not anticipated, especially as this model was not included in previous European analysis and its emergence to the region is relatively recent. Most of this can be explained by the entry of a new dominant platform that has not provided data in previous years. And furthermore in previous reports, indications of balance sheet activities were reported alongside the P2P Property Lending model, with firms not differentiating their lending activity by model type. Through continuous discussion with market participants, it became necessary to carve out this model to reflect better how the sector was developing across the region. In fact, just over 50% of firms reported operating both models. Balance Sheet Property Lending is the second-highest volume driving model in Europe, excluding the UK. Interestingly, the other Balance Sheet Lending models have not seen this same level of growth or adoption in Europe. Activity based on the P2P Property model was the ninth-largest alternative finance volume in Europe, driving \$144 million in 2018. This is a considerable jump from 2017's \$75 million. Though an impressive year-onyear growth rate, property-based lending is very much driven by the Balance Sheet model.

P2P Business Lending in Europe has also grown by double digits, reaching \$996 million in 2018, up from \$526 million in 2017, a growth rate of 89%. Given the emphasis on business-focused funding, it is not surprising that these models continue to see rapid growth, especially from one year to another (having grown by 36% from 2016 to 2017). In 2017, it was reported that Invoice Trading experienced exponential growth, up 117% from 2016's \$279 million to a volume \$604 million. In 2018, this model accounted for the fourth-largest model, with a volume of \$802 million, a 33% increase in 2017. It should be noted that this growth seems to stem from rapid growth from a handful of platforms, rather than from new entrants, as was more prevalent in previous years.

Balance Sheet Business Lending raised \$80 million in 2018, from a lower starting point of \$24 million in 2017.

Real Estate Crowdfunding has also seen impressive increases, reaching triple-digit growth in the last three years to become the fifth-largest sector in the alternative finance market. Having started at \$121 million in 2016, the market grew to \$291 million in 2017 and \$600 million in 2018. As one of the fastest-growing models, with no indication of slowing down, it is worth considering some of the macro-economic factors which might be contributing to this model's growth. As indicated by PWC's 'Emerging Trends in Real Estate in Europe' 2019 report:

The combination of the late property cycle, the geopolitical uncertainty and the rising interest rate environment has reinforced the need for secure, long-term income. For many, the search for income is the main, guiding narrative for European real estate investment [...] with investors [trading] capital growth for rental stability and growth. [...]. Any asset getting a predictable level of income is in demand, and real estate is in that role. The demand side is still good; the ability to satisfy that demand is more variable.¹⁹

This model satisfies a retail investor's preference for investing into stable, income-producing assets.

In contrast to the Real Estate Crowdfunding model, the growth rates of Equity-based Crowdfunding, while positive, are at lower levels. In 2016, Equitybased Crowdfunding accounted for a volume of \$241 million, which declined to \$237 million in 2017 and has rebounded to \$278 million in 2018. Equity-based Crowdfunding, consisting of highrisk investments in early-stage startups, continues to see a migration of investors to other forms of alternative finance, but still ranks as sixth-highest alternative finance market volume.

Reward-based Crowdfunding in Europe (excluding the UK) continues its decline from previous years. In 2016, \$211 million was raised on Rewardbased Crowdfunding platforms, which declined to \$179 million in 2017 and \$175 million in 2018. Declining activity from this model seems to stem from an over-arching dampening of activity from large international platforms, rather than a decline in the activities of local/domestic serving firms. Furthermore, as regulation overseeing investment crowdfunding is amended in leading markets, both parties to transactions may find investment models more attractive as an alternative to Reward-based Crowdfunding. Fundraisers realise that higher sums can be raised via investment platforms than via reward platforms for more or less similar levels of effort. At the same time, some backers realise that their contributions can be converted to financial gains rather than consumption, and prefer the latter.

Debt-based Securities, similar to the types of lending-based Crowdfunding described above but in contrast to equity-based crowdfunding, has also reached a considerable market size of \$167m in 2018. Starting at \$25 million in 2016 and growing to \$84 million in 2017, its volumes are now the eighth-highest in the alternative finance market in Europe, excluding the UK.

Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms raised \$62 million in 2018, down from \$106 million in 2017, but on the level of their 2016 rate of \$65 million. We propose that this decline may be superficial as our figures do not include donation volumes raised via Facebook, which chose not the share these figures. Nevertheless, Facebook did release an estimate that between 2015 and 2019, close to \$3 billion was raised for personal fundraisers and nonprofit causes on Facebook.²⁰ In this respect, it is likely that Facebook is emerging as a formidable competitor to donation-based crowdfunding platforms.

Minibonds, which are mostly used in the Netherlands and France, raised \$42 million in 2018. Revenue Sharing models contributed \$6 million in 2018, declining from their 2017 volume of \$32 million. This seems to be stemming from a handful of key platforms that had operated this model in 2017 but have since pivoted away to either Equity Crowdfunding, or more traditional convertible notes (not included in our taxonomy). For the first time, this survey has captured the Community Share Models, which contributed \$1.5 million in 2018. Activity that could not be readily attributed to an existing model within our taxonomy was noted under 'other'.

Total Volume by Model (UK)

The largest alternative finance model in the United Kingdom was P2P Business Lending, accounting for \$2.5 billion in 2018. This was the first time that the data collection tool was able to include both P2P/ Marketplace and Balance Sheet activity as separate models. Of the 23 platforms that responded to the



Figure 2.6: 2018 UK Volume by Model Type (USD Billions)

P2P Lending model, four also indicated a significant proportion of their volume coming from the Balance Sheet Business model. This model accounted for \$855.2 million, amounting to a total of \$3.4 billion. It is worth noting, nearly 100% of volume from the Balance Sheet Business Lending model derived from institutional investors.

The second-largest model in the UK was that of P2P Consumer Lending, at \$2.1 billion. Aligned with this model is that of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (\$642.2 million), total consumer lending accounted for \$2.7 billion. There were 15 firms that denoted consumer lending activity, 2 of which operated both Balance Sheet and P2P consumer Lending. These two firms were headquartered outside of the United Kingdom. All other firms were headquartered in the United Kingdom. P2P Property Lending (\$1.8 billion) and Balance Sheet Property Lending (\$72.8 million) made up the third largest segment of the UK market, followed by Invoice Trading (\$854.5 million) and Debt-based Securities²¹ (\$529.8 million).

Turning to Equity models, \$485 million derived from Equity-based Crowdfunding platforms, \$265 million from Real Estate Crowdfunding and \$102.2 million from Revenue Sharing. There was minimal overlap from these models (with only 2 firms operating both models); and both Equity and Real Estate Crowdfunding were almost entirely headquartered in the United Kingdom, with minimal cross-border activity. In contrast, the firms reporting Revenue Sharing volumes were headquartered outside of the UK. Though smaller in volume, the Reward-based Crowdfunding (\$64.2 million) and Donation-based Crowdfunding (\$12.5 million), these models have significant fundraiser engagement, with large numbers of projects and campaigns. When considering small business fundraisers, the rewards model secured funding to a large number of firms.

Top Countries by Model

The following section will discuss the top 4 countries by each model type. The section will indicate individual countries, not entire regions, as the basis for analysis.

In P2P Business Lending and P2P Consumer Lending, the UK occupies the top spot, followed by Germany and France. Looking at the numbers displays the dominance of the British alternative finance ecosystem. The UK had a volume of \$2.5 billion in 2018, whereas Germany had \$161 million. France with \$148 million and the Netherlands with \$147 million have each around 6% of the British P2P Business Volume.

A similar situation can be seen in P2P Consumer Lending. The UK volume of \$2 billion in 2018 dominated the market. German consumer lending, with a single platform providing a large volume, amounted to \$651 million, or 32% of the British market. The French market had a volume of \$346 million (17% of the British market volume) and the Polish market volume was \$281 million (14% of the British market). The Polish lending market displayed a strong presence of lending-platforms based in the Baltic States and operating cross border. Polish market emergence replaces Georgia as the 4th largest market for P2P Consumer Lending in Europe, which held the position in 2017.

P2P Property Lending again sees the UK at the top, with a market volume of \$1.8 billion in 2018. Here Germany and France do not play a relatively active role. Instead, Denmark with \$51 million (3% of the British Market), Estonia at \$37 million (2%) and Spain at \$22 million (1%) can be found in the top four.

Balance Sheet Property Lending is one of only four markets where the UK is not the top contributor. While the Netherlands had a volume of \$1.3 billion, the UK's volume was only \$72 million, 5% of the Dutch market. Again, the strong presence of Dutch Balance Sheet Property Lending is part of the reason why the Benelux Market is so strong more broadly in this report.

When it comes to Balance Sheet Business Lending, the UK is the main contributor. \$855million in 2018 was raised on British platforms with this model. Dutch platforms of the same model raised \$63 million (7% of the British volume), Swedish Platforms raised \$6 million and German platforms \$5 million (both about 1% of the British Balance Sheet Business Lending).

Equity-based Crowdfunding in the UK is supported through a liberal regulatory framework and tax incentives which promote early-stage investments. Therefore, it is not surprising to find the British Equity-based Crowdfunding as having the highest volumes, at \$484 million in 2018. In the second



Figure 2.7: Top 4 countries in volume by model- 2018 (USD, Millions)

(82)

place, Finland, which also has a healthy ecosystem for startups, had an Equity-based Crowdfunding market volume of \$68 million, which is about 14% of the volume of British Equity-based Crowdfunding. Swedish Equity-based Crowdfunding ranks third with \$60 million (12%), and Spanish Equity-based Crowdfunding ranks fourth with \$48 million (10% of the British market),

Similar to Equity-based Crowdfunding, Invoice Trading sees the UK as the top contributor to the market. The UK market had a volume of \$854 million in 2018, but other countries also have active Invoice Trading markets. The Italian Invoice Trading market reached \$346 million, which is about 41% of the British Market. The third place is occupied by France - here the Invoice Trading market is about 15% of the British market, at \$127 million. The fourth place is held by Spain, whose volume of \$107 million is equivalent to 13% of the British market. The growth of France and Spain means they have overtaken Ireland and Belgium, which held the 3rd and 4th largest European market positions in 2017, but have experienced a significant decline in 2018, down 83% and 70% respectively.

Real Estate Crowdfunding is the second market in which the UK is not the top contributor. In this case, Germany contributed \$313 million to the market in 2018, followed by the UK with \$264 million (84% of the German market), France with \$189 million (60% of the German market), and Sweden with \$54 million (17% of the German market).

Revenue Sharing models can overwhelmingly be found only in the UK. The British Revenue-Sharing market stood at \$102 million in 2018, in stark contrast to the \$1.4 million seen in the Netherlands, \$1.3 million in France and \$0.6 million in Germany.

Reward-based Crowdfunding in the UK ranks first with \$64 million in 2018. However, the secondranking country, France, raised \$50 million through Reward-based Crowdfunding in 2018, followed by Switzerland with \$21 million and Spain with \$18 million. Germany, which was ranked 3rd largest European market for reward crowdfunding in 2017, saw a decline of 46% in volumes in 2018.

The third market where the UK is not the top contributor is Donation-based Crowdfunding. Germany has an extensive network of banks providing Donation-based Crowdfunding service, which resulted in a market volume of \$27 million. The UK ranked second with 12 million, while Norwegian platforms raised \$8 million and Polish Platforms raised \$5 million in 2018. Norway and Poland have overtaken the 3rd and 4th positions from France and the Netherlands, which held them in 2017 but saw a decline of 50% in volumes in 2018.

As discussed earlier, the volume for Mini-Bonds is small compared to other markets in Europe. The Netherlands contributed \$23 million to this market, France contributed \$14 million to this market, the Czech Republic followed with \$5m, and the UK with \$0.1m. The Mini-Bond-Market is the fourth sector where the UK was not the top contributor.

Alternative finance volume per capita

Even when controlling for market size, some countries that are large by market volume maintain top positions including the UK and the Netherlands, which reported per capita volumes of \$155.9 and \$104.83 respectively. Other European markets also rank on the global top 20 leaders in terms of volumes relative to population. These include the Baltic states, with a strong performance in Latvia, Estonia, and Lithuania who report per capita volumes of \$132.1, \$120.8, and \$48.9 respectively. Strong performance is also recorded in the Caucasus, which, as discussed previously, are mainly driven by Baltic-based platforms. Armenia and Georgia had \$62.4 and \$51.7 per capita volumes respectively. Finally, Finland leads the Nordic countries performance with \$68.7 per capita, while Sweden and Denmark close the top global performers list with \$29.3 and \$24.9 per capita volumes.

Market Dynamics

The vitality of alternative finance business funding

SME finance activity in Europe

Access to finance is a major reason why the European Crowdfunding Service Provider Regime was being discussed in the European Union in 2019. The trialogue partners of the European Commission, the European Council and the European Parliament have repeatedly declared how vital access to finance is for small- and medium-sized companies, and to foster growth and innovation. European Crowdfunding platforms, excluding the UK, raised \$2624 million for businesses in 2018. This amounted to a 140% year on year increase compared to 2017, and represents approximately 34% of all alternative finance raised in the region. This volume of SME focused finance has been increasing steadily over recent years, though declining in terms of absolute proportion of volume. By way of comparison, in 2016, business funding was 55% of the total volume, while in 2017 business funding was 49% of the total volume. Regardless, current figures may still underestimate actual volumes that go into SMEs as some consumer loans involve personal lending by entrepreneurs for business-related spending.

Figure 2.8: Total Alternative Finance Funding for Businesses USD (Excl. UK)



Funding for Business overwhelmingly stems from debt-based models – with \$2125 million being raised in this category. This accounted for 81% of all business funding. Equity-based models contributed \$438 million (or 17% of business funding) and Non-Investment Models \$61 million (2% of business funding).

Figure 2.9: Distribution of Alternative Finance by Category (USD)- 2018



UK-focused Business Finance

An emphasis on business finance can be seen in the UK alternative finance ecosystem. In 2018, \$6 billion (or 58% of the UK's total alternative finance volume) was raised for business borrowers, issuers and fundraisers, representing a 7% increase in the volume against the previous year.



Figure 2.10: Total UK SME Alternative Finance Volume (USD, Billion)

A case study from the UK - Equity Crowdfunding

Equity-based Crowdfunding has become a vital source of finance for seed, start-up, early stages and fast-growing companies seeking growth or expansion capital. The British Private Equity and Venture Capital Association's (BVCA) annual figures for 'total venture capital' and Beauhurst's Seed and Venture Stage figures for total equity investment funding in the UK show that Equitybased Crowdfunding is increasingly playing a more significant role in the provision of equity finance.

The figures below, shown in GBP, reveal that significant growth in equity-based finance in the UK continued in 2018. Beauhurst's figures suggest that Seed and Venture stage funding increased from £2.58 billion in 2017 to £3.17 billion in 2018 in the UK with a 23% year-on-year growth rate.

In absolute terms, the volume of Equity-based Crowdfunding is on an upward trajectory, growing from just £3.9 million in 2012 to £363 million in 2018, and the sector has become an established source of funding for Seed and Early Stage businesses. Despite the growth in absolute terms, equity crowdfunding platforms' share of all such equity funding in the UK dropped from 17.37% in 2016 to 12.91% in 2017. This trend continues in 2018 with a further drop in this share to 11.4%, which can be seen as a result of more rapid growth in conventional Seed and VC capital.



Figure 2.11: Equity-based Crowdfunding Volumes in the Context of Announced Total UK Seed and Venture Stage Equity (£millions)

Figure 2.12: Equity-based Crowdfunding as a Proportion of Total Seed & Venture Stage Equity Investment in UK 2012-2018 (Beauhurst)



While equity funding contributed to an essential proportion of business funding, it is dwarfed by SME lending acquired from traditional business lending channels in terms of absolute volume. The Bank of England estimates that £57.7 billion was lent to SMEs by national banks in 2018, which represents a 1.2% growth rate compared to last year's figure of £57 billion. UK Finance, on the other hand, estimates that £9.2 billion was lent to businesses with a turnover below £2 million, a marginal year-on-year increase, and another £13.2 billion to businesses with a turnover below £25 million.

In the UK, the P2P Business Lending industry has become an essential finance channel for business borrowers. In order to maintain consistency across our time-series analysis, the figure presented in the following charts refers to Business Lending activity from the P2P and Balance Sheet lending models. As this is the first year that participating firms could distinguish their specific model activity, we have combined the P2P Business and Balance Sheet Business volumes to account more accurately for this market.

By comparing the UK P2P Business Lending²² volume against that of the UK Finance annual estimate of new loans to SMEs, it has shown that online alternative business lending has increased its share of total lending steadily from just 0.3% in 2012 to 9.53% in 2017 to its highest level of 11.59% in 2018. This is because the growth rate of P2P lending in the UK was much higher than growth in traditional business lending channels. The P2P business market grew by 25% year-on-year in 2018, reaching £2.5 billion compared to the £2.04 billion of the previous year.



Figure 2.13: P2P Business Lending Compared to Bank Lending in the UK 2012-2018 (£billions)

Figure 2.14: P2P Business Lending as a proportion of Total New Loans to SMEs by banks in the UK 2012-2018



Assuming that the vast majority of borrowers in P2P business lending are, in fact, small businesses with an annual turnover of less than £2 million, the chart below shows that the volume of P2P Business Lending in the UK is estimated to be equivalent of

27.7% of all lending to small businesses in 2018. Therefore, P2P Business Lending is becoming an increasingly important contributor to overall finance of SMEs.





Institutionalisation

Platforms were asked what proportion of volume had been funded by an institutional investor, which is also indicative of the partnership of the platform with institutional investors. The 603 platforms with business activities in Europe had a weighted average of 29% of the volume being funded by institutional investors in 2018. Consequently, 71% of the volume is funded by non-institutional investors. Invoice Trading (73%), Debt-based Securities (60%), P2P Business Lending (55%) and P2P Property Lending (38%) platforms indicated that more than one-third of their volumes were funded through institutional investors. These investment instruments can be standardised across recipients of the funds and they can be incorporated into auto-bidding procedures for retail- and institutional investors. It is thus no surprise that platform business models have shifted towards greater openness for institutional investors. The high rate of institutional funding in Invoice Trading is consistent with previous reports (2015: 37%; 2016: 68%; 2017: 48%). However, the 2018 proportion of institutional funding in P2P Business Lending is significantly higher than that reported in previous years (2015: 28%; 2016: 29%; 2017: 24%), indicating that the shift of business models is most significant in P2P Business Lending. P2P Property Lending has had varying rates of institutional funding in the past(2016: 46%; 2017: 1%), indicating that business models in P2P Property Lending space are still under considerable redesign.

By contrast, low portions of institutional investors are seen in Reward-based Crowdfunding (4%), Donation-based Crowdfunding (10%) and Equitybased Crowdfunding (16%) platforms, perhaps because the projects involved are not suited to institutional investors, involving either noninvestment activities or high-risk investments (e.g. equity). Furthermore, the fundraising cases on such platforms allow limited room for standardisation across projects. Most institutional backing on noninvestment platforms takes the form of corporate social responsibility matching funds, and do not represent the core value creation activities of such institutional entities.

It is somewhat surprising that P2P Consumer Lending (18%) and Real Estate Crowdfunding platforms (16%) report low rates of institutional investment since it is relatively easier to standardise both instruments. Institutional funding of P2P consumer lending has varied significantly - from 12% in 2017, via 26% in 2015, to 45% in 2016. However, this can be explained by dramatic growth in volumes that dilute the share of institutional investments despite growth in absolute figures. Equally, Real Estate Crowdfunding reported only 9% of institutional funding in 2016 and 2% institutional funding in 2017. Both represent cases where incumbents have limited interest for engagement, as both models compete with more than they supplement existing channels for funding requests with acceptable risk levels, or deemed too risky in cases of higher risk funding requests.



Figure 2.16: Institutionalisation rate by model-2018

Institutional funding varies significantly across regions. The weighted average is 34% institutional funding across 634 platforms (or platform branches) linked to European regions. Italy (2018: 90%, 2017: 45%), Benelux (2018: 88%; 2017: 20%) and Germany (2018: 64%; 2017: 5%) all report that more than half of alternative finance volumes came from institutional investors, a significant increase from previous years.

Countries with small portions of institutional funding include the CIS countries (2018: 2%; 2017: 1%), as well as those in Central Europe (2018: 4%; 2017: 6%), Eastern Europe (2018: 5%; 2017: 5%), and the Baltics (2018: 5%; 2017: 3%), which all consistently report single digit proportions.

Such markets are either characterized as higher risk transition economies (such as in wider Eastern Europe and the CIS), or those with exceptionally strong traditional banking sector (such as Switzerland).

In certain regions, the rate of institutional investors is increasing steadily, such as France (2018: 10%; 2017: 6%); the Balkans (2018: 24%; 2017: 10%) or



Figure 2.17: Institutionalisation by region-2018

the Iberian countries (2018: 29%, 2017:18%). Such environments were relatively little affected by the previous financial crisis, and thus may represent markets where traditional financial institutions serve as trust facilitators. This is an example of how institutional engagements in alternative finance can both enable and have a more significant influence on how the alternative finance market develops.

Market developments

Innovation

Platforms continue to develop their business model, but compared to 2017, the market seems to have settled in 2018. The anticipation of the European Crowdfunding Service Provider Regime caused platforms to postpone structural changes in the platform in 2018.

In Ireland, 57% of the platforms reported changes in the business model, while in the UK, 53% indicated changes in the business model.

By contrast, in continental Europe the percentage of platforms which either report significant or slight business model changes decreased from 2017 to 2018 in almost every country. The CIS countries (2018: 10%, 2017: 63%) reported the most drastic decrease of business model alteration, but significant decreases were also seen in the Baltics (2018: 22%; 2017: 36%), the Balkans/South East Europe (2018: 25%; 2017: 50%), the Benelux countries (2018: 26%; 2017: 50%), the Iberian countries (2018: 32%; 2017: 38%), the Nordic countries (2018: 35%; 2017:51%), Georgia (2018: 40%; 2017: 60%), France (2018: 47%; 2017: 53%), Central European countries (2018: 49%; 2017: 53%) and Eastern European countries (2018: 49%; 2017: 57%).

Only the ratio of German platforms reporting business model change has increased over the past year, from 43% in 2017 to 48% in 2018. Some of this may be traced to a significant liberalisation of the prospectus regime in Germany in 2018, which caused platforms to change their business model.

The report finds a similar trend regarding changes in the products and services offered. In comparing 2017 and 2018, a drastic reduction in percentage of platforms with new products and services can be seen in Georgia (2018: 13%; 2017: 66%), the CIS countries (2018: 17%; 2017: 75%), the Baltics (2018: 28%; 2017: 71%) and the Balkans / South-East Europe (2018:36%; 2017: 68%).

Approximately half of the platforms either introduced new products and services or altered existing products and services in Germany (2018: 48%; 2017: 58%), the countries of Eastern Europe (2018: 48%; 2017: 62%); Central Europe (2018: 49%; 2017: 80%); and the Nordics (2018: 51%; 2017: 72%).

France (2018: 63%; 2017: 85%) and the Benelux (2018: 64%; 2017: 90%) reported that more than half of the platforms changed their products in 2018. This still marks a decrease from higher numbers in 2017.



Figure 2.18: Changes to business model by region-2018

We significantly altered our business model in 2018 We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





Only the Iberian countries (2018: 47%; 2017:45%) and Italy (2018: 61%; 2017: 59%) reported that more platforms changed their products and services in 2018 as opposed to 2017.

Research & Development

In terms of research and development efforts, the

data does not report any significant differences in innovation across models when looking at all R&D initiatives. On average, 11% of the platforms in each model focus on a particular area of innovation. However, the report finds differences in the area of innovation prioritised by different platforms. Across models, 20% of all platforms report that 'Process streamlining and automation' is a priority. More than a quarter of Invoice Trading (27%) and P2P Consumer Lending (26%) platforms have indicated that this is a focus of innovation.

Across models, 16% of all platforms report that customer verification is an important innovation area. Again, more than a quarter of Invoice Trading (31%) and P2P Consumer Lending (27%) platforms have indicated activities in this field.

The focus shifts when analysing 'Artificial intelligence and performance enhancement features', which 16% of platforms prioritise. Twothirds of Balance Sheet Business Lending platforms (67%) report activities in this area. A significant proportion of platforms conducting Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (25%), Balance Sheet Property Lending (21%) and P2P Consumer Lending (19%) have indicated that AI-activities are of importance to the platforms. Equally crucial to platforms is customer verifications. 16% of platforms report this activity as a relevant R&D category. A significant proportion of platforms offering Invoice Trading (31%) and P2P Consumer Lending (27%) put an emphasis on developing their innovations in this field.

The other areas of innovation warrant less attention of the industry. Payment processing is essential for slightly more than a quarter of Invoice Trading platforms (27%), and for slightly less than one-sixth of P2P Business Lending platforms (14%), P2P Property Lending (14%), Balance Sheet Property Lending (14%), Debt-based Securities (14%), Realestate Crowdfunding (14%) and Revenue-share models (14%).

Every tenth platform indicated that social media and fundraiser tools are a priority. Looking specifically at Reward-based Crowdfunding, 19% of platforms indicated that this activity is part of their research agenda, which tops all other innovation areas Reward-based Crowdfunding.

	Payment processing	Customer verification	Process streamlining and automation	Artificial intelligence and performance enhancement features	Community management features and tools	Social media and fundraiser promotional tools	Customer relationship management systems	E-learning features for users	Gamification features for user engagements
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	8%	27%	26%	19%	2%	6%	6%	2%	5%
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	14%	19%	22%	11%	5%	9%	13%	1%	5%
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	14%	21%	22%	11%	3%	9%	13%	1%	6%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	7%	14%	11%	25%	11%	7%	7%	11%	7%
Balance Sheet Business Lending	0%	17%	17%	67%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	14%	7%	21%	21%	7%	14%	7%	7%	0%
Invoice Trading	27%	31%	27%	7%	0%	2%	5%	0%	0%
Debt-based Securities	14%	16%	22%	6%	13%	12%	14%	1%	1%
Equity Crowdfunding	12%	15%	17%	6%	13%	12%	13%	4%	8%
Real Estate Crowdfunding	14%	14%	22%	8%	10%	13%	13%	3%	2%
Revenue Sharing	14%	9%	18%	14%	18%	14%	9%	5%	0%
Reward Crowdfunding	12%	11%	16%	4%	16%	19%	9%	8%	5%
Donation Crowdfunding	14%	13%	14%	6%	14%	14%	7%	6%	12%

Table 2.2: Actively Pursued R&D Initiatives in 2018 by Platforms (by Model)

Community management tools are of high importance to revenue sharing (18%) and rewardbased (16%) platforms, indicating the need to continue being innovative in mobilising external communities for this model of crowdfunding. 9% of all platforms indicated that this is a priority. Customer-relationship management is a focus of 9% of all platforms, with Debt-based Securities (14%), P2P Business Lending (13%), P2P Property Lending (13%, Equity-based Crowdfunding (13%) and Real-estate Crowdfunding (13%) prioritising activities in this field. This may be a result of a relatively small share of repeat fundraisers using the same service, but seems to run counter to the logic of harnessing the value of backers by mobilising existing backers to contribute to future fundraising calls.

Surprisingly, e-learning features are only prioritised by 4% of all platforms, with Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (11%) and Balance Sheet Property Lending putting a relatively higher focus on this activity than the rest of the models. This may be counter to platforms' interests in enhancing successful use of their services, as well as in achieving efficiency gains from reduction of customer support thanks to e-learning features that may fulfill such needs. At the same time, it is possible that platforms do not want to invest in a public good, such as public education, that may serve users using other platforms as well.

Gamification features for user engagement are not a priority for platforms (4% of platforms report activities here), except for 12% of donationbased platforms, which otherwise focus on payment processing (14%), process streamlining (14%), community management (14%), customer verification (13%). This may be a result from growing competition from Facebook, where platforms are required to develop higher levels of engagement to attract sufficient activity from a dominant social media platform.

Internationalisation

Inflows & outflows

Cross-border flows in alternative finance were initially weak when the first platforms arrived. However, some regions have seen large proportions of cross border flow, intertwining the distinct alternative finance markets.

The CIS Countries reported 96% inflows and 95% outflows on average in 2018 (2017: 100% inflows, 87%: outflows), the highest numbers on the continent. Consequently, 95% of platforms in the CIS countries reported a global website and brand in their internationalisation strategy. This may be explained by the fact that most platforms operating in the CIS are headquartered outside of it. Eastern European countries reported the second-highest ratio of inflows at 89% and the second-highest outflow ratios at 88% (2017: 91% inflows and 76% outflows). Eastern European platforms specified that 67% have a global website and brand as part of their internationalisation strategy. The Baltic States indicated a ratio of 86% inflows and 86% outflows (2017: 83% inflows and 72% inflows), placing Estonia, Lithuania and Latvia in third place. In these countries, 67% of all platforms listed a global website and brand as their primary business presence. All three regions (CIS, Baltics, Eastern Europeans) share a market perspective driven by the need to scale quickly across the European continent because home markets are either too small or lack enough development. In particular, these markets are also associated with relatively lower levels of social trust, as well as rates of adoption of e-services explaining lower share of domestic flows. However, international flows may be explained by money transfers from diasporas residing in more prosperous European countries, as well as from foreigners identifying the potential for higher return investments in growing Eastern European economies compared to sluggish growth in more developed European economies.

Germany occupies the other end of this spectrum. Ranking 12th, the German inflow in 2018 was only 3% and the outflow measured at less than 1% (2017: 6% inflows, 2% outflows). This finding is consistent with evidence that German investors make up a large portion of the investor base of Baltic platforms (which are captured by inflow measures there), but the German platforms have relatively low levels of non-German projects. A direct consequence of regulation in Germany makes cross-border transactions unfeasible to the platforms. 42% of German platforms reported that they had no internationalisation strategy, while only 23% had a global platform and brand. 23% of the German platforms indicated that they had a global brand with localised web presences often in neighboring German speaking countries such as Austria and Switzerland.

France exhibits a similar trend. 27% of the platforms reported having no internationalisation strategy, and a mere 24% of the platforms have a global website and brand. 22% listed web localisation with a global brand, 23% web localisation with a local brand as their business strategy. Consequently, inflows in France, ranking 10th, were at 7%. Outflows were at 18% ranking seventh (2017: 8% inflows, 1% outflows). Both Germany and France are representative of markets that have sufficient volumes to sustain platforms without forcing them to internationalise their business. Both these markets represent relatively large domestic markets that have not been fully tapped into, and hence may exhibit less interest in international expansion for the time being.

Before discussing differences in inflows and outflows across models, it is worthwhile to note a few regions with drastic changes in inflows and outflows from 2017 to 2018. Italian platforms reported 30% inflows and 12% outflows in 2018. However, in 2017, Italian platforms listed 67% inflows and 7% outflows, which is an indicator of Italian platforms also presenting investment opportunities abroad, as well a reduced attractiveness of Italian platforms to foreign investors. 39% of Italian platforms had a global website and brand, while 39% of the platforms had no internationalisation strategy. This may reflect that domestic interest in Italian platforms has increased following earlier successful fundraising that was fuelled by more significant international contributions, which enhanced the legitimacy and trust of domestic users in these platforms.

The Benelux countries reported an inflow rate of 5% and an outflow rate of 1% in 2018, after reporting 38% inflows 19% outflows in 2017. 43% of platforms based here have no internationalisation strategy, while 41% of the platforms stated a global website and brand. This result is due to the significant presences of specific debt-based models in the Dutch market, which tend to reduce inflows and outflows.



Figure 2.20: Inflow rate and Outflow rate by sub-region- 2018

Rates of inflows and outflows by the business model are indicative of their dependency on crossborder transactions. For instance, the average ratio of P2P Consumer Lending platforms in 2018 was 59%, while the average outflow ratio was also 59% (2017: 84% inflows, 80% outflows). The reduced ratios from 2017 to 2018 indicate that domestic markets for consumer lending grew. In 2017, 69% of the platforms had a global website and brand; in 2018, this number declined to 54%.



Figure 2.21: Inflow rate and Outflow rate by model- 2018

The same trend is evident in other models. P2P Property Lending platforms only reported 19% inflows and 2% outflows in 2018 (2017: 48% inflows; 51% outflows). In 2017, 70% of the platforms reported a global website and brand, which remained high (at 67%) in 2018.

Real-estate Crowdfunding platforms listed 7%

inflows and 6% outflows (2017: 6% inflows; 4% outflows). Only 33% of the platforms reported having a global website and brand strategy in 2017, which decreased to 29% of the platforms in 2018. Therefore, the market dynamics had a bigger impact on inflow and outflow than platform strategies.

Internationalisation Strategy







Figure 2.23: Internationalisation Strategy by model-2018

Financial Inclusion

Banking Status of Borrowers

Approximately two hundred fifty platforms operating in Europe provided information about the status of their borrowers. Unbanked costumers are rare, with the exception of Baltics and Italy where they account for 8% of borrowers. In four regions in Europe, underbanked costumers represent 15% or more. These include Iberia (15%), Baltics (21%), Italy (26%), and Eastern Europe (31%). Central Europe and Germany stand out as serving only banked costumers.



Figure 2.24: Banking Status by Model and Region

Income-based

Platforms in different European regions reported different average levels of income status of their customer base. Bottom-income customers represent less than 5% of users in all regions except for Germany (6%), whereas in the Balkans they are not represented at all. Low-income customers are also underrepresented, accounting for less than 15% in all regions apart from the UK (16%) and Nordics (22%). Eastern Europe and Iberia are two regions in which more than half of funders or loan sponsors fell into high-income, with 54% and 73% respectively. Platforms in Europe, thus far, mainly catered to individuals from middle-incomes.

In most regions, it seems that high income funders are overrepresented vis-a-vis their relative share in society. This can be because they are either more financially educated and able, because regulation favors their involvement in investments, or because platform policies are biased towards this segment. Regardless, such findings may indicate that, for the time being, alternative finance is only partially living up to its promise of democratizing finance by providing wider access to new investment channel to most people.



Figure 2.25: Income Status by Region

Gender-based

Female Funder and Fundraiser

The report asked European platforms to indicate the proportion of female stakeholders using their firms' services in order to assess the role alternative finance currently has on women's financial inclusion. Female market participation differs between different alternative finance models, as well as between the proportion of female fundraisers and funders.

In both Donation-based and Reward-based Crowdfunding, the female participation rate is higher than male, concerning both fundraisers and funders.

When reviewing models with a financial return, women participation as funders accounts for more than one third only in platforms conducting P2P Consumer Lending (40%), Real-Estate Crowdfunding (36%), and P2P Business Lending (34%). The proportion of female funders is less than 30% for all remaining financial-return models, including P2P Property Lending (26%), Debt-based Securities (27%), and Equity Crowdfunding (18%). Such distribution corresponds well with historical research which consistently finds that women exhibit greater caution and lower risk tolerance in comparison to their male counterparts.

The proportion of female-led campaigns remains below one third for all financial-return models. When reviewing the key debt-focused models, the proportion of female borrowers was 31% for Debt-based Securities, 28% for P2P Property Lending, 24% P2P Consumer Lending, and 19% for P2P Business Lending. Similarly, only 22% of campaigners were female in Real-Estate Crowdfunding. Equity Crowdfunding remains the model with the lowest participation of women fundraisers of 14%. While this corresponds well with earlier research showing a lower share of females in entrepreneurial populations, it remains surprising because research also shows that female entrepreneurs are faced with greater challenges in access to finance from traditional channels.





Female Funder and Fundraiser

When comparing the participation of women as funders across different regions in Europe, differences are pronounced. In the Balkans and Eastern Europe, female participation as funders was around 50%, followed by Benelux countries (43%), France (42%), and the Nordics (42%). In all other European regions, women accounted for about one third or below of all funders. Participation rates may be affected by the different distribution of alternative finance models across regions, with Balkans and Eastern Europe being dominated by Donation-based and Reward-based Crowdfunding. In addition, high shares of female participants in the Nordics and Benelux, which are dominated by investment models, can be linked to higher gender egalitarianism and equality characterizing such cultures.

The proportion of female fundraisers is below one third in all regions. UK and Germany took the lead with 31% and 26% of female-led campaigns, respectively. The Italian data captured the lowest level of female fundraisers at merely 11%. Female participation as fundraisers also remained below 20% in Central Europe, Eastern Europe, France, and Iberia.



Figure 2.27: Female fundraisers and funder rates by sub-region

Risk & Regulations

Perception of Risk

Platforms in Europe were asked to rank seven riskfactors as related to their platform's operations. Overall, a notable increase in defaults is a crucial challenge for the continued development of the European alternative finance sector. It presented the highest or the second-highest risk in all regions except France. All platforms in Ireland, 68% in the Nordics, 62% in Iberia, 55% in Italy, and 50% in Eastern Europe and CIS described this factor as 'high' or 'very high'. Another notable concern among European platforms is cyber-security, indicated as a 'very high' or 'high' risk by more than one-third of platforms in the Balkans, CIS, France, Germany, Ireland, and the UK. Both concerns are unsurprising, as most platforms represent new players seeking market legitimacy, and are facing extreme scrutiny by authorities, the media, and users. In such delicate phases of industry development, failure associated with defaulting or cybersecurity violations can cause considerable damage to industry and platform image, beyond any actual proportion to the specific financial risks involved.

Platforms in the Balkans, Benelux, CIS, Eastern Europe and the Nordics are primarily preoccupied with two risk factors- a notable increase in defaults and cyber-security risk. 41% of platforms in the Baltics, 36% in the UK, and 33% of platforms in Central Europe also fear the risk of collapse due to malpractice. Campaign fraud was noted as 'high' or 'very high' risk by 57% of platforms in Ireland, 35% in Iberia, and 34% in Italy.

In contrast to results from previous years, changes to regulation are among the top risks only in France and Germany, with 36% of German and 29% of French platforms perceiving regulatory changes as 'high' or 'very high' risk. This may be due to the expected European Crowdfunding Service Provider (ECSP) regime that both clarifies and harmonises regulation. In this respect, the two markets dominated by domestic platforms in countries where regulation has already been amended to a degree, may fear both increased international competition, or harshening of laws as a result of intra-European negotiations on harmonised law. The perception of risk is relatively divergent across different alternative finance models in Europe. A risk factor of significant importance for debtbased models is a notable increase in defaults. 70% of Invoice Trading, 55% of P2P Consumer Lending, 38% of Balance-sheet Lending, and 33% of P2P Business Lending platforms reported this risk as 'very high' or 'high'. Campaign fraud is another important risk factor, with more than half P2P Consumer Lending, Balance-sheet Property Lending and Invoice Trading platforms describing it as 'very high' or 'high'. All three P2P models also fear a collapse due to malpractice of one of their competitors - 67% of P2P Property platforms (67%) expressed this concern. In contrast, Balance-Sheet Lending models are preoccupied with cyber-security — more than one-third of platforms operating each of the three models reported their serious concerns.

	Campaign Fraud		43%		2%	35%			20%
	Notable Increase in Default	30)%	14%		30%		27%	
s	Collapse due to Malpractice		35%		24%		20%		20%
Balkens	Cyber-security Breach	15%		44%		4%	15%	2	2%
Ba	Change in Regulation	9% 2%			72%				1% 6%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	24%			51%			22%	4%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	23%			55%	1		9%	13%
	Campaign Fraud		38%		21%	9%		24%	9%
	Notable Increase in Default	14%	00 /0	50	%	378		29%	7%
	Collapse due to Malpractice	12%	21%		26%			38%	3%
Baltics	Cyber-security Breach	9%	,,	49%		17	%	17%	9%
Ba	Change in Regulation	17%			60%		~	9%	14%
	Competition with incumbents	19%			58%			2	3%
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	13%			58%			29%	570
								2070	
	Campaign Fraud	25%		22%		29%		20%	4%
	Notable Increase in Default	16%		37%		18%		26%	3%
xn	Collapse due to Malpractice	8%		42%			84%		16%
Benelux	Cyber-security Breach	6%	31%			37%		18%	8%
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	8%	29%			45%			18%
	and new entries	15%		33%			49%		3%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	13%		33%		38	%		15%
	Campaign Fraud		38%		11%		38%		11% <mark>2%</mark>
ē	Notable Increase in Default	18%		24%		47%	, 0		12%
Central Europe	Collapse due to Malpractice	16%		33%		18%		33%	
alE	Cyber-security Breach	8%		43%		22%		12%	16%
Centi	Change in Regulation	13%			60%			21 %	6%
0	Competition with incumbents and new entries	4%	39%			41%			14% <mark>2%</mark>
	Emergence of TechFin firms	8%	35%	%		29%		27%	
	Campaign Fraud			60%			40%		
	Notable Increase in Default		50%	, D			50%	, D	
	Collapse due to Malpractice		40%			40%			20%
CIS	Cyber-security Breach			60%			20%		20%
	Change in Regulation	20%			60%				20%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries		40%				60%		
	Emergence of TechFin firms		40%				60%		
	Campaign Fraud	22%		28%		22%		22%	6%
	Notable Increase in Default	29	%	21	%		46%		4%
Eastern Europe	Collapse due to Malpractice	12%	26%			38%		24	
n Eu.	Cyber-security Breach	6%	37%			26%		20%	11%
ster	Change in Regulation	3% 6%		6	3%			20%	9%
Еа	Competition with incumbents	18%			58%			21%	3%
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	12%			61%			24%	3%
	0		1/-	ry Low	ow Medi		Very Hi	ich	
			Ve	IYLOW	w Miedi	um High	very H	IRII	

	Campaign Fraud	24%		25%		29%		20%
	Notable Increase in Default	18%			65%			15%
1)	Collapse due to Malpractice	17%	13%		46%			20%
שורש	Cyber-security Breach	<mark>2%</mark> 25%			39%		31%	
	Change in Regulation	14%	12%		45%		25%	6
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	16%		41%			39%	2
	Emergence of TechFin firms	32	%		30%		30%	9%
	Campaign Fraud	31	%		29%		36%	
	Notable Increase in Default		36%		27%		36%	
-	Collapse due to Malpractice	13%	36	%		23%	2	6%
00111010	Cyber-security Breach	9%	43%	b		30%		17%
5	Change in Regulation	19%		45	%		32%	
	Competition with incumbents	11%		54%			28%	
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	19%		43%)		26%	13%
	Construction I	21%	440/		040/		32%	
	Campaign Fraud	10%	29%		34%	52%	32.76	100
	Notable Increase in Default				260/	52%	000/	109
	Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach	21% 13%	13%	44%	36%	15%	26% 15%	13%
					070/	1578		
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	3% 8% 16%			67% 55%		15	0% 8
	and new entries						23%	
	Emergence of TechFin firms	16%		52	70		16%	10%
	Campaign Fraud	14%	29%			43 %		14%
	Notable Increase in Default			75%				25%
5	Collapse due to Malpractice	14%	29%		29	9%	14%	14%
	Cyber-security Breach	14%	29%		14%		43%	
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	14%	14%			71%		
	. and new entries		3%			67%		
	Emergence of TechFin firms	3	3%			50%		17%
	Campaign Fraud	14%	31%		22%	6	28 %	
	Notable Increase in Default	15%	30%	, D		45%		10%
	Collapse due to Malpractice	19%	14%		42 %			25%
	Cyber-security Breach	3%	36%			39%		17%
	Change in Regulation	9%		60%			31	%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	7%		59%			22%	11%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	4%	52%)		19%		26%
	Campaign Fraud	8%	40%			38%		14%
	Notable Increase in Default	^{2%} 23%	6%	18%	0		50%	
	Collapse due to Malpractice	20%		4	17%		20%	8%
	Cyber-security Breach	6%		61%			16%	13%
	Change in Regulation	<mark>3%</mark> 18%			62%			12%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	30%	6		38%		20%	13%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	15%			59%		12%	14%
	Campaign Fraud	23%	16	6%	34	%	21	%
	Notable Increase in Default	21%	15%		28%		25%	11%
	Collapse due to Malpractice	16%	14%		33%		30%	
	Cyber-security Breach	8%	26%		29%		28%	8
	Change in Regulation	13%	17%		51%			17%
	Competition with incumbents	17%		43%			34%	
	and new entries				010/		29%	
	Emergence of TechFin firms	319	<u> </u>		31%			9%

Figure 2.29: Perceived risks of platforms by region - 2018 (France, Germany, Iberia, Ireland, Nordics, UK)

00	Campaign Fraud Notable Increase in Default	18% 2% 9%	11%	18%			51% 51%		4% 4%	
Consumer Lending	Collapse due to Malpractice	21%	8%		33%		01/0	37%		
er Le	Cyber-security Breach	2170	39%		6%	25%		29%		
	Change in Regulation	3%	0070		90%	20 /0		2070	4% 3%	
	Competition with incumbents		0%			5%		25%	470 07	
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms		, 1 0	65%	-	0,0		25%	4%	
	-				000/				,	
	Campaign Fraud		81% 05%		28%		19%	22%	0 2'	
2 IIIN	Notable Increase in Default		25%	,	36%	05%		31% 26%	7%	
	Collapse due to Malpractice Cyber-security Breach	11% 9%	32%	53%		23%	24%	20 %	1% 3%	
	Change in Regulation			. 55 /6	63%		247/0	14%	8%	
202	Competition with incumbents	16%		51	1%			23%	10%	
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	22%			43%		21%	20 70	13%	
	-			000/				100/		
	Campaign Fraud	1=0/	00/	60%	==0(7%	6 17%		7%	
2 IIIIn	Notable Increase in Default	17%	3%		57%	F70 (13%	10%	
Ų	Collapse due to Malpractice	10%	23%	470/		57%	470/		10%	
רו טובו ען בנושוווצ	Cyber-security Breach	7%		47%	700/	13%	17%		10% 20	
5	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	10%		64%	76%			200/	10% <mark>3</mark> %	
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	7%		64%	p	50%		29%	70/	
	Emergence of TechFin firms	26%				59%		/%	7%	
	Campaign Fraud		50%			13%	13%	25%		
0	Notable Increase in Default	25%		25%		13%	13%	25 %		
	Collapse due to Malpractice		38%		13%		50%			
	Cyber-security Breach		38%		25%		13%	25%		
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	13%		50%				38%		
)	and new entries		43%				57%			
	Emergence of TechFin firms	13%		38%		25%		25%		
	Campaign Fraud		43%			29%		29%		
20	Notable Increase in Default	29	%		43%			29%		
עוימ	Collapse due to Malpractice		33%	1	17%		33%		7%	
BUINIAS LEIUUISU	Cyber-security Breach	29	%		29%	14	%	29%		
IISNO	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	29	%			57%			14%	
	and new entries	17%				83%				
	Emergence of TechFin firms	17%		33%			50%			
	Campaign Fraud		50%				50%)		
9	Notable Increase in Default			75%				25%		
	Collapse due to Malpractice		50%			25%)	25 %		
כורא	Cyber-security Breach		50%				50%			
רו טובו רא בכוומוווצ	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	25%			50%			25%		
-	and new entries				100%					
	Emergence of TechFin firms		33%				67%			
	Campaign Fraud	10% 10	0%	409	%			40%		
	Notable Increase in Default	20%	10%		40%			30%		
	Collapse due to Malpractice	10%	30%			5	0%		10%	
	Cyber-security Breach		20%	20		3	0%	20		
	Change in Regulation Competition with incumbents	10%			70%			10%	10%	
	and new entries		56	%			33%		11%	
	Emergence of TechFin firms	11%	22%			67%				
	Campaign Fraud		40%		15%		45%			
	Notable Increase in Default	16%		37%			26%	16%	5%	
	Collapse due to Malpractice	15%		35%		3	0%	20	%	
		10%	30%			45%)		15%	
	Cyber-security Breach				-	25%		25%		
	Change in Regulation			40%		2370		2070		
		10% 12% 24%		40% 41%		2070	35%		12%	

Figure 2.30: Perceived risks of platforms by Debt models-2018



	Campaign Fraud	16%	25%			51%			8%
Equity Crowdfunding	Notable Increase in Default	9%		64%			18%	5	9%
atun	Collapse due to Malpractice	16%	19%		48%	, 0		16%	0
MO	Cyber-security Breach	13%	21%		34%		31	%	
2	Change in Regulation	4% 14%		32%		44	%		6%
Inb	Competition with incumbents and new entries	17%		46%			24%	11	%
-	Emergence of TechFin firms		43%		23%		20%	1	3%
5.0	Campaign Fraud	319	6	22%		25%		19%	3%
	Notable Increase in Default	22%			61%			11%	6%
2	Collapse due to Malpractice	17%	26%		29%		2	6%	3%
	Cyber-security Breach	8%	31%		28%			1%	
5	Change in Regulation	8%	27%	220			35%		8%
	Competition with incumbents	7%	26%			67%			
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	26%		26%			%		7%
	Campaign Fraud		40%		40'			20%	
Ω	Notable Increase in Default		40%		40	%		20%	
Kevenue Snaring	Collapse due to Malpractice		60%				40%		
	Cyber-security Breach	33	3%	17%			50%		
	Change in Regulation	17%			83%				
2	Competition with incumbents and new entries	33	3%	17%			50%		
	Emergence of TechFin firms	17%	17%		50%			17%	b
	Campaign Fraud	23%		26%		459	%		5% <mark>2</mark> %
	Notable Increase in Default	25%			50%			25 %	
ging	Collapse due to Malpractice	17%		54%			16%	119	% <mark>2</mark> %
dtun	Cyber-security Breach	11%		54%			28%		8%
Crowdfunding	Change in Regulation	9%	17%		56%			11%	6%
0	Competition with incumbents and new entries	11%		63%			19	9%	5% 2 %
	Emergence of TechFin firms	7%		59%			25%		9%
	Campaign Fraud	16%	28%			50%			2% 5 %
	Notable Increase in Default		50%				50%		
Crowdfunding	Collapse due to Malpractice	13%		58%			15%	11%	4%
Itunc	Cyber-security Breach	7%		56%			25%	7%	
DMO.	Change in Regulation	14%	21%		51	%		11%	_
ΰ	Competition with incumbents	20%			57%				6% 2%
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	14%		55%	0170		16%	12%	

Figure 2.31: Perceived risks of platforms by Equity and Non-investment models-2018

Equity Crowdfunding and Real Estate Crowdfunding both perceive cyber-security and changes in regulation as main risks to their businesses, with 30-50% of platforms reporting these factors as particularly risky. This may be explained by the fact that platforms in operation have already met relatively stringent requirements and may be concerned about the entry of new players under more permissive regimes on the one hand, or the increase in compliance costs should regulation become more stringent as part of regulatory changes on the other hand.

Somehow surprising, platforms operating noninvestment models, (Reward-based and Donationbased Crowdfunding), also ranked changes in regulation as their top concern, although only 17% of Reward-based and 15% of Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms think of it as 'very high' or 'high' risk. Here, regulation has tended to be permissive and relatively clearer than in investment models. Hence changes to regulation are more likely to be associated with requirements becoming more stringent.

Alternatively, non-investment platforms may be concerned with potential growing competition from investment platforms, should more permissive regulation be passed for such models.

In contrast, platforms that operate Revenue sharing models, which are much more similar to Equity Crowdfunding, reported campaign fraud and a notable increase in defaults as their major risk preoccupations. When assessing how platforms across Europe perceive the adequacy of regulations, it should be noted that regulatory frameworks vary considerably between different jurisdictions and models. Nevertheless, the majority of platforms operating debt, equity and non-investment models considered regulation to be adequate and appropriate for their platform's activity. Exceptions include Central Europe, Iberia and Italy. 48% of debt-based platforms in Central Europe described regulations as adequate, whereas 18% reported facing inadequate and too relaxed regulations. Similarly, less than half of debt-based platforms in Iberia and Italy considered regulations to be adequate, with 31% of Iberian and 18% of Italian platforms describing them as excessive and too strict for their activities. In contrast to results from previous years, regulations of equity models were deemed adequate by majority of platforms in all regions except Iberia.

Platforms in the Balkans, Baltics, Benelux and Eastern Europe reported lacking specific regulation for alternative finance which they consider necessary. This concern was common among platform operating both debt, equity and noninvestment models.

In France, Germany and the Nordics, a fairly significant portion of platforms operating investment models reported struggling with the strictness of regulations, although the majority described them as adequate.

Finally, Ireland and UK are examples of countries where there was a very high level of adequacy of existing regulations as perceived by platform operating debt, equity and non-investment models.

S	Debt-based Models	64%		%6	17%		17%				
Balkens	Equity-based Models	50%		0%	30%)	10%				
ά	Non-investment based Models	60%			17%	11%	9%				
	Debt-based Models	75	5%		200	7%	11% 5				
Baltics	Equity-based Models	50%		17%	17%	,	17%				
ш	Non-investment based Models		80%				20%				
×	Debt-based Models	60%		1	3%	23%	5				
Benelux	Equity-based Models		90%				10%				
ā	Non-investment based Models	58%		11%		32%					
rope	Debt-based Models	48%		18%	9%	12%	12%				
al Eur	Equity-based Models		78%			6%	17%				
Central Europe	Non-investment based Models		88%				13%				
	Debt-based Models		100%								
CIS	Equity-based Models	67%				33%					
	Non-investment based Models		86%				14%				
ope.	Debt-based Models	55%	55% <mark>6%</mark>								
Eastern Europe	Equity-based Models	55%		9%	18%		18%				
Easte	Non-investment based Models	50%	79	% 7%		36%					
	Debt-based Models	62%			31	%	8%				
France	Equity-based Models	69%				19%	4% 8%				
ш	Non-investment based Models	73%	%			18%	9%				
Georgia	Debt-based Models		83%								
Geo	Non-investment based Models		100%								
λ	Debt-based Models	62%	62% 29%								
Germany	Equity-based Models		84%				12% 4				
G	Non-investment based Models		80%								
	Debt-based Models	38%	8%	31%		19	% 4				
Iberia	Equity-based Models	42%	8%		42%		8%				
_	Non-investment based Models	60%			20%		20%				
-	Debt-based Models		80%				20%				
Ireland	Equity-based Models	100%									
-	Non-investment based Models	100%									
	Debt-based Models	45%	14%		18%	9%	14%				
ltaly	Equity-based Models	50%		25%		2	5%				
	Non-investment based Models	52%		5%	24%		19%				
s	Debt-based Models	62%		3%	2	25%	8%				
Nordics	Equity-based Models	61%					6% 69				
Ζ	Non-investment based Models	7(6%			4%	46%				
	Debt-based Models		83%			8	% <mark> %</mark> 5%				
¥	Equity-based Models		84%				3% 3% 3% 3%				
	Non-investment based Models	75	75%								

Figure 2.32: Perception towards existing regulation-2018

Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities

Excessive and too strict for my platform activities

No Specific Regulation and not needed No Specific Regulation and needed

Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

(103)

Extent of being Regulated

Figure 2.34: Extent of existing regulation - 2018

My platform is authorised in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction My platform is not authorised but has a relationship with another licensed institution (ie Appointed Representative) that serves as our agent

Regulatory Authorization is not required for my business activities

ŝ	Debt-based Models	57	7%			43%		
Balkens	Equity-based Models	20%		8	80%			
Ξ	Non-investment based Models	40%		31%		2	9%	
S	Debt-based Models	5	59%		4%	37%		
Baltics	Equity-based Models	50%			50%			
Ξ.	Non-investment based Models		60%			40%		
×	Debt-based Models		64%		3%	33%	5	
Benelux	Equity-based Models		85%				15%	
	Non-investment based Models	37%	2	21%		42%		
rope	Debt-based Models	38%			62%	1		
Central Europe	Equity-based Models		67%		6%	2	28%	
Centi	Non-investment based Models		63%			25%	13%	
	Debt-based Models		9	94%			6%	
CIS	Equity-based Models	33%			67%			
	Non-investment based Models	57	7%		29	9%	14%	
obe	Debt-based Models		67%			33%	, D	
Eastern Europe	Equity-based Models	36%	9%			55%		
Easte	Non-investment based Models	29%	29%			43%		
	Debt-based Models		78%			4%	19%	
France	Equity-based Models			97%			Ì	
	Non-investment based Models		71%			21%	7%	
gia.	Debt-based Models		83%				17%	
Georgia	Non-investment based Models							
È	Debt-based Models		67%				9%	
Germany	Equity-based Models			96%			4%	
0	Non-investment based Models		67%			13%	20%	
_	Debt-based Models		63%		3%	33%)	
Iberia	Equity-based Models		71%			2	9%	
	Non-investment based Models	50%		14%		36%		
σ	Debt-based Models		60%			40%		
Ireland	Equity-based Models			100%				
	Non-investment based Models	50%				50%		
	Debt-based Models	50%		5%		45%		
Italy	Equity-based Models	50%			25%		25%	
	Non-investment based Models	20% 7%			73%			
S	Debt-based Models		83%				5% 11 %	
Nordics	Equity-based Models		81%			5%	14%	
~	Non-investment based Models	31%	31	%		38%		
	Debt-based Models		79%			<mark>%</mark> 5%	15%	
	_					00/	100/	
NK	Equity-based Models		72%			9%	19%	

Platforms in Europe were asked to describe whether they were authorised to operate in their jurisdictions, and, if so, under which regulatory arrangement they fell. Two trends are discernible across different regions. Firstly, in line with results from previous years, lack of authorisation is most often reported by platforms operating non-investment models. For instance, only 20% of Reward-based and Donation-based platforms in Italy, 31% in the Nordics, and 33% in the UK reported having the authorisation to operate. Platforms in these jurisdictions usually consider that authorisation is not required for their business activities. In countries in which non-investment platforms require an authorisation, it is common to obtain interim permission to conduct their activities.

Secondly, a lack of authorisation among equity models is usually reported in regions that do not have mature alternative finance markets yet, such as in the Balkans, Baltics, CIS and Eastern Europe. In contrast, Italy is unique in having one-fourth of equity platforms reported having a relationship with another licensed institution.

Regulatory Friendliness and Alternative Finance Volume per Capita

In our analysis of the relationship between perceived regulatory adequacy and volumes per capita in Europe, we have only included countries where at least four platforms answered relevant questions. Accordingly, perceived regulation adequacy represents the relative share of platforms in each country which indicate that regulation is 'adequate and appropriate for my platform activities'.

Our findings show a positive effect, whereby the more adequate national regulation is perceived to be by platforms, the higher the per capita volumes seen in that country.



Figure 2.35: Perceived regulation adequacy versus volume per capita (log scale) - Europe (all models) - 2018

This relationship is stronger in the case of noninvestment models and less strong in the case of investment models. This may be explained by the fact that while regulatory requirements in non-investment models may be clearer and uncontroversial, the same cannot be said about investment models. The weaker association evident with respect to investment models may, therefore, reflect a more varied interpretation of what constitutes adequate regulation in different jurisdictions. It may also reflect that some investment models may be adequately regulated, while others may not be. For example, in Denmark business lending is considered to be adequately regulated, while equity and consumer lending are considered not to be properly regulated. In Austria, equity crowdfunding is regulated adequately, while lending is not.

This relationship would be particularly interesting to follow in future, following the forthcoming introduction of harmonised regulation for business investment platforms, known as the European Crowdfunding Service Provider (ECSP) regime.











106

3. A Regional Discussion on Asia-Pacific Region

Chapter 3: A Regional Discussion on Asia-Pacific Region

Total Regional Volume

Figure 3.1: APAC Alternative Finance Market Volume (Excl. China), 2013-2018 (USD)



Volume Analysis

Alternative finance volumes across the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) have exhibited considerable growth from 2017 to 2018. From an estimated market size of \$3.64 billion in 2017, the market grew by approximately 70% to an estimated market size of \$6.17 billion in 2018. This growth rate is less than the increase seen between 2016 and 2017 (81%), but the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) remains one of the fastestgrowing regions in the world. Over the last five years, it has experienced an average growth rate of 127%. For the last three years, however, the market growth has stabilised at between 70% and 80%, following a reasonably volatile preceding three-year period where market growth reached a peak of 312% before dropping to 79% from 2015 to 2016. This relative consistency could represent a more predictable growth rate for subsequent years in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China).





As shown in the figure above, this increase in volume varied across the different alternative finance models. P2P Business Lending, P2P Consumer Lending, and Balance Sheet Business Lending were the most significant three models according to volume, accounting for 28.7%, 16.1%, and 15.0% respectively of the total volume in 2018. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending closely follows, accounting for 14.5% of the total volume in 2018.

All models in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) demonstrated growth in 2018 except for P2P Property Lending, which shrank by 1.25% from 2017 to 2018. With a growth of 114% from 2016 to 2017, however, a trend of a reduction in market size cannot be expected.

More significant declines were recorded with respect to Invoice Trading falling 46%, and Equity Crowdfunding falling 30% from 2017 levels.

Models demonstrating the highest growth were P2P Business Lending, Balance Sheet Consumer Lending and Revenue Sharing. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending showed significant growth compared to others with a 9039% growth from 2017 to 2018 and Revenue Sharing also saw significant growth with an increase of 5513% from 2017 to 2018.

Alternative Finance Model		Market Size (USD)		Annual Marke Growth (%)	
	2016	2017	2018	2017-2018	
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	\$484.86m	\$824.55m	\$982.07m	19%	
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	\$333.62m	\$623.35m	\$1772.64m	184%	
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	\$311.77m	\$667.25m	\$658.90m	-1%	
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	\$0.37m	\$9.67m	\$883.43m	9039%	
Balance Sheet Business Lending	\$466.08m	\$680.31m	\$917.71m	35%	
Balance Sheet Property Lending	\$2.00m	\$0.00m	\$18.68m		
Invoice Trading	\$137.39m	\$174.80m	\$94.01m	-46%	
Debt-based Securities	\$13.00m	\$25.58m	\$2.97m	-88%	
Equity Crowdfunding	\$98.56m	\$100.90m	\$162.07m	61%	
Real Estate Crowdfunding	\$32.20m	\$367.91m	\$258.13m	-30%	
Revenue Sharing	\$6.82m	\$0.18m	\$9.88m	5513%	
Reward-based Crowdfunding	\$60.85m	\$71.44m	\$201.50m	182%	
Donation-based Crowdfunding	\$55.13m	\$53.17m	\$75.78m	43%	
Mini-bonds	\$1.41m	\$0.00m	\$10.67m		
Other		\$38.03m	\$50.00m	31%	

Table 3.1: Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) vol Model

In order to assess growth and volume according to location, the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) was split into four overarching regions; Oceania, East Asia, South East Asia, and South and Central Asia.

In 2018, the online alternative finance market continued to expand across the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) with South-East Asia demonstrating the highest overall volume (\$2.19 billion). East Asia had a market volume of \$1.93 billion, Oceania had a market volume of \$1.41 billion, and South and Central Asia had a market volume of \$647.2 million in 2018.

Market growth varied significantly across the region from 2017 to 2018 with a range of 574% across the four regions. While Oceania demonstrated no change in market size from 2017 to 2018, East Asia grew by 21%, South and Central Asia grew by 108%, and South East Asia grew by 574%. As a consequence, South East Asia has become the largest regional market in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), overtaking East Asia in 2018.

Table 3.2: Asia-Pacific region (e	excluding China) vol by region
-----------------------------------	--------------------------------

		Mark	et Volume (\$U	5D Million) and	Growth accordi	ng to region		
Year	South & Central Asia	Change (%)	Oceania	Change (%)	East Asia	Change (%)	South East Asia	Change (%)
2013	5.1		29.7		97.7		11.0	
2014	12.1	137%	126.3	325%	136.2	39%	26.5	141%
2015	40.1	230%	665.4	427%	424.3	211%	46.6	76%
2016	124.5	211%	832.8	25%	830.9	96%	215.9	363%
2017	311.9	151%	1410.2	69%	1590.3	91%	324.8	50%
2018	647.2	108%	1406.4	0%	1929.5	21%	2190.0	574%

Table 5 shows the value of each alternative finance model market in the top three countries in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China). Across the models, the top three countries vary significantly. While there are countries such as Indonesia, Australia and Singapore that feature regularly, there is limited consistency on the position and model for which they appear in the top three. This inconsistency

(112)

extends to the types of alternative finance models. For example, for P2P Lending models, the top three countries are different for P2P Consumer Lending, P2P Business Lending and P2P/Property Lending. While Japan has a P2P Business Lending market value of 46% higher than the second-place country of Indonesia, it does not appear as a top-three country in any of the other P2P Lending models.




Of the models that have the highest market values overall, the top country also shows a value significantly higher than the second-place country. The models of the highest market value, therefore, show the most uneven distribution of value across the top three countries. Smaller models such as Equity-based Crowdfunding, Reward-based/ Donation-based Crowdfunding and P2P Consumer Lending have a relatively even distribution across the top three countries, with the range between these countries being smaller than the range between the top countries in the larger models.

Interestingly, leading markets in Equity models and property lending tend to be more economically developed countries, while consumer and business lending tend to be lead by both developed and highly populated emerging economies.





The figure shows the total alternative business funding volume across the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) for the years between 2013 to 2018. The market value has consistently demonstrated growth over the five-year period and, until 2017, showed an ever-increasing growth rate. Between 2013 and 2014 the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) alternative finance market grew by 105%, from 2014 to 2015 it grew by 263%. from 2015 to 2016 it grew by 726%, from 2016 to 2017 it grew by 521% and from 2017 to 2018 it grew by 575%. APAC continues its dramatic growth with a decline from 4 digit growth rates in earlier years to three digit growth in recent ones. 2018 represented an all-time high market value of \$3506.4 billion, and consistent growth

suggests that in 2019 this market value will be exceeded further.

Market Dynamics

Institutionalisation by Model

In the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) as a whole, most investor activities were driven by individual investors rather than institutional investors. The level of institutionalisation, however, varies significantly between models as is presented in Figure 3.5. This year's study includes a focus on the proportion of volume derived from institutional investors, intending to understand how much interest exists in the alternative finance space from institutional investors.



(114))

Figure 3.5: Institutionalisation by model-2018

The total volume of Reward-based Crowdfunding was solely derived from individual investors, while Donation-based Crowdfunding had only 1% of institutional investors. Institutionalisation rates among Equity Crowdfunding and Real Estate Crowdfunding platforms were also low, reaching 13% and 10% respectively in 2018.

The Balance Sheet Business Lending model had the highest proportion of institutional funding in 2018, with 84% of total funds attributed to institutional investors. This figure represents a reduction from the previous year, which saw 98% of all investment in Balance Sheet Business Lending being attributed to institutional investment. The Balance Sheet Consumer Lending model had the second-highest proportion of institutional funding (72%) in the region, which suggests that institutional investors are more inclined to invest in Balance Sheet Lending as a whole, above other models. This may be explained by the model's resemblance to traditional banking models. With regards to P2P Lending, P2P Consumer Lending has consistently received approximately half of all volume from institutional investors. P2P Business Lending remains a predominantly non-institutional investment with institutional investment accounting for only 15% of investment into the model.

By Subregion

The level of institutional investment also varies significantly according to region. South and Central Asia have the highest level of institutional investment, which accounts for 82% of the total volume in the region. This significantly larger proportion of institutionalized investment is not twinned with significant growth or market value, and there indeed seems to be no clear correlation between the proportion of institutional investment and market value. For example, South East Asia demonstrates the highest market value and growth despite a lower proportion of 53% dedicated to institutional investors.



Oceania had the second-largest percentage of institutional investors, at 61%, with South-East Asia following at 53%. East Asia reported a rate of 5%, which is very low relative to other regions, indicating that in East Asian countries individual investors are the primary source of funding for the alternative finance industry.

Market Developments

Innovation

Changes to business models, products and services

Platforms were surveyed regarding changes made to their business model, services and products in the last year. In 2018, platforms focused more on the stabilisation of their business model as opposed to making significant or innovative changes. Debtbased business models were particularly riskaverse, with approximately half reporting that they had not changed their business model in 2018. Real Estate Crowdfunding and Reward-based Crowdfunding were the most active with regards to business model innovation, with 73% stating they had changed their business model in 2018. Furthermore, 27% of Real Estate Crowdfunding platforms and 27% of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending platforms stated they 'significantly altered their business model'.



Figure 3.7: Changes to business model by model-2018

We significantly altered our business model in 2018 We slightly altered our business model in 2018 We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018

Compared to business model innovation, product and service innovation was relatively more prevalent among the surveyed platforms. More than half of the respondents with debt-based business models indicated they had changed their products and services in 2018, with the rates for Balance Sheet Business Lending and P2P Consumer Lending platforms making such changes reaching 93% and 83% respectively. On the other hand, traditional models made few alterations to their business models, mainly focusing their innovation

initiatives to products and services.

Balance Sheet Business Lending was the most active business model regarding changes to products and services, with 93% of such respondents having introduced or changed products and services in 2018. Equity Crowdfunding was the second most innovative business model type (87%). By contrast, Donationbased Crowdfunding was most reluctant to change their products and services.



Figure 3.8: Changes in products and services by model-2018

We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and services in 2018 We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Research & Development

Research and Development (R&D) focus varied among the debt-based models, equity-based models, and non-investment models. In this year's study, findings show that platforms have focused their R&D initiatives on business model innovation. For example, debt-based models invested in R&D areas that streamlined the credit lending process, whereas equity-based models focused on R&D initiatives to entice more fundraisers to their platform.

Platform R&D for debt-based models concentrated on 'payment processing', 'customer verification', and 'process streamlining and automation', while equity-based models put more of an emphasis on 'social media and fundraiser promotional tools' and 'community management features and tools'. In case of non-investment-based models, namely Reward-based and Donation-based Crowdfunding models, the top three areas of R&D focus were 'social media and fundraiser promotional tools', 'payment processing', and 'process streamlining and automation'. Most alternative finance platforms report actively pursuing 'customer verification' as a priority area for R&D, implying the growing importance of platforms responding to the KYC regulations, which become even more complex for crossborder customer verification. Revenue Sharing Crowdfunding platforms, however, did not report this as a priority area. 'Process streamlining and automation' was also a crucial area where most platforms focused R&D spending. Specifically, Balance Sheet Business Lending (22%) and P2P Consumer Lending (20%) were among the models that spent the most substantial proportion of R&D resource on 'process streamlining and automation'. Across all the business models surveyed, there was little focus on 'e-learning features for users' and 'gamification features for user engagements', with these areas showing the least amount of R&D spend.

Explanation for this may found in platform reluctance to fund a public good such as education that may benefit other platforms as well, and little focus on gamification may reflect priortisation of efficiency over fun elements in service provision.

	Payment Processing	Customer Verification	Process Streamlining and Automation	Artificial intelligence and Performance Enhancement Features	Community Management Features and Tools	Social Media and Fundraiser Promotional Tools	Customer Relationship Management Systems	E-learning Features for Users	Gamification Features for User Engagements
P2P/ Marketplace Consumer Lending	13%	20%	20%	14%	6%	9%	12%	2%	4%
P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending	12%	17%	16%	15%	8%	10%	12%	6%	4%
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	19%	19%	19%	4%	4%	11%	15%	7%	4%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	12%	23%	19%	19%	0%	8%	12%	8%	0%
Balance Sheet Business Lending	14%	19%	22%	17%	3%	11%	11%	0%	3%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	33%	33%	0%	33%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Invoice Trading	14%	24%	16%	11%	11%	3%	14%	3%	5%
Equity Crowdfunding	8%	8%	13%	8%	13%	16%	13%	8%	11%
Real Estate Crowdfunding	12%	16%	16%	4%	12%	24%	8%	4%	4%
Revenue Sharing	0%	0%	7%	13%	13%	20%	20%	7%	20%
Reward Crowdfunding	19%	10%	13%	0%	10%	26%	13%	10%	0%
Donation Crowdfunding	13%	12%	14%	9%	12%	14%	8%	7%	12%

Internationalisation

Cross Border Inflows And Outflows

By Model

In 2018, relatively few platforms reported high levels of cross-border inflows (i.e. funds from investors which came from abroad) or outflows (i.e. funds which went to fundraisers abroad) However, there were significant variations between different models in terms of the levels of inflows and outflows. Furthermore, in the case of the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), cross-border inflows were much more active compared to the cross-border outflows.

Balance Sheet Business Lending and Invoice Trading were the two models with the highest proportion of

cross-border inflows (63% and 54%, respectively). This demonstrates the high dependence these models have on cross-border capital flows in the region. On the other hand, Real Estate Crowdfunding and P2P Business lending showed the lowest proportion of cross-border inflows in 2018 (11% and 19% respectively) demonstrating the significant variance across the models.

In the case of cross-border outflows, P2P Business Lending platforms reported a 71% outflow rate, whereas Invoice Trading and Equity Crowdfunding platforms both reported no cross-border outflows. Real Estate Equity Crowdfunding also only showed 1% of outflow rate.



Figure 3.9: Inflow and outflow rate by model

By Region

There was evident variation in cross-border inflows and outflows between different sub-regions in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China). While Oceania reported a 22% inflow rate and East Asia reported the lowest inflow rate of 5%, both South-East Asia and South and Central Asia showed relatively high inflow rates, reaching 55% and 53% respectively. This suggests that the rapid growth within these regions was driven by foreign capital inflow.

With regards to cross-border outflows, South and Central Asia was the most active region, with a 77% outflow rate. Other regions all showed a relatively low outflow rate of less than 20%. South-East Asia, East Asia, and Oceania reported 19%, 13%, and 5% respectively.

Overall, such results may be explained by the type of economies dominating each region. Japan and South Korea dominating East Asia, and Australia dominating Oceania, may all reflect developed economies with a large domestic market. However, South, East and Central Asia are largely dominated by emerging economies such as Indonesia and India, which may rely on international investment to a larger degree.



Figure 3.10: Inflow and outflow rate by sub-region

Globalization Strategy

By Region

The digital nature of alternative finance business models results in a minimal cost for platforms to broaden operations to foreign countries. Many platforms have thus adopted an internationalisation strategy, designed to strengthen their global presence and to capture further global market shares.

Internationalisation initiatives varied among the regions. South-East Asian platforms were most active, with 79% of the respondents having an

Figure 3.11: Internationalisation Strategy by Sub-region, 2018

internationalisation strategy in place. East Asian platforms were the least active, with 42% of platforms stating they had no internationalisation strategy in place.

With regards to specific internationalisation strategies, 'global website and brand' was the most dominant internationalisation strategy across all regions. It was used by 60%, 52%, 45% and 43% of platforms in South-East Asia, South and Central Asia, Oceania, and East Asia respectively. The strategy of 'Web localisation' was also adopted by platforms in all regions, while no South and Central Asian or South-East Asian platforms pursued 'using an intermediary or aggregator website'.



By Model

We also see a variation in the internationalisation strategies adopted by platforms when comparing different models. Non-investment-based models were most active in broadening their global presence, with 93% of Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms and 75% of Rewardbased Crowdfunding platforms reporting that they were pursuing an internationalisation strategy. On the other hand, a relatively high proportion of respondents with debt-based business models reported to have no internationalisation strategy, with 58%, 47%, and 47% respectively of P2P Property Lending, P2P Business Lending, and Balance-Sheet Business Lending respondents stating that they have no internationalisation strategy at all in place.

Such trends are well in tune with regulatory requirements, which pose greater compliance costs for investment-oriented models than non-investment models when crossing borders.

With regards to specific internationalisation strategies, 'global website and brand' was the most dominant strategy across the models except in the case of Balance Sheet Business Lending, which had 'web localisation with global brand' as their dominant internationalisation strategy. This corresponds with earlier finding, where higher regulatory compliance demands in investment models translate into greater investment in localization, whereas such investments are much lower for non-investment models.



Figure 3.12: Internationalisation Strategy by Model, 2018

Financial Inclusion

The Banked Status Of Borrowers

Alternative finance models have been promoted as a means to increase financial inclusion, especially debt-based models, which are seen as offering a viable alternative route for individuals and businesses to get access to credit.

In order to assess the extent to which alternative finance models promote financial inclusion, debt-

based platform respondents were asked to indicate the banking status of their borrower-customer base; unbanked, underbanked, and banked. Findings show that the banking status varied among the subregions in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China). In the case of East Asia, 74% of the borrowers were banked, while on South-East Asian platforms only 25% of the borrowers were banked. Alternative finance was providing credit to those who had no access to banks (i.e. the 'unbanked' in each of the sub-regions: East Asia (6%), Oceania (14%), South and Central Asia (8%), South-East Asia (26%).



Figure 3.13: Banking Status by Region

Income Status of Funders

To enable a robust discussion relating to financial inclusion, it is also necessary to examine access to investment vehicles for funders. Therefore, survey respondents were asked to indicate the income status of their customer base or funders (i.e. lenders and investors) as bottom-, low-, middle-, or high-income.

Funders from the middle-income class were most

dominant in of the sub-regions, although the overall income status of funders did still vary between them. Funders from bottom- and low-income levels were especially prevalent in East Asia (20%), South and Central Asia (20%), South-East Asia (18%). By way of comparison, funders belonging to the highest income level were shown to be the least prevalent in South and Central Asia (12%) compared to Oceania (28%), South-East Asia (25%), and East Asia (20%).



Figure 3.14: Income Status by Region

Gender as a Measure of Financial Inclusion

By Region

It has been suggested that alternative finance is playing a role in bridging the investor and fundraiser gender gap. To explore this trend, the respondents were asked about female participation in their business as both funder and fundraiser. In all of the sub-regions, female participation in either category was less than 40%. South-East Asia displayed the highest female fundraiser rate, reaching 39%, followed by Oceania (27%), East Asia (25%), South and Central Asia (24%). By contrast, East Asia showed the highest rate of female funders at 32%, followed by South-East Asia (25%), Oceania (16%), South and Central Asia (11%).



By Model

Female participation also varied significantly between different alternative finance models. P2P Consumer Lending reported the highest female fundraisers rate, at 38%, followed by P2P Business Lending (37%), Reward-based Crowdfunding (29%) and Donation Crowdfunding (23%). Crowdfunding models also tended to have the highest rate of female funders, with Reward-based Crowdfunding having the highest rate (34%), followed by Donation Crowdfunding (28%), P2P Business Lending (26%), and P2P Consumer Lending (21%).



121

Figure 3.16: Female fundraisers and funders rate by model

Risk and Regulations

Perceptions Towards Key Risk Factors

By Model

Platforms were asked to rate various factors according to the level of risk they represented to their firm. These factors included campaign fraud, a notable increase in defaults, collapse due to malpractice, cybersecurity breach, change in regulation, competition with incumbents and new entries, and the emergence of TechFin firms (i.e. organisations such as Amazon and Google). Debt-based platforms reported several different risk factors as being highest in terms of perceived risk. For example, 'Change in regulation' was perceived to be the top risk factor for P2P Consumer Lending and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending while 'Cybersecurity breach' was perceived to be the top risk factor for P2P Business Lending and Balance Sheet Business Lending. 'Emergence of TechFin firms' was found to be the top risk factor according to Invoice Trading platforms.

	Campaign Fraud		29%		18%		24%		24	4%	5
<u>ه</u>	Notable Increase in Default	17%		21%		31%	%			3%	E
Consumer Lending	Collapse due to Malpractice	18%		15%		38%			18%	,	10%
er Le	Cyber-security Breach	8%		33%			0%		20%		10%
m	Change in Regulation	10%	10%		41%			2	27%		12%
Con	Competition with incumbents	15%	10 /0	23%	4170		42%	-		19'	
Ŭ	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	15%		23%		34	5%		199		8%
	Linergence of fechi in firmins	13 /8		23 /0			J 70		19,	10	0 /0
	Campaign Fraud	15%		17%		32 %			24%		12%
ы В	Notable Increase in Default	11%	19	9%		49	%			16%	5
end	Collapse due to Malpractice	18%		18%		26 %			33%		5
Business Lending	Cyber-security Breach	7%	17%		29%			32%			15%
usin		2%	24%		33	%		19%		21%	
ā	Competition with incumbents and new entries	7%	26	6%			56%				7%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	11%		26%			48%			11	%
	Campaign Fraud		33%		11%		22%		22%		11%
۵ŋ	Notable Increase in Default			56%				22%	1	1%	11%
idin	Collapse due to Malpractice	11%	11%	11%				67%			
y Ler	Cyber-security Breach	11%	11%	11/0		56%		01 /0	1	1%	11%
Property Lending	Cyber-security Breach Change in Regulation	22%				50% 4%				3%	11 %
Prop	Competition with incumbents	227				60%			3	20°	/
	and new entries				400/	00%		000/	_		
	Emergence of TechFin firms	20%			40%			20%		20%	/0
	Campaign Fraud	13%	6%	13%		44%	6			25%	
ding	Notable Increase in Default	20%			30%		3	30%		10%	10%
Lenc	Collapse due to Malpractice	13%			50%			13%		19%	6
Consumer Lending	Cyber-security Breach	25	5%	1	3%	25%			31%		6
Insu	Change in Regulation	19%		13%			56%				13%
ŭ	Competition with incumbents and new entries	20%		10%			60%				10%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	10%		40'	%			40%			10%
	Campaign Fraud	20%			47	%		7%		27%	
0.0	Notable Increase in Default		31%		23%	6		31%			15%
Business Lending	Collapse due to Malpractice	13%		3	8%			38%			13%
s Le	Cyber-security Breach	13%	6%		31%			44%			6
ines	Change in Regulation	19%			38%				38%		6
Bus	Competition with incumbents	8%	2	5%			58%				8%
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	8%		5%		25%			33%		8%
		070				2370					07
	Campaign Fraud			50%					50%		
ling	Notable Increase in Default			50%					50%		
-end	Collapse due to Malpractice			50%					50%		
ŗţ	Cyber-security Breach			50%					50%		
Property Lending	Change in Regulation			50%					50%		
Ē	Competition with incumbents and new entries					100%					
	Emergence of TechFin firms					100%					
	Campaign Fraud	14%		14%		43%			7%	21%	
	Notable Increase in Default	21%	, ,		21%		36%			14%	79
200	Collapse due to Malpractice	15%		15%		469				23%	
	Cyber-security Breach		27%		13%		40%			20%	6
olce olce	Change in Regulation	20%		20			33%		13%		 13%
É	Competition with incumbents	8%	15%	20		46%			23%		8%
	and new entries Emergence of TechFin firms	8% 8			50%				23% 17%		
	Encigence of recht in tilling	0 /0 0	70						17 /0		7%

Figure 3.17: Perceived risks of platforms by Debt models-2018

By contrast, equity-based platforms showed similar perceptions between different models towards key risk factors. Equity Crowdfunding and Real Estate Crowdfunding both reported 'Change in regulation' and 'Cybersecurity breach' as their top risk factors.

For non-investment models, both Reward-based

Crowdfunding and Donation-based Crowdfunding showed relatively high tolerance over the key risk factors, reporting mostly low or very low as their risk perception. Less than 20% of the Reward-based Crowdfunding and Donation-based Crowdfunding respondents answered high or very high risk to all the key risk factors.

	Campaign Fraud		23%					69%				8%
Equity Crowdfunding	Notable Increase in Default						93%					7%
lfund	Collapse due to Malpractice	4% 1	12%				69%				15%	6
OWC.	Cyber-security Breach	4%	23%		1	5%			58%			
C t∑	Change in Regulation	4%	16%		20%				60%			
Equi	Competition with incumbents and new entries	10%					81%				1	0%
	Emergence of TechFin firms					71%				24 %		<mark>5</mark> %
50	Campaign Fraud	10%	10%				50%			30%		
Real estate Crowdfunding	Notable Increase in Default		25%			25%			50%			
vdfu	Collapse due to Malpractice	10%	10%		20%			50%			1	10%
Cro	Cyber-security Breach	10%	10%		20%			50%			1	10%
tate	Change in Regulation		20%		20%			50%			1	10%
ales	Competition with incumbents and new entries				57%				29%		14%	%
Re	Emergence of TechFin firms	14%	6		29%				57%			
	Campaign Fraud			50	%				50%			
20	Notable Increase in Default						100%					
าลทา	Collapse due to Malpractice			50	%				50%			
Revenue Sharing	Cyber-security Breach			50	%				50%			
ven	Change in Regulation						100%					
Кe	Competition with incumbents and new entries						100%					
	Emergence of TechFin firms						100%					
	Campaign Fraud	12%					76%				12	2%
, ec	Collapse due to Malpractice	4%				76%	6			8%	8%	4
Crowdfunding	Cyber-security Breach	12%				6	4%			16%		8%
wdfi	Change in Regulation	9%					83%				49	% 4
20	Competition with incumbents and new entries	5%					90%					59
	Emergence of TechFin firms	10%					81%				5%	6 5 9
	Campaign Fraud	4% 7%	6				74%				15%	6
ы С	Collapse due to Malpractice	4%				8	31%				7%	8%
lipur	Cyber-security Breach	4%				69%			8%		15%	4
wdfu	Change in Regulation	7%	7%				67%				15%	4
Crowdfunding	Competition with incumbents and new entries	4%				77%	6				15%	4
	Emergence of TechFin firms	8%				65%				15%	8%	4

Figure 3.18: Perceived risks of platforms by Equity and Non-investment models-2018

By Region

Similar perspectives on key risks to the industry were seen across all sub-regions. 'Cybersecurity breach' was reported as the top risk for East Asia, where 47% of the respondents reported the risk level as high or very high, followed by Oceania (45%) and South-East Asia (34%). 'Change in regulation' was another top risk, where 42% of the respondents reported the risk level as high or very high in East Asia and South-East Asia, followed by South and Central Asia (30%). This analysis indicates that decreasing the uncertainties associated with regulation and cybersecurity could be a key driver to further growth of the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China) alternative finance industry.

	Campaign Fraud	23%	6%		34%		26%		11%
	Notable Increase in Default	27%	6	24%		30%		16%	3%
ia	Collapse due to Malpractice	23%		23%	19%	0	23%		11%
East Asia	Cyber-security Breach	15%	17%	21%		32	!%	1	5%
Ба	Change in Regulation	9%		49%			29 %	1	3%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	3%	37%			55%			5%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	24%		18%	26%		26%	, D	5%
	Campaign Fraud		44%			41%		13%	3%
	Notable Increase in Default	18%		41%		12%	2	4%	6%
g	Collapse due to Malpractice	3%	39%			52%	6		6%
Oceania	Cyber-security Breach	3%	29%	23	%		39%		6%
ŏ	Change in Regulation		34%		38%			28%	
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	<mark>3%</mark>	Ę	53%			40%		3%
	Emergence of TechFin firms	10%		53%			20%	13%	3%
_	Campaign Fraud	16%	14%		559	6		16	%
Asia	Notable Increase in Default	19%		26%		41%		11%	6 <mark>4</mark> %
ntral	Collapse due to Malpractice	9%		42%		21%	2	23%	6%
Ce	Cyber-security Breach	12%		40%		23%		21%	4%
n anc	Change in Regulation	6% 15%	.	ł	50%		2	4%	6%
South and Central Asia	Competition with incumbents and new entries	15%		48%			24 %		13%
0,	Emergence of TechFin firms	24%		37%)		22 %	13%	4%
	Campaign Fraud	13%	15%		41%		19%		12%
e B	Notable Increase in Default	12%	329	%		36%		15%	5%
South East Asia	Collapse due to Malpractice	15%		34%		28%		22%	
ו Eas	Cyber-security Breach	9%	29%		28 %		29 %	6	5%
outh	Change in Regulation	8%	16%	34%			29%		12%
S	Competition with incumbents and new entries	14%		43%			29%	119	% <mark>3</mark> %
	Emergence of TechFin firms	19%		34%		31	%	8%	8%

Figure 3.19: Perceived risks of platforms by region-2018

Perceptions towards existing regulation

platforms were also asked to comment on the extent of existing regulation. Most platforms in all subregions stated that the current regulation was 'adequate and appropriate for (their) platform activities'. However, in the case of debt-based models in East Asia, 28% of respondents stated that existing regulation was 'inadequate and too relaxed for (their) platform activities' showed the highest proportion. For South and Central Asian platforms, many stated that the current regulation was either 'too strict or non-existent' and 49% of the respondents representing a debt-based model stated that the current regulation is 'excessive and too strict for my platform activities'. 50% of the respondents representing equity-based models reported that there is 'no specific regulation' and, in addition, the majority of these respondents indicated that further regulation is needed (40%).

These observations suggest that while East Asian and South and Central Asian platforms both report 'change in regulation' as their key risk factor, their reasoning for stating this risk differs. For East Asian platforms, a change in regulation would most likely result in stricter regulation while for South and Central Asian platforms, any change would result in the implementation of the regulation.

18% of platforms with equity business models in South-East Asia stated that 'alternative finance is not currently legalized in my country'. This statement was also selected by 14% of debt-based models in East Asia and 10% of the equity-based model in South and Central Asia. This indicates that institutional loopholes for specific business models exist in specific subregions of Asia-Pacific (excluding China).



Figure 3.20: Perception towards existing regulation-2018

Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities Excessive and too strict for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed

No Specific Regulation and needed Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

Extent of being regulated

In the survey, platforms were asked to indicate their current authorisation status. Most of the models in all regions answered, 'My platform is authorised in my jurisdiction'. There were, however, varying answers between different models and regions. 60% of equity-based models in South and Central Asia, 39% of East Asian platforms and,

31% of platforms in Oceania stated 'Regulatory authorisation is not required for my business activities'. Furthermore, 34% of South-East Asian non-investment models, 29% of South and Central Asian non-investment models, 25% of non-investment models in Oceania and 24% of East Asian non-investment models reported having interim permission to operate.



Figure 3.21: The extent of existing regulation-2018

My platform is authorised in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has a relationship with another licensed institution

(ie Appointed Representative) that serves as our agent

Regulatory Authorization is not required for my business activities

Regulatory Friendliness and Alternative Finance Volume per Capita

In our analysis of the relationship between perceived regulatory adequacy and volumes of transactions per capita in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding China), we have only included countries where at least four platforms answered related questions. relative share of platforms in the country indicating regulation is 'adequate and appropriate for my platform activities'.

Our findings show a positive effect, where the more adequate national regulation is perceived to be, the higher the per capita volumes in the same country.

Perceived regulation adequacy represents the



Figure 3.22: Perceived Regulation Adequacy vs. Volume per Capita 2018 (Log Scale) Asia Pacific - All Platforms

This relationship is stronger when examining investment models only, highlighting that for these firms adequate regulations, implying a good balance between investor protection requirements and industry growth facilitation, overall, encourage higher volumes of investments.



Figure 3.23: Perceived Regulation Adequacy vs. Volume per Capita 2018 (Log Scale) Asia Pacific - Investment Platforms

128

4. A Discussion on China

Chapter 4: A Discussion on China

Total Regional volume

Total volume by year

In 2018, China's alternative finance market volume totaled \$215.4 billion. This represents a significant 40% decrease, from 2017's volume of \$358 billion, and a break in the previously continuous trend of growth. The main reason for this decrease was the introduction of stricter regulation around P2P lending, which led to bankruptcy and closures of numerous P2P lending platforms. By contrast, the alternative finance market in the wider Asia-Pacific region, excluding China, maintained a high growth rate of 71% in 2018, although the the volume of other countries in the region is only 2.74% of that of China.

Despite this sudden and dramatic decrease in 2018, China still remains the global market leader for alternative finance, with its platforms accounting for 58.6% of the total volume of global alternative finance.



Figure 4.1: Chinese Alternative Finance Market Volume 2013-18 (USD)

Total volume by model (2016-2018)

In 2018, the survey captured activities from 12 distinct alternative finance models in China. With the exception of Profit Sharing, which was not included in 2018, these models are the same as those surveyed in 2017, with the addition for the first time of Donation-based Crowdfunding,

Debt-based Securities, Real Estate Crowdfunding and Mini Bonds. All business models showed a significant decline from 2017 to 2018. Donationbased Crowdfunding, Debt-based Securities, Real Estate Crowdfunding and Mini Bonds were not included in the 2017 study, and thus we cannot examine whether their volumes decreased between 2017 and 2018.



Figure 4.2: Total Alternative Finance Market Volume by models- China 2015-2018 (\$Billion)

The two models with the highest volumes were P2P Consumer Lending and P2P Business Lending, which both showed a significant decrease in trading volume between 2017 and 2018. The total volume of P2P Consumer Lending in 2018 was \$163 billion, 75.8% of the total volume in China, a decrease by 27% compared to 2017. P2P Business Lending generated \$42.7 billion in total volume in 2018, representing 19.8% of the alternative finance market in China. These two main models account for 95% of market volume in 2018.

In case of P2P Real Estate Lending, the total volume decreased to \$1.8 billion in 2018, a 69% decline compared to 2017. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending platforms experienced an even more significant decline of 98%, dropping to a mere \$0.38 billion in 2018, with their market share correspondingly decreasing from 4.4% in 2017 to 0.18% in 2018. Although Balance Sheet Business Lending platforms saw an 11% decline in volume to \$6.1 billion, steeper declines amongst other business models saw their market share increase by 0.9% to 2.8% in 2018 (2017: 1.9%).

Platforms conducing Invoice Trading model saw a significant 88% decline in volume, dropping significantly from \$5.6 billion in 2017 to \$0.7 billion in 2018, with a resulting decrease in their market share from 1.6% in 2017 to 0.3% in 2018. Equitybased Crowdfunding experienced a decline of 97% in 2018, which is similar to that of the Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (98%).

Reward-based Crowdfunding was the only model that experienced an increase in volume, rising to \$5.7 million in 2018- a 13% increase compared to 2017.

The four models that were surveyed for the first time in 2018 (Mini Bonds, Real Estate Crowdfunding, Debt-based Securities, and Donation-based Crowdfunding), reported volumes of \$278.8 million, \$16.4 million, \$7.1 million, and \$5.7 million respectively. These four models together accounted for 0.14% of the total alternative finance market volume in China in 2018.

Market Dynamics

The vitality of alternative finance business funding

In recent years, the alternative finance market in China has become an important funding option for entrepreneurs, start-ups, and small and medium sized businesses. The total volume of business funding in China was \$49.6 billion in 2018, which is less than half of that reported in 2017. Such drop is due to the dramatic decline in total volume of the Chinese alternative finance market in 2018, as outlined earlier, which has resulted in a decrease in credit supply to businesses.





Debt-based platforms dominate the supply of the alternative finance market for businesses. 94% of funding came from debt-based platforms, whereas equity-based funding accounted for only 6%. This also reflects the overall dominance of debtbased platforms in the wider Chinese alternative finance space, with P2P Consumer Lending and P2P Business Lending being the top two models by volume. Non-investment model account for just 0.001% of the market in 2018.

Figure 4.4: Composition of Business Finance by number of SMEs in China (2018)







Lessons from the P2P industry in China Paul Shi, Co-founder & CEO of wdzj.com

Over the span of 12 years, China's P2P lending industry has experienced a rapid rise and a dramatic fall, and now the industry has entered what it seems to be its final phase. At this stage, the main impetus of the regulator is to ensure that firms implement effective wind-down plans, to mitigate risk associated with liquidation and platform transformation.

Even with the novel coronavirus crisis affecting the economy, and a large number of private enterprises in need of financial services and access to finance, the regulatory policy on P2P lending looks to remain unchanged. As stated by the director of Inclusive Finance Department of CBIRC, "We will keep the direction and pace unchanged, and continue to implement the established policies firmly and thoroughly." As such, it is almost impossible to expect that P2P lending platforms will obtain new licensing or authorization as no regulatory pivot is expected.

Since the government started examining the 'Internet Finance' sector more closely in 2016, the P2P sector has undergone dramatic changes. A significant number of firms have exited the marketplace, in many cases the exits were not orderly and often involves the sudden collapses of platforms. Many platform owners have been sentenced and jailed. Many retail investors have suffered financial losses while some borrowers have taken the opportunity to avoid debts maliciously. Regulators around China have also paid a heavy price and learned lessons.

It is not an exaggeration to say that P2P lending in China, as we know it, has largely been a failure with key stakeholders incurring painful losses. So what can we learn from this experience?

1. The P2P lending model intrinsically was not flawed but most of China's platforms deviated from the orthodox model (e.g. with the creation of a capital pool).

2. In hindsight, regulatory intervention should have come earlier. When China's regulators began to intervene and rightly so, the sector had already reached a considerable and unsustainable scale. It was then quite difficult to regulate and supervise the sector when the majority of the platforms have already evolved beyond recognition.

3. RegTech and SupTech solutions should have been adopted early to support regulatory and supervisory efforts, given the size, dynamics and complexity of the online alternative finance market in China.

4. Regulatory policy should be consistent and provide more certainty.

5. Socio-economic infrastructure needs to be improved, including social credit system, industry standard and best practices, regulatory capability and necessary judicial reforms etc.

6. More education and training for the practitioners, platform owners and regulators as well as financial literacy programs for retail investors and consumers need to be in place and emphasised.

Finally, I believe that China's huge and complex demand for access to finance cannot be fully satisfied by the current financial system. We still need a large number of diverse institutions to provide more effective, accessible and affordable financial products and services. And I also believe that the nature of the P2P industry is good as proven by examples from other countries. P2P lending and other technology-enabled financial innovations may take on the responsibility of providing Inclusive Finance in China again in the near future, in a more mature form and perhaps with a new name. We look forward to that day.

5. A Regional Discussion on the Americas

Chapter 5: A Regional Discussion on The Americas

This chapter will discuss the alternative finance activities as related to the key jurisdictions within the Americas region, including the United States and Canada, and Latin America and the Caribbean. Overall, this region accounted for \$63.9 billion in 2018, an increase of 44% against the previous year. Due to the unique local characteristics of how the alternative finance market has developed across the region, this chapter is divided into two over-arching sections: The United States and Canada, and Latin America and the Caribbean.



Figure 5.1: Total Alternative Finance Volume Market share by Key Country (2018)

A discussion on the United States & Canada

The United States (US) remains the leading alternative finance market in the region, as well as the second largest global market following China. In 2018, the US market reached \$61.1 billion in overall volume, accounting for 96% of overall regional activity. This represented a 43% annual growth rate, a significant year-on-year increase when compared to previous years. In 2016, the US market grew by 22% from \$28.6 billion to \$34.86 billion, and by 24% in 2017 to \$43.8. The US market is predominantly made up of firms that are geographically headquartered within the country, with 84 firms indicating their headquarters within the United States, and 16 as foreign-based firms. In terms of volume, domestic firms were responsible for \$57.9 billion (or 95%) of the volumes that went to US based fundraisers. It is worth noting that this figure does not capture the volume of funds derived from US-based firms that went to fundraisers outside of the United States. In fact, in addition to the US operations, 24 US-based firms are currently

operating in other countries and are responsible for over \$2 billion of funds that went to fundraisers in other countries.

Canada, in contrast, grew by 5% representing a total alternative finance volume of \$908 million in 2018. Though Canada's year-on-year growth was significantly smaller than that of previous years, it is our belief that this slower growth rate is likely due to a handful of Canadian firms that have opted not to report their activity in 2018 but will be reporting volumes in 2019. As volumes increased modestly to \$908 million, from \$867 million in the previous year, the Canadian alternative finance market reduced its share of regional volumes, accounting for 1% of the Americas market in 2018. Interestingly, though the overall annual growth of the country was far smaller than expected, the growth of a handful of key platforms was far more significant. It is expected that 2019's volumes will return to growth-rates observed in previous years.

When observing activity within the Canadian market, our survey captured 24 domestically based firms and 15 foreign firms. It is worth noting that

90% of volumes came from Canadian-based firms (\$817.7m) while 10% came from foreign-based firms (\$90.5 million), almost exclusively based in the United States and operating P2P Consumer and Business Lending models.



Figure 5.2: Americas Total Volume by Region 2013-2018

```
Key Models - US & Canada
```

USA

	P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	Balance Sheet Business Lending	Balance Sheet Property Lending	Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	Real Estate Crowdfunding	P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	Equity-based Crowdfunding	Reward-based Crowdfunding	Donation-based Crowdfunding	Revenue Sharing	Other ²²	Invoice Trading	Debt-based Securities
2014	\$7.64b	\$1.11b	*	\$0.69b	\$0.98b	\$0.13b	\$0.13b	\$0.27b	\$0.46b	\$0.15b	*		*	*
2015	\$17.92b	\$2.25b	*	\$3.07b	\$2.58b	\$0.47b	\$0.78b	\$0.59b	\$0.60b	\$0.14b	*		*	*
2016	\$21.05b	\$6.00b	*	\$2.94b	\$1.33b	\$0.81b	\$1.04b	\$0.55b	\$0.55b	\$0.22b	\$0.02b		*	\$0.03b
2017	\$14.66b	\$6.73b	\$0.67b	\$15.20b	\$1.45b	\$1.85b	\$1.23b	\$0.24b	\$0.41b	\$0.18b	\$0.01b	\$0.07b	\$0.11b	\$0.00b
2018	\$25.39b	\$12.39b	\$9.53b	\$7.52b	\$2.03b	\$1.79b	\$0.66b	\$0.51b	\$0.38b	\$0.31b	\$0.25b	\$0.23b	\$0.14b	\$0.01b
% 2017-2018 growth	73%	84%	1334%	-51%	40%	-3%	-47%	115%	-5%	73%	2442%	221%	21%	138%
% proportion of 2018 total	41.5%	20.3%	15.6%	12.3%	3.3%	2.9%	1.1%	0.8%	0.6%	0.5%	0.4%	0.4%	0.2%	0.0%

In 2018, volumes from the P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending model accounted for 41.5% of the US market, becoming the largest model for the year., growing 73% from 2017 levels. Interestingly, the Balance Sheet Consumer Lending model was the largest model in 2017, accounting for \$15.2b, but dropped to 4th position in 2018, with a total volume of \$7.52b. Given the close nature of these two models, it is important to review the number of firms that operate both models. Of the 17 firms with a focus on consumer lending, 55% of firms were operating both models. Interestingly, in previous years these firms reported greater volumes deriving from their balance-sheet based activities, with this shifting dramatically in 2018. This may be an example of further refining needed to more accurately interpret how firms are defining their own activity, especially as key firms begin to morph into *digital banks* or explore new models as related to the consumer lending space.

The second largest model in the US is that of Balance Sheet Business Lending, amounting to \$12.39billion. This is an annual increase of 84% and accounted for 20.3% of the US market. The P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending model, conversely, accounted for \$2 billion in 2018, a 40% increase against the previous year but only representing 3.3% of the US market. Similarly, to the consumer lending platforms, firms focused on financing businesses tended to overlap considerably across the Balance Sheet and P2P/Marketplace lending models. In this case, the emphasis of activity skews towards the balance sheet model.

In 2018, Balance Sheet Property Lending ranked third in terms of volume, accounting for \$9.5b and just shy of 16% of the marketplace. This model saw the largest over-all annual growth rate (1334%). Conversely, the P2P/Marketplace Property Lending model saw an annual decrease, accounting for a 47% drop from \$1.23b in 2017 to \$.66b in 2018. In this instance, this drop seems to relate from two firms that exited the Property Lending market in 2018.

Turning to the Equity models, the Real Estate Crowdfunding ranked 6th and accounted for \$1.79 billion, a 3% decline against the previous year. In contrast, the Equity Crowdfunding and Profit/ Revenue Sharing models gained pace in 2018 after sluggish or negative growth in the previous year. Equity Crowdfunding reached \$507 million, growing at 115% against the previous year. In 2017, this model had actually declined by nearly 57% from 2016's \$.55b to 2017's \$.24b. As such, this increase brings the 2018 volumes back nearly to their height in 2016. Profit/Revenue Sharing grew by a considerable 2442% and reached \$254 million in volume. This model also saw the most new firm entrants than any other model in the US, so it is likely that this model will continue to develop and grow into 2019.

Non-investment models accounted for just over 1% of the US market. The donation-based Crowdfunding model grew by 73% in 2018, recovering from a 20% reduction the previous year. The model reached \$307 million in 2018. Rewardbased Crowdfunding saw 5% decline, amounting to \$384 million.

ouriae												
	Balance Sheet Business Lending	Donation-based Crowdfunding	Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	Invoice Trading	P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	Reward-based Crowdfunding	Revenue Sharing	Equity-based Crowdfunding	Balance Sheet Property Lending	Real Estate Crowdfunding
2014	\$13.53m	\$25.48m	\$2.50m	*	*	\$1.60m	\$0.50m	\$42.14m	*	\$0.06m	*	*
2015	\$27.02m	\$70.69m	\$15.50m	*	*	\$15.55m	\$28.00m	\$44.36m	*	\$5.10m	*	\$0.75m
2016	\$103.30m	\$105.92m	*	\$5.00m	*	\$22.50m	\$25.00m	\$35.27m	\$8.40m	\$13.11m	*	\$11.00m
2017	\$494.26m	\$88.59m	\$11.57m	\$6.00m	*	\$9.10m	\$94.12m	\$22.94m	*	\$13.83m	\$115.67m	\$11.50m
2018	\$391.36m	\$136.09m	\$117.18m	\$58.08m	\$53.04m	\$50.80m	\$29.80m	\$22.85m	\$22.11m	\$19.91m	\$5.44m	\$1.50m

Canada

Though the over-all Canadian alternative finance market saw a small over-all decline, it is worth noting that five of the twelve key models observed in 2018 saw growth. The largest model in Canada was that of Balance Sheet Business Lending, accounting for \$391m and 43% of the Canadian market. The P2P/Marketplace Business Lending model, though only 6% of the market, grew by 458% from \$9m to 50.8m.

The second largest model was the Donationbased Crowdfunding model, which grew by 54% from \$88.6m to \$136m in 2018. This is one of the few countries where a non-investment model ranked so high. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, ranking third with \$117m, saw a 913% increase and accounted for 13% of the Canadian market. P2P/ Marketplace Property Lending also saw exponential annual growth (868%), accounting for \$58m in 2018. For the first time, the research captured sufficient observations from the Invoice Trading model, amounting to \$53m. Finally, the Equitybased Crowdfunding model grew by 44% and accounted for \$19.9m.

Business Finance in the US & Canada

Figure 5.3: Total Alternative Business Finance - US & Canada 2016-2018 (USD)



* No data available for Canada in 2016

In 2018, approximately 343,000 businesses across the US raised \$16.25 billion through online alternative finance platforms, having grown by 61% against the previous year. Business-based alternative finance volume accounted for 27% of the US market, increasing in terms of market share against previous years (24% of 2017 alternative finance volume). Though the US alternative finance marketplace is predominantly geared towards consumer finance, the proportion of activity towards businesses has grown every year. When looking at the composition of finance-type, 93% of business volumes came from debt-based models, or \$15.2 billion. Not surprisingly, the P2P/ Marketplace and Balance Sheet Business Lending models are responsible for the lion's share of this activity, but it is worth noting that Property-based lending models had a high proportion of SME or Business borrowers and contributed significantly to the business-lending volumes. In fact, 12%

(approximately \$1.8b) of debt-based business funding went to businesses in the Construction industry. In this instance, these businesses used Property-based lending platforms for bridgingloans, mortgages, etc. Businesses coming from the Retail & Wholesale sector were the next largest industry (10%) to utilize debt-based alternative finance.

Furthermore, it is likely that these figures underestimate actual lending to SMEs, as a portion of loans reported as consumer loans by the platforms, were used by entrepreneurs for investment in their ventures.

Five percent of the US Business finance market came from equity models, to the tune of \$841.5m. The Real Estate Crowdfunding model contributed 95% of this volume (\$800m), so it is not surprising that 42% of businesses that used equity finance came from the Real Estate & Housing industry. The second largest industry using equity-finance were firms from the Finance sector, predominantly B2B businesses (6%). Finally, though only a small proportion of total business volume (1%), non-investment models (in particular Reward Crowdfunding) saw \$244 million raised for 17% of US businesses that utilized alternative finance for their funding needs in 2018. The most represented industries were Education & Research (38%), Retail & Wholesale (19%) and Technology & Hardware (14%).



Figure 5.4: Composition of Business Finance - Proportion of

Figure 5.5: Composition of Business Finance - Proportion of Category, US 2018



Turning to the Canadian market, approximately 62% of Canadian alternative finance went to 15,000 business fundraisers. In 2018, business-focused alternative finance accounted for \$560 million, a 6% increase against the previous year. The bulk of this volume (91%) derived from debt-based models, some \$510 million. Firms from the Leisure & Hospitality (7%) and Manufacturing & Engineering (6%) industries represented the largest industries utilizing debt-based finance, predominantly from P2P Business Lending platforms.

Equity models, in this instance predominantly from the Equity Crowdfunding model, accounted for 7% of the Canadian business finance. 55% of these businesses were in the Technology (software) sector, while 16% came from Finance and 11% from Energy & Mining.

Finally, the Non-investment based activity accounted for just over \$9 million, with 83% of activity identified as Charity & Philanthropy. Not surprisingly, the bulk of this activity came from the Donation-based Crowdfunding model.





Figure 5.6: Alternative Finance Total Volume by sub-region in Americas, 2013-2018 (USD)

For the first time, the Latin American & Caribbean (LAC) region surpassed the \$1 billion threshold, generating alternative finance volumes of \$1.81 billion to consumers, businesses and other project holders across the region. Representing an annual growth rate of 173% against the previous year's \$663 million in 2017, exponential growth has been a consistent trend for this region since 2013, with an average annual growth rate of 147% across the 6 years of alternative finance observations.

This region includes alternative finance volumes from 34 countries and territories, though it is

worth mentioning that 93% of the region's volume comes from six key countries: Brazil (37%), Chile (16%), Mexico (13%), Colombia (11%), Peru(9%) and Argentina(7%). The remaining 7% comes from the Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Bermuda, Bolivia, the Cayman Islands, Costa Rica, Cuba, Curacao, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, the Falkland Islands, Guadeloupe, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Puerto Rico, Saint Lucia, Sint Maarten, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, Uruguay, Venezuela and the Virgin Islands.²⁴



Figure 5.7: Total Alternative Finance Volume of Leading LAC Countries (2013-2018), USD Million

When considering the top 6 countries, five of the six have experienced triple digit annual growth. For a second year, Brazil is the leading country driving alternative finance volumes. Having grown by 211%, 2018's volumes rose to \$666.85 million. Chile, having surpassed Mexico for second place, grew by 128% and generated \$289.26 million for the year. Mexico, now third position, grew by 54% to \$233.39 million. Though this is a smaller growth rate when compared to the other leader countries, it is worth noting that the growth rate for 2017 had been 32%. As such, Mexico's pace is hastening and preliminary observations for 2019 suggest that the country is on track for near triple digit growth once again.

Colombia, with annual growth of 280%, reached \$192.47 million in 2018. This is the second year Colombia ranked fourth. Peru, having surpassed Argentina, saw the most significant annual growth, with a whopping 600% increase against the previous year. Peru's 2018 volume was \$158.46, having grown from a relatively low base of \$22.65 million the previous year. Peru's impressive growth relates to a quickly emerging yet nascent ecosystem, with much attention from LAC firm's based outside of the country.

Finally, Argentina is the 6th largest market, having grown by 332% against the previous year, and accounting for \$129.2 million. After Peru, this country experienced the most significant annual growth.

Geographic Distribution of Firms:

In 2018, this research observed 301 alternative finance firms active across the region. It is not surprising that the lead volume driving country, Brazil, also ranks highest in terms of actual number of firms. This research captured firmlevel observations from 44 domestic firms and 12 foreign firms, with a total of 56 platforms with operations within the country. When considering key volume drivers, 92.5% of the countries volume derives from alternative finance firms that are headquartered within Brazil.

Though Mexico garnered third ranking in terms of absolute volume, there were 51 firms present in the country, with 31 domestic firms and 20 foreign firms. In this instance, 77.9% of Mexico's alternative finance volume came from domestic firms, with a significant proportion of activity from firms headquartered outside of the country. In this instance, a number of US-based firms had ample activity in Mexico. It is also worth noting that at present, there are only a handful of Mexican platforms actively looking outside of it's borders. When reviewing qualitative responses, only 4 platforms indicated that they would be actively starting operations outside of Mexico in 2019.

Chile, also with a predominantly localized marketplace, had 99.4% of it's volume derived from 12 domestic firms. Though there were an additional 8 foreign firms present, volumes were minimal. Interestingly, of the six largest countries, Chile had the least number of firms active within its borders. This suggests that a handful of domestic leaders carry a significant proportion of Chile's alternative finance marketplace.

Colombia had 36 active firms, with 23 domestic and 13 foreign-based firms present. Domestic firms were responsible for 91.8% of all Colombian activity.

Peru, with 21 total firms, had the most extensive foreign-based influence than any of the other leader countries, with 32.8% of activity stemming from the 5 domestically base firms. The remaining 67% stemmed from 16 foreign-based firms. They predominantly came from the United States (8 firms), with 2 firms from Chile and 2 firms from Argentina (all with a business finance focus) taking interest in the emerging Peruvian market.

Finally, Argentina with 16 firms (9 domestic and 7 foreign) saw 99.5% of activity stemming from it's domestic market. The foreign-based firms predominantly came from the non-investmentbased models. Interestingly, though Argentina has almost singularly localized volumes, Argentinian firms are some of the most outward looking, with 5 domestic firms with activity in Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Mexico, Paraguay, Peru, Uruguay and Venezuela. Overall, 83% (\$1.51 billion) of LAC regional volumes came from 135 domestically based firms. The remaining activity came from 166 foreign-firms, though only accounting for 17% of the region's volume.

	Foreign Firm	Domestic Firm	of which domestic
Brazil	\$50.39m	\$622.80m	92.5%
Chile	\$01.69m	\$287.57m	99.4%
Mexico	\$51.66m	\$181.73m	77.9%
Colombia	\$15.87m	\$176.60m	91.8%
Peru	\$106.51m	\$51.95m	32.8%
Argentina	\$00.60m	\$128.60m	99.5%

Table 5.1: Volumes Derived from Foreign-based Firms vs. Domestic-based Firms

In 2018, activity from 15 models was observed. The most significant model was that of P2P/ Marketplace Consumer Lending, with \$432.75 million, taking 24% of the market share. This model grew by a whopping 142%, stemming in large part from activity based in Brazil (\$298.5m) and Mexico (53.7m). Interestingly, although this model is the largest across the region (and globally) it is only the largest model for Brazil. The rest of the key countries have models that are specifically focused on business finance as their largest model type. Associated with this model is Balance Sheet Consumer Lending. Though ranking 5th in terms of volume driver in the region, this model accounted for \$138.7m, it is worth noting that most of the firms operating this model also indicated P2P/ Marketplace Consumer Lending activities. This was particularly prevalent in Brazil (59.8m), Colombia (\$30.25m) and Argentina (\$24.67m). Interestingly, the balance sheet model also saw much of its activity deriving from US and EU based firms.

Ranking second is that of Invoice Trading, with a total \$398.4 million in 2018. This model grew by 157%, with significant activity coming from 5 of the 6 key LAC countries. Led by Chile (with \$229 million), this model accounted for 79% of the Chilean alternative finance market. This model was also the leading volume driver in Colombia (with \$117.3 million, 61%) and Argentina (\$70.58 million). Of note, this model accounted for 20% of the Peruvian market, having grown by 359% to \$30.4m in 2018.

	Marketplace/P2P Consumer Lending	Invoice Trading	Marketplace/P2P Business Lending	Balance Sheet Business Lending	Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	Debt-based Securities	Marketplace/P2P Property Lending	Donation-based Crowdfunding	Other	Real Estate Crowdfunding	Equity-based Crowdfunding	Reward-based Crowdfunding	Balance Sheet Property Lending
2014	\$2.97m	*	\$39.88m	*	*	*	*	\$2.21m	*	\$3.20m	\$0.15m	\$7.76m	*
2015	\$19.43m	*	\$55.67m	*	*	*	\$0.60m	\$5.18m	*	\$14.86m	\$2.05m	\$12.79m	*
2016	\$18.22m	\$0.00m	\$188.54m	\$22.57m	\$73.91m	\$6.30m	\$2.72m	\$9.67m	*	\$3.40m	\$7.30m	\$9.29m	*
2017	\$178.56m	\$155.18m	\$71.06m	\$37.12m	\$121.91m	\$2.08m	\$8.07m	\$26.63m	\$4.26m	\$12.50m	\$11.08m	\$11.59m	*
2018	\$432.75m	\$398.40m	\$274.81m	\$264.98m	\$138.71m	\$125.94m	\$49.11m	\$26.62m	\$27.30m	\$25.35m	\$19.16m	\$12.42m	\$11.37m
% 2017-2018 growth	142%	157%	287%	614%	14%	5953%	509%	0%	541%	103%	73%	7%	
% proportion of 2018 total	24%	22%	15%	15%	8%	7%	3%	1%	2%	1%	1%	1%	1%

Table 5.2: Key Models – LAC

Marketplace/P2P Business Lending accounted for \$71.1 million, having grown by 287% and accounting for 15% of the LAC region. Chile (\$32.5 million) and Brazil (\$31.1m) were the market leaders for this model within the region. Closely associated to this model is the Balance Sheet Business Lending model. With \$100.3m, this model was Mexico's leading volume driver and accounted for 43% of its market. The model grew by a staggering 518% from 2017's \$16.22m. This model ranked number one in Peru as well, with \$68.61m, 43% of the entire marketplace. While Mexico's balance sheet activity was hyper localized, Peru's stemmed mostly from foreign based firms.

Debt-based Securities, though small in absolute terms, is growing quickly across the region. This was the second largest model in Brazil (\$102m), having grown by 5330% from \$1.88m in 2017. Peru (\$20.2m) and Paraguay (\$3.4m) ranked as second and third in terms of volume drivers for this model.

Paraguay makes a notable appearance again when discussing the Balance Sheet Property model. After Brazil's \$9.6m, Paraguay accounted for the second largest market for this model with \$1.7m. Linked closely to P2P/Marketplace Property Lending (\$49.11m and 509% annual growth), propertyfocused lending activities, though smaller at present, are on track to grow considerably in 2019.

Turning to the equity models, Real Estate Crowdfunding (\$25.35m) grew by 103% and was led by Mexico (\$14.4m), Brazil (\$6.4m) and Argentina (\$4.2m). Equity Crowdfunding, accounting for \$19.16m, grew by 73% in 2018. Brazil (\$12.1m), Mexico (\$3.7) and Chile (\$2.63m) accounted for the top three markets for this model.

	P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	Invoive Trading	P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	Balance Sheet Business Lending	Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	Debt-based Securities	P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	Donation-based Crowdfunding	
Brazil market share of brazilian market	\$298.52m 44%	\$58.98m 9%	\$31.12m 5%	\$19.24m 3%	\$59.80m 9%	\$102.04m 15%	\$42.44m 6%	\$17.38m 	
Chile market share of chilean market		\$229.00m 79.2%	\$32.54m 11.2%	\$18.73m 6.5%		\$0.23m 0.1%	\$5.67m 2.0%	\$0.08m 0.0%	
Mexico market share of mexican market	\$53.70m 23%	\$20.67m 8.9%	\$11.20m 5%	\$100.26m 43.0%	\$18.81m 8.1%	\$0.20m 0.1%		\$6.26m 2.7%	
Colombia market share of Colombian market	\$19.38m 10%	\$117.28m 61%	\$8.60m 4%	\$15.77m 8%	\$30.25m 16%			\$0.53m 0%	
Peru market share of peruvian market	\$12.58m 7.9%	\$30.40m 19.2%	\$25.61m 16.2%	\$68.61m 43.3%	\$0.66m 0.4%	\$20.02m 12.6%		\$0.36m 0.2%	
Argentina market share of argentian market	\$15.31m 11.9%	\$70.58m 54.6%	\$3.89m 3.0%	\$9.28m 7.2%	\$24.67m 19.1%			\$0.53m 0.4%	
Total Region (Leading 6 + Others)	\$432.75m	\$398.40m	\$274.81m	\$264.98m	\$138.71m	\$125.94m	\$49.11m	\$26.62m -	

Table 5.3: Alternative Finance Volumes by Model 2018 - Key LAC Countries

It is worth noting that several LAC countries, are approaching or superseding Canadian model-level activity. With respect to the over-all Americas region, Canada's market has often out-paced LAC. In 2018, Latin American countries are now taking over the leader-boards for a number of key models and pushing Canada into a secondary position. This is the case for the P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending market (\$29.m), with Brazil and Mexico both surpassing Canada's 2018 volumes. This is also the case for Balance Sheet Property Lending, with Brazil surpassing Canada's \$5.4 million.

Figure 5.8: Top countries in volume by key model type (2018), USD



 Other ²³	Real Estate Crowdfunding	Equity-based Crowdfunding	Reward-based Crowdfunding	Balance Sheet Property Lending	Revenue Sharing	TOTAL
 \$6.34m 1%	\$6.43m 1%	\$12.09m 2%	\$9.09m 1%	\$9.65m 1%	\$0.07m 0%	\$673.19m
	\$0.17m 0.1%	\$2.63m 0.9%	\$0.20m 0.1%			\$289.26m
 \$1.56m 0.7%	\$14.36m 6.2%	\$3.66m 1.6%	\$1.93m 1%		\$0.78m 0.3%	\$233.39m
	\$0.05m 0%	\$0.24m 0%	\$0.35m 0%			\$192.47m
	\$0.02m 0.0%		\$0.05m 0.0%		\$0.15m 0.1%	\$158.46m
	\$4.24m 3.3%	\$0.21m 0.2%	\$0.48m 0.4%			\$129.20m
 \$26.30m	\$25.35m	\$19.16m	\$12.42m	\$11.37m	\$1.00m	\$1806.94m

Business Finance in Latin America & the Caribbean:





In 2018, 60% of alternative finance market activity in LAC went to fund a business. This region has some of the highest proportions of business focused activity, marking the emphasis placed on the small business sector across the region. Amounting to \$1.08 billion, this is the first time that business-specific alternative finance volumes in the region surpassed the billion-dollar threshold. Having grown exponentially from a relatively low base in previous years, this region has exhibited fast year-on-year growth. Against 2017's volume, the region's alternative finance business volumes have grown by 142%. In comparison to last year, where approximately 26,000 businesses were served by alternative finance firms, this year 217,000 business successfully received capital to fund their business activity.

Figure 5.10: Composition of Business Finance - Proportion of Category, LAC 2018





Not surprisingly, debt-based models account for 96% of all business activity, amounting to \$1.04billion to just over 213,000 business fundraisers, with Invoice Trading and P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending as the two largest models contributing to debt activities. For a third consecutive year, Chile (\$286.18m) is the leader in SME-focused alternative finance. Peru (\$154.47m) and Colombia (\$149.27m), however, have leap frogged both Brazil and Mexico to take second and third spots for debt-based business finance. Approximately 20% of all debt activity went to businesses in the Retail & Wholesale sector, with 11% towards Construction (a nod to the quickly growing Property Lending models) and Manufacturing & Engineering with 9%.

When considering equity-based models, though smaller in terms of both volume proportion (3.5%) and number of firms served (approximately 329), \$38.31 million was raised for start-ups across the region in 2018. Brazil and Mexico led the charge, as previously noted when discussing the equitybased crowdfunding model. When looking at sector distribution, 42% went to firms in the Construction industry, 12% to Food & Drink, and 9% to Finance (B2B) firms.

Non Investment-based activity, mostly from Rewards-based Crowdfunding models, accounted for less than 1% of total volume (\$5 million), though serving over 3,350 firms.





Market Dynamics

Institutionalisation across the region



Figure 5.12: Institutionalisation by model-2018

Institutional funders continue to drive alternative finance volume throughout the industry, with overall high levels of institutionalization observed across the Americas. When looking at key models from the entire Americas (US, Canada & LAC), we note that the vast majority of P2P/Marketplace Lending investors are institutions, with 94% of activity from the P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending stemming from institutional investors. This is marginally smaller when turning to P2P/ Marketplace Property Lending (78%) and P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending (73%).

The Balance Sheet Lending models also present

Figure 5.13: Institutionalisation by region-2018

higher instances of institutional investment, with Consumer Lending reaching 95% and Business Lending at 83%. Invoice Trading, which is dominated by platforms in Latin America, has a more even ratio of retail to institutional investor activity, with only 52% coming from institutional investors. Not surprisingly, non-investment models have the highest non-institutionalization rates, as 94% of investors for Rewards-based and 77% for Donation-based Crowdfunding are not institutions. Debt-based Securities, Equity Crowdfunding and Real Estate Crowdfunding remain with a high levels of retail investors, with institutionalization rates between 26% and 29%.



In Latin America and the Caribbean, alternative finance is, in general, funded more by the retail investors. Roughly half (51%) of the market is driven by retail investors, leaving \$878.7m derived by institutional investors.

When observing institutional volumes at a country level, 12 LAC countries recorded alternative

finance volumes. Uruguay, though relatively small, saw a record 99% of its volumes coming from institutional investors. Colombia and Mexico also saw significant levels of institutional activity, at 75% and 68% respectively, indicating that the majority of the market is driven not by retail investors but by institutional players. The remaining countries placed a greater emphasis on retail funding.

LAC Countries With Institutional Volumes:

Country	Institutional Investor Rate	Volumes Driven by Institutional Investors
Uruguay	99%	\$5.59 m
Colombia	75%	\$144.50 m
Mexico	68%	\$159.45 m
Costa Rica	65%	\$11.66 m
Peru	49%	\$77.58 m
Chile	47%	\$134.66 m
Brazil	38%	\$253.94 m
Argentina	29%	\$37.82 m
Paraguay	27%	\$5.88 m
US	25%	\$2.20 m
Nicaragua	24%	\$3.85 m
Guatemala	6%	\$1.59 m

Most model-types in LAC had less than 50% of their market share derived from Institutional investors, though with some notable exceptions: Balance Sheet Business Lending (99%), Balance Sheet Property Lending (89%) and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (74%).

Institutional Volumes in LAC by Key Models

Model Type	Institutional Rate	Volumes Driven by Institutional Investors
Balance Sheet Business Lending	99%	\$261.04m
Balance Sheet Property Lending	89%	\$10.08m
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	74%	\$102.75m
Invoice Trading	49%	\$267.39m
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	36%	\$156.28m
Revenue Sharing	35%	\$0.35m
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	30%	\$37.80m
Debt-based Securities	28%	\$35.06m
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	11%	\$5.42m
Reward-based Crowdfunding	8%	\$0.99m
Equity-based Crowdfunding	3%	\$0.61m
Donation-based Crowdfunding	1%	\$0.36m
Real Estate Crowdfunding	1%	\$0.15m

Platforms were also asked about other potential collaborations with institutional partners. These included referral agreements, data exchange, agent banking, platform ownership and custodianship. Across LAC, platform operators indicated the pervasiveness of referral agreements, with a bank or other traditional provider, particularly from the Balance Sheet Property Lending (90%), Marketplace/P2P Consumer Lending (57%) and Marketplace/P2P Business Lending (56%). Data exchange deals were also prevalent, with nearly 65% of all debt-based models, and Invoice Trading and P2P Business Lending, having such an arrangement in play with a traditional finance provider. It is likely that this will rise further with the advent of open finance regulation and API's emerging across the region.

Finally, there were a handful of examples where a native LAC firms had some level of institutional ownership. This was particularly relevant to P2P/ Marketplace and Balance Sheet Business Lending firms (20%), and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending platforms (38%).

Canada, with 54% of activity derived from institutional investors, saw \$489.9m raised across all models. When compared, however, to 2017's 70%, the Canadian market has become far more retail oriented. When looking to the US, 88% of overall funding generated came from institutional investors, amounting to \$54.01 billion for the year.

Innovation Across the Region

Changes to Business Models:



Figure 5.14: Changes to business model by model-2018

We slightly altered our business model in 2018 We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018

Adaptation to technological and market evolution still largely dominates the online alternative finance landscape in the Americas. Over 2018, for the majority of models, platforms operating in the region reported having altered their business models. Only for Donation-based Crowdfunding and Balance Sheet Business Lending, more than half of platforms went through the year without changes in their business models.

Half of P2P/Marketplace platforms in the Americas have altered their business models, where 40% firms in the Property Lending. Still in debt-based models, 74% of platforms in the Balance Sheet Consumer Lending and 67% of platforms in the Balance Sheet Property Lending market have undergone significant or slight changes in their business model. It is worth noting that 100% of firms within Debt-based securities and Real Estate Crowdfunding segments in the Americas altered their business model. Reward-based Crowdfunding account for a high rate of change, with 62% significant and 23% slight changes reported, demonstrating that firms in this market segment needed to readapt their business model.



Figure 5.15: Changes to business model by sub-region-2018

When analyzed by sub-region, half of firms in the US and LAC showed more stable business models in 2018. 16% of platforms in the US reported significant changes and 34% slight changes, whereas 22% of platforms in LAC reported

We significantly altered our business model in 2018 We slightly altered our business model in 2018 We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018

> significant changes, while 29% slightly adapted their business models. Canadian platforms deserve to be highlighted because by 45% significantly altered and 19% reported having slightly altered their business model.

100%

151

Looking specifically at LAC, of the six key volume driving countries, four saw model-level changes greater than 50%. For the most part, more than half of all firms operating within Brazil, Chile, Colombia and Peru indicated slight to significant changes to their business model. Interestingly, with 53% of the market indicating changes, 40% of Chilean firms noted significant changes. Mexico and Argentina were the only countries that noted higher instances of 'no change' though there were still significant instances of firms indicating model-level change.

Overall, one can conclude that across sub-regions of the Americas, the alternative finance industry remains in flux, where business models continue to be fine-tuned in line with both regulatory changes, as well as market demands.

Country	Changes to Business Model	%
Argentina	No Significant Changes	56%
	Slightly Changed	11%
	Significantly Changed	33%
Brazil	No Significant Changes	38%
	Slightly Changed	29%
	Significantly Changed	34%
Chile	No Significant Changes	47%
	Slightly Changed	13%
	Significantly Changed	40%
Colombia	No Significant Changes	41%
	Slightly Changed	24%
	Significantly Changed	34%
Mexico	No Significant Changes	52%
	Slightly Changed	29%
	Significantly Changed	19%
Peru	No Significant Changes	38%
	Slightly Changed	54%
	Significantly Changed	8%

Changes to Products & Services

Figure 5.16: Changes in products and services by model- 2018



We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and services in 2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Changes in products and services are as prevalent as changes in business models among platforms. Rates of change in products and services are, as would be expected, more frequent than those in the business itself. In 2018, 81% of Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms kept their business models unaltered, but only 71% of them did not change a product or a service. Following that model, Profit/ Revenue Sharing and Balance-sheet Lending were the segments where least change was observed, and 44% and 43% of platforms respectively, kept their products and services unaltered. P2P/ Marketplace platforms have high rates of change for all segments served. Over a third of platforms attending business and consumers have introduced a new product or service in 2018. Finally, more than 50% of platforms in Reward-based Crowdfunding as well as in Debt-based Securities models launched a new product or service.


Figure 5.17: Changes in products and services by sub-region-2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Canada saw some of the highest rates of change, while platforms from LAC and the US were relatively more stable. In this instance, significant alterations to Canadian firms have resulted in a softer year, while having the opposite effect in Latin America and the US. In the US, only 11% of platforms introduced new products or services, and a third kept the same portfolio as the previous year. Nonetheless, 59% of the platforms introduced slight adaptations in their products or services. In Canada, 61% of platforms slightly modified their product or service, 19% introduced new products and 19% did not make any changes through 2018.

In LAC, around a third of platforms innovated with new products and services, a third made slight changes in their portfolio and a third operated with the same products and services.

Country	Changes to Business Model	%
	No Significant Changes	22%
Argentina	Slightly Changed	44%
	Significantly Changed	33%
	No Significant Changes	16%
Brazil	Slightly Changed	55%
	Significantly Changed	29%
	No Significant Changes	24%
Chile	Slightly Changed	24%
	Significantly Changed	53%
	No Significant Changes	39%
Colombia	Slightly Changed	19%
	Significantly Changed	42%
	No Significant Changes	36%
Mexico	Slightly Changed	23%
	Significantly Changed	41%
Peru	No Significant Changes	17%
	Slightly Changed	22%
	Significantly Changed	61%

R&D initiatives:

	Payment Processing	Customer Verification	Process Streamlining and Automation	Artificial intelligence and Performance Enhancement Features	Community Management Features and Tools	Social Media and Fundraiser Promotional Tools	Customer Relationship Management Systems	E-learning Features for Users	Gamification Features for User Engagements
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	9%	22%	20%	21%	3%	3%	10%	6%	6%
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	9%	16%	22%	18%	3%	8%	13%	6%	4%
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	9%	12%	29%	26%	3%	0%	12%	6%	3%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	8%	18%	21%	15%	6%	5%	14%	4%	9%
Balance Sheet Business Lending	6%	15%	23%	17%	6%	11%	14%	5%	3%
Balance Sheet Property Lending	0%	8%	23%	46%	8%	8%	8%	0%	0%
Invoice Trading	8%	21%	27%	18%	6%	5%	10%	3%	3%
Debt-based Securities	7%	18%	22%	16%	4%	11%	9%	7%	7%
Equity-based Crowdfunding	8%	14%	25%	5%	6%	11%	15%	12%	6%
Real Estate Crowdfunding	18%	14%	18%	12%	4%	13%	17%	4%	2%
Revenue Sharing	6%	15%	21%	9%	15%	15%	9%	3%	6%
Reward-based Crowdfunding	9%	9%	18%	4%	7%	22%	15%	10%	4%
Donation-based Crowdfunding	11%	12%	12%	8%	13%	13%	9%	9%	12%

We slightly altered products and services in 2018

Research & Development is a critically vital business strategy for firms across the region, allowing for platforms to continuously evolve and improve the services they provide.

In 2018, investments in 'process streamlining & automation' and 'customer verification' led as the main objectives of R&D for almost all models.

Other initiatives which investments have also been considerable were AI and Performance enhancement. 46% of Balance Sheet Property Lending platforms have reported investing in this domain. Furthermore, 22% of R&D investments from Reward-based Crowdfunding platforms aimed at improvements in social media and fundraiser promotion.

Internationalization - Inflow & Outflow



Figure 5.18: Inflow rate and Outflow rate by model

Across the region, certain models lend themselves best for cross-border activity. Platforms that service business customers tend to have some of the highest outflow rates, with customers outside of their borders. This is most prevalent for Balance Sheet Business Lending models, with 48% of outflows going to fundraisers outside of the country. Invoice Trading (at 36%) and Equity Crowdfunding (12%) also saw high levels of outflow funding.

In contrast to the rest of the world, P2P/ Marketplace Consumer Lending platforms in the Americas are majority operating within their own borders, and cross border transactions remain at low levers, with only 7% of inbound and 1% of outbound flows. Balance-Sheet Business Lending and Invoice Trading are the most internationalized models in the region, receiving funding for crossborder in 19% and 23% of transactions, and serving clients in other countries in 48% and 36% of operations. Non-investment based crowdfunding also operated across borders more often, especially receiving funds from abroad with reward-based models having an inflow rate of 7% and donationbased 8%.



154

Figure 5.19: Inflow rate and Outflow rate by region

When considering cross border flows at a regional level, it is clear that LAC has the highest instances of activity. This is not all together surprising, given the increasing amount of internationalization from firms within the LAC regions. With a growing number of firms expanding their international presence, it is not all together surprising that some 14% of funding came from retail or institutional investors from outside of the fundraiser's country. This inflow rate shows that there is increasing interest from nondomestic investors in the LAC market. Outflow, at 2%, is much smaller, with fewer instances of retail investors from within the region to look abroad or outside their country borders.

At a model level, LAC inflow is most prevalent from Balance Sheet Property Lending (76%) Debt-based Crowdfunding (63%) and P2P Consumer Lending (53%). For almost all other models, inflow rates were considerably lower, indicating that demand for new asset classes is prevalent from domestic retail and institutional investors alike

Inflow Rates of Key Models within LAC

LAC Model	Inflow Rate
Balance Sheet Property Lending	76%
Debt-based Crowdfunding	63%
P2P Consumer Lending	53%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	29%
Invoice Trading	18%
Reward Crowdfunding	7%
Real Estate Crowdfunding	3%
P2P Property Lending	3%
Equity Crowdfunding	3%
P2P Business Lending	2%
Donation Crowdfunding	2%
Revenue Sharing	2%

Financial Inclusion

Financial inclusion is an increasingly important topic when discussing stakeholders of alternative finance. Throughout the Americas, the demographic information on both the funders and fundraisers indicate that both women and men are utilizing alternative finance. However, women for the most part tend to participate at a lower proportion than their male counterparts. Additionally, this research also sought to understand the banked status of debt-based borrowers. This gives a general overview of the reach of the existing financial market in the region, as well as where online alternative finance complements or fills a gap in services. The survey also looked at the income status of funders to understand the levels of participation at various income levels. This will show a clearer demographic distribution of how various income level individuals participate across the region.

Banking Status of Borrowers



Canada saw the majority of its platform userbase (84%) consist of underbanked individuals, which indicates online alternative finance might be offering financial services to consumers that are traditionally underserved by traditional banking or service providers. Only 15% of users were identified as banked, whereas 1% were unbanked.

Both in LAC and US markets, online alternative

finance platforms identify the majority of users as banked individuals. In LAC, 63% of platform users were identified as banked individuals, while 23% were underbanked and 14% as unbanked. In the US, the highest rate of banked users is noted, with 72%, while 26% are considered underbanked and just 1% unbanked. This may suggest platforms are serving consumers that, despite being able to acquire a banking product or service, would opt for an online platform for reasons other than lack of access, such as quality of service or price advantages. Nonetheless, in both sub-regions around a quarter of users served by platforms are

Income Status by Region



considered underbanked, and these alternative services potentially enhance the financial inclusion of these consumers.



In Canada and in the US, the largest share of investors are identified as middle income, with 57% of the total. Contrastingly, in Canada, only 4% of funders were identified as high income, while in the US, they are the second largest share of funders, with 39%. Finally, 30% of Canada's funders are considered low income, and 9% as bottom or lowest income. In the US, these respond to only 4% of funders.

In LAC, 45% of investors were identified as high income, 36% as middle income, 9% as low income and 10% as bottom or lowest income.

Gender



Figure 5.22: Female Funder and Fundraiser Rates, Over-all Americas

When observing the entire Americas region, women remain most active in non-investment based models, but are becoming more active in other markets in the online alternative finance landscape. Women are the majority of fundraisers in Reward-based Crowdfunding, having increased their participation from 47% in 2017 to 54% in 2018. They are also the majority of funders, with a rise in their rate of participation from 53% in 2017 to 56% in 2018. The female fundraiser rate in Donation-based Crowdfunding increased from 61% in 2017 to 72% in 2018, while among funders, the rate of females increased from 46% in 2017 to 47% in 2018. In P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending, women have enlarged their participation among fundraisers from 38% in 2017 to 50% in 2018. Among funders, the gender rate also increased significantly, albeit from a smaller baseline, from 14% to 23%. P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending also had the rate of female fundraisers rising from 18% in 2017 to 22% in 2018. However, for that model, the female funder rate dropped from the previous year, from 26% to 6%.

Balance Sheet Business Lending saw a reduction in female rate among fundraisers from 37% in 2017 to 30% in 2018, while female funder rate in this model was as small as 5%. With respect to Invoice Trading, female participation increased both among fundraisers from 17% to 19%, and funders, from 22% to 23% in 2018.

Equity-based Crowdfunding saw an increase in the female fundraiser rate, from 21% in 2017 to 23% in 2018. The female funder rate in this model dropped, from 34% to 31%.

For Real Estate Crowdfunding, female rate dropped significantly for fundraisers, from 13% to 6%, as well as for funders, from 22% in 2017 to 13% in 2018.



LAC leads both the female fundraisers and funders rate, with 34% and 22% respectively. It is followed by Canada, with a 30% female fundraisers rate and a 19% female funder rate. In the US the female fundraiser rate is 25% and the female funder rate 17%.



Figure 5.24: Female Participation Rate by Key Models in LAC

157

When we look specifically at female participation from key models just in LAC, we see considerably high rates of female fundraiser participation in certain models. Donation Crowdfunding, as per the over-all regional trend, has the highest rate of female fundraisers (55%). This was also the case for P2P Consumer Lending (49%) and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (48%). High participation of female fundraisers was also observed in most Business focused models. Interestingly, female investor or funder rates diverged more significantly across models, with only Revenue Sharing and Real Estate Crowdfunding having a higher proportion of female funders than that of fundraisers. Though over-all female funder rates were lower than those observed from fundraisers within most models, LAC has quite high levels of female participation when compared to the rest of the region, and against Europe and Asia.

Risk & Regulations in the US & Canada

Perception towards Risk



Figure 5.25: Perceived risks of platforms by region - 2018

In Canada, firms are most concerned with Cybersecurity risk (63% ranking this as a high to very high risk), followed by the Emergence of TechFins (36%), Notable Increase in defaults (33%) and Changes in Regulation (27%). Over-all, most Canadian firms registered relatively low levels of concern for most risk-factors. US firms were most concerned with Cyber-security risk (30%), and Change in Regulation and Notable Increases in Default both ranked the same, with 26% of firms indicating these as High to Very High risks. A quarter for firms also noted the Emergence of TechFins as a high risk consideration.

Perception towards existing Regulation

Figure 5.26: Perception towards existing regulation-2018



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities 🛛 📕 Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities

Excessive and too strict for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed

No Specific Regulation and needed 🛛 📕 Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

In the US, firms overwhelmingly viewed existing regulations favorably, with 76% of Debt-models, 72% of Equity-models and 83% of Non Investmentmodels noting regulation as 'adequate and appropriate'. A quarter of Equity-model firms viewed the existing regulation as 'excessive and too strict'.

Turning to Canada, there was a bit more divergence across model-categories, though on the whole firms seem to view existing regualtion favorably. Debtmodels saw the most considerable divergence, with 50% indicating regualtion as 'adequate and appropraite', 27% as 'excessive and too strict', 18% noting 'no specific regulation and not needed' and a final 5% indicating that their activites fell under 'no specific regulation but was needed'. Equity firms also tended to view regulation favorably, with 67% noting it as 'adequate and appropriate' while 33% noted 'excessive and too strict'. 75% of Non Investment models noted regulation as 'adequate and appropriate' while a further 25% indicated that 'no specific regulation existed and was not needed'.

Figure 5.27: The extent of existing regulation-2018



Regulatory Authorization is not required for my business activities

When considering the extent to which firms are regulated, we note that a significant divide exists in how debt-models exist within Canada. Debt-models in Canada tend to be either formally authorised (48%), not authorised and not required to be (48%) or not authorised but working with an appointed representative (4%). This is less the case with Equity models, that almost unanimously tend to be authorised (90%). In the US, Debt-models tend to have a similar authorization experience, with 49% noting that they are authorised, 4% noting interim permissions, 12% not authorised but with an appointed represenative in place and 35% not authorised with no need for authorisation. For Equity models, 81% are authorised, 7% have interim permissions and 11% operate without authorisation.



A Case Study on the CFPB's No Action Letter to Upstart Network

On September 14th 2017, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) issued a noaction letter to Upstart Network Inc²⁴. Upstart Network is an online lending platform for consumers to apply for personal loans, credit card and refinancing, student loans and debt consolidation. The key differentiation in their offering, for which they sought the no-action letter (NAL), is the use of alternative data to complement traditional factors for approval of credit²⁵. By expanding the number and type of data sources used to assess credit history, Upstart's underwriting model has the potential lower the cost of credit and to expand access to credit for underserved consumer segments²⁶.

The use of alternative data for credit approval does carry potential risks, most significantly use of alternative data and emerging technologies such as machine learning, could cause the model to violate anti-discrimination laws. As a consequence, over the last 22 months the CFPB have worked to answer several key questions related to access to credit and fair lending including:

1. Does Upstart Network's use of alternative data and machine learning expand access to credit and reduce cost of credit compared to the traditional model?

2. Does Upstart Network's underwriting model result in greater disparities than the traditional model with respect to race, ethnicity, sex, or age?²⁵

On consideration of these questions the CFPB yielded results that showed that the tested model approves 27% more applicants than the traditional model and yields 16% lower average APRs for approved loans²⁶. The expansion of credit access was also reflected across segments of differing races, ethnicities and sexes. Furthermore, benefits for those usually approved by traditional methods were also found with "near prime" consumers with FICO scores from 620 to 660 approved twice as frequently. Other results show that applicants under 25 years of age are 32% more likely to be improved and consumers with incomes under \$50,000 are 13% more likely to be approved.

These results demonstrate that Upstart's underwriting model has the ability to identify differences in risk between applicants with no or limited credit history. This enables Upstart and its bank partner to expand credit access and offer better loan terms to promising individuals with limited credit history. By complementing (not replacing) traditional underwriting signals with other variables that are correlated with financial capacity and repayment propensity, Upstart's model understands and quantifies risk associated with all borrowers—both those with credit history and those without²⁶.

The Upstart Network platform aligns with the CFPB's wider intention to explore ways that alternative data may be used to improve access and cost of credit²⁴. The CFPB estimates that 26 million Americans are "credit invisible" meaning that they have no credit history. Another estimated 19 million have credit history that is insufficient to produce a credit score under most scoring models²⁴. Alternative data could allow data sources such as bill payments, electronic transactions, and other information that may be less closely tied to a person's financial conduct and literacy to provide new insights and improve decisions in the credit process. The issuing of the NAL for Upstart demonstrates the potential of alternative data and emerging technologies in supporting communities underserved and disadvantaged by the traditional model. Further innovation could revolutionise credit scoring methods and support 45 million Americans in achieving financial stability and security.

Risk & Regulations in LAC

Figure 5.28: Perceived risks of platforms by region - 2018



In LAC, 'Changes to regulation' was the most prevalent concern for platforms, with 39% of respondents classifying this risk factor as high or very high. Campaign Fraud was also observed as high or very high risk by 27% of firms, and notable increase in defaults and cybersecurity breaches appeared as the third most significant risk factors.

Figure 5.29: Perception towards existing regulation-2018



Excessive and too strict for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed

No Specific Regulation and needed Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

Across the region, regulatory adequacy is quite divergent. In the case of Debt-based model firms, 44% considered existing regulation as 'adequate and appropriate', 11% considered it 'inadequate and too relaxed', 15% 'excessive and too strict', 8% noted that there was 'no specific regulation and that it is not needed', 16% that there was 'no regulation but it was needed' and 5% claimed that alternative finance is currently not legalized in their country.

52% of Equity-based Platforms indicated existing regulation as 'adequate and appropriate', 10% consider it 'inadequate and too relaxed', 10% consider it 'excessive and too strict', 8% claim

there is 'no specific regulation and it is not needed', 4% claim there is 'no specific regulation and it is needed', 17% claim alternative finance is not legalized in their country.

60% of Non-Investment Platforms considered existing regulation as 'adequate and appropriate', 3% considered it 'inadequate and too relaxed', 21% considered it 'excessive and too strict', 3% claim there is 'no specific regulation and it is not needed', 6% claim there is no specific regulation and it is needed while 7% claim alternative finance is not legalized in their country.

Extent of being regulated

Figure 5.30: The extent of existing regulation-2018

an	Debt-based Models	59%	5%	6%	29%
n Ame nd th ribbe	Equity-based Models	58%	10%		33%
Latir al Ca	Non-investment based Models	63%		17%	20%

My platform is authorised in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has a relationship with another licensed institution (ie Appointed Representative) that serves as our agent

(le Appointeu Representative) that serves as our agent

Regulatory Authorization is not required for my business activities

Given the divergent perceptions towards existing regulation across LAC, it is not surprising that the authorisation status of firms would also diverge significantly. When looking at debt-models, 59% were authorised within their jurisdiction, while a further 29% noted no authorisation needed for their operations. 5% were operating under interim permissions and 6% were utilising an appointed representative relationship. For Equity models, 58% were authorised, 33% were not and denoted that authorisation was not needed, and 10% were functioning with interim permissions. Finally, 63% of non-investment models had authorisation within their jurisdiction, 20% did not and 17% had interim permissions.

Regulatory Friendliness and Alternative Finance Volume per Capita

In our analysis of the relationship between perceived regulatory adequacy and volumes per capita in the Americas, we have only included countries where at least 4 platforms answered related questions. Accordingly, perceived regulation adequacy represents the relative share of platforms in country indicating regulation is "adequate and appropriate for my platform activities".

Similar to other regions, our findings show a positive effect, where the more adequate national regulation is perceived to be by platforms the higher the per capita volumes in the same country.

Figure 5.27: Perceived Regulation Adequacy vs. Volume per Capita 2018 (Log Scale) Americas - All Platforms



6. A Regional Discussion on The Middle East

Chapter 6: A Regional Discussion on The Middle East

Total Regional volume

The online alternative finance industry in the Middle East has experienced substantial growth, a trend which has accelerated rapidly in the last few years. Between 2013 and 2018, over \$1.61 billion was raised through these channels. Nearly half of this total figure was raised in 2018, when a total of \$800.5 million was recorded, more than doubling the volume raised in 2017 (see figure 1). The average annual growth in the Middle East alternative finance sector over the last six years was 93%, showing relatively stable growth year on year. saw impressive growth. The vast majority of volume came from domestically based firms, accounting for \$771 million (96%) of the region's total volume. This is a significant shift from 2017, when only 66% of activity stemmed from domestic firms.

It is worth noting here that, with the exception of Israel, most Middle Eastern markets have seen relatively small volumes in recent years, making reporting more prone to relative strong year-onyear fluctuations in absolute figures and percentage terms for these countries.

In 2018, all 13²⁹ countries included in our sample





166

Total volume by model (2016-2018)

As seen in figure 2, five different models dominated the alternative finance space in the Middle East in 2018- P2P Property Lending; P2P Consumer Lending; P2P Business Lending; Invoice Trading and Equity Crowdfunding. Combined, these top five models accounted for 97% of the Middle East's total online alternative finance volume in 2018.

The largest model by volume in the Middle East was P2P Property Lending. This model, which only reported regional volumes for the first time 2017, saw an exponential growth of 827% for 2018, the highest year on year growth rate for 2017-18. Volumes increased from \$60 million in 2017 to \$556.46 million in 2018. It accounted for 70% of total regional volumes in 2018, thus emerging as the leading model in the region. P2P Consumer Lending was the second leading model, with \$97.12 million in market volumes in 2018, accounting for 12% of total volumes. The model has raised over \$256 million between 2014 and 2018, with an annual average growth rate of 286% over this period. However, the model experienced a decline of 17% in activities for 2017-18, after reporting growth rates of 596%, 313% and 254% during 2014-15, 2015-16 and 2016-17, respectively.

Next, P2P Business Lending raised \$47.22 million in 2018, with a year on year growth rate of 95% since 2017. Over the last five years, this model has reported \$92.37 million in transaction volumes in the Middle East, 51% of which came in in 2018. Invoice Trading, which first reported volumes in 2016, has seen a tremendous growth in the last two years- increasing from \$3.86 million in 2016 to \$44.46 million in 2018, at an annual average growth of 240%. Each of these models contributed for 6% of year's volume.

Equity-based Crowdfunding was the key exception to this otherwise consistent trend of increase across models. Although it was the leading driver of volume in 2017 (at \$124.14 million), its volume fell by 72% to \$34.29 million for 2018. The model accounted for mere 4% of total transaction volume in 2018, compared to 36% in 2017. Interestingly, this was the first double digit decline for the model since its inception. Over the last six years, the model has raised \$448.45 million from platforms throughout the Middle East.

Outside this top five models, various other alternative finance firms operated in the Middle East in 2018. Of these smaller models, Balance Sheet Business Lending was the largest- it reported regional volumes of \$8.87 million in 2018, the first year for which they reported. Real Estate Crowdfunding accounted for \$1.34 million volumes in 2018, a decrease of 20% from its 2017 figure of \$1.67 million.

Non-financial models gained back their momentum in 2018, following a period of general decline. Combined, these non-financial models accounted for 1.3% of total volumes in the region for 2018. Reward-based Crowdfunding grew by 45% year on year between 2017 and 2018, rising to \$8.41 million - an increase which came after they experienced a decline in activities and fell 58% in 2016-17. Over the last six years, this model has raised nearly \$50 million, at an annual average growth of 58%. Donation-based Crowdfunding saw a similar increase in its activities in 2018, growing by 59% to raise \$2.37 million in 2018. The model had previously lost nearly all of its volume during 2015-16, falling by 99% from \$7.28 million to \$0.07 million.



Figure 6.2: Online Alternative Finance by Model for the Middle East (2013-2018)

Top 3 countries by each model type

To examine in more granular detail the state of alternative finance in the Middle East, Figure 3 identifies the top three countries by volume for key model types in 2018. Israel continued to dominate the alternative finance industry in the Middle East, with the highest volume for six out of nine models in the region. The United Arab Emirates led in volumes for two other models, and was second to Israel in a further two. Additionally, Lebanon, Palestine, Kuwait and Jordan made up the top 3 contributors for the models. Israel was the market leader for the P2P Property Lending sphere, with a total volume of \$556.46 million in 2018. It was also the market leader in P2P Consumer Lending (\$85.89 million), Equitybased Crowdfunding (\$29.30 million), P2P Business Lending (\$28.38 million), Reward-based Crowdfunding (\$8.17 million) and Donation-based Crowdfunding (\$0.92 million). Notably, the country accounted for all the Middle Eastern volumes for P2P Property Lending and over 85% of total regional volumes for P2P Consumer Lending, Equity-based Crowdfunding and Reward-based Crowdfunding. Additionally, Israel's volume contributed the second largest amount for Invoice Trading (\$16.69 million).

The United Arab Emirates was second to Israel in overall volume, it was the market leader for Invoice Trading (\$27.77 million), contributing 62% of the model's total volume. It also led for Real Estate Crowdfunding (\$1.34 million), accounting for all the model's volume for 2018. The UAE also contributed the second highest volume to Equity-based Crowdfunding (\$4.81 million) and Business Lending (\$16.33 million).

Jordan was the market leader for Balance Sheet Business Lending, contributing for the model's entire volume (\$8.87 million) for the Middle East in 2018. Additionally, Jordan had the third highest volume of P2P Business Lending (\$2.25 million).

Lebanon and Palestine were the second and third top contributors for P2P Consumer Lending with volumes of \$6.06 million and \$3.46 million respectively. Kuwait was the third highest market by volume for Equity-based Crowdfunding, with a volume of \$0.18 million.

When excluding Israel as regional outlier, it becomes apparent that the Middle East exhibits some of the lowest regional volumes of alternative finance globally, and some of the largest unfulfilled potentials. This can be explained by the dichotomy between rich economies with limited needs for such services (e.g. most Gulf States) and developing Middle Income economies with greater needs (e.g. Jordan, Lebanon, and Irag). However, it is possible that adherence to Islamic finance practices, may constrain developments in the lending sphere. While some lending activities are recorded in middle income economies such as Jordan, Lebanon and Palestine, these are mostly associated with pro-social lending rather than profit oriented investments. The UAE represents the only exception in the Arab world with respect to its experiments with other investment models such as Invoice Trading and Equity Crowdfunding.



168

Figure 6.3: Top 3 Countries by Model - 2018

The vitality of alternative finance business funding

Ensuring the strength and vitality of the SME sector is seen as a priority for policymakers throughout the Middle East. As has been shown over the last few years, particularly in our reports, the online alternative finance sector has grown to become a key funding mechanism for entrepreneurs, startups, as well as micro, small and medium-sized businesses globally.

To be able to continue to track the development of business focused finance in the region, the research team calculated the total online alternative funding attributed to business through aggregating the 2018 volumes from: P2P Business Lending, Balance Sheet Business Lending, Invoice Trading, Equitybased Crowdfunding, Debt-based Securities, and Revenue/Profit Sharing. Relevant volumes that were specifically attributed to businesses by P2P/ Markeplace Consumer and Property Lending, Real Estate Crowdfunding, as well as Donation-based and Reward-based Crowdfunding models were also included. 35% of web scraped reward-based crowdfunding volume was attributed to business funding. Fundraising for projects unrelated to a business were excluded from this figure.

Business specific alternative finance volume was \$759.78 million in 2018, accounting for nearly 95% of the Middle East's overall alternative finance volume. This is a significant growth of 243% from the 2017 business volume of \$221.56 million. Much of this growth can be attributed to P2P Property Lending, which reported an exponential growth of 827% between 2017 and 2018.

Of the total volume which businesses raised through alternative finance in the Middle East in 2018, 95.3% (\$724.1 million) was generated through Debt-based models, as seen in figure 5. Interestingly, the dominance of lending models remains even when excluding Israel, implying that debt also dominates in majority Muslim countries. 4.51% (\$34.3 million) was through Equity-based models and the remaining 0.18% came from non-investment models such as Reward-based or Donation-based Crowdfunding. This dominance of debt-based models markets a significant change from previous years, with the portion derived from Equity-based models having declined considerably from 56% in 2017 to 4.51% in 2018. Figure 6.4: Overall SME finance annual volume by year



Figure 6.5: Debt vs Equity vs Non-investment models Online Alternative Business Finance - 2018



Institutionalisation

To truly understand the alternative finance market across the continent, we need to understand who is making use of it. We thus observed how institutions interacted with alternative finance platforms. In tracking the proportion of volume that had originated from these institutional investors, we hope to shed light on the different ways that institutions have engaged and collaborated with alternative finance platforms.

In the Middle East, investor activity was by and large driven by individuals rather than institutions. The overall percentage of institutionalisation was at 11.8% for the region.

Balance Sheet Business Lending, which reported regional volumes for the first time in 2018, had the highest proportion of institutional funding (75%), which contributed to \$6.70 million to their total volume. Equity-based Crowdfunding had the second highest proportion of institutional investment, drawing 21% of their funding, \$7.18 million, from this source. Although this figure marks an increase of 8% compared to 2017, a greater increase in non-institutional funding meant that the total volume of institutional funding for this model actually declined from a 2017 peak of \$10.04 million.

The volume of funding which P2P Business Lending and Invoice Trading firms derive from institutional investors has increased both in terms of volumes and proportion for 2018. Nearly 8% of P2P Business Lending volumes (\$3.64 million) came from institutional investors, compared to 1.8% (\$0.44 million) during 2017. Similarly, Invoice Trading raised 4.7% (\$2.08 million) of funds from institutional investors, compared to 2.5% (\$0.31 million) in 2017.

The remaining alternative finance models had much lower levels of institutional participation. For instance, P2P Consumer Lending (\$2.43 million) and Reward-based Crowdfunding (\$0.21 million) each had 2.5% of their funds coming from institutions in 2018- a proportion which had decreased from 7% and 9% respectively in 2017. Donation-based Crowdfunding had the lowest proportion of institutional funding, at 1.4% (\$0.03 million) of total funding received.





Innovation

Changes to Business Model and Products

As a new and evolving market, firms operating in the alternative finance space frequently make changes to their model. To better understand the degree of evolution among firms, platforms across the region were asked whether they had made any changes to their business model in 2018. In particular, the research team wanted to understand if platforms were modifying the operations of their business through new practices or from moving into new models within the taxonomy, catering to different investors or different income streams.

Overall, in the Middle East, almost all the platforms other than non-financial models indicated that they had either significantly or slightly altered their business model in 2018.

As indicated, all the platforms operating under the P2P Property Lending model in the region have had

major changes to their business model during 2018. Similarly, Balance Sheet Business Lending, Invoice Trading and Equity-based Crowdfunding platforms all indicated they made moderate changes to their business model. The platforms conducting P2P Consumer Lending all made changes to their business model, with an even split between whether they had made significant or slight changes. The majority (75%) of the P2P Business Lending platforms specified moderate changes to their model.

By contrast, almost all the platforms operating under non-financial models (ie Reward-based and Donation-based crowdfunding) noted that they had made no significant changes to their business model during 2018.

170



Figure 6.7: Changes to business model by model-2018

We significantly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018

With regard to changes in product and service offerings, there were some differences when compared to which firms made changes to their business model. With the exception of Balance Sheet Business Lending and non-financial models, 50% or more of all models introduced significantly new products and services during 2018. Model types which introduced a significant degree of new products and services in 2018 included P2P Property Lending (where 100% of platforms did so), P2P Business Lending (75%), Invoice Trading (67%), P2P Consumer Lending (50%) and Equity-based Crowdfunding (50%).

By contrast, Balance Sheet Business Lending and Reward-based Crowdfunding platforms indicated that only slight changes were made to their existing products and services in 2018. A majority (83%) of the Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms specified no significant changes to their products and services during the year.



Figure 6.8: Changes to products and services by model-2018

We slightly altered products and services in 2018 We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Research and Development Initiatives

Platforms were asked to indicate the research and development priorities that they were actively pursuing. Platforms in the Middle East tended to focus on three overarching areas of R&D – Efficiency Enhancements, Customer Service, and Customer Experience. For most of the models, R&D efforts were not too focused on any particular initiative. Overall, Payment Processing was reported as the leading area of focus, followed by Community Management Features and Tools and Customer Verification.

P2P Business and Property Lending platforms tended to devote resources to developing Payment Processing, Customer Verification and Community Management Features and Tools. Notably, all Invoice Trading platforms reported that they had focused their R&D efforts on the development of Payment Processing only.

For the remaining models, R&D initiatives were noted in several areas but at relatively low levels. P2P Consumer Lending platforms reported that they had R&D initiatives in all the areas examined except that of Gamification Features for User Engagements, with their highest level of R&D focus being Customer Verification and Community Management Features and Tools (at 20% each).

Similarly, Equity-based Crowdfunding and

Donation-based Crowdfunding had R&D initiatives in all the areas examined. The highest share of these platforms focused on the development of Community Management Features and Tools, Social Media and Fundraiser Promotional Tools, Customer Relationship Management Systems and Gamification Features for User Engagements, at 15% each for Equity-based Crowdfunding, while 14% of Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms noted efforts in Process Streamlining and Automation.

Across all business models, the initiatives with the least amount of interest were E-learning and Gamification Features for Users.

	Payment Processing	Customer Verification	Process Streamlining and Automation	Artificial intelligence and Performance Enhancement Features	Community Management Features and Tools	Social Media and Fundraiser Promotional Tools	Customer Relationship Management Systems	E-learning Features for Users	Gamification Features for User Engagements
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	10%	20%	10%	10%	20%	10%	10%	10%	0%
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	50%	25%	0%	0%	25%	0%	0%	0%	0%
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	33%	33%	0%	0%	33%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	0%	14%	14%	14%	14%	14%	14%	14%	0%
Invoice Trading	100%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Equity-based Crowdfunding	8%	8%	8%	8%	15%	15%	15%	8%	15%
Revenue Sharing	0%	0%	17%	17%	17%	17%	17%	0%	17%
Donation-based Crowdfunding	13%	13%	14%	7%	13%	13%	7%	7%	13%

Figure 6.9: R&D Initiatives by model-2018

Internationalisation

Platforms responded to a series of questions related to the proportion of their transactions which could be considered cross-border flows. In particular, the research team wanted to understand the proportion of funds which could be considered inflows (i.e. funds from investors which came from abroad) and outflows (i.e. funds which went to fundraisers abroad).

Figures 6.10 and 6.11 show that alternative finance platforms in the Middle East tend to rely more on domestic volumes rather than cross-border transactions. In 2018, nearly 10% of the region's volumes were attributed to cross-border inflows, while the cross-border outflows were less than 1% of total volumes. Equity-based Crowdfunding had the highest crossborder activity in 2018, with 73% of its transaction volume attributed to cross-border inflows. The increase in international presence is largely driven by greater interest in Israel from American- and European-based firms, in particular regarding SME finance. Donation-based Crowdfunding had the second highest percentage of cross-border inflows, at 17% of total volumes. This is followed by P2P Business Lending and Invoice Trading, with 11% and 9% of their respective volumes coming from outside the region. However, these models, with the exception of donation-based crowdfunding, each had 1% of their total volumes associated with crossborder outflows.



Inflow and outflow by proportion of volume Figure 6.10: Funding Inflow and Outflow rate by Region -2018

Internationalisation Strategy

In general, the Middle East alternative finance sector is more domestically focused than internationally focused. The most popular Internationalisation strategy across the region was having a global website and brand, with 74% of platforms opting for this approach. This strategy was utilized by all Real Estate Crowdfunding platforms, 86% of Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms, 80% of Reward-based Crowdfunding platforms, and 33% of Equity-based Crowdfunding and P2P Business Lending platforms.

The next popular strategy utilized by platforms, with 19% of firms opting for it, was that of utilizing a global brand but localizing the website to the particular market. This was used by all Invoice Trading and P2P Property Lending platforms, 67% of P2P Business Lending platforms, 33% of Equity-based Crowdfunding platforms, 17% of P2P Consumer Lending platforms, and 10% of Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms.

Another 5% of platforms indicated no international expansion strategy and mainly relied on local website and brand only. This was especially the case for platforms with non-financial models, as seen in 20% of Reward-based Crowdfunding and 3% of Donation-based Crowdfunding platforms. Finally, the remaining 2% of platforms were using intermediary/aggregator website for institutionalisation- a trend mainly seen in Equitybased Crowdfunding platforms, where it was adopted by 33% of firms.



173

Figure 6.12: Internationalisation Strategy by Region-2018



Figure 6.13: Internationalisation Strategy by Model -2018

Financial Inclusion

The Banked Status of Borrowers

To have a more complete understanding of the impact of online alternative finance on financial inclusiveness, it is important to understand the banked status of individuals utilizing the platforms. To do this, platforms were asked to identify the proportion of their platform users that were 'unbanked' (were not served by or do not have access to any traditional financial service), 'underbanked' (users that have access to some basic financial services/a bank account, but do not have access to a complete suite) and 'banked' (users that have access to a full suite of financial services). In the Middle East, the borrower userbase primarily consisted of banked individuals, with a total of 95% of users defined as banked. Underbanked and unbanked accounted for the remaining 3% and 2% of borrowers respectively. This could signify that borrowers are utilizing these online alternative channels mainly as an additional means of finance to the existing sources.

In this sense, so far, alternative finance has not served as a force for democratization of access to finance in the Middle East.





It is also important to examine the income status of funders involved in online alternative finance. In the Middle East, the majority of the funders on alternative finance channels were identified as High-Income individuals, at 77% of the total.

Figure 6.15: Income Status of Funders -2018

Middle-Income category funders were the next largest group of funders, at 16%, and the remaining 7% of funders base were classed Low-Income individuals. There was no participation from the lowest income groups.



174

Gender Dynamics

Understanding whether and to what extent alternative finance plays a role in increasing financial inclusion and in bridging systemic gender gaps for both funders and fundraisers deserves greater attention. However, there is currently only limited evidence-based research. Over the past few years, the CCAF has sought to track female participation in order to better understand the demographics of alternative finance on a regional and global level.

At 42%, the female funder rate in the Middle East was higher compared to the fundraiser rate (36%). In the Middle East, like in other regions, non-investment models continue to attract highest proportion of female participation.

In 2018, Donation-based Crowdfunding had the highest levels of female market participation as both fundraisers and funders, accounting for 78% and 35% respectively. Compared to 2017, the proportion of female fundraisers increased from 36%, while the proportion of female funders dropped from 46%.

Equity-based Crowdfunding had the second

highest level of female fundraisers, at 67%, up considerably from 2017's rate of 17%. However, this model continued to have the lowest levels of female funders across all the models, at 13% (up from 7% in 2017).

Nevertheless, such share of female equity fundraisers may provide an indication that alternative finance may serve as a channel for circumventing gender biases that are even more prevalent in the Middle East than most other regions

P2P Lending models (Consumer and Business Lending) had very similar levels of female funder participation, at 35% and 37%, respectively. However, at 44% P2P Consumer Lending had more than twice the rate the women fundraisers than P2P Business Lending, which had only 20%. This represented an increase from 2017 levels, where P2P Business Lending had 11% of female fundraisers and 22% of funders.

Interestingly, there was an equal level of female participation (funders and fundraisers) for Invoice Trading, at 20%, an increase from 2017, when 10% of fundraisers and 15% of funders were female.



Figure 6.16: Percentage of Female Participation in the Middle East -2018

Risks and Regulation

The Extent and Perception towards Existing Regulation

Overall perceptions towards existing regulation in the Middle East have changed notably over the last year. Significant positive and negative shifts were seen, with clear differences between different business models. In general, the proportion of platforms considering existing regulation as adequate and appropriate increased significantly for equity-based and non-investment models, while the proportion declined for debt-based models.

In 2018, 46% of debt-based platforms viewed existing regulation to be adequate and appropriate, compared with 100% in 2017. Additionally, 38% of respondents felt regulation to be excessive and too strict, indicating a clear change in opinion from the last year. The remaining 15% of firms thought there was no specific regulation and that this was needed. 69% of debt-based platforms operating in the region indicated that their platform was authorised to operate in their jurisdiction, while the remaining 31% stated they were not authorised but carried an interim permission to operate.

The majority (90%) of the equity-based platforms surveyed viewed regulation to be adequate and appropriate, an increase from 50% in 2017. Those platforms who perceived regulation to be excessive and too strict dropped from 25% in 2017 to 10% for 2018. Notably, in 2017, a quarter of equitybased platforms indicated that there was no specific regulation covering their activities, but that this was needed. 90% of equity-based platforms operating in the region stated they were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction, however the remaining 10% mentioned that the regulatory authorisation was not required for their business activities.

There is a clear positive shift in the perception of regulation among non-investment platforms. In 2018, 76% of these platforms considered existing regulation as being adequate and appropriate, as compared to none in 2017, while the share of responses stating that no specific regulation was in place and was needed shrank from 50% to 9%. None of the non-investment platforms surveyed indicated that alternative finance was not yet legalized- a clear change from 2017 where 50% of firms did. Finally, 3% of the platforms viewed regulation as inadequate and too relaxed or excessive and too strict, whereas another 9% of platforms indicated no specific regulation and not needed.

The majority (55%) of the non-investment platforms operating in the region indicated they were not authorised to operate in their jurisdiction but carried an interim permission, while 36% of firms stated they were authorised to operate. Out of the remaining platforms, 6% stated that the regulatory authorisation was not required for their business activities and, 3% indicated they were not authorised but had a relationship with another licensed institution (i.e. an appointed representative) that serves as their agent.

Figure 6.18: Perception of Regulation by Model Type -2018



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities

Excessive and too strict for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed

No Specific Regulation and needed 🛛 📕 Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

176



Figure 6.19: Extent of Existing Regulation by Model Type -2018

Regulatory Authorization is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Key Risk Factors

Respondents in the Middle East were asked to rank five risk-factors as they related to their platform's operations. Overall, most risks were viewed as 'medium' to 'low' risk by platforms, with the largest share of platforms viewing most of the risks as 'low.'

Changes to Regulation was seen as a 'medium' to 'high' risk by 84% of platforms. With regard to Campaign Fraud, 81% of platforms indicated it to be a 'medium' to 'high' risk. The perceived risk of a 'cyber-security breach', was considered 'low' by 71% of platforms, while another 20% viewed it as

Figure 6.20: Perceived risks of platforms by region - 2018

'high.' Notable Increase in Default was viewed as 'moderate risk' with 86% of platforms associate it to 'medium' to 'low' risk. However, another 14% perceive it to be a 'very high' risk, highest among all the risk factors.

The risk of Collapse due to Malpractice, was viewed to be 'Medium' to 'very low' risk by 88% of respondents. Finally, the emergence of TechFin Firms and Competition with incumbents and new entries, were seen as 'low' to 'very low' risk by more than 90% of platforms.



7. A Regional Discussion on Africa

Chapter 7: A Regional Discussion on Africa

Total Regional Volume

Total volume by year

Overall, the alternative finance market across Continental Africa raised \$209.1 million in 2018. This represents a substantial increase of 102% from the 2017 volume of \$103.8 million. This increase marks a return to the previous trend of continued growth in Africa, a trend which has seen its volume increase from \$44.4 million in 2013 to \$209.1 million in 2018. As seen in chart 7.1, this increase has been due to continuous year on year growth, with the exception of 2017.

Figures cover 38 African countries and territories, and excludes 15 countries and territories for which no alternative finance activity was reported³⁰.

Figure 7.1: Total Online Alternative Finance Volume in Africa (2013-2018) USD



This continuing increase can be partially attributed to the continued growth of Africanbased platforms. Although platforms based outside the Continent continue to dominate the market, and are responsible for the majority of African alternative finance volumes, this dominance is gradually weakening. Domestic firms' share of the market has increased from 21% in 2017 to 24% in 2018, capturing almost a guarter of the market, and double their 12% market share in 2016. This increase can be at least partially attributed to recent regulatory changes. By making the regulatory environment more enabling, these changes have contributed to the growth of domestic FinTech ecosystems as new firms are established and, more crucially, existing firms are better able to grow and expand. As the impact of these changes continues to be felt, and further reforms continue to be enacted, domestic platforms look likely to continue to increase their market share in the future.

Figure 7.2: Proportion of Volume Derived from Domestic vs. Foreign Firms, Africa, 2016-2018, USD



However, these figures should be treated with a certain degree of caution, as recent research shows that domestic volumes frequently occur via means other than formalised platforms, and the rates of domestically-driven volumes may therefore be underestimated in the above figures. Evidence suggests that Africans haven't fully adopted the use of formalised crowdfunding platforms, due to costs

and trust issues. Instead, fundraisers frequently create funding groups on regular freely available social media applications (e.g. WhatsApp, Viber) in combination with mobile money transfers, and operate via public recording of contributions in these groups' communication channels. Our report is based on information provided by platforms. We are unable to capture and estimate this informal variant of crowdfunding executed outside formalised platforms, despite its growing popularity, as it constitutes private content on private social media accounts. Accordingly, we believe our figures underestimate alternative finance in Africa due to omission of informal fundraisers via social media applications.

Total volume by model (2016-2018)

In 2018, P2P Consumer Lending was the dominant model across the African continent, with 53% of market share compared to other platform types. This represents a substantial increase from its 37% market share in 2017, and demonstrates an increasingly imbalanced market. The second most commonly used model in 2018, by market volume, was Balance Sheet Business Lending, whose \$47 million volume represents a 22% market share.

This growth has come as other models have declined. While P2P business lending has retained roughly similar funding volumes over the last three years, non-investment models in particular have seen a general decline. This is most notable in Donation-based Crowdfunding, which has declined from its 2016 peak of \$63 million to a volume of only \$12 million in 2018- where it now has a mere 6% market share. One again, it is here assumed that much donation crowdfunding activities takes place informally via private social media accounts and outside formal platforms. Other platform types, such as Equity-based and Reward-based Crowdfunding, have seen their volumes remain low and constant during the period in question.

Figure 7.3: Online Alternatvie Finance Volume by key models in Africa (2016-2018), USD



Total volume by internal regions and model

Given the size and diversity of markets throughout the continent, understanding alternative finance market activities on a regional level is particularly useful. For the purposes of this study, countries were allocated to different regions based on the United Nations definition of each region: East Africa, West Africa, Southern Africa, Central Africa and North Africa³¹.

The overall regional leader by market share was East Africa. At \$121 million, this region had a 58% market share in 2018- an 18% increase from their 40% market share of \$42 million in 2017. Southern Africa is the next largest, with a 21% market share (\$43 million), followed by West Africa at 14% (\$29 million). By contrast, Central Africa had a mere 7% market share, with a negligible volume of only \$1 million reported in North Africa.





This continues the broad trends that we have seen since we first began to collect data in 2013. As seen in Chart 7.5, with the exception of 2016 East Africa has had the largest market share in every year since 2013- a trend that looks likely to continue, with Kenya as the primary engine for regional growth. Southern Africa led by South Africa and West Africa led by Nigeria. Surprisingly, Zambia has emerged as the regional heavyweight in 2018 ranked 1st in Africa, while being followed by Kenya and South Africa, each falling to second and third place respectively.

Despite year-on-year fluctuations, market volumes reported in all regions of the African Continent except North Africa have continued to broadly increase. By contrast to the other areas, market volume in North Africa has declined over the last two years from its \$5.7 million peak in 2016, reaching \$1.3 million in 2017 and just under \$1 million in 2018. This may be explained by declining volumes of reward and donation crowdfunding, a trend which has occurred globally, in addition to the limited prospect for lending to emerge in this region due to certain religious prohibitions in the Muslim dominant countries of North Africa.

Here, while low level activity was recorded in Egypt, Tunisia and Morocco, no activity was recorded in Algeria and Libya, likely following the political upheavals experienced by these countries in this period



Figure 7.5: Total Online Alternative Finance Market Volume by Region in Africa 2013-2018 (\$USD)

Key Countries

The previous section denoted the regional volumes of the online alternative finance market in the African Continent. This is useful on an aggregate level, but to truly understand the drivers of the market, it is essential to analyse the data on a more granular level to compare both countries and platform types.

In absolute terms, Africa's largest alternative finance markets include Zambia, Kenya and South Africa with \$40 million, \$35 million, and \$27 million in total volumes respectively. However, in terms of volume per capita the region's two top performers are Botswana and Zambia, with \$6.8 and \$2.4 per capital volumes respectively, well ahead of Kenya's \$0.7 and South Africa's \$0.5.

Kenya's alternative finance industry appears to be the most comprehensively developed in Continental Africa, and ranks within the top three countries by volume in most model categories. As seen in Chart 7.6, these include P2P Consumer Lending, Balance Sheet Business Lending, Donation-based Crowdfunding, Equity-based crowdfunding and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending. Nigeria, Uganda and South Africa also frequently appeared among the top three countries across different models.

Another significant point to note is the widespread variation across models and countries., which demonstrates how some markets are significantly skewed towards particular models. This can be seen most clearly in the case of Zambia, which has by far the largest volume of P2P consumer lending. At \$40 million its volume in this model is over twice that of Kenya, the country with the next highest volume for this model. However, Zambia does not appear as one of the top three countries by volume for any other model.



Figure 7.6: Top 3 countries in volume by model-2018, USD

Alternative Business Funding in Africa

Ensuring the strength and vitality of the SME sector is frequently seen as a priority for policymakers throughout the African Continent. As has been shown over the last few years, particularly in our reports, the alternative finance sector has grown to become a key funding mechanism for entrepreneurs and start-ups, as well as micro, small and mediumsized businesses globally. To be able to continue to track the development of business focused finance in the region, the research team calculated the total online alternative funding attributed to business through aggregating the 2018 volumes across different models.

Across sub-regions, debt-based models emerge

as the main source of business funding in Africa, accounting for more than half of business funding in all regions except North Africa, where only noninvestment models are recorded. In addition, Equity Crowdfunding captured a notable share of business funding in South Africa (16%), as well as West Africa (29%) albeit from a much smaller total volume.



Figure 7.7: Business Funding - Africa by Sub Region 2017 USD

Institutionalisation by key regions

To truly understand the alternative finance market across the continent, we need to understand who is making use of it. As part of this, we observed how institutions interacted with alternative finance platforms. In addition to tracking the proportion of volume that has originated from these institutional investors, we hope to shed light on the different ways that institutions have engaged and collaborated with alternative finance platforms. As a whole, the continent has fairly low proportions of insitutional investors, as seen in chart 7.8. At 22%, East African platforms take the highest proportion of their finance volumes from insitutional investors compared to other regions. This reflects the fact that the alternative finance market in this region is more developed, as demonstrated by the fact that East Africa also leads in terms of overall volumes of alternative finance. Southern Africa, at 17%, and West Africa, at 7%, both have lower levels of institutional finance.



Figure 7.8: Institutionalisation by region-2018

Market Developments

Changes to business model

The alternative finance market is still relatively new, and is in a state of rapid development and growth. To better understand the evolution of this market, we ask firms to describe what changes they made to their business model in 2018. Firms were asked whether they had altered their business model at all in 2018- and if they did alter their business model, what the extent of that alteration was. Chart 7.9 shows the overall results of answers given by firms across the African Continent, split by business model.

There is a significant variation between different business models, in terms of whether firms changed their business model in 2018. 11 business models were analysed- for 6 of these business models, the majority of firms did not make any changes to their business model in 2018. These more stable business models were P2P Consumer Lending; P2P Business Lending; P2P Property Lending; Balance Sheet Business Lending; Invoice Trading; and Donation-based Crowdfunding.

Among areas where the majority of firms changed their business model to a certain extent, there is still a significant degree of variation between different models. Only two types of platforms contained firms who *significantly* changed their business model in 2018- Real Estate Crowdfunding, where 100% of firms significantly changed their business model, and Revenue Sharing, where 33% of firms did so.

Figure 7.9: Changes to business model by model-2018

The majority of firms operating in the areas of Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, Equity-based Crowdfunding and Reward-based Crowdfunding also made changes to their business model- albeit only making *slight* alterations.

This can be explained by the fact most African markets represent early stage developments, where any model is considered an innovation. Accordingly, business model modifications are likely to increase as the market grows, and local platforms have greater experience in serving local users under unique local conditions.



We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018

Research and development initiatives

Platforms were also asked to indicate the research and development priorities that they were actively pursuing. Where we received at least ten responses per different model in the African Continent, the results were analysed and weighted, and can be seen in chart 7.10.

We can see a significant degree of variation in the research and development priorities between different firms within each of the various business models. Across all the business models analysed, no one area of research received a weighting greater than 31%- demonstrating that no one area of research significantly dominates the priorities of all the surveyed firms in a business model.

This variation can also be seen, though to a lesser degree, when comparing the research priorities

between different business models- although there are a number of recurring trends.

In a number of business models, 75% or more of firms' priorities were focused on more process driven areas of research, namely Payment Processing, Customer Verification and Process Streamlining and Performance Enhancing Features. This can be seen across all three P2P lending categories, as well as Invoice Trading. Those same three areas of focus were also significant, although to a lesser extent, amongst all the different types of non-investment platforms.

By contrast, other areas of research focus show a significant degree of variation between different business models. Al and Performance Enhancement Features had a priority level of 21% among consumer lending firms, but less than 10% for all other business models. Similarly, Social Media and

Fundraiser Promotional Tools is another outlier, with a priority rating 26% among Balance Sheet Business Lending firms, but of no priority among P2P Property Lending, Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, and Invoice Trading platforms.

	Payment processing	Customer verification	Process streamlining and automation	Artificial intelligence and performance enhancement features	Community management features and tools	Social media and fundraiser promotional tools	Customer relationship management systems	E-learning features for users	Gamification features for user engagements
P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending	21%	28%	24%	7%	3%	7%	10%	0%	0%
P2P/Marketplace Business Lending	28%	31%	22%	3%	0%	6%	11%	0%	0%
P2P/Marketplace Property Lending	25%	31%	31%	6%	0%	0%	6%	0%	0%
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	0%	21%	14%	21%	7%	0%	14%	7%	14%
Balance Sheet Business Lending	3%	15%	29%	9%	0%	26%	6%	9%	3%
Invoice Trading	25%	31%	31%	6%	0%	0%	6%	0%	0%
Equity Crowdfunding	18%	14%	18%	5%	5%	14%	18%	5%	5%
Revenue Sharing	18%	18%	18%	0%	6%	12%	12%	12%	6%
Reward-based Crowdfunding	15%	15%	15%	0%	10%	15%	25%	5%	0%
Donation-based Crowdfunding	13%	13%	13%	7%	13%	13%	8%	7%	13%

Figure 7.10: Actively Pursued R&D Initiatives in 2018 by Platforms (by Model)

Internationalization

As the provision of finance, and especially alternative finance activities, becomes increasingly international, with firms setting up operations in multiple countries, it is not surprising that their clients are also becoming increasingly international. To analyse the impact of cross-border transactions, we analysed inflows of funds (i.e. funds from investors which came from abroad) and outflows of funds (i.e. funds which went to fundraisers abroad) across the Continent.

There is a significant degree in variation regarding

inflow and outflow rates between different regions. In both East Africa and Southern Africa, over 80% of funds are international. East Africa has the highest levels of internationalisation, at 92% and 94% respectively for inflow and outflow rates, closely followed by Southern Africa which has an 85% inflow rate and an 81% outflow rate.

By contrast, the majority of funds in West Africa come from domestic investors, with a mere 35% inflow rate, and no funds are reported as going to fundraisers based abroad.





A more significant degree of variation in inflow and outflow rates is seen when comparing

different models- and even when comparing inflow and outflow rates in the same business model.

P2P Consumer Lending was by far the most internationalised of the models studied, with an 87% inflow rate and a 95% outflow rate.

Amongst other business models, inflow rates were consistently higher than outflow rates. Firms conducting Balance Sheet Business Lending and P2P Business Lending reported no international outflow of funds, although their inflow rates

Figure 7.12: Inflow rate and Outflow rate by model- 2018

were 95% and 10% respectively. Inflow rates also exceeded outflow rates in the Donation-based Crowdfunding sphere, at 28% compared to 8%.

Much of this dynamic can be explained by the large proportion of foreign based firms operating in Africa, and hence channeling international funding (i.e. inflows) into projects in African countries.



Internationalisation Strategies

To examine the reasons behind this internationalisation of funds, we asked firms what strategies they employed, if any, in 2018 to promote the internationalisation of their business.

As seen in chart 7.13, the degree of adoption of various internationalisation strategies remained broadly consistent across all regions analysed. The use of a global website and brand was by far the most common strategy, with adoption rates of





We also compared the internationalisation strategies used by different business models. With the notable exception of Balance Sheet Consumer lending, where all firms used web localisation with a global brand, the majority of firms across all other platform types adopted a global website and brand as their internationalization strategy.

The main other significant variation between business models was whether firms had an

internationalisation strategy at all. All firms working in the areas of Real Estate Crowdfunding, Revenue Sharing Crowdfunding, and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending had some form of internationalisation strategy. Amongst other business models, however, some firms lacked an internationalisation strategy- ranging from 3% of Donation-based Crowdfunding and P2P Consumer Lending firms to 41% of P2P Business Lending firms.



Figure 7.14: Internationalisation Strategy by model-2018

Financial Inclusion

Financial inclusion is a key area of focus for regulators and governments worldwide. It is of particular importance on the African Continent, which has historically had relatively low levels of financial inclusion.

Banking status of fundraisers

An important measure of financial inclusion is banking status. Respondents were asked to indicate the proportion of their customer base who were 'unbanked' (not served by or without access to any traditional financial service), 'underbanked' (with access to some basic financial services, but not a complete suite), and 'banked' (users that have access to a full suite of financial services).

Across three out of the four regions analysed, the majority of firms' customers were underbanked, ranging from 60% in West Africa through to 74% of customers in Southern Africa and 75% of customers in East Africa. The exception to this was Central Africa, where only 45% of customers were underbanked- a rate that can be attributed to their high rate of unbanked customers. At 35%, this region has the highest rate of unbanked customerssignificantly higher than East Africa (16%), West Africa (7%) and most notably Southern Africa, where firms reported no unbanked customers.

Although Southern Africa had the lowest levels of unbanked customers, its 26% rate of banked customers was not the highest across Africa. Although Central and East Africa had lower proportions of banked customers, at 20% and 9% respectively, West Africa had the highest level of banked customers at 34%

Our findings seem to suggest that, for the time being, alternative finance in Africa is indeed helping democratize access to finance for various groups in the continent. And while much of it is driven by foreign-based platforms, the need of filling funding gaps in these markets is addressed, although at still modest volumes.



Figure 7.15: Banking Status by Region

The Income Status of Investors

Figure 7.16: Income Status by Region

Examining the income status of funders and investors lets us better understand the level of participation at different income levels. Respondents divided the income status of their funders into four categories- 'bottom income', 'low income', 'middle income' and 'high income'.

When comparing the income status of funders across different regions we can see a number of similar trends. In all of the regions, less than 10% of funders came from the lowest income bracketranging from 0% of funders in Southern Africa to 9% in West Africa. Likewise, more than 60% of funders came from middle or high-income brackets across the Continent- though this figure ranges from 68% in both Central Africa and West Africa to almost 100% of funders in Southern Africa.

As seen from this, Southern African funders have the highest income levels to a significant degree. 84% of them have a high-income level, a proportion which is over fifty per cent higher than the region with the next highest number of high-income status funders (West Africa, at 32%).



Gender

Gender is a key topic when discussing financial inclusion. Participating firms provided information on the gender of both their funders and their fundraisers. This information indicates that while both women are utilizing alternative finance across the African Continent to a significant degree, they remain underrepresented in a number of areas.

Female participation by model

At a broad level, female participation is reasonably high across models, suggesting that alternative finance may play an important role in improving financial inclusion rates for women in Africa. However, significant differences can be found both between models, and between the proportions of female funders and fundraisers within the same model.

With the notable exception of Balance Sheet Business Lending (BSBL), where only 21% of fundraisers are female, more than 50% of fundraisers are female across all the models studied- rising to 72% of fundraisers for P2P Consumer Lending (P2PC). The proportion of female funders is less consistent between modelswith a mere 6% participation rate for P2PC and 5% for BSBL, rising to 63% for P2P Business Lending (P2PB), and 70% for Donation-based Crowdfunding.

Examining forms of female participation within models, there seems to be a broad level of correlation between female participation as funders and as fundraisers- for example, BSBL has a low level of both female funders and fundraisers, while P2PB has a high level of both female funders and fundraisers. P2PC acts as the main exception to this- with a 66% gap in its levels of female funders (6%) and female fundraisers (72%). The high rate of 72% female fundraisers across P2PC platforms may provide evidence for the benefits of alternative finance in increasing women's access to credit, an access that has often been restricted in traditional platforms due to gender biases.



Figure 7.17: Female fundraisers and funders rate by model

Female participation by region

Regionally, there is a high level of female participation as fundraisers- rising from 45% in West Africa to 55% in Southern Africa. The proportion of female funders is both lower than the proportion of female fundraisers, and is also more inconsistent between regions. West Africa's proportion of female funders, at 48% is both fairly high and even higher than its 45% of female

Figure 7.18: Female fundraisers and funders rate by region

fundraisers. By contrast, only 3% of fundraisers in Southern Africa, and 4% in East Africa are female- a rate which is well over forty per cent lower than their respective rates of female funders.

One explanation for greater female participation in West Africa, maybe associated with the higher proportion of non-investment models in this region versus East and South Africa.



Risk & Regulations

Perception of risk by region and model

Respondents were asked about their perception of various different risks that could potentially affect their platform. These risks were campaign fraud; notable increase in defaults; collapse due to malpractice; cyber-security breach; change in regulation; competition with incumbents and new entries; and the emergence of TechFin firms (such as Google/Amazon). This section of the report should be viewed critically, as it represents responses from new, young and optimistic actors with limited experience and volumes, who may underestimate risks.

Moreover, since very few platforms both operate in each of these markets and reported this information, some of our findings are by definition biased to a very small set of platforms

Examining responses regionally, Central African firms had by a significant degree the highest perception of risks, compared to firms based in other locations. For example, all surveyed platforms operating in Central Africa considered both cyber security and potential changes to regulation to constitute high risks.

By contrast, firms based in West Africa and North Africa tended to have much lower perceptions of risk than firms based in other regions- most notably in North Africa, where 100% of firms perceived three out of the seven listed risks (risk of defaults, competition with incumbents, and emergence of TechFin firms), as being very low or low.
a	Campaign Fraud		50%			50%		
	Notable Increase in Default	7%	36%	7%		50%		
tric	Collapse due to Malpractice		67%	6			33%	
Central Africa	Cyber-security Breach	100%						
	Change in Regulation			100	%			
	Competition with incumbents and new entries		50%			50%		
	Emergence of TechFin firms		50%			50%		
	Campaign Fraud	7% 7%		59%			22%	4
_	Collapse due to Malpractice	4% 4%		68%				20%
TTICa	Cyber-security Breach	4% 21%		21%		50%		4
East Africa	Change in Regulation	4% 14%		64%	%			14% 4
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	7% 18%		46%			29 %	
	Emergence of TechFin firms	4% 15%		48%			33%	
North Africa	Campaign Fraud			100	%			
	Notable Increase in Default			100	%			
	Collapse due to Malpractice	33%			6	67%		
	Cyber-security Breach	17%		679	%			17%
	Change in Regulation	17%			83%			
	Competition with incumbents and new entries			100	%			
	Emergence of TechFin firms			80%				20%
South Africa	Campaign Fraud	13% 13%		50%		25%		
	Notable Increase in Default					50%		
	Collapse due to Malpractice	33%			50%			17%
	Cyber-security Breach	17% 8%	17 %	անություն հանդարան հա	%	4	42%	
	Change in Regulation	20%		50%			20%	10%
	Competition with incumbents and new entries	18%	18%		55%)		9%
	Emergence of TechFin firms		52%		9%	17%	13%	9%
West Africa	Campaign Fraud	8%		67%			13%	13%
	Notable Increase in Default	29%			71%	6		
	Collapse due to Malpractice	10%	29%		48%			14%
	Cyber-security Breach	17% 9%	6		61%			13%
	Change in Regulation	4% 17%		39%		26 %		13%
	Competition with incumbents	8% 25%	6	8%	38%			21%
	and new entries							

Figure 7.19: Perceived risks of platforms by region-2018

Perception of existing regulation

Globally, regulation is still a key challenge for the alternative finance sector. As seen in Chart 7.19, the majority of firms across all regions see possible changes to regulation as being a medium, high or very high risk- demonstrating that firms see changes to regulation as being one their most significant potential threats. To examine this particular trend further, we asked firms about their perception of regulation.

Perceptions of regulations were generally positive in 2018, with the majority of firms across most different regions considering that existing regulation was adequate and appropriate for their models. However, there exist some differences when comparing different regions and models. Comparing responses regionally, West African and North African platforms both have the most positive perception of existing regulations overall. 69% of West African firms operating in the noninvestment space consider existing regulation to be adequate and appropriate- rising to 100% of equity firms in both West and North Africa.

Firms operating in East Africa tended to have the poorest perception of existing regulation across all business models. This was also the region which got the highest level of responses indicating that alternative finance was not yet legal in their country.

Echoing the geo-locked nature of regulation, trends in perception of regulation can be far more readily seen when comparing different models within the same region than by comparing the same model across different regions. The most notable example of this is firms working in the equity space. A mere 29% of Southern African equity firms, 33% of East African firms and no Central African equity firms considered existing regulation to be both adequate and appropriate- contrasting sharply with the 100% approval rates described earlier in North Africa and West Africa.

Figure 7.20: Perception towards existing regulation-2018



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities _____ Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities

Excessive and too strict for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed

No Specific Regulation and needed Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

Extent of regulation

Platforms' opinions on regulation are partially shaped by their relationship with the regulator in their jurisdiction. As seen in the above chart, in some jurisdictions there is no specific regulation covering platforms' activities, notably for equitybased models. To explore this further, respondents were asked about the legal basis under which they operate.

The extent to which platforms are required to be registered, and the nature of what relationship, if any, they have with the relevant authorities varies significantly depending on both the region and the model in question. Central Africa shows the greatest degree of variation between model types, with no debt or equity firms requiring regulation, while all non-investment firms need to be authorised. By contrast, all equity firms and 87% of non-equity firms in North Africa have either authorisation or interim permissions from the relevant body in their jurisdiction.

As with the previous section on firms' perception on regulation, the extent of existing regulation is very much area specific, and there is a great degree of variation between similar business models in different geographic areas. This geographic disparity in current regulation is present across all business models, but is most evident for debt platforms. All surveyed debt platforms in Southern and East Africa are authorised, while no debt models in Central Africa require authorisation and West Africa sits in the middle, with 43% of platforms not requiring authorisation in this jurisdiction.



Figure 7.21: The extent of existing regulation-2018

My platform is authorised in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorised but has a relationship with another licensed institution (ie Appointed Representative) that serves as our agent

Regulatory Authorization is not required for my business activities

Regulatory Friendliness and Alternative Finance Volume per Capita

In our analysis of the relationship between perceived regulatory adequacy and volumes per capita in Africa, we have only included countries where at least 4 platforms answered related questions. In the African Continent, there are too few observations to make a conclusive observation. Nevertheless, the trend emerging seems to follow other regions, where a positive effect is identified, and more adequate national regulation is associated with higher per capita volumes in the same country. Perceived regulation adequacy represents the relative share of platforms in country indicating regulation is "adequate and appropriate for my platform activities".

Figure 7.22: Perceived Regulation Adequacy vs. Volume per Capita 2018 (Log Scale) Africa - All Platforms



Share of platforms indicating adequate regulation in country

8. Country Fact Sheets





Botswana was the fifth largest country by total volumes in Africa for 2018. The market grew exponentially, from \$2.4 million in 2017 to \$15.4 million in 2018, a growth rate of 545%. Their global ranking by volume improved to 66th (2017 : 76th), with their regional ranking rising to 5th (2017 : 10th). Surprisingly, all the volumes raised in 2018 by these platforms were consumer focused rather that business focused, with P2P Consumer Lending composing all the total volume of Botswana. The volume derived from institutional investors was 3% of total volumes (\$0.4 million).



Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country





Kenya was the second largest country by volume in Africa in 2018. At \$35 million, it generated nearly 17% of the total African online alternative finance industry, experiencing its highest year-on-year growth yet of 78%. However, the country lost the top regional position it had held in 2017, and dropped to 49th position globally in terms of volume (2017:41st). P2P Consumer Lending and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending business models were the main drivers of the total volume, accounting for 52.4% (\$18.3 million) and 37.7% (\$13.2 million) in volumes respectively over 2018. The total business funding volume was \$25.1 million (71.7% of the total country's volume) and the overall percentage of institutionalisation was at 19% (\$6.5 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Among the responses from platforms operating in Kenya, a majority were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction (75%) and perceived existing regulation to be adequate and appropriate for their platform's activities (69%). Additionally, 19% of them had an interim permission for their operations and 13% viewed existing regulations either as inadequate and too relaxed, r believed that there was no specific regulation but that it was needed.

There are no specific regulations concerning crowdfunding in Kenya, with the overarching laws and regulations by institutions including the Kenyan Capital Markets Authority and the Central Bank of Kenya governing the development of alternative finance industry in the country.³² The Kenyan Capital Markets Authority's regulatory sandbox initiative is expected to spur further FinTech innovation in the country.³³





The Extent of Existing Regulation

Debt & Equity

My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction



Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities
 Excessive and too strict for my platform activities
 No Specific Regulation and needed
 Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities





We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018







products and services in 2018 We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

South Africa

In 2018, the total alternative finance transaction volume in South Africa was \$27.5 million, the 3rd largest in the continent (2017: 2nd), accounting for 13% of Africa's volume. Despite following a 54% decline in volume during 2016-17, the country then experienced a year on year growth rate of 78% during 2018. South Africa ranked 53rd globally (2017: 44th) in terms of total market volumes. P2P Business Lending and Donationbased Crowdfunding were the main drivers of the total volume, accounting for 33.2% (\$9.1 million) and 26.2% (\$7.2 million) respectively. In 2018, nearly half of country's volumes were business specific, amounted to \$13.2 million and the overall percentage of institutionalisation was at 18% (\$4.9 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Half of the responding platforms in South Africa indicated they were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction, with a similar proportion viewing existing regulation to be adequate and appropriate for their business activities. 30% of the platforms mentioned regulatory authorisation was not required for their business and 10% believed there was no specific regulation but that it was not needed, with 20% believing that there was no specific regulation but it was needed. In line with this opinion, crowdfunding is not yet explicitly regulated in South Africa, however draft regulation could be expected soon from the regulator (FSCA).³⁴ Additionally, during July 2019, the African Crowdfunding Association (ACfA) has launched the 'ACfA label Framework,' a regulatory framework for securities-based crowdfunding in Africa.35

The Extent of Existing Regulation

Debt & Equity

My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction



Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



- Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country
- Changes in Business models (%)



business model in 2018 We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018







We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and

services in 2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)





Debt & Equity

My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction



Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities
Excessive and too strict for my platform activities
No Specific Regulation and not needed
Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country

Alternative finance (includir lending) is not currently lega

Changes in products and services (%)





We slightly altered products and services in 2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Uganda generated \$16.8 million in online alternative finance volume in 2018, and thereby became the 4th highest contributor to the Africa region (as they were in 2017) and the 63rd highest globally (2017 : 60th). The market saw an increase of 183% in volumes compared to \$6 million in 2017. Balance Sheet Business Lending accounted for 67.3% (\$11.3 million) of the total volume, followed by P2P Consumer Lending (\$4.6 million). During the year, over 95% of country's volumes went for businesses, amounted to \$16 million and the overall percentage of institutionalisation was relatively high at 58% (\$9.7 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

71% of the respondents reported that they were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction and another 21% were not authorised but carried an interim permission for their business operations. Interestingly, an equal percent (43%) of these platforms viewed existing regulation to be adequate (or) felt there was no specific regulation and were not needed. 7% of them thought that regulation was excessive and too strict, and a similar percentage stated that alternative finance was not legalised in their country during 2018. FinTech firms in Uganda had been growing at a rate of 35% over the past couple of years³⁶ and it appears that the country is in the planning stages for a regulatory sandbox, which would further foster innovation.37











Debt & Equity

My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction



Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities Excessive and too strict for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed No Specific Regulation and needed



In 2018, Zambia emerged as the largest alternative finance market within Continental Africa, having grown from a significantly low base of \$1.8 million in 2017 to \$40.8 million in 2018, an increase of 2116%. P2P Consumer Lending activities were responsible for 96% (\$39 million) of the Zambian alternative finance market, stemming from international platforms with foreign investors providing funding to local borrowers. In 2018, 2.6% of Zambian alternative finance went towards business fundraisers, with sole-traders and micro-SMEs using P2P consumer lending as a way to fill funding gaps for their business needs. Only 2% of all volumes were funded by institutional investors (\$1.1 million), showing that the Zambian market is almost entirely a retail investor market. Zambia was the 44th largest market globally in terms of volume, up from 85th in 2017, and was the largest market regionally, rising from 15th position in 2017.

The FinTech space in Zambia grew rapidly in 2018, supporting the country's first National Financial Inclusion Strategy (2017-2022), which was introduced in November 2017.38

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)







We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018

Australia

The Extent of Existing Regulation



was \$1127 million, making it the 2nd largest in the Asia-Pacific region in 2018. Its global ranking decreased to 7th place (2017: 4th). While our data suggests volumes falling 2% from 2017 levels, such results are mostly driven by nonresponse from very few platforms in the 2018 survey. Indeed, at the model level significant growth has been recorded with respect to Community Shares, Equity Crowdfunding, Balance Sheet Business Lending, and P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending. Balance Sheet Business Lending (55%, \$619.5 million) comprised the majority of the volume, followed by P2P Consumer Lending (20.4%, \$230 million). More specifically, the total business funding volume was \$858 million, and volume derived from institutional investors was \$648.4 million (58%). Along with the funding provided from institutional investors, Australian platforms showed active partnership activities with institutional investors, who were mainly focused on referral agreement (36%) and platform ownership (28%).

In 2018, the total market volume in Australia

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

85% of Australian debt-based platforms responded that the current regulation was adequate and appropriate, though 8% found regulation to be excessive. A third of equitybased platforms considered regulation to be excessive, with 33% of equity-based platforms also reported that regulatory authorisation was not required for their business operation. During 2018, the federal parliament passed legislation instructing the regulator to expand the regime to allow for proprietary companies to raise funds in addition to the existing allowance for public companies.39

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)











model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





Changes in

We slightly altered products and services in 2018

ASIA-PACIFIC



The Extent of Existing Regulation



OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

India continued to lead the online alternative finance industry in South & Central Asia, with

a total volume of \$547 million in 2018, more than doubling their volume from last year. India ranked 14th (2017 : 13th) globally in terms

of market volumes, with a regional ranking at

5th (2017: 4th). Balance sheet Business Lending and P2P Consumer Lending were the two main drivers of the total volume, each accounting for

48.5% (\$265.5 million) and 38% (\$207.8 million)

institutionalisation was 83% (\$454.5 million).

respectively. The total business funding volume was \$311 million and the overall percentage of

In terms of the regulatory environment, the majority (82%) of debt-based platforms reported that they were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction, whereas only 33% of equity-based platforms reported that they were authorised. Regarding perception towards current regulation, a majority (58%) of the debt-based platforms reported that it was excessive and too strict, whereas 44% of equity-based platforms reported that there was no specific regulation and that it was needed. Regulations on Equitybased Crowdfunding have remained a grey area in the country, and await further inputs from the regulator, after their initial consultation paper on crowdfunding in 2014. According to qualitative comments, P2P platforms believe, P2P platforms believe that the existing aggregate exposure limit of INR 1 million for both borrowers and lenders across all P2P platforms, is hurting the growth prospects of the industry.40

Perception towards Existing Regulation









Changes in

Business

We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018



(2639)



We slightly altered products and services in 2018

Indonesia

The Extent of Existing Regulation

In 2018, Indonesia emerged as the largest alternative finance market within the Asia-Pacific region, thanks to a considerable increase in volume from \$80 million in 2017 to \$1451 million. Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (57%, \$808.8 million) and P2P Business Lending (41.3%, \$598.7 million) were the main model types. It is also notable that these volumes were driven not only by local firms (17 platforms) but also foreign based platforms (16 platforms). The global ranking by volume for Indonesia increased to 5th (2017: 30th), with its regional ranking rising to 1st (2017:8th). Total business funding volume was \$60.4 million, and the volume from institutional investors was \$767.2 million (53%), with Balance Sheet Consumer Lending model showing the highest institutionalisation rate of 72%.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

The majority of Indonesian respondents (25 Debt based platforms, 3 Equity based platforms) reported that they were authorised or had interim permission to operate. However, many debt-based platforms reported that the current regulation was either excessive (32%) or not needed (4%). On the regulators side, the Financial Services Authority of Indonesia (OJK) has implemented an overarching regulation governing the development of the alternative finance sector and the establishment of the regulatory sandbox regime, which entered into effect on August 2018.⁴¹





No Specific Regulation and not needed









services in 2018
 We made no significant changes to

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)







OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Among Japanese respondents, the majority of the platforms were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction (80%). Although 70% of the respondents answered that the current regulation was adequate and appropriate, some (30%) considered it to be excessive and too strict. On the regulator's side, the Financial Service Agency (FSA) further progressed its moves to engage more closely with practitioners. For example, the FSA has issued eleven key finance digitalisation strategies in "Assessments and Strategic Priorities 2018", including the launch of a "FinTech Innovation Hub". The FSA also conducted interviews with 100 financial institutions and start-ups to integrate market trends into its policy making and promote financial innovation.42



Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activitiesExcessive and too strict for my platform activities

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)











ALTERNATIVE FINANCE MARKET

In 2018, Malaysia showed a significant increase in total volume to \$62 million, from \$28 million in 2017. The regional ranking for Malaysia increased slightly to 10th (2017 : 11th), with the global ranking also increasing to 38th (2017 : 45th). More specifically, total business funding volume was \$60.4 million, and the volume from institutional investors was \$6.4 million (10%), which indicates that majority of funding comes from retail investors. It is notable that alternative finance in Malaysia has become an important credit option for businesses, with P2P Business Lending model accounting for 88.8% (\$54.7 million) of the total volume.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

Regarding the regulatory environment in Malaysia, the majority (80%) of platforms reported that the current regulation was adequate and appropriate, whereas a few (20%) reported that it was excessive and too strict. All of the respondents were authorised (80%) or had interim permissions (20%) to operate in their jurisdiction. On the regulator's side, the Central Bank of Malaysia (Bank Negara Malaysia) announced official cryptocurrency regulation in Feb 2018.⁴³ The Securities Commission Malaysia also announced that it will be regulating ICOs in 2019.⁴⁴ Notably, most of the regulatory changes were towards crypto-assets and ICO in 2018.

INNOVATION

Most of the Malaysian platforms responded that they were not pursuing any innovation initiatives. 82% of the platforms reported that they made no significant changes to their business models, and 50% also reported they made no changes to their products and services in 2018.







Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models







model in 2018

We slightly altered our business

We made no significant changes

to our business model in 2018

Malaysia



Changes in products and services (%)





New Zealand

The Extent of Existing Regulation

New Zealand generated \$276 million in alternative finance volume, reporting the 7th highest contribution in the Asia-Pacific region (2017 : 5th) and 22nd highest globally (2017 : 14th). P2P Consumer Lending comprised the majority of the total volume, accounting for 80.5% (\$222.2 million), followed by Donationbased Crowdfunding (5%, \$13.8 million). More specifically, the total business funding was \$38.5 million, and the volume derived from institutional investor was \$76.3 million (28%).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

91% of respondents reported that they were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction and 91% of the platforms responded that the current regulation was adequate and appropriate. 9% of the platforms, however, did respond that the current regulation was excessive and too strict. This may be because authorities in New Zealand have significantly restricted the entry of intermediaries into the market to prevent oversaturation, compared to the close counterpart of Australia. My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities



Debt & Equity

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities
 Excessive and too strict for my platform activities

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)







Changes in products and services (%)





services in 2018 We made no significant changes to

our products and services in 2018

Philippines

In 2018, the Philippines showed an increase in total volume to \$117 million (2017: \$19 million). Philippines ranked 34th globally and 8th in the Asia-Pacific region in terms of volume, which is the same as its ranking in 2017. More specifically, total business funding volume was \$65.7 million and the volume from institutional investors was \$60.1 million (52%). Balance Sheet Consumer Lending and P2P Business Lending were the two main models, accounting for 39.7% (\$46.2 million) and 33.2% (\$38.7 million) respectively.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

It was notable that majority (75%) of equitybased platforms responded that alternative finance was not currently legalized in the Philippines. On the other hand, debt-based platforms were mostly authorised to operate in the Philippines (94%) and they tended to indicate that the regulation was adequate and appropriate (81%). Alternative finance in the Philippines has been recognized as improving financial inclusion, but the Central Bank of Philippines acknowledges the lack of FinTechfocused regulations and has indicated policy change to deal with cybersecurity threats and risks to FinTech.⁴⁵

The Extent of Existing Regulation





Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)





Changes in

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018







products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and

 services in 2018
 We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018



Singapore remained the market leader in the South-East Asian region, ranked at 6th in the Asia-Pacific region (2017:6th) and 16th globally (2017:19th). The total market volume was \$500 million, a remarkable increase from \$191 million in 2017. P2P Property Lending (22.4%, \$112 million), P2P Business Lending (21.2%, \$105.8 million), and Reward-based Crowdfunding (20.6%, \$103 million) were the top models composing the total volume. More specifically, total business funding volume was \$207 million and the volume derived from institutional investors was \$49.3 million(10%).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

In terms of the regulatory environment, a majority of the platforms were authorised among both debt-based platforms (79%) and equity-based platforms (100%). 84% of debt-based platforms and 75% of equitybased platforms responded that the current regulation was adequate and appropriate, but 25% of equity-based platforms reported that it was inadequate and too relaxed. In 2018 the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) signed a MOU with the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) Group, led by IDB Lab⁴⁶, along with signing a tripartite Cooperation Agreement with the Astana Financial Services Authority (AFSA) and Astana International Financial Centre Authority (AIFCA).47

The Extent of Existing Regulation



Regulatory Authorisation is not



Perception towards Existing Regulation 75% 84% Debt Eauitv 33% Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities Excessive and too strict for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed No Specific Regulation and needed Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)







We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





We slightly altered products and services in 2018

South Korea

The Extent of Existing Regulation

In 2018, South Korea showed a drop in total volume reported to \$753 million (2017 : \$1130 million). Such a drop is partially due to a handful of major platforms not participating in this year's survey. South Korea's market volume ranks 11th (2017 : 5th) globally and 4th in the Asia-Pacific region (2017 : 2nd). P2P Property Lending (54.1%, \$407.2 million) comprised the majority of the volume, followed by P2P Consumer Lending (15.1%, \$114 million) and Real Estate Crowdfunding (14.7%, \$110.5 million). More specifically, total business funding volume was \$141.9 million and the volume from institutional investors was \$40.1 million (5%).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

Among the South Korean respondents, a majority of the platforms were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction (92%). However, only 17% of the respondents were satisfied with the existing regulation, with some (25%) viewing it is inadequate whereas a few (8%) viewing the regulation as excessive. Other than that, South Korea has reviewed its strong regulatory stance on Crypto currency to foster growth of blockchain technology.⁴⁸ Also, the Marketplace Finance Association was founded in October 2018, with an emphasis on self-regulation with the member platforms related to risky assets such as project financing assets.⁴⁹ My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has a relationship with another licensed institution (ie Appointed Representative) that serves as our agent.



Debt & Equity

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



No Specific Regulation and needed
 Alternative finance (including crowdfunding & P2P lending) is not currently legalized in my country
 Inadequate and too relaxed for my platform activities

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions) 1130 753 376 41

2016

2015

2017 2018





Changes in products and services (%)





products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and services in 2018

Finland

The Extent of Existing Regulation

In 2018, the alternative finance market in Finland significantly increased from \$379 million (2017 : \$222 million). However, its ranking dropped from 6th to 7th in Europe and 15th to 18th globally in 2018. More specifically, the total volume for SME financing was \$164.4 million and the volume from institutional investors was \$173.5 million (19%). The amount for business funding was \$164M, and the volume from institutional investors was \$20.6M (5%), which suggests that most funding comes from retail investors. P2P Consumer Lending comprised the majority of the total volume, accounting for 56.6% (\$214.5 million), followed by P2P Business Lending (21.2%, \$80.5 million) and Equity-based Crowdfunding (17.3%, \$67.9 million)

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Most of the respondents (88% of the debtbased platforms and 83% of the equity-based platforms) believed that current regulations were adequate and appropriate. Comparing to debt-based platforms, more equity-based platforms (17% vs 6%) suggested that exising regulations were too relaxed. Comparing to other countries, a relatively lower propotion of platforms (72% of debt-based platforms and 86% of equity-based platforms) were authorised in Finland.

Finland was one of few European pioneers introducing crowdfunding-specific regulations with the Crowdfunding Act that was passed in parliament in 2016 mostly clarifying and easing Equity Crowdfunding. Future adjustment are likely to follow the ECSP pan-European regulation framework. In December 2017, FIN-FSA started using the Lausuntopalvelu. fi statement service, which allows all organziations and citizens to request and submit opinions electronically⁵⁰. To promote innovation, the FIN-FSA Innovation Help Desk provide advices to start-ups and established enterprises that are planning to introduce a new type of product.⁵¹

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)





Perception towards Existing Regulation







We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018









We slightly altered products and services in 2018



In 2018, France was exceeded by the Netherlands and Germany in total alternative finance volume in Europe. Its ranking dropped from 2nd to 4th in the European market, and from 7th to 8th in the global market, although its total volume increased from \$747 million to \$933 million. P2P Consumer Lending was the main driver of volume, accounting for 37% (\$346.1 million), followed by Real Estate Crowdfunding (20.3%, \$189.2 million) and P2P Business Lending (15.9%, \$148.1 million). More specifically, the total volume for SMEs was \$489.5 million and the volume from institutional investors was \$173.5 million (19%).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Among French respondents, a majority of the platforms (62% of the debt-based platforms and 69% of the equity-based platforms) believed that existing regulations were adequate and appropriate. 19% of the debt-based platforms were not required to be authorised. By contrast, only 4% of the equity-based platforms were not authorised. On the regulator side, Autorité de Contrôle Prudentiel et de Résolution (ACPR) implemented PSD2 in Jan 2018. The French KYC framework for remote on-boarding was revised based on the eIDAS regulation. The data protection regulation, GDPR entered into force in May.⁵² As elsewhere in the EU, the new pan-European ECSP regime is expected to be implemented in France, both enabling and opening its investment crowdfunding market.

The Extent of Existing Regulation



Perception towards Existing Regulation





2017

2018

2015

2016

2014

model in 2018 We made no significant changes

Changes in

models(%)

Business

to our business model in 2018





We slightly altered products and services in 2018

Germany

The Extent of Existing Regulation

In 2018, German alternative finance market volume reached \$1,276 million, which is an 89.6% increase compared to that of 2017. The regional ranking of Germany remained 3rd, as in 2017, but its global ranking increased to 6th (2017 : 8th). P2P Consumer Lending comprised the majority of the total volume, accounting for 51% (\$651.3 million), followed by Real Estate Crowdfunding (24.6%, \$313.9 million). More specifically, total business funding volume was \$218.9 million and the volume derived from institutional investors reached \$620.8 million (49%). Institutional investors were one of the main sources of funding in Germany, accounting for almost half of the total volume.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

The majority of equity-based platforms (96%) and debt-based platforms (67%) were authorised to operate in Germany. A similar portion of platforms among equity-based business models (84%) and debt-based business models (62%) answered that the current regulation was adequate and appropriate. However, it is notable that quite a few debt-based platforms (29%) indicated that the existing regulation was excessive and too strict. In 2018, the German Government liberalized the prospectus regime for equity offers, raising the threshold from EUR 1 million to EUR 8 million per year. Individual investments limits were set at EUR 10 million. These regulatory changes incentivized platforms in Germany to move from intermediating sub-ordinated loans (which were not classified as securities, but as investment assets) to securities.⁵³ Furthermore, as elsewhere in the EU, the new pan-European ECSP regime is expected to be implemented in Germany, both enabling and opening its investment crowdfunding market further.







Perception towards Existing Regulation







We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





We slightly altered products and services in 2018





Perception towards Existing Regulation



Changes in Business



We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018







products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and

services in 2018 We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

In 2018, Italy kept its position as the fifth largest alternative finance market in Europe, with an increase in volume to \$533 million (2017: \$272 million). Despite this growth of 99%, Italy dropped from 12th to 15th place in terms of volume globally. Invoice Trading was the main driver of the total volume, accounting for 65% (\$346.2 million), followed by P2P Business Lending (14.3%, \$75.9 million) and P2P Consumer Lending (13.5%, \$71.8 million). Alternative finance continues to be an important source of finance for SMEs, with total business funding volumes reaching \$449.5 million. The volume derived from institutional investors was \$385.6 million, accounting for 72% of the total volume, which is second highest proportion in Europe after the Netherlands.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

In 2018, it is notable that less than half (43%) of both debt-based platforms and equity-based platforms indicated that the current regulation was adequate and appropriate and quite a few platforms indicated that regulation was needed. (debt-based platforms: 14%, equity-based platforms: 29%). Such perception towards the current regulation can be partially explained by the fact that 48% of debt-based platforms and 14% of equity-based platforms do not require regulatory authorisation to operate. In 2018, rules on conflict of interest, deposit of funds, conditions relative to offers on the platform, and sanctions and precautionary measures were strengthened by Consob.54 More clarity was also provided concerning cybersecurity requirements (Legislative Decree No. 65/2018)55. Finally, the new Budget Law adopted in December 2018 introduced the possibility of offering debt instruments via crowdfunding portals.⁵⁶ In the near future, Italy is expected to implement the new pan-European ECSP regime, further enabling and opening its investment crowdfunding market.







Debt & Equity

My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction



Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



In 2018, the Latvian alternative finance platforms raised \$255 million, continuing the strong growth seen in the previous year. The regional ranking of Latvia increased slightly to 10th (2017 : 12th), with the global ranking also increasing to 23rd (2017 : 25th). More specifically, the total business funding volume reached \$22.3 million and the volume derived from institutional investors was \$8.9 million (3%), which is the lowest proportion among key European countries. The alternative finance volume was mainly driven by consumer lending, with P2P Consumer Lending accounting for 90.5% (\$230.3 million) of the total volume.

While not affecting Latvian volumes, it is worth noting, that Latvian-based platforms are some of the most prolific international platforms taking up large market shares of P2P Consumer and Business Lending in countries in Eastern Europe and the Caucasus.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

In this year's study there were no Latvian equitybased platforms that participated in the survey, so we only had data related to debt-based platforms. 50% of the debt-based platforms were currently authorised to operate in Latvia, with 42% of platforms not requiring regulatory authorisation. Moreover, a majority (75%) of the platforms answered that the current regulation is adequate and appropriate. The Ministry of Finance of Latvia established a regulatory framework for lending-based crowdfunding in 2017 which came into effect in 2018. The framework is widely considered as positive, and has resulted in widespread growth of the industry, especially with two large lendingplatforms operating from Latvia across Europe and globally⁵⁷. In the near future, Latvia is expected to implement the new pan-European ECSP regime, further enabling and opening its investment crowdfunding market.

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)



Changes in Business models (%)



We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





services in 2018 We made no significant changes to

Netherlands

In 2018, three European countries, the Netherlands, Germany, and France, exceeded the one billion dollar threshold, with the Netherlands becoming the second largest alternative finance market in Europe. Its global ranking also increased to 4th (2017 : 10th). Balance Sheet Property Lending was the main driver of the total volume, accounting for 76.3% (\$1.4 billion) of the total volume, followed by P2P Business Lending (8.2%, \$147.5 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

For the extent of existing regulations, all equity-based platforms were authorised in the Netherlands, while 24% debt-based based platforms did not need regulatory authorisation and 4% debt-based platforms were not authorised but had interim permission to operate. As for the perception of existing regulations, 18% of debt-based platforms and 14% of equity-based platforms suggested that regulations were too strict. More equity-based platforms (86%) than debt-based platforms (64%) indicated that current regulations were adequate and appropriate. On April 2018, the AFM published recommendations for the provision of information to crowdfunding projects.⁵⁸ The AFM and DNB have launched an Innovation Hub and Regulatory Sandbox in 2016 to provide suggestions to alternative finance firms.⁵⁹ In the near future, the Netherlands is expected to implement the new pan-European ECSP regime, further enabling and opening its investment crowdfunding market.

The Extent of Existing Regulation















) Poland

The total alternative finance volume in Poland was \$333 million in 2018, ranking 8th in Europe (2017 : 10th). The global ranking for Poland was 19th, ascending from 21st position in 2017. Of note, total business funding volume amounted to \$41 million, with the vast majority of this funding raised by debt instruments (\$34 million). The volume derived from institutional investors reached \$11.2 million (3%), the lowest proportion among key Euro-zone countries. P2P Consumer Lending was the main driver of volume, accounting for 84.4% (\$281.4 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

In 2018, a majority of equity-based platforms (60%) did not require a regulatory authorisation, and a similar proportion (47%) of debt-based platforms also did not require authorisation. However, 20% of both debt-based platforms and equity-based platforms answered that there was no specific regulation but that it was needed. Such results may be because most crowdfunding platforms in Poland are Donation and Reward-based, which do not require a license. Regarding the regulatory change, prospectus-free emissions on equity-based models were allowed up to 2.5 million Euro in 2018, which is small compared to other Western European countries, but large in comparison to other Eastern European countries.⁶⁰ In the near future, Poland is expected to implement the new pan-European ECSP regime, further enabling and opening its crowdfunding market.

The Extent of Existing Regulation











We significantly altered our business model in 2018 We slightly altered our business

We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018



Changes in products and services (%)





products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and services in 2018

With a total volume of \$419 million, Spain remains the 7th largest alternative finance market in Europe in 2018, having increased by more than 130% as compared to its 2017 volume (\$182 million). P2P Consumer Lending, Invoice Trading, and P2P Business Lending are the main drivers of the total volume, accounting for 29.6% (\$124.1 million), 25.7% (\$107.8 million), and 22.3% (\$93.5 million) respectively. Its global ranking increased slightly to 16th (2017 : 19th). More specifically, the total business funding volume was \$259 million and the volume derived from institutional investors was \$112.5 million (27%). Invoice Trading platforms showed the highest

Spain

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

institutionalisation rate (70%).

A majority of investment platforms operating in Spain were authorised by the regulator. However, around one third of both debtbased and equity platforms reported that authorisation was not a regulatory requirement. Platforms' perceptions of the existing regulation varied considerably. Among debt-based platforms the most common views are that the existing regulation is adequate (40%) or excessive (30%). Similarly, 36% of equity-based platforms reported their satisfaction with the existing regime, whereas 45% expressed their dissatisfaction about how strict the regime was. The Spanish regulator has not changed crowdfunding-bespoke regime since 2015 (The Promotion of Business Financing Act)⁶¹. However, transposition of directives PSD2 and "NIS Directive" governing cybersecurity issues in 2018 is likely to bear consequences for the operation of platforms.⁶² Nevertheless, as elsewhere in the EU, Spain is expected to implement the new pan-European ECSP regime, further enabling and opening its investment crowdfunding market.









Perception towards Existing Regulation







We significantly altered our business model in 2018

We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and

services in 2018



In 2018, Sweden had a steady increase in the total volume to \$268 million (2017: \$222 million). Historically, the Swedish market has shown fluctuations in market volume, albeit with a constant increase from 2015. Its ranking in Europe dropped to 9th (2017: 7th) and 20th in the globe (2017: 16th). More specifically, the total business funding volume was \$66.7 million and the volume derived from institutional investors was \$81.9 million (31%). Balance Sheet Consumer Lending, Real Estate Crowdfunding, and P2P Consumer Lending were the main drivers of the total volume, accounting for 34.4% (\$91.9 million), 20.3% (\$54.3 million), 18.7% (\$50.1 million) respectively.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

In this year's study, almost all Swedish platforms were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction (debt-based platforms: 90%, equity-based platforms: 100%). However, the perception towards current regulation varied: 21% of debt-based platforms and 33% of equity-based platforms indicated that it was excessive and too strict, whereas 5% of debt-based platforms answered that it was inadequate and too relaxed. On the regulator's side, FSA has established a FinTech regulatory sandbox in Stockholm to facilitate innovation.⁶³ Together with the rest of the EU, Sweden is expected to implement the new pan-European ECSP regime, further enabling and opening its investment crowdfunding market.

The Riksbank, Sweden's Central Bank, is looking at launching a national cryptocurrency called the e-Krona, which would make it the first economy to introduce their own cryptocurrency.⁶⁴



Alternative Finance Market Volumes

The Extent of Existing Regulation



10%

Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Existing Regulation







We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018



Changes in products and services (%)





We slightly altered products and services in 2018

United Kingdom

The Extent of Existing Regulation



Perception towards Existing Regulation



The United Kingdom was the largest country by volume in Europe in 2018, generating 57% of the total European alternative finance volume. The total volume of UK platforms reached \$10,368 million, with its global ranking remaining at 3rd in 2018, the same as that of 2017. P2P Lending models were the main components of the total volume, with P2P Business Lending, P2P Property Lending, P2P Consumer Lending accounting for 24.5% (\$2.5 billion), 19.8% (\$2.1 billion), and 17% (\$1.8 billion) respectively. More specifically, total business funding volume was \$5,957 million and the volume from investors was \$5,230 million (50%), with the Balance Sheet Business Lending business model showing the highest institutionalisation rate, with all its funding coming from institutional investors.

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Most UK platforms reported that they were authorised or had interim permission to operate, regardless of their model type. Conversely, authorisation was not required by regulators for 19% of equity-based platforms and 15% of debt-based platforms. Regarding the perception towards existing regulation, over 80% of platforms considered regulation as adequate and appropriate. Only 3% of platforms perceived regulation as too strict and excessive for their activities. In 2018, FCA proposed tougher rules for P2P lending, in a consultation paper published in 2018.⁶⁵

> Changes in Business



We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018



Changes in

We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018

We slightly altered products and services in 2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Billions)



Argentina

ALTERNATIVE FINANCE MARKET

In 2018, the alternative finance market in Argentina continued growing and reached \$129 million. This resulted in Argentina climbing up the global ranking. In 2018 it became the 32nd largest market globally, in 2017, it was the 38th, however regionally it dropped to 6th place from 5th. More specifically, the total business funding volume was \$84.4 million and the volume derived from institutional investors was \$58.2 million (45%). The majority of the volume was derived from Invoice Trading, which accounted for 54.6% (\$70.6 million), followed by Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (19.1%, \$24.7 million) and P2P Consumer Lending (11.9%, \$15.3 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

More than half of the debt-based platforms (69%) had authorisation for their activities, 15% had interim permission and the remaining 15% did not require authorisation. The majority of equity-based platforms (67%) did not require authorisation. 40% of debt-based platforms and 33% of equity-based platforms claimed there is no specific regulation and it is needed, 40% of debt-based platforms and 33% of equity-based platforms deemed regulation appropriate, 20% of debt-based platforms deemed it excessive, 20% of debt-based platforms and 33% of equity-based platforms responded there is no regulation and it is not needed. Authorities have decided to let the ecosystem grow before setting up regulatory frameworks.66

The Extent of Existing Regulation



Perception towards Existing Regulation







business model in 2018 We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018







products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and

services in 2018 We made no significant changes to

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)



The Brazilian online alternative finance market grew exponentially from \$216 million to \$673 million in 2018, achieving the 13th position in the world rankings and keeping its 1st position in the region. It highlights Brazil as the main regional player, a country which is increasingly staking its place among the strongest global alternative finance markets. More specifically, total business funding was \$143.4 million and the funding derived from institutional investors was \$258.9 million (38%). P2P Consumer Lending was the main driver of the total volume, accounting for 44.3% (\$298.5 million), followed by Debt-based Securities (15.1%, \$102 million) and Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (8.9%, \$59.8 million).

ra7

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

Among the Brazilian respondents more than half of the platforms showed a positive perception across platform types, with 56% of debt-based platforms considering there to be adequate regulation, 16% saying that there is no specific regulation and it is not needed, and 22% believing there to be an inadequate and too relaxed regulatory framework. Among the equity-based respondents, 62% considered the regulation as adequate, on the other hand 31% consider it inadequate and 8% that it was excessive. In 2018, the Brazilian Central Bank launched a regulation allowing P2P lending platforms to act freely, without the need to be backed by a traditional banking institution.⁶⁷

The Extent of Existing Regulation











Changes in

We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





services in 2018



Canada ranked 2nd regionally and 10th globally, keeping its position from last year. The model that generated most volume was P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending, with a 36% share on the overall market volume, it is followed by Balance Sheet Business Lending (17%) and Balance Sheet Property Lending (13%). The total SME business funding volume was \$561M and the volume derived from institutional investors was \$490M (54%).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

In 2018, 48% of debt-based platforms and the majority (90%) of equity-based platforms are authorized to operate in their jurisdiction. 50% of debt platforms, and 67% of equity platforms responded that c regulation is adequate and appropriate for their business activities, 27% of debt-based and 33% of equity-based platforms consider regulation to be excessive and too strict. The Competition Bureau in Canada published a study arguing that to encourage growth in FinTech, a flexible regulatory environment is needed⁶⁸. In addition, further harmonization of related regulations across the provinces may also help unlock further potential.













We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018



Changes in products and services (%)





We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and

services in 2018



In 2018 the alternative finance market in Chile kept growing, reaching \$289 million. This resulted in Chile climbing up the rankings, in 2018 it became 21st largest market globally, in 2017 it was 23rd and regionally it ranked 2nd in 2018, climbing up from being the 3rd in 2017. The majority of the volume generated was for business funding, reaching \$289 million. The volume derived from institutional investors was \$134.5 million (47%). It is notable that Invoice Trading is the main driver of the total volume, accounting for 79.2% (\$229 million), followed by P2P Business Funding (11.3%, \$32.5 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Half of the debt-based platforms have authorisation for their activities, whilst the other half does not require it. The majority of equitybased platforms have authorisation (40%) or interim permission (20%) to operate and the remaining 40% do not need it. The majority of debt-based platforms claim there is no specific regulation and it is not needed, 23% responded that alternative finance is not currently legalized in the country. The Chilean Treasury department is working on a FinTech Bill, that would cover debt and equity-based models, as well as other areas, such as cryptocurrencies.⁶⁹

The Extent of Existing Regulation



Perception towards Existing Regulation



Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)





Changes in

We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018



Changes in products and services (%)





- We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and
- services in 2018

Colombia

ALTERNATIVE FINANCE MARKET

After a drop in 2017, the alternative finance market in Colombia saw an increase in volume in 2018, reaching \$192 million. This resulted in Colombia climbing up the global ranking, in 2018 it became the 26th largest market globally, in 2017, it was the 32nd, and regionally it remained 4th. The majority of the volume generated was for business funding, reaching \$149.6 million. The volume derived from institutional investors was \$144.7 million (75%). Most of the total volume derived from Invoice Trading, accounting for 60.9% (\$117.3 million), followed by Balance Sheet Consumer Lending (15.7%, \$30.3 million) and P2P Consumer Lending (10.1%, \$19.4 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

More than half of the debt-based platforms have authorisation for their activities, whilst 39% do not require it. The majority of equity-based platforms have authorisation (43%) or interim permission (14%) to operate and the remaining 43% do not need it. 40% of debt-based platforms and 57% of equity-based platforms claim there is no specific regulation and it is needed, 32% of debt-based platforms and 14% of equitybased platforms responded that regulation is inadequate and too relaxed, whilst 20% of debt-based platforms deemed it excessive and too strict and 14% of equity-based platforms responded there is no specific regulation and it is not needed. The Financial Regulation Unit (URF) of the Ministry of Finance issued a series of decrees in 2018 to establish regulatory frameworks for crowdfunding, and is working on regulation for other models.⁷⁰

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)



The Extent of Existing Regulation



Perception towards Existing Regulation







business model in 2018 We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





We slightly altered products and services in 2018

Mexico

The Extent of Existing Regulation

ALTERNATIVE FINANCE MARKET

The Mexican market volume for alternative finance has grown to \$233 million in 2018, however, its position in the region dropped from 2nd to 3rd and globally dropped from 22nd to 24th, despite its growth rate of 52% throughout the period. The total business funding reached \$151.6 million, with the volume derived from institutional investors reaching \$165.1 million (71%). Balance Sheet Business Lending was the main driver of the total volume, accounting for 43% (\$100.3 million), followed by P2P Consumer Lending (23%, \$53.7 million)

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Within the debt segment, platforms had a positive perception towards regulation. 62% considered the regulation as adequate and appropriate for their activities, and 7% responded that there was no specific regulation and that it was not needed. However, 21% said the regulation is excessive and too strict, while 7% considered that a regulation is needed. Among equity-based platforms, 40% considered the regulation as too strict and excessive, and 10% said it is not needed. The Mexican government has put into force the FinTech Law in 2018, whose thresholds for investors have been seen as restrictive by the market, according to the specialized press.71





Changes in **Business** models(%)





We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018



Changes in

We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and

services in 2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)





ALTERNATIVE FINANCE MARKET

The volume for the Peruvian alternative finance market has strongly grown from \$29 million to \$158 million in one year, a growth rate of 441% in 2018. This growth is reflected in an ascent in the regional and global alternative finance market ranking, increasing from 6th to 5th place regionally and from 39th to 34th globally. More specifically, the total business funding volume was \$154.6 million and the volume derived from institutional investors was \$86.5 million (55%). Balance Sheet Business Lending was the main driver of the total volume, accounting for 43.3% (\$68.6 million), followed by Invoice Trading (19.2%, \$30.4 million) and P2P Business Lending (16.2%, \$25.6 million).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Within the debt-based platforms, 40% of them considered the current regulation as adequate and appropriate for their activities, 30% of them stated there is no specific regulation and it is needed, and 20% of respondents said that their activities within alternative finance market were not legalized. Among equity-based platforms, 75% saw the existing regulation as adequate and appropriate for their activities, whereas 25% said their activities within the alternative finance market were not legalized. In this vein, 55% of debt-based platforms were authorised to operate in their jurisdiction, whereas 45% of them were not. 75% of equity-based respondents mentioned that they were authorised to operate and for 25% authorisation was not required. In 2018 platforms have operated under no specific FinTech regulation, nevertheless they may operate under the rules of the four Peruvian authorities.

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)



The Extent of Existing Regulation



Perception towards Existing Regulation





Changes in

We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018





We slightly altered products and services in 2018

AMERICAS



USA

The US ranked 1st regionally and 2nd globally, keeping its positions from last year. The model that generated most volume was P2P/ Marketplace Consumer Lending, with a 42% share on the overall market volume, it is followed by Balance Sheet Business Lending (20%) and Balance Sheet Property Lending (16%). The total SME business funding volume was \$16,248M and the volume derived from institutional investor was \$54,014M (88%).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGES

Almost half (49%) of debt-based platforms and the majority (81%) of equity-based platforms are authorized to operate in their jurisdiction, whilst 35% of debt-based platforms answered they do not require a regulatory authorization for their activities. Majority of respondents, 76% of debt platforms and 72% of equity platforms answered that current regulation is adequate and appropriate, 25% of equity-based platforms deem it excessive and too strict. Regarding the US platforms' responses to the JOBS Act, majority (86%) of debt platforms operated under Title II Regulation D, whereas more than half (68%) of the investment platforms operated under Title III Regulation Crowdfunding. Noninvestment platforms' responses varied where 50% indicated that they operate under Title III Regulation Crowdfunding and 44% answered Title IV Regulation A+ Tier 1.

The Extent of Existing Regulation



Perception towards Existing Regulation







We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

models



Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Billions)




The Extent of Existing Regulation

Debt & Equity

62%

My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction



Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities

Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities
Excessive and too strict for my platform activities
No Specific Regulation and needed





We significantly altered our business model in 2018

We slightly altered our business model in 2018

We made no significant changes to our business model in 2018







- We introduced significantly new products and services in 2018 We slightly altered products and
- services in 2018

We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

Israel continued to dominate the online alternative finance market in the Middle East (regionally ranked 1st), representing over 90% of the region's market volumes in 2018 (\$725.8M). The volumes grew 146% year on year compared to 2017, primarily driven by the exponential growth in P2P Property Lending. The country ranked 12th globally (2017 : 11th) in terms of total market volumes. In 2018, nearly 95% of the country's volumes were business specific, amounting to \$688M and the overall percentage of institutionalization was at 6% (\$45.9M). P2P/Marketplace Property Lending was the main driver of total volume, accounting for 76.7% (\$556.5), followed by P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending (11.8%, \$85.9M).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

Among the Israel respondents, 62% of the platforms were authorized to operate in their jurisdiction, while 31% stated they were not authorized but carry an interim permission to operate in the country. Interestingly, an equal percent (46%) of these platforms viewed existing regulation to be adequate and appropriate (or) excessive and too strict for their business activities.

INNOVATION

During 2018, 88% of platforms stated they either made substantial or slight changes to their products and services. While, majority of the platforms (56%) said to have moderate changes to their business models, with additional 33% making significant changes. During 2018, the Israel Innovation Authority has accelerated in promoting innovation through extensive government cooperation and is planning to open a new fintech innovation lab with the Ministry of Finance in 2019.⁷²

Alternative Finance Market Volumes 2015-2018 (USD Millions)





The Extent of Existing Regulation

Jordan was the third largest (same as that of 2017) online alternative finance market in the Middle East, with a total transaction volume of \$12.8M in 2018, grew at the rate of 91% compared to 2017 (\$6.7M). The global ranking by volume for Jordan dropped to 68th (2017: 57th). Notably, similar to Israel and UAE, majority (99.89%) of the funds raised in the country were for businesses. These sums reached \$12.8M, indicating a strong presence of online alternative finance for SMEs in the Middle East. The country also had the highest levels of institutionalization at 75% (\$9.7M) for the region. Majority of the volume was derived from Balance Sheet Business Lending, accounting for 69.2% (\$8.9M), followed by P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending (17.6%, \$2.3M) and P2P/Marketplace Consumer Lending (13.2%, \$1.7M).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

With reference to the regulatory environment in the country, 67% of the responding platforms were not authorized to operate in their jurisdiction but carry an interim permission for their operations and, same percentage of respondents considered regulation as adequate and appropriate for their platform activities. Remaining 33% of respondents were authorized to operate in the country and, indicated that there was no specific regulation and needed. In line with their opinion, so far, there are no specific regulations for crowdfunding in Jordan, however the platform requires a registration from the Ministry of Industry, Trade & Supply, under the Jordanian Companies law, for operating in the country. ("Companies Control Department")

During April 2018, the Central Bank of Jordan launched its 'FinTech Regulatory Sandbox' which is expected to foster innovation in the country.73

Debt & Equity My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction 33% My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction





Adequate and appropriate for my platform activities No Specific Regulation and not needed



United Arab Emirates

The Extent of Existing Regulation

Debt & Equity

79%

My platform is authorized in my jurisdiction

My platform is not authorized but has interim permissions to operate in my jurisdiction



Regulatory Authorisation is not required for my business activities



Perception towards Existing Regulation from Debt & Equity Models



Adequate and appropriate for my platform activitiesNo Specific Regulation and not needed



Changes in products and services (%)





We made no significant changes to our products and services in 2018

In 2018, the total market volume in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) was \$50.6M, the 2nd largest in the Middle East region, with the global ranking of 42nd, dropped from 35th in 2017. The country experienced the highest year on year growth of 56% in volumes, during 2018. Similar to Israel, nearly 97% of the country's online alternative finance volumes raised by the platforms went for businesses (\$48.9M). Additionally, the volume derived from institutional investors was at 10% of total volumes (\$5.1M). Invoice Trading was the main driver of the total volume, accounting for 54.8% (\$27.8M), followed by P2P/ Marketplace Business Lending (32.3%, \$16.3M).

OVERVIEW OF REGULATORY CHANGE

The majority of the platforms operating in the country stated they were authorized to operate in their jurisdiction (79%) and viewed existing regulation to be adequate and appropriate for their business activities (93%). Additionally, 14% of platforms indicated they were not authorized but had an interim permission to operate in their jurisdiction. Notably, the crowdfunding platforms need to have an authorization from the Dubai Financial Services Authority (DFSA) for their operations in the country.⁷⁴









Endnotes

- Peer-to-peer (P2P) Lending: A group of individual or institutional investors provide a loan (secured or unsecured) to a consumer or business borrower. In its most orthodox form, the P2P lending platform acts as a marketplace that connects the borrower and investor(s) such that the risk of financial loss if the loan is not repaid is with the investor and not with the platform. Depending upon the jurisdiction, this model may be referred to as Loan-based Crowdfunding, Marketplace Lending, Collaborative Financing or Crowdlending.
- 2. Balance Sheet Lending: A digital lending platform directly retains consumer or business loans (either whole loans or partial loans), using funds from the platform operator's balance-sheet. These platforms therefore function as more than just intermediaries, originating and actively funding loans, so the risk of financial loss if the loan is not repaid is with the platform operator. In this respect, the platform operator looks more like a non-bank credit intermediary.
- **3.** Increasingly, Invoice Trading models are expanding into Supply-Chain finance activities. At present, this subset activity is too small to categorize as its own model. It is possible that further refining of this model will be necessary in subsequent years.
- 4. 4 Mini-bonds are not always transferable, either because the issue size is too small to provide secondary market liquidity or because prospectus exemptions require investors to hold the bond until maturity. Other terms can be very similar to traditional corporate bonds, such as being subject to early call provisions allowing the issuer to repay prior to maturity if its prospects improve
- 5. Results of campaigns run independently and outside of alternative finance platform activities were not included in the results of this study.
- 6. Section A: This section collected key data points and information about fundraisers (borrowers, issuers and campaigners) that had actively utilized the platform to raise finance in 2017. Section B: Funders: This section collected key data points and information about active funders (investors, lenders, backers, etc.) that had provided finance through a platform in 2017. Section C: Platform Structure & Strategy: This section collected information relating to a platform's strategic decision making and strategies as related to their platform operations and future business goals.

Section D: Risks & Regulations. This section collected information related to a platform's own perception towards potential risks and changes to regulation, and its impact on their operations.

- 7. The CCAF utilizes 'The OANDA Historical Currency Converter'.
- 8. Countries and territories included in the European Analysis: Albania, Andorra, Armenia, Austria, Belarus, Belgium, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Faroe Islands, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Isle of Man, Italy, Kosovo, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Macedonia, Malta, Moldova, Monaco, Montenegro, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Svalbard and Jan Mayen, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukraine. Though the UK is included in this region, volumes associated with this country are usually presented separately and indicated as such.
- 9. Countries and territories included in the APAC analysis: Australia, Azerbaijan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, Cambodia, Fiji, Guam, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Japan, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Macao, Malaysia, Mongolia, Myanmar, Nepal, New Caledonia, New Zealand, Northern Mariana Islands, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Samoa, Singapore, Solomon Islands, South Korea, Sri Lanka, Chinese Tapei, Tajikistan, Thailand, Timor-Leste, Tonga, Vanuatu, Vietnam. Though China is included in this region, volumes associated with this country are usually presented separately and indicated as such.

- 10. Countries and territories included in the Americas analysis include the US, Canada and the Latin American and Caribbean countries (LAC). Countries designated to LAC include: Argentina, Bahamas, The, Barbados, Belize, Bermuda, Bolivia, Brazil, Cayman Islands, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Curacao, Dominica Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Falkland Islands, Guadeloupe, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Puerto Rico, Saint Lucia, Sint Maarten, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, Uruguay, Venezuela, Virgin Islands.
- 11. Countries included in the African Analysis: Angola, Benin, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Congo Dem. Rep., Congo Rep., Cote d'Ivoire, Egypt, Ethiopia, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Kenya, Lesotho, Liberia, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritius, Morocco, Mozambique, Namibia, Niger, Nigeria, Rwanda, Senegal, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, Somalia, South Africa, South Sudan, Swaziland, Tanzania, Togo, Tunisia, Uganda, Zambia, Zimbabwe
- **12.** Countries included in Middle East analysis: Afghanistan, Bahrain, Iran, Iraq, Israel, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Oman, Palestine, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syria, United Arab Emirates, Yemen

13.	APPENDIX 1 -	Distribution of	Domestic &	Foreign Firms	by Country
				0	

Country	Domestic/ locally firms operating in country	Foreign-based platforms operating in country	TOTAL	Country	Domestic/ locally firms operating in country	Foreign-based platforms operating in country	TOTAL
China	429	9	438	Romania	2	11	13
US	84	16	100	Uganda	3	10	13
UK	63	27	90	Ireland	1	11	12
Germany	41	22	63	Israel	6	6	12
India	49	9	58	Chinese Tapei	5	7	12
Brazil	44	12	56	Turkey	3	9	12
France	37	14	51	United Arab Emirates	2	10	12
Italy	33	18	51	Bulgaria	1	10	11
Mexico	31	20	51	Cambodia		11	11
Netherlands	25	20	45	Greece	1	10	11
Canada	24	15	39	Russia		11	11
Spain	20	19	39	Slovakia	2	9	11
Colombia	23	13	36	Slovenia	2	9	11
Indonesia	17	16	33	Costa Rica	1	8	9
Australia	18	14	32	Croatia	3	6	9
Switzerland	14	17	31	Ecuador		9	9
Austria	11	16	27	Guatemala	3	6	9
Singapore	17	10	27	Hong Kong SAR	1	8	9
Poland	7	17	24	Hungary	2	7	9
Finland	11	12	23	Luxembourg		9	9
Philippines	8	15	23	Senegal		9	9
Sweden	8	15	23	Tanzania	1	8	9
Norway	12	10	22	Ukraine	1	9	9
Peru	5	16	21	Ghana		8	8
Chile	12	8	20	Jordan		8	8
Denmark	5	14	19	Pakistan	2	6	8
Estonia	9	14	19	Panama	1	7	8
South Africa	8	10	19	Rwanda	1	8	8
Thailand	9	10	19	Cameroon	1	6	7
Belgium	6	10	17	Egypt	1	6	7
New Zealand	6	12	18	Lebanon	1	6	7
Kenya	4	12	17	Zambia	1	7	7
Lithuania	7	10	17	Congo Dem. Rep.		6	6
Malaysia	9	8	17			6	6
	5	12	17	Georgia Kazakhstan	1	5	6
Portugal	9	7	17	Malta	1	5	6
Argentina					1	-	
Japan	10 5	6	16 15	Palestine	3	6	6
Nigeria		10		Paraguay			6
Czech Republic	6	8	14	Puerto Rico	1	5	6
Latvia	7	7	14	Sri Lanka	0	6	6
South Korea	9	5	14	Uruguay	2	4	6
Vietnam	5	9	14	Venezuela		6	6
Zimbabwe	1	5	6	Gambia		2	2

Country	Domestic/ locally firms operating in country	Foreign-based platforms operating in country	TOTAL	Country	Domestic/ locally firms operating in country	Foreign-based platforms operating in country	TOTAL
Albania		5	5	Iraq		2	2
Armenia		5	5	Jamaica		2	2
Bangladesh		5	5	Kuwait		2	2
Bolivia		5	5	Lao People's Democratic Republic		2	2
Cyprus		5	5	Macao		2	2
Honduras		5	5	Madagascar		2	2
Malawi		5	5	Monaco	1	1	2
Mauritius	1	4	5	Papua New Guinea		2	2
Mongolia	2	3	5	Qatar		2	2
Morocco	1	4	5	Swaziland		2	2
Nepal		5	5	Tajikistan		2	2
Nicaragua		5	5	Timor-Leste		2	2
Sierra Leone		5	5	Tonga		2	2
Bosnia & Herzegovina		4	4	Trinidad and Tobago		2	2
Cote d'Ivoire		4	4	Tunisia		2	2
Dominica Republic		4	4	Virgin Islands		2	2
Ethiopia		4	4	Andorra		1	1
Iran	3	1	4	Angola		1	1
Kosovo		4	4	Antarctica (USA)		1	1
Liberia		4	4	Azerbaijan		1	1
Macedonia		4	4	Belarus		1	1
Mali		4	4	Bhutan		1	1
Moldova		4	4	Burundi		1	1
Mozambique		4	4	Central African Republic		1	1
Yemen		4	4	Congo Rep.		1	1
Afghanistan		3	3	Curacao		1	1
Belize		3	3	Falkland Islands		1	1
Benin		3	3	Faroe Islands		1	1
Botswana	1	2	3	Guadeloupe		1	1
	1	3	3	Guinea		1	1
Fiji		3	3			1	1
Guam Haiti		3	3	Liechtenstein		1	1
Iceland	1	2	3	Montenegro New Caledonia		1	1
	1	3	3			1	1
Kyrgyzstan Lesotho		3	3	Niger Northern Mariana Islands		1	1
	1	2	3			1	1
Myanmar Namibia	1	3	3	Oman			
		3		Other		1	1
Saudi Arabia			3	Saint Lucia		1	1
Serbia		3	3	Samoa		1	1
Togo		3	3	Seychelles		1	1
Bahamas, The		2	2	Sint Maarten		1	1
Bahrain		2	2	Solomon Islands		1	1
Barbados		2	2	Somalia		1	1
Bermuda		2	2	South Sudan		1	1
Burkina Faso		2	2	Suriname		1	1
Cayman Islands		2	2	Svalbard and Jan Mayen		1	1
Cuba		2	2	Syria		1	1
El Salvador		2	2	Vanuatu		1	1

14. https://www.oecd.org/sdd/OECD-Trust-Dataset.xlsx

15. To calculate the total online alternative funding attributed to business, the CCAF research team reviewed 2018 volumes from the following models: P2P business lending, balance-sheet business lending, invoice trading, equity crowdfunding, debt-based securities, profit-sharing crowdfunding and minibonds alongside relevant volumes specifically attributed to businesses by platform's operating P2P Consumer and Property Lending, Consumer and Property Balance Sheet lending, Real Estate Crowdfunding, Donation-based Crowdfunding and the Reward-based Crowdfunding models. Additionally, 35% of web scraped reward-based crowdfunding volume was attributed to

business funding. Fundraising from individuals or for creative or communal projects unrelated to a business were excluded from this figure. It is worth adding a word of caution when interpreting the figures presented. While these figures present trends reliably, the actual volumes are assumed to be substantially underestimated as not all platforms that reported total volumes, also reported its divisions between business and non-business volumes. Hence, the above figures are taken only from the sub-sample of platforms reporting these figures.

- 16. https://fortune.com/2018/01/31/female-founders-venture-capital-2017/
- **17.** Since 2018, the Ukraine is no longer internationally recognized as part of the CIS. For the purpose of consistency a across our reports, we are keeping the Ukraine in this grouping to maintain longitudinal/ time-series analysis. This is to maintain consistency and not intended for political purposes.
- **18.** Dietrich, Andreas, and Simon Amrein. 'Crowdfunding Monitoring Schweiz 2018'. Institute of Financial Services Zug IFZ, 2018. https://blog.hslu.ch/retailbanking/files/2018/06/CM_E.pdf Some of the lending-based Crowdfunding platforms in Switzerland were not willing to provide data to the report. Since the authors cannot independently verify this data of the Swiss Crowdfunding Monitoring, this data was not included.
- 19. https://www.pwc.at/de/publikationen/branchen-und-wirtschaftsstudien/pwc-emerging-trendsin-real-estate-europe-2019.pdf page 10
- 20. https://about.fb.com/news/2019/09/2-billion-for-causes/ (accessed: 12 February 2020)
- **21.** This model saw significant growth against the previous year, due largely to several firms headquartered outside of the United Kingdom. 68% of this model's volume came from institutional investors (\$363 million).
- 22. This figure includes the UK P2P and Balance Sheet Business Lending volumes in 2018.
- 23. An additional \$.37b was raised by US-based alternative finance volumes across several additional models, including Invoice Trading, Debt-based Securities, Minibonds and Other. We are unable to report these models individually in this report due to a small number of observations within the country.
- 24. No volumes were reported for the following countries and territories, most of which representing micro-states in the Caribbean: Anguilla, Aruba, Bonaire, British Virgin Islands, Dominica, Grenada, Guyana, Martinique, Montserrat, Saba, St. Barts, St. Kitts & Nevis, St. Vincent & the Grenadines, and Turks & Caicos.
- **25.** An additional \$27m was raised within the LAC region across several additional models, including Minibonds, Revenue Sharing, Community Shares and Other. We are unable to report these models individually in this report due to a small number of observations within the country.
- 26. https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-announces-first-no-action-letter-upstart-network/
- 27. https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/blog/update-credit-access-and-no-action-letter/
- 28. https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/201709_cfpb_upstart-no-action-letter-request. pdf
- **29.** Middle East: Jordan, Bahrain, Syria, United Arab Emirates, Lebanon, Palestine, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Lebanon, Qatar, Iran, Israel, Yemen, Iraq.

236

30. Countries and territories for which no alternative finance activity was reported include : Algeria, Angola, Cape Verde, Chad, Djibouti, Eritrea, Gabon, Guinea Bissau, Libya, Mayotte, Reunion, St. Helena, Sao Tome & Principe, Seychelles, and Sudan.

- 31. This categorization was: Southern Africa: Lesotho, Angola, Swaziland, South Africa, Botswana, Namibia. Central Africa: Democratic Republic of the Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Republic of the Congo, Gabon. West Africa: Liberia, Cote d'Ivoire, Guinea, Nigeria, Mali, Gambia, Cabo Verde, Niger, Togo, Benin, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Guinea-Bissau, Sierra Leone, Mauritania, Senegal. East Africa: Somalia, Mauritius, Burundi, Comoros, Mozambique, Kenya, Tanzania, Ethiopia, Seychelles, Madagascar, Rwanda, Uganda, Zimbabwe, Zambia, Malawi, Eritrea, South Sudan. North Africa: Chad, Sudan, Egypt, Algeria, Morocco, Tunisia.
- **32.** Kenya Fintech Getting The Deal Through GTDT, Getting The Deal Through, 2020, https://gettingthedealthrough.com/area/92/jurisdiction/44/fintech-kenya/.
- **33.** Mwaniki, Douglas. "CMA Regulatory Sandbox Ready To Receive Applications". Cma.Or.Ke, 2020, https://cma.or.ke/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=531:cma-regulatorysandbox-ready-to-receive-applications&catid=12:press-center&Itemid=207.
- 34. SA Financial Sector Authority Drafts Another Paper On Equity Crowdfunding Ventureburn
- **35.** Acfa Label Framework African Crowd". African Crowd, 2020, https://africancrowd.org/forregulators/regulatory-acfa-label-framework/.
- **36.** Fintech In Uganda Implications For Regulation". jbs.cam.ac.uk, 2020, https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/ fileadmin/user_upload/research/centres/alternative-finance/downloads/2018-ccaf-fsd-fintech-inuganda.pdf.
- **37.** "Early Lessons On Regulatory Innovations To Enable Inclusive FinTech: Innovation Offices, Regulatory Sandboxes, And Regtech") https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/faculty-research/centres/ alternative-finance/publications/early-lessons-on-regulatory-innovation-to-enable-inclusivefintech/#.XoeGSqhKg2w
- Are Fintechs The Key To Achieving Zambia'S Financial Inclusion Targets By 2022? UN Capital Development Fund (UNCDF)". Uncdf.Org, 2020, https://www.uncdf.org/article/3375/are-fintechsthe-key-to-achieving-zambias-financial-inclusion-targets-by-2022.
- **39.** "Equity Crowdfunding Extended To Private Companies". *Australian Financial Review*, 2019, https://www.afr.com/wealth/equity-crowdfunding-extended-to-private-companies-20180912-h15908.
- 40. Bhakta, Pratik. "Rs 10-Lakh Limit On P2P Lending Will Hurt Industry: Founders". *The Economic Times*, 2019, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/markets/stocks/news/rs-10-lakh-limit-on-p2p-lending-will-hurt-industry-founders/articleshow/60983152.cms.
- 41. OJK Issues Umbrella Regulation For Fintech Development And Establishes Regulatory Sandbox Regime". *International Law Office*, 2019, https://www.internationallawoffice.com/Newsletters/ Banking/Indonesia/Ali-Budiardjo-Nugroho-Reksodiputro/OJK-issues-umbrella-regulation-forfintech-development-and-establishes-regulatory-sandbox-regime?redir=1.
- **42.** Summary Points from "For providing better financial services in the era of transition." (2019). Financial Services Policy: Assessments and Strategic Priorities 2018. Financial Services Agency. https://www.fsa.go.jp/en/news/2018/20180926/Financial_Services_Policy2018.pdf
- **43.** Fong, Vincent. "Bank Negara Malaysia Issues Cryptocurrency Regulation Fintech News Malaysia". *Fintech News Malaysia*, 2019, https://fintechnews.my/16648/regtech-fintech-regulation-malaysia/ bank-negara-malaysia-issues-crytocurrency-regulation-malaysia/.
- 44. Malaysia, Fintech. "Budget 2019: Securities Commission Malaysia To Regulate Icos In 2019 Fintech News Malaysia". *Fintech News Malaysia*, 2019, https://fintechnews.my/18950/blockchain/securities-commission-malaysia-ico-regulation/.
- 45. BSP Enhances Regulation Over Fintech Security". *Manila Bulletin Business*, 2019, https://business. mb.com.ph/2018/10/23/bsp-enhances-regulation-over-fintech-security/. Accessed 12 Dec 2019.

- 46. Mas.gov.sg. (2019). Inter-American Development Bank Group and MAS collaborate to promote inclusive financial services. [online] Available at: https://www.mas.gov.sg/news/media-releases/2018/ interamerican-development-bank-group-and-mas-collaborate-to-promote-inclusive-financialservices [Accessed 12 Dec. 2019]
- 47. Mas.gov.sg. (2019). Astana Financial Services Authority, Astana International Financial Centre Authority and Monetary Authority of Singapore sign Co-operation Agreement to boost fintech ties. [online] Available at: https://www.mas.gov.sg/news/media-releases/2018/afsa-aifca-and-mas-sign-cooperationagreement-to-boost-fintech-ties [Accessed 12 Dec. 2019]. And Malaysia, Fintech. "Budget 2019: Securities Commission Malaysia To Regulate Icos In 2019 - Fintech News Malaysia". Fintech News Malaysia, 2019, https://fintechnews.my/18950/blockchain/securities-commission-malaysia-icoregulation/.
- **48.** O'Neal, Stephen. "South Korea Reviews Its Stance On Crypto To Become Blockchain Haven". *Cointelegraph*, 2019, https://cointelegraph.com/news/south-korea-reviews-its-stance-on-crypto-to-becomeblockchain-haven. Accessed 12 Dec 2019.
- 49 "190509_마플협_1주년 활동 보고서.Pdf". Google Docs, 2019, https://drive.google.com/file//1kceHL3IP6jNPXZbzxlLgXLs2JDYvvis_/ view?fbclid=IwAR2mtwKlZYucshmchLWoZAloj0tFalfcT4Ga-_OoXQ4161fTGY0w1GRihkw. Accessed 12 Dec 2019.
- **50.** "Regulation." *FIN-FSA*, 28 Dec. 2018, https://www.finanssivalvonta.fi/en/capital-markets/central-securities-depositories/regulation/.
- **51.** Ibid
- 52. Torris, Therese. "France: Fintech'S Year 2018 In Review Maturity, Consolidation And Challenges". *Crowdfund Insider*, 2020, https://www.crowdfundinsider.com/2018/12/142785-french-fintechs-year-2018-in-review-maturity-consolidation-and-challenges/
- 53. Torris, Therese. "Germany Raises The Equity Crowdfunding Limit To €8 Million". *Crowdfund Insider*, 2020, https://www.crowdfundinsider.com/2018/06/135692-germany-raises-the-equity-crowdfunding-limit-to-e8-million/.
- 54. Resolution no. 20204 amending Regulation on the collection of risk capital via on-line portals. Consob, 29 Nov. 2017, http://www.consob.it/web/consob-and-its-activities/laws-and-regulations/ documenti/english/laws/reg18592e_2018.htm
- 55. Legislative Decree No. 65/2018 transposing Directive (EU) 2016/1148. Official Gazette, 6. Jul. 2019, https://www.csirt-ita.it/files/dlgs_18_maggio_2018_n65.pdf.
- 56. Vezzani, Federico, and Tommaso Faelli. *"Italy: Fintech 2019"*. ICLG, May 2019, https://iclg.com/ practice-areas/fintech-laws-and-regulations/italy.
- Lace, Natalja. "Challenges in Digital Product Development at Latvian Commercial Banks." International Conference at Brno University of Technology, Faculty of Business and Management. 2019.
- 58. AFM. "Crowdfunding: Aanbevelingen voor informatievoorziening aan investeerders over loan-based crowdfundingprojecten." *Docplay.nl*, 26 Apr. 2018, http://docplayer.nl/112771561-Crowdfunding-aanbevelingen-voor-informatievoorziening-aan-investeerders-over-loan-basedcrowdfundingprojecten.html and "The AFM and DNB are easing access to the market with 'regulatory sandbox'." *AFM.nl*, 21 Dec. 2016, https://www.afm.nl/en/nieuws/2016/dec/maatwerkinnovatie.
- 59. AFM. "Crowdfunding: Aanbevelingen voor informatievoorziening aan investeerders over loanbased crowdfundingprojecten." *Docplay.nl*, 26 Apr. 2018, http://docplayer.nl/112771561-Crowdfunding-aanbevelingen-voorinformatievoorziening-aan-investeerders-over-loan-

basedcrowdfundingprojecten.html and The AFM and DNB are easing access to the market with 'regulatory sandbox'." *AFM.nl*, 21 Dec. 2016, https://www.afm.nl/en/nieuws/2016/dec/maatwerk-innovatie.

- **60.** Łukowski, Michał, and Piotr Zygmanowski. "The role of crowdfunding in reducing the equity gap in Poland." Ruch Prawniczy, Ekonomiczny i Socjologiczny 81.3 (2019): 185-201.
- 61. Title V, The Promotion of Business Financing Act. 28. Apr. 2015, https://www.boe.es/buscar/act. php?id=BOE-A-2015-4607
- 62. 62 Royal-Decree Law 19/2018 transposing Directive (EU) No. 2015/2366. Official Gazette, 24 Nov. 2019, https://www.boe.es/buscar/doc.php?id=BOE-A-2018-16036. And Royal Decree-Law 12/2018 transposing Directive (EU) No. 2016/1148. Official Gazette, 8 Sep. 2018, https://www.boe.es/buscar/act.php?id=BOE-A-2018-12257.
- 63. Fintech Regulatory Sandbox Established In Stockholm | Lexology". Lexology.Com, 2020, https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=1c2a1688-026b-4373-9cd8-de728d5c6042.
- 64. "Sweden Set To Become First Economy To Introduce Own Cryptocurrency Bitcoinist.Com". Bitcoinist.Com, 2020, https://bitcoinist.com/sweden-set-become-first-economy-introducecryptocurrency/.
- 65. "UK watchdog proposes tougher rules for peer-to-peer lending" Reuters July 2018, Retrieved from: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-britain-crowdfunding/uk-watchdog-proposes-tougher-rulesfor-peer-to-peer-lending-idUSKBN1KH112
- 66. Manzoni, Carlos. "Lucas Llach: "El país está viviendo ya la revolución FinTech"." *La Nación* 15 March 2018. <https://www.lanacion.com.
- 67. Reuters. "Brazil's Central Bank authorizes peer-to-peer lending." *Reuters* 26 April 2018. <https://www.reuters.com/article/brazil-credit-FinTechs/brazils-central-bank-authorizes-peer-to-peer-lending-idUSL1N1S32Y6>.
- **68.** "Canadian Competition Bureau Recommends Flexibility In Fintech Regulation". U.S., 2020, https:// www.reuters.com/article/bc-finreg-canadian-fintech-regulation/canadian-competition-bureaurecommends-flexibility-in-fintech-regulation-idUSKBN1FD2Z7.
- **69.** Vera, Vicente. *FinTechile Noticias*. 24 April 2019. <https://www.FinTechile.org/noticias/haciendaanuncia-que-se-permitira-que-bancos-inviertan-en-FinTech>.
- **70.** González, Ximena. "Conozca cuáles son las regulaciones que hay actualmente vigentes en FinTech." *La República* 29 April 2019. <https://www.larepublica.co/especiales/industria-FinTech-abril-2019/ conozca-cuales-son-las-regulaciones-que-hay-actualmente-vigentes-en-FinTech-2855971>.
- 71. Gutiérrez, Fernando. "Límites para crowdfunding se ampliarían con excepciones: CNBV." *El Economista* 2019 April 2019. < https://www.eleconomista.com.mx/sectorfinanciero/Limites-para-crowdfunding-se-ampliarian-con-excepciones-CNBV-20190407-0124.html>.
- 72. "2018-19 Innovation In Israel Overview". Innovationisrael.Org.II, 2020, https://innovationisrael.org. il/en/sites/default/files/2018-19_Innovation_Report.pdf.
- 73. "Fintech Regulatory Sandbox". *Cbj.Gov.Jo*, 2020, http://www.cbj.gov.jo/EchoBusV3.0/ SystemAssets/9328fddf-3f3d-40d8-9ed3-d98bbc89db20.pdf.
- 74. "The DFSA Rulebook General Module". Dfsa.Complinet.Com, 2020, http://dfsa.complinet.com/ net_file_store/new_rulebooks/d/f/DFSA1547_1843_VER460.pdf.

239

Appendix

Appendix 2:



Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance 10 Trumpington Street Cambridge CB2 1QA United Kingdom Email: ccaf@jbs.cam.ac.uk Tel: +44 (0)1223 339111